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GROUP STRUCTURE

PR (M) AR 2 H

CHINA RESOURCES (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED

59.55%*

eI A R A W]
China Resources Land Limited
(IR 1855 Stock code: 01109. HK)

SR
£
Development
Property Business

745
Cities

P A AR

Product Lines

489::
Projects

S

72.29%*

REUTHE REEEE
E 3 E 3}
Investment Asset Light
Property Business Business
ERERETERAA

66
Cities
3 B2
Product Lines
By
66 Shopping Malls
E % In Operation
B
5 6 Shopping Malls
FAEF In Pipeline

* B ZE20224 12 31 H As of 31 December 2022

China Resources Mixc Lifestyle
Services Limited

(B9 5% Stock code:
01209.HK)

TREEERT
E 3
Eco-system
Elementary
Business

RerEe
Construction and Operation
Services

RHEAE
Leasing Apartment

EXE
Industrial Property
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NATIONWIDE PRESENCE AND RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

2022 FEHEEE

Revenue in 2022

207.1

AR ¥+187T RMB Billion

2022 FEF| =
Gross Profit Margin in 2022

26.2%

2022 FEHAE
Contracted Sales in 2022

301.3

AR 187 RMB Billion

2022 FEHSWA
Total Rental Income in 2022

17.0

AR #+-{Z 7T RMB Billion

2022 F4EFH S WA CRAEAT)

Total Rental Income in 2022 (pre rental relief)

19.3

AR #+{Z7C RMB Billion

2022 FRELBYH O
No. of Malls in Operation by end 2022

66

2022 FBYPLTER
Retail Sales of the Group’s Malls in 2022

113.7

AR #+1{875T RMB Billion
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MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

= /\%i
No. of Membership
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No. of Brands
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BIFEZmhE

No. of Luxury Brands

110

TEREEFMEHE

No. of Luxury Stores in China

No. 1

INIRRLEROR (8" 41"
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Mixc, leading benchmark for high-quality fashions,
is located in prime location or high potential area
in Tier 1&2 cities, meets consumers’ needs in their
pursuits for good taste fashions.
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Mixc One, one-stop destination filled with vitality and
passion, is located in regional center area in Tier 1&2
cities or prime location in Tier 3 cities.
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Mixc World, a trendy source of urban spirit and
culture, is located in prime area in high-tier cities,
offers bigger outdoor space and closer integration
with local culture and spirit.
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SHENZHEN MIXC
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BF B - )
Tenant Mix ﬁi%ﬁf% o ari{E
(EI#& (kL by GFA) EIn ey 13 /0 Appraisal Value

p
v

o 16,430
Supermarket & ,

Department

Store AREEHEIT RMB mn

e 12%

3 6 OA) i’?fpéa rel

GEL N

Rental Income

FAREA#E 1’1 74

Households & l0)
Personal Care 14 A) ARBEHEBE T RMB mn

B
F&B

* B EERH KA - #0m REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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HANGZHOU MIXC

BFHBA - )
Tenant Mix %iﬁﬁf SRR
(ED#&{k L by GFA) Ertartain e 1 5% Appraisal Value

e 8,390
Supermarket & ’

Department ” P
Store AR BEIT RMB mn

ooes 10%

31 % iﬁpgpéarel

e WA
Rental Income

RAR AR 1 ,1 43

Households & [0)
Personal Care 13 /0 AEREEIT RMB mn

27% &

* Bt e 15000 - EA - 0 - RIS
Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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SHENYANG MIXC
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HEEA
Tenant Mix %E—%ﬁ% 5 FHE
(EI#& (kL by GFA) EIn ey 11 A) Appraisal Value
6,290
38()/ Supermarket & ,
O Apparel Department " P
P e AR BB RMB mn
o * (o)
4 Others 10 /0
HEWA
Rental Income
B8 KA R MEAER
F&B Households & (o) 844
Personal Care 14 /O

* B e f5EA - KA - B0 IREE
Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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CHENGDU MIXC

HEBR .
Tenant Mix ﬁi%ﬁ% o
(E7&{5LE by GFA) Entertainment 21 A)

25 % iﬁp%arel

P A
Appraisal Value

6,450

R A &8 A &R
Households & (0)
Personal Care 1 6 A)

23% f8

* EfhEEIA KA &5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.

BERER R
Supermarket & AR BEEIT RMB mn
Department (o)
Store 7 A)
Hph * (o)
Others 8 A) He WA

Rental Income

562

AR®EHEIT RMB mn
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NANNING MIXC
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HEBE
Tenant Mix %Eﬁ?f% AHAE
(EfaLe by GFA) Entertainlmsent 1 5% Appraisal Value
0/ RE BmRAE ’ e
30 A) Apparel Supermarket & ARBESET RMB mn
Department (o)
Store 20 /0
17% %2 B
A * (o)
Ot 6 A) Rental Income
EGD AN 35 703
Households & 0
Personal Care 12 A) AR EE T RMB mn

* BEfhE 7 KA 1B REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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XIAMEN MIXC
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HERA BRI N
Tenant Mix Kids' & 15% A A {E
(&5 £ by GFA) Entertainment (o) Appraisal Value

BmAkBEE
Supermarket &
Department ,

Store AR BEEIT RMB mn

| X 11%
thers
‘ S A

35 O/O i%)%arel

Rental Income

B KA REAERE
F&B Households & o0 535
Personal Care 14 /0

AR B EIT RMB mn
* B EfEE R - A - 1B  REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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FUZHOU MIXC
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BFHBA - )
Tenant Mix %iﬁﬁf SRR
(ED#&{k L by GFA) Ertartain e 1 6% Appraisal Value

1,860

Supermarket & e
Department AREEHEIL RMB mn

Store

3 6% i%farel

o 6%

e WA
Rental Income

EED AN 3L 72
Households & (0)
Personal Care 1 6 /0

AR BEIT RMB mn

18% &

>
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Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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Personal Care 14 A)
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Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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BFHBA - )
Tenant Mix %iﬁﬁf o A hE
(ED#&{k L by GFA) Ertartain e 19 /0 Appraisal Value

Supermarket &

HE
27 % i%)?arel

Department AREEHEIT RMB mn

Store

‘ Ritr =0

oves D90 ES N
_ 3 Rental Income
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Households (o)

F&B Personal Care 1 7 A) 1 96
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* B EEACA - KA 15 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.

ZEHEMAPR AR China Resources Land Limited 023



R G R
SHENZHEN MIXC WORLD
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CEF A RERY O
MALLS OPENED IN 2022

GG E S 2L sRNN it 24

No. of newly opened malls

TEBEARMAL

Contribution to the total retail sales

3.9%

MERLEERE

Nanning Zhongshan Road Mixc One
AEaERMEL
Contribution to the total rental income “E T TAHEPMH APR 2022

.3 %

LT

Av. operating profit margin*
3 1 . 8 /O

TigHAE

Av. occupancy rate

91 8 O/ IR A RE
o O Beijing Yaojiayuan Mixc One

TR TAENA APR 2022

* SR E

excluding rental relief impact

|m
ﬁn---.a “'1 W 2.
S e

EUEBE S
Wuhan Mixc

“E TR H MAY 2022

=B AR /AR China Resources Land Limited 025



CEF AR ERY O
MALLS OPENED IN 2022

Gt I m'ﬁ-

|!}§'~ *ﬂ'ﬁmn "'g R

BEEEERE BINE R

Shenyang Huanggu Mixc One Fuzhou Mixc
"R THETHA MAY 2022 “ERTTHNH JUN 2022
r
. rll I G ”‘ |
- ] ]l I
m i
HOBERH FARBR KM
Haikou Mixc Nanjing Mixc World
R AN H JUN 2022 “FRTTAHIUA SEP 2022

TRy

BEEBILERE AEERM
Qingdao Laoshan Mixc One Nanchang Mixc
TR H AUG 2022 “FZ41H OCT 2022

026 —=— 4=  ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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RERIASRE RYFAFEERER
Dongguan Songshan Lake Mixc One Shenzhen Sungang Mixc One

TR ITAEJUA SEP 2022 TR ITUAEJLA SEP 2022

bPagomEBR R NEEFBRIE

Shanghai Suhewan Mixc World Dalian Huanan Mixc One
“ZFT44H OCT 2022 “F- "4+ H DEC 2022

=B AR /AR China Resources Land Limited 027
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

REER
Year-on-Year
2022 2021 Growth
ERAHE CONTRACTED SALES
SEE(AREBFET) Value (RMB million) 301,326 315,755 -4.6%
BEMBEESTEK) GFA (million sgm) 14.25 17.55 -18.8%
FHEB(ARBIT/FEHK) ASP (RMB/sgm) 21,140 17,988 17.5%
FTEBKER SELECTED FINANCIAL
(ANREFET) INFORMATION (RMB MILLION)
B Revenue 207,061 212,108 -2.4%
EA Gross Profit 54,291 57,200 -5.1%
% R FE A F) Net profit attributable to
owners of the Company 28,092 32,401 -13.3%
IR B (G A 0 % T Core net profit attributable to
owners of the Company 26,998 26,596 1.5%
TTEEEEREE SELECTED BALANCE
(AR®BEER) SHEET DATA (RMB MILLION)
BEE Total assets 1,081,332 949,804 13.8%
Re NIRITHETF Cash and bank balances 95,545 106,773 -10.5%
(ECE e Total debt 230,037 197,440 16.5%
IR A HE 2 4R K Total equity 341,707 292,076 17.0%
A% SR PR (G PR A A Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 244,047 226,529 7.7%
FEBKLER SELECTED FINANCIAL RATIOS
FHE Gross profit margin 26.2% 27.0% -0.8pt
2 FFE & Core net profit margin 13.0% 12.5% 0.5pt
FBREXREF (AREIT) Basic earnings per share (RMB) 3.94 4.54 -13.3%
S 5 B& 7N [O] 3y 2 Return on average equity 11.9% 15.1% -3.2pt
FEEHRALE  FR Net debt-to-equity ratio,
at year end 38.8% 30.4% 8.4pt
METFHEBRA - FR Weighted average cost of
funding, at year end 3.75% 3.71% 4 bps
T fEE LAND BANK
(BREEBE BETAXK) (GFA, MILLION SQM)
FRITHEEE Land bank at year end
— &5t — Total 64.78 68.73 -5.7%
— FEfh — Attributable 45.84 48.89 -6.2%
FRFE T FEEE Land bank acquired during the year
— &5t — Total 10.95 14.39 -23.9%
— FEfh — Attributable 7.89 11.07 -28.7%

028 —=——4E#HE  ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

MFR - PEBMETENSERELBE R
BERHATE TEEAGERFEDRER TR
B ARWMH ISR ERAE - DLme - &
AHEHFHWHEBERTDERNEANL  TEE
hERERT  BEECREBRMLEMESR
MEREE N  E—FHFETITEMM - KK -
TERBRAEENEE  RUEBRNOFERENE
B bEOBENEERELE SEEER-

AEE W26 F K - In RRFFBESATIE 1E - SOK
EHEE  BRELENBRED B [WHKE
FIEES | BB ER - BT [341] — 81t
ERAOXHRA - HREELXT  KEETD
EXY BEETEFB-ATEXRHEELIE
BNER XBEAKEERTHERBTENS
A REMEXEERNENTRRL  £EE
KREFBRAR(1209HK - TRIBREEDE
EITHESI R - BERE  HEZTZE
BNERRARAEEERRPAIFHBEERNZ
DEBIRARE o

—ETo—F BHEMBRRNBREARLE - F
BEEDAZRHBERL DEF  FPlEw - £
PHMBRES - AEERMKEERERA L
MANKE BEZEBRSIBREMEEES
BALEEMAXERR  FHEREMAESE
SRAHE  BMEEE=ZKRERSIE  HEWHE

SEERRMNEBHAMN TIF KA HEE] DX
RIEERIR - RABIMEBETE N - BB - BE
B EXEN  ERNZFSEBRL TR
BB TVERUS T BELRTT

In recent years, with growth rate gradually slowing down, the scale of
China’s property market has peaked and the industry has entered a
stage that competing for existing or even shrinking demand. Market
performance has revealed intensifying divergence among cities, while
cities with robust fundamentals have demonstrated their resilience.
With increasing market consolidation, high-quality real estate
companies have solidified their industry position thanks to prudent
operations and strong risk resistance capacity. Looking ahead, the
industry will shift towards a new development model characterized by
a healthier and more virtuous cycle, while enterprises prioritize stable
operation and high-quality development.

For the past 26 years since its listing, the Group has consistently
exhibited strategic foresight. Bearing long-termism and prudent
operation philosophy, the Group adheres to its strategic positioning
as “an operator in urban investment, development, and operation”,
and has established “3+1" integrated development business model.
The three main businesses comprise development property business,
investment property business, and asset-light business, which are
mutually reinforcing and co-developing, has supported the Group
achieving top industry rankings in the contracted sales performance,
higher returns from its investment property assets, and a leading
position in commercial management represented by its subsidiary
China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (1209.HK, hereinafter
referred to as “CR Mixc Lifestyle”). The Group’s unique, stable,
diversified yet mutually-correlative business model serves as its core
strength and guarantee for long-term sustainable development.

In 2022, China’s economy has demonstrated its resilience and
potential with long-term growth momentum amid headwinds from
complex and grim international and domestic environment. The
Group seized the favorable opportunity of economic stabilization and
growth, firmly implemented strategic driven investment and lean
management in production and operation as two supporting systems,
while consistently optimized organizational reform, financial
innovation and technology utilization as three development engines,
on top of which, the Group adopted a “tough battle” approach to
overcome the critical and arduous tasks which otherwise constrain
high-quality development. The Company’s strategic focus,
organizational capability, development momentum, industrial
strength, and cultural cohesion have been fully showcased and
continually fortified, explained significant progress across various
domains.

029
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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Strategic driven high-quality investment. The Group adhered to
penetration strategy in key cities for precise investment to optimize its
land bank structure, investment rhythm and geographic exposure. In
2022, the Group allocated 92% of total investment in Tier-1 and Tier-
2 cities, acquired 71 new projects, including premium commercial
complex projects acquired in Shenzhen and Nanjing, etc. Meanwhile,
the development property business obtained high-quality M&A
projects under market orientation principles; CR Mixc Lifestyle
acquired Yuzhou Property Service Co. Ltd., Jiangsu Zhongnan Property
Services Co. Ltd. and Sichuan Jiuzhou Qiancheng Property Service Co.
Ltd., which has lifted the property management scale into top ten in
the industry.

Lean management for higher efficiency in production and
operation. The Group adheres to the management principle of “cost
reduction, quality enhancement and efficiency improvement” to
improve the refinement of production and operation. As a result,
asset turnover for residential opening and delivery as well as shopping
mall opening have been shortened at par with industry forefront. The
product quality is at sector-high level, with a series of showcase
residential projects, and the newly opened shopping malls led the
market in both quality and reputation. The Group has promoted
precise cost reduction and refined expense control to effectively
reduce SG&A ratios and maintain stable margins in tough market
environment. By strengthening technological innovation and digital
transformation, the Group's digital level of operation has entered the
first echelon of the industry. Through its distinctive “tough battle”
model, the Group has made substantive breakthroughs in critical and
arduous tasks, such as building up of industry-leading non-residential
sales capabilities, and effective improving in supplier quality and
partnership.

Organizational transformation generated efficiency through
management. The Group promoted regional companies integration,
implemented the “two and a half levels” management structure,
improved organizational capacity and management efficiency
throughout the regional companies’ entire value chain. Through
organizational and personnel reform, we vigorously cultivated
prospective leaders, implemented a “Winning Plan” for external
recruitment and a “Voyage Plan” for internal exchange, seized
opportunities in the labor market to improve the quality of workforce.
Through remuneration reform, frontline and key employees are
offered more incentives following market-based principle, so as to
differentiate their income based on contributions. The above measures
have successfully stimulated organizational vitality, so as to create an
“agile, efficient, capable and energetic” organization with streamlined
structure, elite teams, and precise incentives.



RELARED BFEESRHAF - ASERE[EX
K BRARE - a2 aEmEMERR -
ERECBEZRAER - (KEARISHE - KAHE
RRERREFSESMNERLS  BHRIRARE
RELEL - FRAKNPERYEEEENTE
EBRBE] REFREHMERBEISFEAIRER
M mEEE | WERES TEESK - EX
HMEZESE  BEMAEFEEE  FiEFE
B RUBANEHEEEPre-RETsES - #E—F
RRTEEXEMWERSWR 2K R EalEet
B2HPHREGHEEEER REEBEER
1SERTT  EES6EBES6ERE - KN
BEAEEmstEEEENRELRREFEAE
REIT(508077.SH) + IR T EREAIR o

BIMERE  BHBREYE - AEFERFERE
MBI EERRE  THINBRREREE  AFE
EEEZHER  BEECHBEBIERME
I BERNMERAEFTITEREKTE - F
A T ZBALE ] RIF&EE 2 BaNEE2E
S NN fBBB+/%EJ§%J [Baal 1&7E
R2| K& [BBB+ TBEEZE | M=HTH -

BITHEEM EBERETHEARE - A&ET

TEESGHERE R & - ABFE T 22030 F A9ESG T 1E B
BEREE RKNBERGORESE  RERELNR

JIEBREIR G B ODMIBEE [TREREREE (R
FHER) | RE AR /IMLE - ERInFRME
IR AELESET  MSCIESGRER EFAZEAL -
NE[RESG - k8850888 WwEKREHEZR
MU ATRCE(EELE)RARDRERELE -

Fully utilized first mover advantages and strived for
transformation and innovation. The Group develops its eco-system
elementary business based on the principle of “managerial
independence, financial self-sufficiency, core competence and self-
owned brands building”. Relying on practical experience in the
development of large stadiums, large-scale infrastructure, and
affordable housings, we actively expanded our construction and
operation business. During the year, the Group successfully won the
bidding for providing smart city operation service to Shenzhen Houhai
Central District with a site area of 3.5 square kilometers, a substantial
step towards the transformation to “urban operator”. Focusing on
two major fields of intelligence and health, industrial property carried
out model projects and launched the first batch of Pre-REITs funds for
industrial parks in China, further explored the path of balancing the
asset-light and asset-heavy business model. During the year, the
Group firmly responded to the policy that encourages both house
purchase and leasing, promoted the construction of affordable rental
housings. Our leasing apartment business has footprints in 15 cities,
managing 56 thousand rooms in 56 projects. We have successfully
issued the first public REIT (508077. SH) for affordable rental housing
operated by a market-oriented institution in China, realized a closed
loop of investment, financing, management, and exiting.

Stringent financial policy ensures stable operation. The Group
consistently adopted prudent financial management policies,
strengthened cash flow management, pioneered in commercial asset-
backed securitization, optimized financial structure to enhance
financial flexibility, and maintained the sector-low debt ratio and
funding costs. During the year, the Group stayed in green zone under
the “three red lines” policy, while S&P, Moody’s and Fitch maintained
the Group’s credit ratings at “BBB+/Stable”, “Baal/Stable”, and
“BBB+/Stable” respectively.

Committed to social responsibility and green and sustainable
development. The Group has formulated an ESG strategic plan,
which sets ESG goals and paths by 2030. During the year, the
development of green buildings was strengthened, and two venues of
the Shenzhen International Low Carbon City Convention and
Exhibition Center developed and operated by the Group were certified

s “Zero Energy Buildings (Design Signs)”. We shouldered social
responsibility and granted rental relief to micro, small, and medium-
sized enterprises, as well as individual business tenants. The Group’s
ESG rating was upgraded to A by MSCI, and was selected as the
State-owned ESG50 Pioneer Index and recognized as the exemplary
enterprise on corporate governance of central state-owned enterprises
(primary-level enterprises) by the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council.
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In 2022, the contracted sales of the Group’s development property
business ranked up to the fourth, further consolidated its industry
leading position. The rental income of investment property business
still achieved a positive growth of 10.5% after excluding rental relief
impact, showing stable operating capability. CR Mixc Lifestyle was
selected as a component of the Hang Seng Index and achieved high-
quality development. The Group's diverse, multi-segment, counter
cyclical business model offered development resilience and
outperformed the market with high quality growth.

In 2023, the long term growth momentum of the Chinese economy
will not change, neither will the position and role of the real estate
industry in the national economy, given its great potential. Coupled
with risks of declining demand, limited profit margin, and intensifying
regional divergence, the industry is transitioning into a new
development model while the country strives to develop affordable
rental housing, the industry segments are set to be amplified and
expanded. Opportunities will usher in for leasing apartment, industrial
property REITs to release the values from investment properties, and
new opportunities will also arrive for technological innovation and
smart city construction, etc.

Facing an industry transition period with both challenges and
opportunities, the Group will stick to its strategic focus and has strong
confidence in future development. It will strengthen the research and
exploration over new development models, stick to and optimize its
integrated development business model of “3+1", keep focus on key
regions and maintain strong control over investment, effectively grasp
the opportunities posed by the implementation of the country’s
regional strategies and high quality development of cities, proactively
follow up high-quality M&A opportunities to strengthen market
position; further lean management in production and operation,
continue to promote “cost reduction, quality enhancement and
efficiency improvement”, build product power platform, supply chain
platform and fast turnover model up to the industry benchmark level
to iterate the management system to “the most ideal systemic cost”
for full management; deepen organizational transformation,
strengthen the incentive model featuring accuracy and differentiation,
prioritize the enhancement in regional companies’ organization
abilities along the whole value chain; facilitate financial innovation,
build up core competence in “financing, investment, construction,
management, and exiting”, promote the secondary-issuing of Youtha
REIT, initiate on commercial private equity fund, commercial public
REITs and industry public REITs to release the values of investment
properties; strengthen technology utilization, improve the level of
digital operations, promote technology application in production,
implement energy-saving and emissions-reducing measures, and
further upgrade regional coordination of smart city operations.
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For development property business, the Group will optimize both
inventory and incremental investment, prioritize sales proceeds
management, focus on de-stocking and sales-driven production,
guarantee delivery quality, improve project performance with project
specific management to realize stable development in the long term.
For investment property business, the Group will put emphasis on
tenant sourcing and operations for luxury brands, fully enhance the
operational efficiency of stores, continuously improve the asset value
of commercial complexes, and strengthen the competitive edges of its
market leading position. The asset-light business aims to become the
world’s top-notch enterprise, continue to expand scale, improve
management expertise, speed up innovative business to build the
secondary growth curve, and maintain its number one market
capitalization in the sector. The eco-system elementary business will
steadily promote business focus, accelerate the development of
leasing apartment, industrial properties, the construction and
operation services, incubate the smart city operation model until
maturity, and further enhance the operational capacities of sport and
cultural stadiums by guaranteeing sports event for the 31st Chengdu
Summer Universiade and the 19th Hangzhou Asian Games.

The Group will uphold prudent financial policies, ceaselessly enhance
its management on cash flows, increase its financial flexibility and risk
resilience. Meanwhile, the Group will improve its market value
management, diversify communication channels with the capital
market, enhance information disclosure quality, and keep frequent
dialogues with domestic and abroad investors, to effectively unveil
and deliver the values of CR Land and continue to improve
shareholders’ return.

Finally, on behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors of the Company
(the "Director(s)”), | would like to express my sincere appreciation to
shareholders, customers and all stakeholders of the Group for their
long-term support and trust in the Group.

LI Xin
Chairman
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In 2022, the Group actively adjusted the sales strategy and took
various measures to improve operational efficiency and quality, and
thus maintaining steady performance amidst extreme difficulties.
During the year, the Group continued its mutual benefit and win-win
philosophy by providing a rental relief scheme for qualified tenants,
which was believed to enhance the Group’s long-term and stable
growth. Consolidated revenue for the year was RMB207.06 billion,
fell 2.4% YoY while core profit attributable to the owners of the
Company excluding revaluation gain from investment properties
reached RMB27.0 billion, up by 1.5% YoY. The Board recommended
a total dividend of RMB1.401 per share, up by 1.5% YoY with a
dividend payout ratio of 37% for the year. As of 31 December 2022,
net asset per share reached RMB34.22, up by 7.7% YoY.

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS
1. REVIEW OF CONTRACTED SALES
Contracted sales for the Year 2022 was RMB301.33 billion, fell

4.6% YoY, and contracted GFA fell 18.8% YoY to 14.25 million
square meters.

AREB T - —_FKEIFEEENERFR The Group’s contracted sales breakdown by region in 2022 is
T&: set out in the table below:
W HHOEE
Eig Region Contracted Sales Contracted GFA
AR®T T % Tk %
RMB’000 % Sgm %
E=S N North China Region 68,496,342 22.7% 2,468,258 17.3%
ERAR East China Region 96,271,252 31.9% 3,534,566 24.8%
E AR South China Region 25,558,416 8.5% 1,623,664 11.4%
EEAR West China Region 31,693,731 10.5% 2,249,444 15.8%
ESIpNE Northeast China Region 17,632,347 5.9% 1,625,144 11.4%
FEh KR Central China Region 29,233,026 9.7% 1,777,066 12.5%
2PN Shenzhen Region 31,733,075 10.5% 974,388 6.8%
EBNT] Hong Kong Region 707,454 0.3% 2,028 0.0%
At Total 301,325,643 100.0% 14,254,558 100.0%
034 —=——4E%H%  ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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REVIEW OF REVENUE

Development property revenue for the Year 2022 was
RMB176.16 billion, fell 4.2% YoY, and booked GFA fell 16.5%
YoY to 12.33 million square meters, while the gross profit
margin of development property maintained at a sector-high
level of 23.0%.

The Group’s revenue breakdown by region in 2022 is listed as
below:

EEEERE EEEE

Eig Region Revenue GFA Booked
AR¥T % TR %
RMB’000 % sqm %
&S N North China Region 17,306,863 9.8% 1,407,361 11.4%
EH KR East China Region 35,800,878 20.3% 2,110,864 17.1%
B ey N South China Region 20,193,786 11.5% 1,616,549 13.1%
EpiipN West China Region 25,851,630 14.7% 2,229,347 18.1%
EBIpN Northeast China Region 27,761,103 15.8% 2,653,986 21.5%
ER KR Central China Region 17,935,904 10.2% 1,491,727 12.1%
YK & Shenzhen Region 31,312,171 17.7% 820,803 6.7%
= Total 176,162,335 100.0% 12,330,637 100.0%

BE-_ZT-__F+-A=+—8  K"EHH
ETERAGEREYWELSETARK 2,493
Brx BEEEEE - £ ARK1,632
BIBR S _=ZFFE BLXEE_Z
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As of 31 December 2022, the Group had unbooked contracted
sales of RMB249.3 billion that are subject to future recognition
as development property revenue, among which RMB163.2
billion will be recognized in 2023, a solid foundation for good
results in 2023.
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SHOPPING MALL

In 2022, the revenue from shopping malls of the Group reached
RMB13.76 billion, fell 1.3% YoY (if excluding rental relief
impact during the year, the YoY actual growth could have been
13.0%). The occupancy rate was 96.2%, 0.8 percentage point
lower YoY. The total carry amount of the Group’s shopping
malls was RMB187.32 billion after a revaluation gain of
RMB7.98 billion, accounted for 17.3% of the Group’s total
assets. As at 31 December 2022, the GFA of the Group's
shopping malls in operation achieved 7.98 million square
meters, increased by 19.3% YoY, while the attributable GFA
was 6.60 million square meters.

OFFICE

In 2022, the revenue from office of the Group reached
RMB1.87 billion, fell 3.0% YoY (if excluding rental relief impact
during the year, the YoY actual growth could have been
10.1%). The occupancy rate was 79.2%, the same as last year.
The total carry amount of the Group’s office was RMB32.61
billion after revaluation, accounted for 3.0% of the Group's
total assets. As at 31 December 2022, the GFA of the Group’s
office in operation achieved 1.26 million square meters,
decreased by 2.2% YoY (due to the conversion of some
operational office to office for sale), while the attributable GFA
was 0.97 million square meters.

HOTEL

In 2022, the revenue from hotel of the Group reached RMB1.39
billion, with a YoY decrease of 11.1%. The average occupancy
rate was 41.7%, 4.6 percentage points lower YoY. The book
value of the Group’s hotels in operation was RMB11.18 billion
(including land use right), accounted for 1.0% of the Group's
total assets. As at 31 December 2022, the GFA of the Group's
hotels in operation achieved 0.73 million square meters,
increased by 8.4% YoY, while the attributable GFA was 0.61
million square meters.



AREE T - —FHHRENTELEZETH Details of the Group’s key investment properties opened in

EBEEFNNT 2022 are listed below:
B EEEE
AEBFRLEH HEEEE (FHK)
Interest (FT73K) Attributable
MELE FrEsH ™ Attributable Total GFA GFA
Investment Property City to the Group (Sgm) (Sgm)
FAERILRERE MAE 50.0% 55,372 27,686
Nanning Zhongshan Road Mixc One  Nanning
He: [HES 38,872 19,436
Comprising: Commercial
=EI5 16,500 8,250
Car Park
IERPREERE LE 100.0% 84,897 84,897
Beijing Yaojiayuan Mixc One Beijing
Hep: [HES 47,494 47,494
Comprising: Commercial
(=287 37,403 37,403
Car Park
B 2B RE &S 100.0% 137,705 137,705
Shenyang Huanggu Mixc One Shenyang
Hep: [HES 94,353 94,353
Comprising: Commercial
=E5 43,352 43,352
Car Park
RESRM HE 51.0% 263,586 134,429
Wuhan Mixc Wuhan
Hep: [EES 182,724 93,189
Comprising: Commercial
BE5 80,862 41,240
Car Park
BMNE R &M 100.0% 160,903 160,903
Fuzhou Mixc Fuzhou
Hep : GES 89,753 89,753
Comprising: Commercial
BE5 71,150 71,150
Car Park
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BEEEE
AEBE R A BEEEE (FFHK)
Interest (FFHK) Attributable
L ELE FRiEE ™ Attributable Total GFA GFA
Investment Property City to the Group (Sgm) (Sgm)
BOBRM a0 100.0% 204,996 204,996
Haikou Mixc Haikou
Her: [HES 113,553 113,553
Comprising: Commercial
=EI5 91,443 91,443
Car Park
55BLEBRE 55 55.0% 78,978 43,438
Qingdao Laoshan Mixc One Qingdao
He: [HES 68,576 37,717
Comprising: Commercial
=85 10,402 5,721
Car Park
REMILAERE REE 100.0% 157,744 157,744
Dongguan Songshan Lake Mixc One Dongguan
Hep: [HES 101,552 101,552
Comprising: Commercial
=85 56,192 56,192
Car Park
RYFAHEERRER el 70.0% 123,725 86,608
Shenzhen Sungang Mixc One Shenzhen
Hep: EES 78,788 55,152
Comprising: Commercial
=E5 44,937 31,456
Car Park
FRERAKM AR 100.0% 131,518 131,518
Nanjing Mixc World Nanjing
Hep : [EES 83,589 83,589
Comprising: Commercial
RS 47,929 47,929
Car Park
MEBRM )= 100.0% 232,199 232,199
Nanchang Mixc Nanchang
Hep : [EES 155,445 155,445
Comprising: Commercial
RS 76,754 76,754
Car Park
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B L2 EER

AL B EL B BEEEE (FFHK)
Interest (FT73K) Attributable
L ELE FrEsE™ Attributable Total GFA GFA
Investment Property City to the Group (Sgm) (Sgm)
g SR KM s 50.0% 227,216 113,609
Shanghai Suhewan Mixc World Shanghai
Heb o EES 58,949 29,475
Comprising: Commercial
BriE 95,083 47,542
Office
1RES 73,184 36,592
Car Park
RNEEFBERE K& 100.0% 156,967 156,967
Dalian Huanan Mixc One Dalian
Hep: [GES 100,711 100,711
Comprising: Commercial
=85 56,256 56,256
Car Park
I RARIRINFRE S FiE bR 59.1% 32,395 19,141
Beijing Future City Block F Office Beijing
SEEERRRFE & 100.0% 16,202 16,202
Hefei Kunlun Mansion Office Hefei
BEERBAAS M 55.0% 56,229 30,926
Nanning Shangri-La Hotel Nanning
&t 2,120,632 1,738,968
Total
Hrh: FSES 1,214,359 1,021,419
Comprising: Commercial
BFE 143,680 82,885
Office
FEHS 706,364 603,738
Car Park
BIE 56,229 30,926
Hotel
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ASSET LIGHT BUSINESS

In 2022, the commercial operation and property management
business of the Group’s subsidiary China Resources Mixc Lifestyle
Services Limited (1209.HK, hereinafter referred to as “CR Mixc
Lifestyle”) tackled market challenges and maintained high quality
growth. As of 31 December 2022, the Group's property management
business covered 178 cities across China, and the contracted area for
property management business was 349 million square meters,
representing an increase of 78.0% from the year end of 2021. During
the year, CR Mixc Lifestyle’s revenue increased by 35.4% YoY to
RMB12.016 billion, of which RMB7.802 billion was from residential
property management services, and RMB4.214 billion was from
commercial operation and property management services.

ECO-SYSTEM ELEMENTARY BUSINESS

In 2022, the revenue of the Group’s eco-system elementary business
(including building operations, construction and operation services,
leasing apartment and industrial property, etc.) was RMB18.27 billion
(including intra-group business), of which RMB16.39 billion was from
building operations (including intra-group business), RMB1.04 billion
was from construction and operation services and RMBO0.39 billion
was from leasing apartment.

SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSES AND
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Benefiting from continued improvement in operational management
efficiency, sales and marketing expenses of the Group accounted for
2.8% of the revenue in 2022, reduced by 0.1 percentage point YoY,
and general and administrative expenses accounted for 2.6% of the
revenue, reduced by 0.2 percentage point YoY.

SHARE OF PROFITS OF INVESTMENTS IN
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

In 2022, the Group's share of profits of investments in associates and
joint ventures totaled RMB4.10 billion, with a YoY decrease of 4.6%.
During the year, the share of profits of investments in associates was
RMBO0.62 billion, fell 58.6% YoY, and the share of profits of
investments in joint ventures was RMB3.48 billion, up 24.1% YoY.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Income tax expenses include enterprise income tax (including deferred
taxation) and land appreciation tax. In 2022, the Group’s income tax
expenses were RMB23.14 billion, up by 0.7% YoY. In particular, the
enterprise income tax expenses were RMB13.82 billion, up by 0.3%
YoY, while the land appreciation tax was RMB9.32 billion, up by 1.3%
YoY.

LAND BANK

In 2022, the Group acquired 71 quality land parcels totaling 10.95
million square meters in GFA with a total land premium of
RMB144.23 billion (attributable land premium amounted to
RMB110.20 billion). As of 31 December 2022, total GFA of the
Group's land bank was 64.78 million square meters.

1. DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s land bank for
development property business totaled 54.91 million square
meters with attributable GFA of 39.02 million square meters.

HEFEEE RZEEEDE

Attributable

EiF Region Total GFA GFA

(FFHK) (FFHK)

(Sqm) (Sqm)

S| N North China Region 7,271,773 3,943,975

YN East China Region 8,772,402 5,629,062

ey N South China Region 8,719,495 5,923,072

EFHAR West China Region 8,730,644 7,689,136

SN Northeast China Region 5,853,882 5,327,729

EL SN Central China Region 9,054,148 6,344,161

2| Shenzhen Region 6,451,649 4,129,837

VNG Hong Kong Region 53,295 36,781

&5t Total 54,907,288 39,023,753
ZEHEMAPR AR China Resources Land Limited 041
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s land bank for investment
properties totaled 9.87 million square meters with attributable
GFA of 6.82 million square meters. Among which, the
commercial land bank was 6.73 million square meters,
accounting for 68.2%, with key distribution in 30 core cities
such as Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Hangzhou,
Nanjing and Chengdu.

Investment properties business, shopping malls in particular,
remains as the Group’s key business. Next two to three years
will continue to be the peak years for new openings of shopping
malls. The Group will further improve efficiency in development
and operation of its investment properties to ensure stable
rental income growth and its profitability.

HEEEHE EZEEEE

Attributable

Em Product Total GFA GFA
(FEFK) (FEFHK)

(Sqm) (Sqm)

EEEEE Total GFA 9,869,736 6,818,215
Hep [GES Comprising: Commercial 6,732,392 4,749,689
BriE Office 1,451,450 888,887

B S Hotel 816,006 590,250

NC Apartment 750,040 493,514

5F Senior Housing 79,892 79,892

EEE Industrial Park 39,956 15,983

THRBEATEERENFEERE-—SSH
BETER - KRR ARERREXBERS
2 EREVHEREOAET - BABWITH
BRMERER  BEZRE [HERS - B
= AR BRERBENRERE  B&
BT AR EMEIZE -
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Sufficient land bank reinforces the foundation for sustainable
growth. Looking ahead, while keeping a balance between
healthy financial position and growth pursuit, the Group will
strictly follow its financial hurdles and adhere to prudent
investment strategy with further penetration in key cities for
high-quality capital increment, as well as continuously optimize
its investment structure in land bank structure, the investment
rhythm and the geographic exposure.
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DEBT RATIOS

As of 31 December 2022, the Group's total debt outstanding balance
was equivalent to RMB230.0 billion while its cash and bank balances
were equivalent to RMB95.5 billion, net interest-bearing debt to
equity (including minority interests) ratio maintained at sector-low
level of 38.8%, 8.4 percentage points higher compared to 30.4% as
of year-end 2021.

FUNDING COST

As of 31 December 2022, the non-RMB net interest-bearing debt
exposure of the Group was 16.8%. Approximately 27% of the total
interest-bearing debt was repayable within one year while the rest
was long-term interest-bearing debt. The Group maintained its
weighted average financing cost at a sector-low level of approximately
3.75% as at 31 December 2022, edging up 4 basis points from
3.71% as of year-end 2021.
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FINANCING IN OPEN MARKET

To better support future growth, broaden funding channels and
further reduce funding cost, the Group raised a total of RMB39.1
billion by issuing corporate bonds, medium-term notes and asset-

=V backed securities, etc. during the year.

KREB -—_ZE- —F N HHTERMEFY WO - Details of the Group’s funding in open market in 2022 are as follows:
BETR/4E HE EREH 2E ERRY HHEH HR REAIZ
Issuer/Property Currency Product Name Amount  Value Date Maturity Date Term Coupon Rate

(BB (%)

(Million) (Years)
EREBARERAA NGt HE 2,000 20221325 20255325 3 3.10%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Medium-term Notes
ERENARERAR AEB ik 1,000 20221325 202713125 5 3.54%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Medium-term Notes
EREHARBRAA AR PE 2000 202214127 20251427 3 3.05%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Medium-term Notes
EREHARERAA AR% ik 1,800 20229722 20250922 3 2.90%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Medium-term Notes
EREHARERAA ARH PE 1,200 20229722 20271922 5 335%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Medium-term Notes
ZRENARERAA AR% Gk 3000 202211715 20271115 5 2.84%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Medium-term Notes
ZREBARERAA AR% RNAlfE 5000 2022422 202714122 5 363%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds
ZRENARERAA AR% AR 1,000 2022/4/27 20251427 3 279%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds
ZREHARERAA i I 1,000 2022/672 2025/6/2 3 2.60%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds
ZRENARERAA AEH AR 1,000 2022/672 2027/6/2 5 330%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds
ZRENARERAA N NARE 2,000 2022/7/14 2027714 5 337%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds
ZREWARERAT AR% RAE 1,800 20221830 2025/8/30 3 2.80%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds
ZRENARERAA AR% I 1,200 2022/8/30 2027/830 5 3.20%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds
EREBARERAA N Al 1,000 20221913 2025913 3 2.88%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds
EREHARERAA N AR 1,000 20221913 2027913 5 3.25%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds
ERERARERAA AR% RAlfE 2000 202211725 202511725 3 240%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds
EREHARERAA N I 3000 202211725 202711725 5 2.90%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds
ERARERE ARE CMBS* 2,100 2022/4129 2040227 34343434343 330%
Shenyang Tiexi Mixc One RMB
IREBAE ARE CMBS* 3,000 2022/9728 2034/826 3434343 2.98%
Beijing CR Building RMB
AFHESH ARE CMBS* 3000 20221025 20408727 1048 4.00%
Shijiazhuang Mixc RMB
it 39,100
Total

* M ER T E L L 15555 * Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities
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CREDIT RATINGS

In 2022, Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch maintained the
Company’s credit ratings at BBB+/stable, Baa1/stable and BBB+/stable
respectively.

ASSET PLEDGE

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total loan credit line of
RMB55.1 billion through asset pledge with tenors ranging from 2 to
25 years, and the Group’s total balance of asset-pledged loan was
RMB35.5 billion.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had principal amount of
approximately USDO.6 billion (equivalent to RMB4.18 billion) cross-
currency swap contracts to hedge exchange rate. Two-way volatility
of RMB exchange rate may increase as RMB exchange mechanism
becomes more market-oriented. However, the Group’s foreign
exchange risk is well under control and RMB exchange rate
fluctuations will not pose a material impact on the Group’s financial
position. The Group will closely monitor its exchange risk exposure
and make necessary adjustment based on market changes.

EMPLOYEE AND COMPENSATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had 55,311 employees in
Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong. The Group remunerates its
employees based on their performance, working experience and
market salary levels. In addition, performance bonus is granted on a
discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include provident fund,
insurance and medical coverage.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Certain temporary guarantees were provided to banks with respect to
mortgage loans procured by some purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Such guarantees will be released by banks upon the
issuance of the real estate ownership certificate to the purchasers and
completion of the relevant mortgage properties registration. In the
opinion of the Board, the fair value of these financial guarantee
contracts is insignificant.
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Mr. Li Xin, aged 51

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as a
Co-president of the Company in July 2016, and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company in
April 2017, and was appointed as the President of the
Company in December 2018, and was appointed as
the Chairman of the Board in May 2022. He is also
the Chairman of the Executive Committee, the
Corporate Social Responsibility Committee and the
Nomination Committee, and a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
In August 2020, Mr. Li was appointed as the
Chairman and a non-executive director of CR Mixc
Lifestyle, which is a subsidiary of the Company and
listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Mr. Li also served as the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee and the Sustainability
Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of CR Mixc Lifestyle. Mr. Li is also a
director of a number of other subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Li has a Bachelor’s degree of Management from
Dongbei University of Finance & Economics and a
Master of Science degree in Project Management
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Li has
extensive experience in property management and
corporate management. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1994, and had
worked for China Resources Property Management
Limited.
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Mr. Wu Bingqji, aged 57

joined the Company in 2007 and was appointed as a
Senior Vice President of the Company in October
2013, and was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company in February 2019, and was appointed
as the Chief Human Resources Officer of the
Company, and was appointed as a President of the
Company in July 2022. He is also a member of the
Executive Committee and the Corporate Social
Responsibility Committee of the Company. Mr. Wu is
also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Wu has a Bachelor’s degree of Industrial and Civil
Architecture Engineering from Tongji University in
China, and an MBA degree from the University of
South Australia in Australia. Mr. Wu has extensive
experience in property and corporate management.
Mr. Wu joined China Resources (Holding) Company
Limited in 1993, and had worked for China Resources
Property Management Limited.

Mr. Zhang Dawei, aged 54

joined the Company in 2006 and was appointed as a
Co-president of the Company in July 2016, and he
was appointed as an executive Director in April 2017,
and was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board
of the Company in December 2018 and was
appointed as the Chief Operating Officer of the
Company in January 2021. He is also a member of
the Executive Committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang
is also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Zhang has a Bachelor’'s degree of Structural
Engineering and a Master’s degree of Earthquake
Engineering from Dalian University of Technology,
and an EMBA degree from China Europe International
Business School in China. Mr. Zhang has extensive
experience in property management and corporate
management. Mr. Zhang joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1994, and had
worked for China Resources Construction Co.,
Limited.
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Mr. Xie Ji, aged 50

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as a
Senior Vice President of the Company in June 2013
and an executive Director of the Company in April
2017, and was appointed as the Chief Strategy
Officer of the Company in January 2021. He is
responsible for strategy and investment. He is also a
member of the Executive Committee of the Company.
Mr. Xie is also a director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Company.

Mr. Xie has a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering
from Tongji University in China, and an EMBA degree
from China Europe International Business School in
China. Mr. Xie has extensive experience in property
management and corporate management. Mr. Xie
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
in 1993, and had worked for China Resources
Construction Co., Limited.

Mr. Guo Shiqing, aged 53

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as a
Deputy General Manager of the Northeast Region of
the Company in 2017, taking charge of the finance
department, and General Manager of Finance
Department of the Company in October 2018. He
was then appointed as the Chief Financial Officer in
June 2020. Mr. Guo was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company and a member of Executive
Committee of the Company in December 2020 and
was appointed as the Board Secretary of the
Company in December 2022. Mr. Guo was also
appointed as a non-executive director and a member
of the audit committee of CR Mixc Lifestyle in August
2020, which is the subsidiary of the Company and
listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

Mr. Guo has a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from
Xiamen University and has extensive experience in
real estate management and finance management.
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Mr. Liu Xiaoyong, aged 59

is designated external director of business unit of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“China
Resources Group”). Mr. Liu was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company in October 2021.
Prior to that, he joined China Resources Capital
Holdings Company Limited in 2015 and was
appointed as the General Manager. He was
appointed as the Chairman of China Resources Bank
of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. and CRC Assets Management
Limited Company in 2016, and appointed as the
Chairman of China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. in
2017.1n 2019, Mr. Liu joined China Resources Group,
appointed as the Senior Deputy General Manager of
Strategic Management Department. Prior to that, Mr.
Liu has served for the Head Office of People’s Bank of
China, The China Banking Regulatory Commission,
Shanxi Branch of The China Banking Regulatory
Commission and etc. Mr. Liu obtained a Master’s
degree in Finance and a Doctor’s degree in Monetary
Banking from PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University, an EMBA degree from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business and a Post-Doctor
degree in Applied Economics from Guanghua School
of Management of Peking University. He has extensive
experience in finance and management. He is
currently a non-executive director of China Resources
Gas Group Limited, a company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1193).
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Mr. Dou Jian, aged 55

is designated external director of business unit of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“China
Resources Group”). Mr. Dou was appointed as non-
executive Director of the Company in October 2021.
Prior to that, he joined Xuzhou China Resources
Power Ltd. in 1999, was appointed as Chief Legal
Consultant and Director of Audit and Internal Control
of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited
in 2010. He was then appointed as Assistant Director
of Strategic Management Department of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 2012,
appointed as Deputy Director of Strategic
Management Department of China Resources Group
in 2016. Mr. Dou has a Bachelor’s degree in
Computer Science from Anhui University and an MBA
degree from Cardiff Business School (UK). He has
extensive experience in strategic management, legal,
audit and internal control. He is currently a non-
executive director of China Resources Microelectronics
Limited, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 688396).

Ms. Cheng Hong, aged 56

is designated external director of business unit of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“China
Resources Group”). Ms. Cheng was appointed as a
non-executive Director of the Company in October
2021. Prior to that, Ms. Cheng joined Shenzhen
International Trust and Investment Corp. (Now China
Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.) in 1993, and was
appointed as the Deputy General Manager in 2016.
She was also appointed as the Deputy General
Manager of SZITIC Commercial Property Co., Ltd. in
2004. Ms. Cheng Hong obtained a Bachelor’s degree
and a Master’s degree in Biology from the Wuhan
University, and a Master’s degree in Law from Renmin
University of China. She has extensive experience in
management, real estate financing and commercial
property management.
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Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, aged 78

was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in September 2005. He also
serves as the Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee and a member of Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate
Social Responsibility Committee of the Company.

Mr. Ho is a graduate from the Department of
Architecture of University of Hong Kong. He worked
in several renowned architectural practices in United
Kingdom and Hong Kong before founding hpa
(previously known as Ho & Partners Architects
Engineers and Development Consultants Limited) in
1980. He is an Authorized Person (Architect) Hong
Kong, Member of Hong Kong Institute of Architects
and of Royal Institute of British Architects. The
projects he designed can be found in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, United Kingdom, India, South-East Asia
and Middle East, he has published a book called
“Building in China”.

Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, aged 65

was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in July 2006. He also serves
as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of
the Company. He is the Founding Managing Partner
of SAIF Partners. Prior to joining SAIF Partners, he was
the Managing Director and Head of Hong Kong office
of Emerging Markets Partnership, the management
company of AIG Asian Infrastructure Funds from
1994 to 2001. From 1989 to 1994, he worked in the
World Bank, the Hudson Institute and the US Sprint
International Corporation as an Economist, Research
Fellow and Director of Strategic Planning and Business
Development for the Asia Pacific Region respectively
in Washington D.C. From 1982 to 1984, he was the
Chief Engineer at the Jianghuai Airplane Corp.

051



P R e BN B
BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

052

BREER— NN\ ZFRE RSk
(R - mEMEMARE)RFIRE
B &Lk R—NAN\EFE—N/UR
FHREFAREBE/ 28I T84 -
P@%iﬁé*ﬂ)\ﬂﬁ?ﬁé%ﬁﬂﬁ@ﬁﬁ%

SEEL&ERET i R
—ﬂﬂﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂgi@%%&
SRMEFTREE -

& St LE 3R B U5 A& ATA Creativity Global
(BITE : ATA Inc.) (MHTERIRER S
Fr E) ~ 360 8 Rt (A HT:E 7 RTER
%ﬁﬁ&%i’%*%ﬁﬁi?ﬁ)&mﬁﬁ
BOERABCRINEHLZ S L)
WBYES - b BAAEEEER
%ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁlﬂ%’ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ(ﬁ’\:
——FRNANBEZZE_ZF)NA
/\Eﬁﬂﬁaﬁ)ﬁﬂiF¥H?T%$ It RE
HiZmBEEERROBRAE (R
?&} T REENEHERERNER
RNA)) CRINESFRZ G — 8lER £
m (RZE—mFE=A=++tHEZ
TEFRATEAAME)  TCLEHE
ROERAR CRINEBSLZ S L)
(RZE—RF=-A=-+WHHE=F
—EF+—A+-HEH)MNBIE
% ?&ﬁtﬁﬁcgﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ(ﬁ’\
—NF—-—A=+HZE=_ZE=_%F
_HTL AHIE  ZRARRZE=F
FoAT - AENTERRER S
EW) s EEEBEI XSRS
ﬁﬁﬁ’ AORINEHFR G ET) (B
—NEAA+BEZZ-_ZFF+
ﬂ+_EI,HHFaEJ) BRERBRHBR
AR EBBHERGHLET) (RZE
—ﬂi/\ﬁ—k)\ﬂi_?_?E—F—
A ZBHEMB) BRI ER RS
AR EEEHFRZZEIAIR M)
(R—E—NFARA-_t+=-H=2-Z
TN NAZHBHE)NES - K
LHAEPEEAE foﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁ a(&
BRBT - EBEAFRSZ - HHFE
ARG LEW) (RZT=—FWA
=+AZE-_ZE-_—_F+A-++HH
M) BB IERITES

— T~ —FEHE  ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Mr. Yan received a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering
from Nanjing Aeronautic Institute (now called Nanjing
University of Aeronautics and Astronautics) in 1982.
He studied in the Master Program in Department of
Sociology of Peking University from 1984 to 1986
and received a Master of Arts’ degree from Princeton
University in International Political Economy in 1989.
He also studied advanced finance and accounting
courses at the Wharton Business School in 1995.

Currently, Mr. Yan is an independent director of ATA
Creativity Global (formerly called ATA Inc.) (listed on
NASDAQ), 360 DigiTech, Inc. (formerly called 360
Finance Inc.) (listed on NASDAQ and Hong Kong
Stock Exchange) and Guoyuan Securities Co., Ltd.
(listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange). Besides, Mr.
Yan was a non-executive director of Guodian
Technology & Environment Group Corporation
Limited (from 8 June 2012 to 6 August 2020) (listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange). Mr. Yan was
also an independent director of Blue Focus
Communication Group (now called BlueFocus
Intelligent Communications Group Co., Ltd.) (from 27
March 2014 to 17 May 2020 and it is listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange — ChiNext Board), TCL
Corporation (from 24 March 2015 to 12 November
2020 and it is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange)
and a director of Huize Holding Limited (from 30
January 2019 to 11 February 2020 and company
listed on NASDAQ on 12 February 2020), Shanghai
Welltech Automation Co., Ltd. (10 June 2019 to 12
October 2020 and it is listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange), Haier Smart Home Co., Ltd. (from 18 June
2019 to 2 November 2020 and it is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange) and Shenzhen Appotronics
Corporation Ltd. (from 22 June 2019 to 2 August
2021 and it is listed on Sci-Tech Innovation Board
(STAR) Market, Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Yan
was also the independent non-executive director of
China Southern Airlines Co Ltd. (from 30 April 2021
to 27 October 2022 and listed on Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Shanghai Stock Exchange and NYSE).
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Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, MH, aged 70

was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2009. He also
serves as the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wan has extensive experience in auditing and
financial management. He is a former partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong.

Mr. Wan is currently an independent non-executive
director of several companies listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, namely A-Living
Smart City Services Co., Ltd., Haitong International
Securities Group Limited, Fairwood Holdings Limited
and KFM Kingdom Holdings Limited. Mr. Wan was an
independent director of China World Trade Center
Co., Ltd. until 21 November 2022 (a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange). Besides, he was an
independent non-executive director of Kerry Logistics
Network Limited until 31 May 2019, Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Holding Company Limited until 27
June 2019, Huaneng Renewables Corporation Limited
until 28 June 2019, Harbin Bank Company Limited
until 8 October 2019, Target Insurance (Holdings)
Limited until 9 August 2021 (all listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Wan is a Fellow
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He
graduated from the accounting department of Hong
Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) with a higher diploma in 1975.
He was conferred the degree of Doctor of Social
Sciences by the Hong Kong Metropolitan University in
2022.
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Mr. Zhong Wei, aged 54

was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2017. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate
Social Responsibility Committee of the Company. Mr.
Zhong has been a professor at the Department of
Economics at Beijing Normal University since 2003.
Prior to that, Mr. Zhong had served as an associate
professor at Department of Economics at Beijing
Normal University from 1999 to 2003. Mr. Zhong
worked as a lecturer at the Business School of
Jiangnan University from July 1994 to July 1997. Mr.
Zhong also served as an assistant engineer at Wuxi
Alarm Devices Factory from July 1990 to July 1992.
Mr. Zhong graduated from Nanjing University in 1990
majoring in applied physics and from Southeast
University in 1994 majoring in industrial economics
management. Mr. Zhong received his Doctor’s degree
in 1999 from Beijing Normal University majoring in
international economics. Between September 2001
and July 2004, Mr. Zhong engaged in postdoctoral
research in management science at Tongji University.
Mr. Zhong was an independent director of Dongxing
Securities Company Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Currently, Mr.
Zhong also serves as an independent non-executive
director of Future Land Development Holdings
Limited, China Jinmao Holdings Group Limited and
Yunnan Water Investment Co., Limited, the shares of
which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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Mr. Sun Zhe, aged 57

was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2017. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee of the Company. Mr. Sun is currently the
co-director of China Program and senior visiting
scholar at the School of International and Public
Affairs of Columbia University. He also served as the
analyst and academic committee member of
Government Governance Innovative Research Centre
of Peking University since 2018. He is the founding
director of the Center for U.S.-China Relations at
Tsinghua University and was a professor of
International Affairs and doctoral supervisor of
Tsinghua University from 2006 to 2016. Prior to that,
he was a professor and deputy director of the Center
for American Studies at Fudan University from 2000
to 2006. Mr. Sun served as an independent non-
executive director of MGM China Holdings Limited
until 27 May 2021, the shares of which are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Professor
Sun has taught at the East Asian Institute, Columbia
University and Ramapo College, New Jersey. He is the
author and editor of twenty three books on
comparative politics and U.S.-China relations.

Mr. Sun obtained a Bachelor’s and a Master’s degree
in law from Fudan University in 1987 and 1989
respectively and obtained a Doctor’s degree in
political science from Columbia University in 2000. He
also obtained a Master of Art degree majoring in
political science from Indiana State University in 1992.
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Mr. Shen Tongdong, aged 55

joined the Company in 2005, and was appointed as a
Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer of
the Company in July 2016, and is responsible for
intelligence and informatization and resigned as Chief
Information Officer of the Company in January 2022.
He was appointed as an executive Director and a
member of the Executive Committee of the Company
in December 2018, and resigned as an executive
Director and member of Executive Committee of the
Company in January 2021. Mr. Shen is also a director
of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Shen has a Bachelor’s degree of Accounting from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and an
MBA degree from the University of San Francisco in
the United States. Mr. Shen joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1991, and had
worked in its Audit Department and China Resources
(Shenzhen) Company Limited.

Mr. Kong Xiaokai, aged 54

joined the Company in 2005, and was appointed as a
Senior Vice President of the Company in July 2016.
He was appointed as the Chief Information Officer of
the Company in January 2022. Mr. Kong holds the
double Bachelor's degree in Construction
Management Engineering and Computer Science and
Technology from Tsinghua University in China, and
also a Master’s degree in Construction Economics and
Management from the Department of Civil
Engineering of Tsinghua University in China. Mr.
Kong has experience in real estate management and
corporate management. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 2000, and had
worked for China Resources (Shenzhen) Co., Limited
and China Resources Sun Hung Kai Properties
(Hangzhou) Limited.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company and the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) are committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company recognizes the importance of
maintaining high standards of corporate governance to the long-term
stable development of the Group. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company has complied with the code provisions that were in
force as set out in CG Code for the period from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022: except the following deviation from Code Provision
C.2.1.

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Since the resignation of Mr. Wang
Xiangming as the Chairman of the Board with effect from 5 May
2022 and up to 25 July 2022, Mr. Li Xin, an executive Director, held
both roles of the Chairman of the Board and the President of the
Company to provide the Group with consistent leadership, which was
not in strict compliance with Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code,
With effect from 26 July 2022, Mr. Li Xin resigned and Mr. Wu Bingqi
was appointed as the President of the Company to re-comply with
Code Provision C.2.1.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group takes “Better Quality Better Life” as its corporate mission,
and takes integrity, performance-driven, human-oriented and win-win
collaboration as our values. The Group strives to become the industry-
leading urban investor, developer and operator, while encourages a
working atmosphere with sincerity, solidarity, open-mindedness and
proactivity. The Company has formulated its culture handbook in line
with the corporate culture, and timely educates its staff (especially the
new recruits) through trainings.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding securities transactions
of the directors of the Company (“Directors”). The Company, having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
regarding their securities transactions during 2022.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies, objectives
and business plans for the Company, and to supervise and control the
implementation of strategies of the Company and its operations and
financial performance, and formulation of appropriate risk control
policies and procedures to ensure the achievement of the Company’s
strategic objectives. In addition, the Board is also responsible for
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance of the
Company. The Directors are accountable for promoting the success of
the Company and making decisions objectively in the best interests of
the Company.

In order to maintain a highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility
and swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when
necessary, may delegate certain of its managing and administrative
powers to the management, and provide clear guidance regarding
such delegation so as to avoid seriously impeding or undermining the
overall capabilities of the Board in exercising its powers. The
management meets regularly to review the strategic goals, corporate
structure, operating procedures, budget implementation, major
projects and business plans of the Company. Duties and authorities
delegated to the various board committees are described in the
respective sessions below.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced
composition of executive directors and non-executive directors helps
to ensure the independence of the Board and enables the Board to
make independent judgments effectively. The operation and
management of the Board and the day-to-day management of the
Company’s business should be clearly divided at the Board level to
ensure that there is a balance of power and authority and that power
will not be concentrated on any one individual.

Directors may seek independent professional advice to assist them to
perform their duties at the Company’s expense. Prior to seeking
independent professional advice: the Director shall make a request to
the Chairman. The Chairman may convene a Board meeting to discuss
such matters if considered necessary, and the Chairman appoints the
management to arrange for the engagement of consultants and
confirms to the Director that the above arrangements are in place.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprised 13 Directors, including
five executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Xin (Chairman), Mr. Wu Binggqi
(President), Mr. Zhang Dawei (Vice Chairman), Mr. Xie Ji and Mr. Guo
Shiging; three non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Liu Xiaoyong, Mr.
Dou Jian and Ms. Cheng Hong; and five independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr.
Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe. Members of
the Board are not related to each other, including financial, business,
family or other material relationship. The number of independent
non-executive Directors represents at least one third of the Board as
required under Rule 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 December 2022. Members of the Board and their
biographical details are set out in the “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 46 to 56 of this
report.

As at 31 December 2022, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

E=HHE

Number of Directors

FEHEMAMR AR  China Resources Land Limited 059
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On 23 August 2013, the Company established “China Resources Land
Limited Board Diversity Policy” (“Board Diversity Policy”) for the
diversity of the Board, and the Company revised the Board Diversity
Policy on 4 December 2018 pursuant to the updated Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules, which was effective from 1 January 2019.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and professional
development program for the Directors.

During Year 2022, all Directors have been provided with monthly
updates on the Group’s business operation, position and prospects to
enable the Board and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has sent reading materials to Directors on regulatory
updates or information relevant to the Company or its business.
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In 2022, the Company provided all Directors monthly reports with
latest information on the business operation, position and prospects
of the Group, and provided two training opportunities to all Directors,
topics of which were “Recent Amendments to the Listing Rules and
Securities Transactions by Directors” and “Beyond Compliance —
ESG Premium in the Capital Market”. Details of records of all

RTK: Directors’ continuous professional development trainings during the
year are set out in below table:
BEEXRR2E
Type of continuous professional
development
HEBEEEERLQH
REHEK 2 BH ESEER
EEEMRESR E=REE
Reading regulatory Taking trainings
updates or on regulatory
information relevant development
to the Company or and directors’
its business duties
F M’ Li Xin v 2/2
RRH Wu Bingqi v 2/2
wRRAE Zhang Dawei v/ 2/2
E Xie Ji v 2/2
ZhE Guo Shiging v 2/2
2EEE Liu Xiaoyong v 2/2
g 2 Dou Jian v 212
B oa Cheng Hong v 2/2
FEBH Wang Xiangming v 11
(RZZ=_=FHAAHEHD) (resigned on 5 May 2022)
ik 2 \ Zhang Liang y o
(R=—FB—-——F+—-H—-+—HFT) (resigned on 22 December 2022)

Bt Andrew Y. Yan v 2/2
(EFEE Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco v/ 2/2
F R Wan Kam To, Peter v 2/2
i E Zhong Wei 4 2/2
7w 7 Sun Zhe v 2/2
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BOARD AND GENERAL MEETINGS

Ten Board meetings and one general meeting (i.e. the annual general
meeting, “AGM") of the Company were held during Year 2022. The
attendance of each Director at the meetings is set out as follows:

Exae; BRRBFRE

EEHS Name of Director Board Meeting AGM

HITEFE Executive Directors

= R Li Xin 10/10 171

RFH Wu Binggqi 10/10 11

SRR Zhang Dawei 10/10 11

Fii Xie Ji 9/10 171

SRS Guo Shiging 9/10 11

FHTEE Non-Executive Directors

Eli==2 Liu Xiaoyong 10/10 11

g Dou Jian 10/10 11

B4 Cheng Hong 10/10 11

FERA (KT Wang Xiangming' (resigned on - 00
AR AFE) 5 May 2022)

&k B2(R=ZT=_= Zhang Liang? (resigned on S i
T A= +=HEE) 22 December 2022)

BIHNITEE Independent Non-Executive Directors

ol Andrew Y. Yan 10/10 0/1

(EFEES3 Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 10/10 1/1

FIRH Wan Kam To, Peter 10/10 11

E # Zhong Wei 10/10 11

® B Sun Zhe 10/10 171

8 RERTARL AREREESEH ! There were four Board meetings held during the tenure of the Director;
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2 There were ten Board meetings and one general meeting held during the
tenure of the Director.

The Chairman of the Board shall attend the AGM and invite the
chairmen of the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the
nomination committee and any other committees of the Company to
attend. In 2022, the chairman of the remuneration committee was
unable to attend and the Chairman of the Board invited another
member to attend and answer relevant questions. In addition,
management ensures that the external auditor attends the AGM to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit works, the
preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policy
and the auditor’s independence.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. Wang Xiangming resigned as the Chairman of the Board on 5
May 2022 and Mr. Li Xin held office as both President and Chairman
of the Board till 25 July 2022. Mr. Wu Binggi was appointed as
President on 26 July 2022 and became responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Company since then.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.7 of the CG Code, the Chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors. One
meeting between the Chairman and the independent non-executive
Directors was held during Year 2022. The attendance of each Director
at this meeting is set out as follows:

AT %

Attendance
EFEFE Chairman of the Board
F R Li Xin 1/1
FHE Wang Xiangming' o0
(R—ZE-_—FHARABMT) (resigned on 5 May 2022)
BUHHITESE Independent Non-Executive Directors
Bt Andrew Y. Yan 11
(GIFEE S Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 11
F R Wan Kam To, Peter 11
E & Zhong Wei 11
7w 7 Sun Zhe 11

E ZEFEARBITOREFEBLINTEST SR -
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EREFAS FEIRAIAER 2B RS EEL -
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CEEMREFEEAN  FZHEBRTIXREZE
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! There was no meeting held between Chairman and independent non-
executive Directors during his tenure of the Director.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

All Directors entered into formal letters of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years and they are subject to re-election
by shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the
Company and at least once every three years on a rotation basis in
accordance with Article 116 of the articles of association of the
Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election and re-election
of retiring Directors at the AGM of the Company is dealt with by
separate individual resolutions. Where vacancies arise at the Board,
candidates are proposed and put forward to the Board by the
nomination committee of the Company as more fully explained below
under the section on “Nomination Committee”.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 4 September 1998. As at 31 December 2022, all
members of the Audit Committee were independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter is the chairman of the committee
and members include Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Zhong Wei and Mr.
Sun Zhe, while Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter holds accounting-related
professional qualifications.

The major duties of the Audit Committee include:

M

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and the
terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions
of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards, to discuss with the
external auditor before the audit commences, the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations, and to ensure co-
ordination where more than one audit firm is involved;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services (for this purpose, “external
auditor” includes any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the audit firm or any entity that
a reasonable and informed third party knowing all relevant
information would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally), and to report to the Board, to
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed,;
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to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
annual report and accounts, interim report and quarterly
financial highlights (or quarterly reports when required by the
Listing Rules or when deemed appropriate by the Company),
and to review quarterly (as the case may be) significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them. In reviewing these
reports before submission to the Board, the audit committee
should focus particularly on:

(i)  any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(i) major judgmental areas;

(iiiy  significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;
(v)  compliance with accounting standards; and

(viy  compliance with the Listing Rules and legal requirements
in relation to financial reporting;

in conducting the review described in (4) above, members of
the audit committee should:

(i) liaise with the Board and senior management and meet
with the Company’s auditors at least twice a year;

(i) consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may
need to be, reflected in the report and accounts and
should give due consideration to any matters that have
been raised by the Company's staff responsible for the
accounting and financial reporting function, compliance
officer or auditors; and

(i) to discuss with the auditors problems and reservations
arising from the interim review and final audits, and any
matters the auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence
of management where necessary).

to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems;
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to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This evaluation should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its
own initiative and the management’s response to these
findings;

to review the external auditor’s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to management about accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of controls and
management’s response;

to review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal audit
function, to ensure coordination between the internal and
external auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit function
is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Company;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure coordination
between the internal and external auditors, and to ensure that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and to review and
monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;
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(14) to review the Company’s arrangements which employees of the
Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters and to ensure that proper arrangements are in
place for fair and independent investigation of these matters
and for appropriate follow-up action;

(15) to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company's relationship with the external auditor;

(16) to report to the Board on the matters in the paragraphs set out
in this section of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee;
and

(17) to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held three
meetings (among which the auditor of the Company attended two
meetings) and had reviewed the interim and annual results of the
Group, discussed and approved the relevant financial reports; it had
also reviewed the Group’s internal control system, risk assessment
result and internal audit activities.

ERLZEEREN S _F 2 HBLEENT Attendance of members of the Audit Committee in 2022 is set out as
follows:

ZEEERE Committee Members Attendance
BUIIBTEE Independent Non-Executive Directors

FIRBE(ZEEEeLE) Wan Kam To, Peter (Committee chairman) 3/3
o Andrew Y. Yan 3/3
s & Zhong Wei 3/3
® 5 Sun Zhe 3/3
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 7 April 2005. As at 31 December
2022, all the members of the Remuneration Committee were
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Andrew Y. Yan is the
chairman of the committee and members include Mr. Ho Hin Ngai,
Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe.

The major duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

(M

to make the following recommendations to the Board: the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’, the senior
management and all other managers’ remuneration, and the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of executive Directors, senior management and all
other managers. This should include fixed salaries, bonuses,
incentives schemes, share options, non-pecuniary benefits,
pensions and compensation payments (including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment), considering factors including but not limited to
the market-based procedures of selection and appointment and
the competitive policies on the allocation of remuneration for
key talents set by the Board which shall include further
consideration of salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

to review the annual performance contracts, annual assessment
results, tenure performance contracts and tenure assessment
results of the senior management and all other managers;

to review the annual salary budget and the annual settlement
proposal;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;
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to review and approve compensation payable to the executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

to ensure that no Director or any of his or her associates is
involved in deciding his or her own remuneration;

to review and/or approve matters relating to share plans
established under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

to consider other topics and duties as defined by the Board.
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The total remuneration of executive Directors and senior management
of the Company comprises three key components, namely basic
salary, bonus and the mid-to-long term incentive scheme. The
Company sets its strategic and performance targets on an annual and
long-term basis. Based on the Company’s overall performance targets,
the Company assigns responsibilities and sets performance
benchmarks and evaluation methods for each executive Director and
members of the senior management team. To promote the
achievement of annual performance goals, actual performance is
assessed against annual performance targets in order to determine
the bonus. To align the interests of owners and management team of
the Company and promote healthy development of the Company,
the mid-to-long term incentive scheme is correlated with mid-to-long
term strategic targets of the Company and determined by evaluating
the performance in corresponding strategical period.

The emoluments of non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors of the Company are Directors’ emoluments. The
Company establishes a mechanism for regular review annually, by
which the remuneration of executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are reviewed
against benchmark companies in the industry every year with
reference to market inflation levels, taking into account Directors’
workload, responsibilities and risks borne.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the policy for the remuneration of Directors, assessed
performance of Directors and senior management and the incentive
mechanism of the Company. There were three meetings held by the
Remuneration Committee to approve the increase in salaries, bonus
and the vesting plan of the mid-to-long term incentive scheme to
Directors and senior management during the year. In this regard, the
Remuneration Committee made recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management of the Group for final adoption. The attendance at
these meetings is as follows:

ZEEgRE Committee Members Attendance
BUIRITEE Independent Non-Executive Directors

B wW(EEexE) Andrew Y. Yan (Committee chairman) 3/3
Fi8E Wan Kam To, Peter 3/3
EF=E Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 3/3
&= Z Zhong Wei 3/3
7% 7 Sun Zhe 3/3
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the details of the
EIEAB ZEHBRAMAMT

remuneration of the senior management were as follows:

(AR®TT)
(RMB'000)
e MEMEH] Salaries and other benefits 44,989.36
RIREFIET IR Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 1,194.77
Mtet - Notes:
a SEEBEABREARRRTESNEMREEEA a Senior management included the executive Directors and other members of
8 senior management of the Company;
SEEEABZKEREBED D ZHMIIELT © The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band
is set out below:
A
e E

Remuneration band Number of persons

F4 AR 5,000,001 782 7,000,000 7T

RMB5,000,001 to RMB7,000,000 per annum
FE AR 7,000,001 7T E 9,000,000 7T

RMB7,000,001 to RMB9,000,000 per annum

ERNEEWE R ARESFATZELZFHE O
T EMBAMEET A2 HERE  TYHNTBHR
KHIFES K9 e

Further particulars regarding the Directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to

Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 30 March 2007. As at 31 December
2022, a majority of the members of Nomination Committee was
independent non-executive Directors. The executive Director, Mr. Li
Xin is the chairman of the committee, and other members include Mr.
Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco and Mr. Zhong Wei, all being
independent non-executive Directors.

The major duties of the Nomination Committee include:

(M

to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and gender diversity) of the Board
at least annually and to make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

to develop and maintain a nomination policy for the Board,
including the nomination procedures and the process and
criteria adopted by the Committee to identify, select and
recommend candidates to become a Director, and to review
regularly and disclose in the Company’s corporate governance
report the policy and progress towards achieving the objectives
under the policy. The Committee should ensure that the
selection process is transparent and fair, and that it considers a
wide range of candidates who are outside of the Board's circle
and in accordance with the Company’s diversity policy;

to develop and maintain a diversity policy for the Board, to
review regularly the implementation of the measurable
objectives under the policy, and to disclose the diversity policy
(or a summary thereof), the measurable objectives and the
progress towards achieving those objectives in the Company’s
corporate governance report after considering factors including
but are not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background or professional experience);

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members, assess the suitability and qualification of the
candidates for directorship (including the perspectives, skills and
experiences that the individual can bring to the Board and how
the individual can promote the diversity of the Board), report to
the Board on the assessment results, and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships;
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(5) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors with reasons, having regard to the requirements under
the Listing Rules;

(6) when identifying and nominating individuals to become
independent non-executive Directors, to assess whether and
why such individuals can devote sufficient time to the Board if
he/she will be holding his/her seventh or more listed company
directorship;

(7)  to consider the reasons for whether independent non-executive
directors who have served for over nine years shall be re-
elected, and explain and record the relevant considerations,
decision-making process and discussions;

(8)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular, the chairman and the chief executive/
managing director; and

(9) to prepare a list of qualified candidates for the appointment or
re-appointment of senior management (including but not
limited to the president, senior vice president, vice president,
chief financial officer, general counsel and secretary to the
Board and senior management as stipulated in the Articles of
Association) and make recommendations to the Board.

The independent non-executive Directors (as other directors) are
entitled to seek further information and documentation from the
management on the matters to be discussed at Board meetings. They
can also seek assistance from the Company’s company secretary and,
where necessary, independent advice from external professional
advisers at the Company'’s expense. They shall not vote or be counted
in the quorum on any board resolution approving any contract or
arrangement in which he/she or any of his/her close associates has a
material interest. Such mechanisms are to ensure that a strong
independent element on, and independent views and input are
available to the Board. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
5 independent non-executive Directors attended Board meetings
regularly and actively participated in the decision-making process of
the Board, and provided independent views and opinions to the Board
when it performed its duties. In view of the above, and after review,
the Board believes that its mechanisms for obtaining independent
views and input have been fully implemented and continues to be
effective.
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The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in attaining its strategic objectives and achieving
sustainable and balanced development for the Group, and also for
the compliance to the provisions in the CG Code on board diversity
which became effective on 1 September 2013, the Board has adopted
a policy concerning diversity of Board members (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) setting out a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, ethnicity, cultural and educational background,
communication styles, interpersonal skills, functional expertise,
problem solving skills, professional qualifications, knowledge and
industry and regional experience and other qualities, and all
appointments to the Board will be based on merits and competence
and will take into account of factors based on the Group’s own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The Company
shall strengthen the board diversity as and when appropriate
according to the needs of business development and corporate
governance.

After discussion by the Board, the gender diversity target for the
Company’s Board is having at least one female Director in the Board.
At the end of 2022, there was one female director of the Company
(representing 7.7% of the current Board), in line with the target set
by the Board. In the future, the Company will seek professional
Director candidates through diversified channels to further enhance
the diversity level of the Board. During 2022, the Nomination
Committee reviewed the structure, size, and diversity of the Board as
well as the selection criteria for Director candidate(s) and the Board
Diversity Policy, to ensure that the Board’s composition complies with
the Main Board Listing Rules and the Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, gender, age, ethnicity and length of service, to assess
whether the skills, experiences and diverse perspectives as well as the
contribution that the candidate can bring to the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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In respect of our staff, the Group strictly complies with the relevant
laws and regulations in formulating the internal policies of the Group,
and adheres to the principle of fair and open employment in order to
eliminate all discrimination based on factors such as gender, age,
race, and region, and provides our employees with a diverse and
inclusive working environment with fair employment and promotion
opportunities, respect and privacy. As of 31 December 2022, the total
number of senior management of Group is 408, among which the
number of female senior management is 81 (20%), and the number
of male senior management is 327 (80%); and the total number of
employees of the Group is 55,311, among which the number of
female employees is 19,935 (36%), and the number of male
employees is 35,376 (64%), The Company expects that in
consideration of the business development, the gender ratio of all
employees will be maintained at the current level in the medium term.

The Company developed and adopted Director Nomination Policy on
4 December 2018, and updated on 22 December 2022, effective on
the same day. Pursuant to the Director Nomination Policy, Directors
are appointed through formal, considered and transparent
procedures. The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due
consideration to criteria including but not limited to (collectively, the
“Criteria”): (a) diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, length of service and then attainment of gender
diversity of the Board; (b) qualifications, including accomplishment
and experience in the relevant industries the Company’s business is
involved in and other professional qualifications; (c) effective
fulfillment of commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect
of available time to ensure sufficient time may be devoted to
accordingly; (d) reputation for character and integrity; (e) contribution
that the candidate(s) can potentially bring to the Board; (f) whether
the appointment of the candidate(s) can avoid a potential conflict of
interest; and (g) plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the
Board.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due
consideration to the criteria including but not limited to: (a) the overall
contribution and service of the retiring Director(s) to the Company,
including but not limited to the attendance of the meetings of the
Board and/or its committees and general meetings where applicable,
in addition to the level of participation and performance on the Board
and/or its committees; and (b) whether the retiring Director(s)
continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria.
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In addition to the Criteria, the Nomination Committee will evaluate
and recommend candidate(s) for the position(s) of the independent
non-executive Directors by giving due consideration to the factors
including but not limited to those set out in Rules 3.10, 3.10A, 3.13
and Code Provision B.2.3 and B.3.4(b) of Appendix 14 under the
Listing Rules (as amended from time to time) in relation to
independence, composition of the then independent non-executive
Directors of the Board, the directorship of the candidate(s) in other
listed companies and the term of office of the then independent non-
executive directors (if applicable) etc. The Director Nomination Policy
is available on the website of the Company.

During 2022, the Nomination Committee held two meetings at which
the respective appointments of Mr. Li Xin as the Chairman of the
Board, and Mr. Wu Bingqi as the President, were recommended to
the Board for approval. The attendance of these meetings are as
follow:

i E R 8

ZEERE Committee Members Attendance
HITEE Executive Director
x MEZEFE ER Li Xin (current Committee chairman, redesignated from

—E-—FRATHAHZEEEKE a Committee member to the Committee chairman

FAFRZEEESFE) on 5 May 2022) 2/2
IERTTEE Non-Executive Director
FHRGIZEEEE - Wang Xiangming (former Committee chairman,

R-ZF—- 47 A7 HEHT) resigned on 5 May 2022) 11
BUHHITEE Independent Non-Executive Directors
=T Andrew Y.Yan 2/2
CIFEE < Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 2/2
B (E Zhong Wei 2/2
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The corporate governance committee of the Company (the "CG
Committee”) was established on 9 March 2012. As at 31 December
2022, a majority of the members of CG Committee was independent
non-executive Directors. The independent non-executive Director, Mr.
Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco is the chairman of the CG Committee and
members include Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan,
both being independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Li Xin, being
an executive Director.

Major duties of the CG Committee include: (1) to develop and review
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and
make recommendations to the Board; (2) to review and monitor the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; (3) to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
(4) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and (5) to review the Company’s compliance with the code on
corporate governance practice set out in the “CG Code” and
disclosure in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of
this report, details of which are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

During 2022, one meeting was held by the CG Committee to review
and monitor training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management as well as reviewing compliance
with CG Code by the Company and disclosure in Corporate
Governance Report. The attendance of this meeting is as follows:

o FE 70 8%
EZEERE Committee Members Attendance
HITEE Executive Director
F M Li Xin 171
BUHHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors
@R (ZE2FE) Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco (Committee chairman) 11
M Andrew Y.Yan 71
F R Wan Kam To, Peter 11
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The executive committee of the Company (the “Executive
Committee”) was established on 18 April 2017. As at 31 December
2022, all members of Executive Committee are executive Directors.
Mr. Li Xin is the chairman of the Executive Committee and members
include Mr. Wu Bingqi, Mr. Zhang Dawei, Mr. Xie Ji and Mr. Guo
Shiging.

The major duties of the Executive Committee are listed as follows:

—
[N

) subject to the annual investment budget approved by the
Board, approving the following transaction (other than a
connected transaction) with a single transaction amount
representing 10% or below of the market value of the
Company and authorizing one or more members of the
Executive Committee to sign the relevant documents and affix
the common seal of the Company in connection with the
transaction:

(@) acquisition or disposal of assets (including land acquisition
by way of tender);

granting, accepting, transferring, exercising or terminating
an option in respect of acquiring or disposing of assets or
subscribing for securities; and

(c) entering into or establishing joint venture companies
(whether by way of partnership, corporation or
otherwise).

approving any arrangements relating indemnities, guarantee,
financial assistance or financing where any of the ratios of the
size test of such arrangements according to the Listing Rules are
less than 5% except for any arrangement which the Company
provides indemnities, guarantee, financial assistance or
financing (as defined in the Listing Rules) to its subsidiary which
is not a connected person under the Listing Rules
notwithstanding the size of such loan of the financial assistance;

approving any connected transactions, which is governed by
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but is not required to be
announced under the Listing Rules;
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(4) approving the Company to make the following relevant
announcement and authorizing any of the members of the
Executive Committee to make appropriate amendments to such
announcement and arrange its publication:

(@) announcement in respect of the transaction as set out in
item (1) of this clause which constitutes a discloseable
transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules;

(b) announcement in respect of the loan agreement which is
subject to due performance of specific conditions by the
controlling shareholder as stipulated under Rule 13.18 of
the Listing Rules.

(5) approving any donation, which within the annual donation
budget and the amount is above RMB300,000;

(6) formulating the strategic and operational planning and
proposals such as strategic planning, business planning, etc,;
and

(7) transacting any other specific matters that the Executive
Committee is authorized by the Board to transact.

During the year under review, the Executive Committee held two
hundred and four meetings for the purpose of effective and timely
management of the Company’s day-to-day operation. The committee
chairman reported to the Board on a quarterly basis and the
resolutions were passed by the Executive Committee through physical
meeting or written document. Attendance of members of the
Executive Committee in 2022 is set out as follows:

ZEEERE Committee Members Attendance
HITEE Executive Directors

= RZESEE) Li Xin (Committee chairman) 204/204
REH Wu Binggq 173/204
RAA Zhang Dawei 173/204
a 5E Xie Ji 204/204
SRithE Guo Shiging 204/204
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
COMMITTEE

To further enhance the Company’s corporate governance, improve
the governance structure and refine the division of responsibilities of
the Board, a corporate social responsibility (“CSR") committee (“CSR
Committee”) was formed by the Company on 26 March 2019, to
assist the Board in providing direction on and overseeing the
development and implementation of the CSR initiatives of the Group.
As at 31 December 2022, a majority of the members of CSR
Committee are independent non-executive Directors. Executive
Director, Mr. Li Xin is the committee chairman, and members include
Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, all being
independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Wu Binggi being an
executive Director. Key responsibilities of the CSR Committee include:

1.

Oversight of the development of the CSR vision, strategy and
policies

(@

provide direction on and review the Group’s CSR vision,
objectives and strategy, and make recommendations to
the Board for the approval of the relevant CSR initiatives;

monitor and review emerging CSR trends and issues,
provide guidance on the development of the Group’s CSR
vision in light of the same, and act as a sounding board
on the management of current and emerging
sustainability and social responsibility matters affecting the
Group; and

monitor and review the Group’s CSR policies and practices
to ensure that they remain relevant and fit for purpose
and compliant with the applicable legal and regulatory
requirements and international standards.

Oversight of the implementation of the CSR vision and strategy

(@

oversee the execution of the Group’s CSR initiatives and
set targets to measure the attainment of the initiatives;

monitor performance of the Group against set CSR targets
and recommend actions as needed to improve
performance;
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(iii)

review management information on employee
volunteering or other activities in support of the CSR
initiatives, monitor internal and external feedback on the
implementation of the CSR initiatives, and make
recommendations to improve the coverage and
effectiveness of the relevant initiatives;

monitor and provide guidance on the Group's efforts to
support local and international initiatives to promote
corporate social responsibility where appropriate;

provide guidance on the environmental and social impacts
of how the Group conducts its business; and

with respect to any charitable foundation set up by the
Group:

(i) review its governance structure, annual budget and
work plan and make recommendations to the Board
for approval; and

(i) monitor the charitable foundation’s work progress,
community investment and engagement efforts and
provide updates to the Board as appropriate.

3. Oversight of the funding of CSR initiatives

(a)

make recommendations to the Board on the funding of
the CSR initiatives including

() monetary donations to pursue any philanthropic
and community investment initiatives, whether in
the name of any charitable foundation of the Group
or otherwise;

(i)  funding for the establishment and ongoing
operation of any charitable foundation of the
Group; and

(i) funding as needed to carry out actions within these

terms of reference.
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Oversight of the external communications policies

(a)

review the Group’s shareholder communication policy to
ensure its effectiveness and recommend any
improvements for the Board's approval; and

oversee how the Group engages with its stakeholders and
ensure that the appropriate communications policies are
in place and working effectively to promote Group’s
relationship with its stakeholders and protect its
reputation.

Other responsibilities

(a)

(0)

review the annual corporate social responsibility reports,
including but not limited to Corporate Social Responsibility
Report, Sustainability Report or Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, and make recommendations to the
Board for approval;

review and evaluate the performance of the CSR
Committee and these terms of reference to ensure that it
is operating at maximum effectiveness, and recommend
any changes it considers appropriate for the Board's
approval; and

do any such things as are necessary to enable the CSR
Committee to discharge its responsibilities.

In carrying out its responsibilities, the CSR Committee shall work
and liaise as necessary with all other Board committees, and
give due consideration to all relevant laws, rules, regulations
and regulatory requirements and guidance applicable to the
Group.
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EZEERE Committee Members Attendance
HITEE Executive Directors
* M(ZEEEE) Li Xin (Committee chairman) 2/2
SREFHT(R= %q:: F+—H=—+—H Wu Bingqi' (Appointed as a Committee member
BEZIFARZEECHKE) on 22 December 2022) 0/0
i Xie Ji
(R=F=—#F+= =+ =HFHE) (Resigned on 22 December 2022) 2/2
BUHHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors
GIFEE S Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 2/2
E & Zhong Wei 2/2
7w &7 Sun Zhe 2/2
1. ZEFTAXBITORCENSEAZESER - 1. There was no CSR Committee meeting held during the tenure of the
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Director.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the annual reports, interim reports and financial statements of the
Company to ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair
presentation in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards. The statement by the independent auditor about its
reporting responsibilities relating to the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 137 to 147.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board highly values and has the overall responsibility for
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems to safeguard the Group's assets and stakeholders’
interests, as well as for reviewing the effectiveness of the systems. To
fulfill its responsibility, the Board oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems to ensure the effectiveness of such systems through
well-established organizational structure, appropriate policies and
procedures in place, as well as clearly defined lines of authority and
responsibility.
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The Board oversees the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis and ensures that a review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems has been conducted at least annually. The Company amended
the terms of reference of the Audit Committee in 2015 to further
enhance the risk management and internal control functions of the
Group. The Board assesses the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems through the reviews performed by the
Audit Committee, executive management, internal audit department
("Internal Audit Department”) and external auditors. For the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group held three Audit Committee
meetings to review certain topics including the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and confirmed that the
management had performed their duties to maintain effective risk
management and internal control systems, and had ensured the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experiences, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions as well as those relating to the
Company'’s ESG performance and reporting. The Company considered
its risk management and internal control systems effective and
adequate.

In 2023, the Company plans to transfer the duty of risk management
and internal control from the Internal Audit Department to the Legal
and Compliance Department, detailed responsibilities include but not
limited to: (1) organizing and guiding the Group'’s other departments,
regions and business units to establish and improve the systems of
risk management and internal control, and carry on various work
under such systems; (2) supervising and inspecting implementation of
risk management and internal control systems in the Group's all
departments, regions and business units, suggesting rectification
measures and monitoring the implementation of such measures on an
on-going basis; (3) establishing internal evaluation mechanism,
assessing the Group’s risk management and internal control,
formulating an impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its
findings to the Audit Committee, the Chairman and the senior
management concerned as well as following up on all reports to
ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved.



AEERBREREMAMER RGN T EREMT

e

o  EAIEBUNLEERERE:
o EFABEROERE WEHAKREMBZ
BRI

o  EFTHEBABIRRE  BEMR:

o BEAREEXBDERNMEXRBET R
REHR HESEXBERERDENERE
BB EEE - M

o ABRAMEBEALFTEEEARRSBEF
ERFHELEE AR - BEHES) RN
R EREENRRERE N ARPEE
BE-

SEXCRATREREMAREE - RERTSE R
FEMREEENARAREBENERNER &
EZEERMBRAETEENEABRBERFOAR
HEWBERR - ARAMBE T AERANTHEE
TemEEEEMANMEAL  BRIFGIESSH]
JfE o Bt ARFE TS 0 E TSR MNE
5 BRIEBEIRME - wH - B RIMNBIRZMM
BT B T AR LR -

AEENRREEMATEIZRGRERF S EH
R AR ERMIEER IS N R B AR EK
EHEENERRR(BREREE HEMELRE
) BREEMTEHBEEARERL - #iR - 18
KAEFEHEL S EMIFRERE -

ARBICHIERREK R EZLG  REE R EME
BT ANBERE (WEP RMER) AR+ AT
AT ARNEZZE S (HEMHBIIFATES
MARZHNETEERE®) R EH M A REMN %
TANTEEZENEL - RARIRE I EREM
XFREDERFAOIFEREE

Features of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
include the following:

o internal audit is independent from operational management;

o internal auditor is fully authorized with access to all operational
and financial data of the Group;

° internal auditors are sufficient in team size, equipped with
strong expertise and professional experience;

o implement real-time dynamic process risk management on areas
with significant risks including procurement and sales, with fully
coverage on operational procedures and business units of the
Group; and

o target to identify and eliminate material risk of the Company,
business oriented risk screen process, whilst proactively promote
system-risk prevention to build effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Board is responsible for handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure the market and stakeholders are
timely and fully informed about the material developments in the
Company’s business, the Board has adopted the Inside Information
Disclosure Policy regarding the procedures of proper information
disclosure. All staff members of the Company must ensure that inside
information is not communicated to any external parties unless with
approval from the Board. As such, staff members of the Company
shall not respond to market speculation and rumours unless they are
authorized. In addition, all external presentation materials or
publications must be pre-vetted before release.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems and
procedures are designed to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks (including ESG risks), rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement, errors, losses or
fraud.

The Company has established a whistleblowing policy and system for
employees and those who deal with the issuer (e.g. customers and
suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the
audit committee (or any designated committee comprising a majority
of independent non-executive Directors) about possible improprieties
in any matter related to the issuer. The Company has also established
relevant policy that promote and support anti-corruption laws and
regulations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process. It
receives each year the letter from the independent auditor confirming
their independence and objectivity and holds meetings with
representatives of the independent auditor to consider the scope of
its audit, approve its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-
audit services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also
makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
retention of the independent auditor.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Disclosure of the fees of Messrs. Ernst & Young is shown in Note 12
to the financial statements. In the year ended 31 December 2022, a
provision of RMB5.1 million was made in the financial statements for
the annual audit fee payable to Messrs. Ernst & Young of the
Company. In addition, the Group paid RMBO0.75 million, and RMB3.73
million as service fees for review of 2022 interim financial statements,
and issuance of special corporate bonds and asset-backed securities
and other non-audit services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During 2022, the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”) was Mr. Lo Chi Lik, Peter (“Mr. Lo"), a practicing solicitor
in Hong Kong. With effect from 1 January 2023, Mr. Lo resigned and
Mr. So Yiu Fung (“Mr. So”) was appointed as the Company Secretary.
For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 23 December 2022. Although the Company Secretary is not a
full-time employee of the Company, he reports to the Board and in
his capacity as Company Secretary advises the Board on governance
matters. The primary contact person of the Company with the
Company Secretary was Mr. Guo Shiging, executive Director of the
Company. Each of Mr. Lo and Mr. So has confirmed that he has
attended at least 15 hours of professional development in 2022.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

CONVENING EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
(“EGM") AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
GENERAL MEETINGS

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM. General
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any one
or more members of the Company deposited at the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists hold as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, on a one vote per Share basis in the share capital of the
Company.

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Article 120 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of
the intention to propose that person for election as a Director and
notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall
have been given to the Company provided that the minimum length
of the period, during which such notices are given, shall be at least
seven days. The period for lodgment of such notices shall commence
no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior to
the date of such meeting.
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Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a
person to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting, the
following documents must be validly served on the Company
Secretary at the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
within the period specified in Article 120 of the Articles of Association
of the Company, namely (1) his/her notice of intention to propose a
resolution to elect a nominated candidate as a Director at the general
meeting which must include the name of the nominating shareholder
of the Company, his/her contact details and the number of the
Company’s ordinary shares held by the nominating shareholder; (2) a
notice signed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s
willingness to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s information
as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules;
and (4) the nominated candidate’s written consent to the publication
of his/her personal data.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company’s
website.

THE MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY

Amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of
the Company was adopted by special resolution at the annual general
meeting held on 15 June 2022. The amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company is available
at the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Save as
disclosed, no other changes have been made to the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company developed and adopted Dividend Policy on 4 December
2018, effective from 1 January 2019, aiming to provide shareholders
of the Company with an annual dividend payout of not less than 20%
of the Group's profit attributable to shareholders in any financial year,
subject to the criteria set out below. Such declaration and payment of
dividends shall remain to be determined at the absolute discretion of
the Board and subject to all applicable requirements (including
without limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and payment)
under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company.
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In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into
account the following criteria, including: (1) the Group’s actual and
expected financial performance; (2) shareholders’ interests; (3) general
business strategies of the Group; (4) retained earnings and
distributable reserves of the Company and each of the other members
of the Group; (5) the Group’s indebtedness level, key financial ratios
(such as the Group’s debt to equity ratio and return on equity) and
any financial covenants to which the Group is subject; (6) the Group’s
expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans; (7)
liquidity position and future commitments of the Group at the time of
declaration of dividend; (8) taxation considerations, and legal and
regulatory restrictions; (9) possible effects on the Group’s
creditworthiness; (10) general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group's business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance and position
of the Company; and (11) other factors that the Board deems
appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the shareholders of the
Company such interim dividends subject to the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of the Company.
Except in the case of interim dividend, any dividends declared by the
Company can be approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders
at general meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended
by the Board. Dividends may be distributed in the form of cash or
shares subject to and in accordance with the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of the Company. The
Company will regularly review the Dividend Policy and reserve the
right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall
in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time
to time.
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SHAREHOLDERS® COMMUNICATION AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION POLICY

During the year, the Company has established a Shareholders
Communication Policy and the policy is available on the website of
the Company. Such policy aims to set out the provisions with the
objective of ensuring that Shareholders are provided with
comprehensive, consistent and understandable information about the
Company (including its financial performance, strategic goals and
plans, material developments, governance and risk profile) at
appropriate time, in order to enable Shareholders to exercise their
rights in an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders and the
investment community to engage actively with the Company. The
Board shall maintain an ongoing dialogue with Shareholders and the
investment community, and will regularly review this policy to ensure
its effectiveness. Any question regarding this policy shall be directed
to the Company Secretary or Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

According to the policy, the main channels through which the
Company disseminates information to shareholders and the
investment community are: (1) shareholders’ enquiries; (2) corporate
communications; (3) corporate website; (4) webcast; (5) shareholders’
meetings; (6) investment market communications. Effective and timely
dissemination of information to Shareholders and the investment
community shall be ensured at all times. Shareholders should direct
their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s Hong
Kong Branch Share Registrar. Shareholders and the investment
community may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available.
Shareholders and the investment community shall be provided with
designated contacts, email addresses and enquiry lines of the
Company in order to enable them to make any query in respect of the
Company.
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The Company’s corporate communications will be provided to
Shareholders in plain language and in both English and Chinese
versions to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding. Shareholders are
encouraged to access the Company’s corporate communications
electronically via the Company’s website (www.crland.com.hk) in
support of environmental protection. Shareholders are also
encouraged to register for the News Alert service in the Market Data
section of the HKEX Market website (www.hkex.com.hk) in order to
receive notification when the Company publishes its corporate
communications on the HKEXnews website or makes updates to its
websites. A dedicated Investor Relations section is available on the
Company’s website (www.crland.com.hk). Information on the
Company’s website is updated on a regular basis. Information
released by the Company to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited is also posted on the Company’s website immediately
thereafter. Such information includes financial reports, results
announcements, circulars, notices of general meetings and other
regulatory disclosures. All presentation materials provided in
conjunction with the Company’s results announcements each year
will be made available on the Company’s website as soon as
practicable after their release. Webcasts of the Company’s interim and
annual results briefings are available on the Company’s website.

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to
appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and on their
behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. Appropriate
arrangements for the annual general meetings shall be in place to
facilitate Shareholders’ participation. Our Board members, including
the Chairman and the chairmen of the Board committees, key senior
executives and the external auditor will attend annual general
meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Company also
organises various activities on a regular basis, including investors’ or
analysts’ briefings, one-on-one meetings and local and international
roadshows, media interviews, promotion of foreign investors and
industry thematic forums. Our Directors and employees who have
contacts or dialogues with investors, analysts, media or other
interested outside parties are required to comply with the disclosure
obligations and requirements under the Company’s “CR Land Investor
Relationship Management Policy” and “CR Land Press Spokesman
Management Policy”. The Company recognizes the importance of
Shareholders’ privacy and will not disclose Shareholders’ information
without their consent, unless otherwise required by law.

The contact details of the Company are available on the Contact
section of the Company’s website. The contact details of the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar are available on the
Investor Relations section of the Company’s website.
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The Company has reviewed the abovementioned Shareholders
Communication Policy in combination with actual implementation
and the Shareholders’ feedback during the year, and consider it has
been properly implemented and is effective.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING SHAREHOLDERS’
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders of the Company may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the investor
relations team of the Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations

China Resources Land Limited

46th Floor, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: ir@crland.com.cn

Tel: 852-2877 2330

Fax: 852-2877 9068

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to establish and maintain high quality
investor relations, the capital market is updated with the latest
operational performance and outlook of the Company through
diversifying disclosure channels with increasing transparency in
compliance with relevant rules and regulations to ensure disclosure
compliance and efficiency, while the senior management is timely
updated with market dynamic and investors feedbacks. As such, a
positive interaction cycle between the capital market and the senior
management has been built up to improve internal management and
corporate governance, aiming to enhance the Company’s reputation
and valuation in the capital market.

INVESTOR RELATIONS ACTIVITIES IN 2022

In 2022, the Company proactively created various opportunities for
investor communications, with an aim to maintain positive interaction
with investors.

In 2022, the Company arranged on-line roadshows for investors in
Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong, Singapore, Europe and America,
covered topics from its financial results to business strategies and
outlook.
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In addition, the Company attended 22 major virtual investor forums,
held physical meetings and telephone conferences with global
investors and analysts from both buy-side and sell-side; and arranged
on-site visits for investors during the year.

UTRARB ZE-—FANEEREEBEREZE :  The following table sets out the major investor relations events of the
Company in 2022:

B

Month JEED Events

—A I iRTT AP ERE UBS Greater China Conference (GCC)

January EiR2022 FAK TN RE BofA 2022 New York Asia Conference
EERR AR A R R Morgan Stanley China Cyclical Corporate Day
THREPR AR CREE ICBC Pre-blackout NDR Virtual Conference
BB EE M R 1 BNP Paribas Asia Property Forum
FeREEERY CICC Investment Forum

/A ML ERRE Southwest Securities Property Forum

April

A FiR2022FFREE  HEK 2022 APAC Financial, Real Estate Equity and

May EERE Credit Conference
mREMER GS Property Corporate Day
AN B R iE Daiwa China Conference
AR K i R B I th S 4 JPM China Summit Property Forum
It A RwmE Mizuho Corporate Conference

~NA ImfsAa B CS Corporate Day

June RN EECEFEE CGS-CIMB 7th Annual HK/China Property & Property

B EYE iR EimiE Management Virtual Conference

FEAF2022 THFRERKE CICC Investment Strategy Conference 2H2022
TEREA BI1S & & R 18 2022 Citi China Investor Conference 2022

A FERERERIREERE Annual CITIC CLSA Flagship Investors’ Forum

September E & 2 B BT 5 5w 18 2022 HSBC Global Emerging Markets Forum 2022

+A BA% 2022 47 AR B3% A w1 Guosheng 2022 China Virtual Investment Forum

October EERIT2022FEMEESH BofA 2022 Asian Credit Conference

+—A 2022 R EERIE 2022 CICC Investment Forum

November BEEsEEERS CMBI Annual Strategy Meeting

ARRBATE BN E SO E e & B EENE
B RREEREESHE T RARRE KX
B ARSMEAAREREEERKRER ZHNMEE
BRRERR - N BERARBAMERE - BFI5E
N RERKFOTERS -

Looking ahead, we will continue to improve the communication with
investors and provide them with more opportunities to understand
the strategy and business of the Company as well as to enhance the
mutual understanding and recognition between the senior
management and the investment community, with an aim to refine
the internal management, profitability and governance of the
Company.
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JR 3R B

RZB-—F+-A=1H ARRZKRREH

SHAREHOLDER TYPE

As at 30 December 2022, details of shareholders of the Company by

BRRERABFRTEFBIIROT type, aggregate shareholding and public float capitalization are set
out as follows:
BERE BRTE
Aggregate
shareholding Capitalization
BE+ET
i R Al Shareholder type HKD billion
EH(EE)ARAR] China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited 4,246,618,418 151.82
NRFFA Public Float 2,884,321,161 103.11

BRRBAFAERERRER

ARE E—RRREH A

T E - CFRBEAEAX

2 EN_E-_—FXA+THRBESEE

B T NIRE B ANE 46 R
EREURBBRANFBIRAT

(R
@J: ﬂluﬂﬂ E"]E

POLL RESULTS OF AGM

The last shareholders’ meeting of the Company is the 2022 AGM of
the Company, the meeting was held at 46th Floor, China Resources
Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on 15 June 2022.

Details of major items discussed and voting particulars are set out as

follows:

RERBFAELREY Ordinary Resolutions proposed ZH(%)

EBAER at the AGM Number of votes (%)
BH 7%3)
For Against

1. ZEREBEHE-_FT-_—%+-H 1. Toreceive and consider the audited Financial ~ 6,441,912,889 13,189,833
=+ BUEFERER MG RER Statements and the Directors’ Report and the (99.80%) (0.20%)
BEEeRERBILIZEARE - Independent Auditor’s Report for the year

ended 31 December 2021.
ARBRCERBREBRAER The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.

2. EMN-ZE-—ENA+EEEHE 2. To declare a final dividend of HK$1.484 per  6,455,102,722 0
- F+-A=t+—HIFEZ share for the year ended 31 December 2021 (100.00%) (0.00%)
AR EGRAEE1.484TC 4o 7= payable on 10 August 2022 to shareholders
EFA AT AEEARAR whose names appear on the register of
REMABLZZBE - members of the Company on 22 June 2022.

FRERCEABRTEIER The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.
3. () ERIRBELRLERESF- 3. (1) Tore-elect Mr. Liu Xiaoyong as Director. ~ 6,036,563,620 418,539,102
(93.52%) (6.48%)

KRZRCDERBRERRER

094

The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.
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RERRBEFAELREZ

Ordinary Resolutions proposed

FR(%)

TRERCEBBRLBRER

board of directors to fix their remuneration.

The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.

ERRAER at the AGM Number of votes (%)
BH k%
For Against
Q) EBERSALEAEE- (2)  Tore-elect Mr. Zhang Liang as Director. ~ 5,929,762,641 525,340,081
(91.86%) (8.14%)
FAZRECERBALERESR The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.
() ERERALRES (3)  Tore-elect Mr. Dou Jian as Director. 5,951,254,702 503,848,020
(92.19%) (7.81%)
RARERCEABRTARER The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.
@) BERAZLAEE- (@)  Tore-elect Ms. Cheng Hong as Director. ~ 6,036,699,407 418,403,315
(93.52%) (6.48%)
FAZREERBALEREER The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.
5) EEHEREREZF- (5)  Tore-elect Mr. Xie Ji as Director. 6,357,671,068 97,431,654
(98.49%) (1.51%)
ARERCERABRTAIER The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.
) EBEERFHEAERES (6)  Tore-elect Mr. Wu Bingqj as Director. ~ 6,357,671,068 97,431,654
(98.49%) (1.51%)
FAZREERBALERESR The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.
(7) BERABERLEAEEES- (7)  To re-elect Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco as 5,455,297,403 999,805,319
Director. (84.51%) (15.49%)
ARERCERABRTRIER The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.
8 EEEETERES- (8)  Tore-elect Mr. Zhong Wei as Director. ~ 5,905,876,970 549,225,752
(91.49%) (8.51%)
FAZREERBALERESR The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.
Q) BERLGLEREE (9)  To re-elect Mr. Sun Zhe as Director. 6,447,286,305 7,816,417
(99.88%) (0.12%)
FASEREERBALEIER The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.

(100 BEREESgETHZE_Z-C (10)  To authorise the board of directorsto ~ 6,389,523,841 64,778,881
F+-_A=t—HItFEZE fix the remuneration of the Directors for (99.00%) (1.00%)
E0 the year ending 31 December 2022.

FAZREERBALERESR - The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary

resolution.
4, BRETKETMEEMARNA KRR To re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as the 6,438,242,740 16,859,982

MEREEESETEMS auditor of the Company and to authorise the (99.74%) (0.26%)
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RERBEFAELREZ Ordinary Resolutions proposed Z8(%)
EBRRAER at the AGM Number of votes (%)
B %
For Against
5. REBFEASBEFESEsEL@MAE 5 Ordinary Resolution in item No.5 of the Notice  6,445,781,922 9,320,800
RGKRTESSBLARARMDZ— of Annual General Meeting (To give a general (99.86%) (0.14%)

R - HBA MSRAS HTRN
BAZT) .

KABRCEBBSERRER

6. BRREFAEREFOHAILBERZ

mandate to the Directors to repurchase shares
of the Company not exceeding 10% of the
issued shares).
The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.

6. Ordinary Resolution in item No.6 of the Notice

4,633,148,996 1,821,953,726

RGETEFSRIARRTRNDZ of Annual General Meeting (To give a general (71.77%) (28.23%)
—RE - HHETERBEETR mandate to the Directors to issue new shares
MBEAZZT) of the Company not exceeding 20% of the
issued shares).
ARERCERABRTAIER The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.

7. BEBEAS®ESE7EZEREAZE 7. Ordinary Resolution in item No.7 of the Notice  4,634,954,059 1,820,148,663
R(EMABEARARRBELLSE of Annual General Meeting (To extend the (71.80%) (28.20%)
TBEMBEEZRHEE - EAES general mandate to be given to the Directors
SETRMD 2 —BERE) - to issue shares by the addition of the shares

repurchased by the Company under Item No.5
above).
FREREEBARLTBIAGE - The resolution was duly passed as an ordinary
resolution.
FH(%)

RREBEASLREZEIREER Special Resolution proposed at the AGM Number of votes (%)

B %3]
For Against

8.  WAHANRRAMAMZIZAMEA 8. Toapprove the proposed amendments to the  6,455,102,722 0

BERANNERER] - LRARD existing memorandum of association and (100.00%) (0.00%)

AR RE 2 MR E RN A A
BERAR - LERRERAARR
BRBERARkABERMA -

KRZFRCEBBBFRIRESR

articles of association of the Company and to
adopt the amended and restated
memorandum of association and articles of
association of the Company in substitution for
and to the exclusion of the existing
memorandum of association and articles of
association of the Company.

The resolution was duly passed as a special
resolution.
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

AKAR FN—BHFEFENREEZEEBEHEMYE  The important shareholders’ dates in the coming financial year of the

T Company is set out as follows:

BE-ZE-_F+-A=+—-HLEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 FEFBENMHREERIKE 2022 FREBIRE

Announcement of 2022 annual results and proposal of 2022 final dividend
2022 FEEBEN T EBHIR

2022 annual results analyst meeting

2022 FFERESEM

Dispatch of 2022 Annual Report

BRERBFRGHHKERILBFHH

Latest time for lodging transfer documents for registration for Annual General Meeting

A HERFBERGUYNE FRENEREFIEROBFFERD
Closure of Register of Members for Voting in Annual General Meeting
RRBF ARG HEH B

Record Date for AGM

RFBFRG

Annual General Meeting

2022 FAREABB B A

Ex-dividend date for 2022 final dividend

2022 FREIR B MR ELLBP B

Latest time for lodging transfer documents for registration for 2022 final dividend
RAWER 2022 F R BN EREFHIRRO B FER D

Closure of Register of Members for 2022 final dividend

2022 FAREI SRR ER B B

Record Date for 2022 final dividend

FEREEKEERBGEMARR

Despatch Dividend Currency Election Form to all shareholders

RERER RS EHREREN R A H

Last day for shareholder to submit election form

K 2022 FREARR S H HA

Payment date for 2022 final dividend

ZT-=f=A=+ANH

29 March 2023

—T-=F=ZA-t+hB(TH)

29 March 2023 (PM)

—E=FMA=+/\H

28 April 2023

—EC=FRA-HTFEE=

4:30 p.m.1 June 2023

—E=FRHAZZEtHR

2-7 June 2023

—T_=FXAtH

7 June 2023

ZE=FAtH

7 June 2023

;7 — i/\ﬂjﬂﬂ

9 June 2023

“B_=FXAt+=H
TFUE=+%

4:30 p m. 12 June 2023

—EC=FRAT=E1TWHAH

13-14 June 2023

—T_=FRATHEA

14 June 2023

—E-=FXHA=+=H

23 June 2023

—T-=%tALtA

7 July 2023

=+ A-+/\H

28 July 2023

EHBEMWBERAR
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BE-_Z_=FXA=1HLEAXEA
Six months ended 30 June 2023

2023 FREIRE N REBIKE 2023 FH HAR

Announcement of 2023 interim results and proposal of 2023 interim dividend
2023 BXEN T EBTE

2023 interim results analyst meeting

2023 HARR B FR0% B

Ex-dividend date for proposed 2023 interim dividend

2023 R HARR S A& B LB B Hf

Latest time for lodging transfer documents for registration for 2023 interim dividend
MR AW ER 2023 FH RSN EREEMERO B FERH
Closure of Register of Members for 2023 interim dividend

2023 FHR IR B HRCER B B

Record Date for 2023 interim dividend
FEREBEERERBEMARR

Despatch Dividend Currency Election Form to all shareholders
2023 FHRHEARE S HN

Dispatch of 2023 Interim Report

BRERER RS E R EREN X% HH

Last day for shareholder to submit election form

K 2023 S HARLE B

Payment date for proposed 2023 interim dividend

—ZE=FN\H=TH
30 August 2023
—ZE-=F/\A=1+H
30 August 2023
—T=FAAT=H
12 September 2023
—T=FAAT=R
TFNUE=+%

4:30 p.m. 13 September 2023
ZE=FNAATHNETRA
14-15 September 2023
—E-=FAATHA

15 September 2023
—E=FAAZ+ZH
22 September 2023
—T=FAAZTNH
29 September 2023
—T=%+ANH

9 October 2023
—E_=F+A=t+tH
27 October 2023
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ARAEZE((EFQ ) MAKARR M EH B
RE(ATHE [AEED)BE-_T-_—_F+_A
=t BLEFEZRERCECHHERREIK
RHEE -

FREH

ARBIZETEXEBRREZR  TEMBRF -
BRLERBERR ZEBHBIERANFRSE
291 BEEE 3008 °

AEE 2 D BERTIER R A M EHRRMEEN

75 1ol Jed

BERASEAFEXRHNERLEGIR AR -
BAKEEEARENARERLERNERE
N AEEETENSABINEE RAEE
MRREBRENAFRE29EEIBANTFER
HEMAEASENEERE T WED T MEST
HERAEMBREARRS - BAASEMELHH
2 b R R R T H R B0 5 45 B
IR E R DM A R AR A BT RS A
0 MiRaMBMEMFES2ERHE T ANEBHH
BRREEBFREEK

55 1 36t A

rEEHE-_E-—F+-_A=+—HILEEY
AR TSN E 148 B 2 AR o

it &

EEeDRBEN S+ A=+ \H(EH
) MRZZE_ZFXNATHA(EHD)BHIA
REREREMEZBRRERBEEE S -_F+=
A=+—HIEFEZRBEBE (2T —FKH
BREDERAEB134T(ZT=_—F : GRAEE
1.4847T) °

TE - CFRPREB LB ([BE )R eIk
FEE  BRIEMEZENARK(ARE IR
SWH—T - —FRAKE -

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to
submit to the shareholders its report and audited financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (hereafter referred to as “the
Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
detailed activities of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are shown on pages 291 to 300 of this annual report.

The segment information of the Group is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group's prospects, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group,
relationships with its key stakeholders and environmental policy of the
Group are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 29 to 33,
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 34 to 45 and
Corporate Governance Report on pages 57 to 98 of this annual
report. Description of key risk factors and uncertainties that the Group
is facing is provided in Management Discussion and Analysis on page
45 and note 50 to the consolidated financial statements while the
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group can be
found in note 52 to the consolidated financial statements.

GROUP PROFIT

The consolidated income statement set out on page 148 shows the
Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommended a final dividend (“2022 Final Dividend”) of
HK$1.394 per share for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$1.484) payable on Friday, 28 July 2023 to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Wednesday, 14 June 2023.

The 2022 Final Dividend will be payable in cash to each shareholder in
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD") unless an election is made to receive the
same in Renminbi (“RMB").
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RAERRE ([RRER ) AR R BB 1.00H
ARBE08747T L2 EXR(AIEE T - =F = A
“thHARBAEEBPRARBITAMNBE
H ARG EERE R ) FTE A REIKRE 2205k
AT —F RSB - MRREZEUARE
WE —F — —F KRS - AIZBREBAERA
RE1 219 TR FIRE - BRIERREFRREEEE
EHEE®E  RRAEZREEEREBRZ (R
ETREEEWR_-_ZE- —FRBKREBENDE
BEH-_T_=FATMAK  ZEREBEAR
ERATERATERR-_E_=ZFEXATAHTHE
FRE)AEHBRRE  THREBEER-Z-_=F
tAEHTTA4R30DAIRERDNB ZBHBEP
ERDEBEZEBRAT WU ATAERE
165 IRE RPN 174 -

BEREBEUARBZWE I E KK
RHEIE (FEEBRESHEEENRITR
B UEREEEMARESZ0] IR RGi)#
TMRBEARBIZENEBLETBSAFHEES
TEEMERIARB T BN EBIEINLER
B@pP - XEZEAN_ZE-_=F+A=-+/\BMHN
LTBEES AT ETHEBERE - BRERARE
BATH&IE -

WR —_E-_=ZF+tAtATT4E30 DA R A
MM EFPELEYEWEFBZRENEZR
BEERERE  AERERBESAEEIER =
T FREARE - IBAEREHR=ZZT==
FLA-FNBMEEFRNRS ©
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HMEREBAEBETRXABEEM —_E - —F K
HIRLE - RIBAFHREEIMTE -

BERRBIRNMBEENRBZE
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Shareholder(s) of the Company (”Shareholder(s)”) will be given the
option to elect to receive all or part of the 2022 Final Dividend in RMB
at the exchange rate of HKD1.0:RMB0.8747, being the average
benchmark exchange rate of HKD to RMB as published by the
People’s Bank of China during the five business days immediately
before 29 March 2023. If shareholders elect to receive the 2022 Final
Dividend in RMB, such dividend will be paid to shareholders at
RMB1.219 per share. Unless a permanent election on dividend
currency had been made by shareholders, shareholders should
complete the dividend currency election form which is expected to be
dispatched to shareholders in late June 2023 as soon as practicable
after the record date of 14 June 2023 to determine shareholders’
entitlement to the 2022 Final Dividend, and lodge it to the branch
share registrar of the Company, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 17,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on 7 July 2023.

Shareholders who are minded to elect to receive all or part of their
dividends in RMB by cheques should note that (i) they should ensure
that they have an appropriate bank account to which the RMB
cheques for dividend can be presented for payment; and (ii) there is
no assurance that RMB cheques can be cleared without material
handling charges or delay in Hong Kong or that RMB cheques will be
honored for payment upon presentation outside Hong Kong. The
cheques are expected to be posted to the relevant shareholders by
ordinary post on 28 July 2023 at the shareholders’ own risk.

If no duly completed dividend currency election form in respect of
that shareholder is received by the branch share registrar of the
Company by 4:30 p.m. on 7 July 2023, such shareholder will
automatically receive the 2022 Final Dividend in HKD. All dividend
payments in HKD will be made in the usual ways on 28 July 2023.

If shareholders wish to receive the 2022 Final Dividend in HKD in the
usual way, no additional action is required.

Shareholders should seek professional advice with their own tax
advisers regarding the possible tax implications of the dividend
payment.
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REEAME - BEEREBIESHBERTHNE

AP BWRMES -
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AEEZ EEMEBRBHENFEI21EEFE335H °
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AR 2 B3 185 FIRB AR & B 75 X MY
39

AR 2 vl 3k 4y e 2 f

ARB A RED IR REER D GEERRE G
REMSFESENE T B RAVEEER)
ERAREBERAH L AREEERMABGNZ
MIRT - MARREREXNDIRIBER - A
BN BEREBIETNBERAEES - AIAR
Al Z B s (B A R ER R R A 2 RS AR -

AARR B —F+-_A=+—B 7 BERKRSE
DR 2 FEEEARE39,891,281,000 T (ZE=—
£ AR#39,015,424,0007T) ©

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set
out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES

Summary of the principal properties of the Group is set out on pages
321 to 335.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital during the year are set out in note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES AT THE
COMPANY

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium and retained profits. Under the Companies Act (Revised)
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to
Shareholders subject to the provisions of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company and provided that immediately
following the distribution or dividend, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Reserves of the Company available for distribution to Shareholders as
at 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB39,891,281,000 (2021:
RMB39,015,424,000).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) who held office during
the year and at the date of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xin (Chairman)

Mr. Wu Binggi (President)

Mr. Zhang Dawei (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Xie Ji

Mr. Guo Shiging

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Xiaoyong

Mr. Dou Jian

Ms. Cheng Hong

Mr. Wang Xiangming (Resigned on 5 May 2022)
Mr. Zhang Liang (Resigned on 12 December 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco
Mr. Andrew Y. Yan

Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter
Mr. Zhong Wei

Mr. Sun Zhe

As at the date of this report, pursuant to Article 116 of the Articles of
Association of the Company, Mr. Li Xin, Mr. Zhang Dawei, Mr. Guo
Shiging, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan shall retire
from office at the upcoming annual general meeting and shall be
eligible for re-election thereat.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 46 to 56.
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R-ZZ-—F+-A=+—H ARAEFL&Z
BITBRABRARGB REMBEEE (FER(ES
RERE B EXVE D) 2 Bty - MHERG k&
BREANEZMAR (BEREBERRPBER
BIVESRE W AR ERE NERSAE) -
MRS MAR RIBE(ES REE GG ) % 352 15
RENTEMELMA - SRE ETRAIATE
MBEITAZEZETESFRR HIZESTR) ([1Z2ESF
Bl BREARNB KB RRERICAB T

(F) RARBEBRITEBREAABBROTHEEDN

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), including interests and short positions
which the Directors and chief executive of the Company are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, which are required
to be recorded in the register maintained pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise required to be notified to Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (“Model Code"”) contained
in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(@) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of the

M Company:
EBERBROHME HMEEFZEIHO
BEME Number of Approximate
" Long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares interest
F M S ) 40,000 0.00056
Li Xin Long position
Hiat - Notes:
(1) BEAEFTS READRRD R G B8R (1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in

ZECF+ A=+ HEARFRBETR
DEEBHB DL °

Q) LEXFRENMERGRERNEGEEAY
ZEs 2=

shares and underlying shares of the Company to the total issued
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2022.

2) The above disclosed interests were held by director as beneficial
owner.
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() PARRNBIEESEE — IR EERMKBAERLA (b)) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

B (TEBIFR ) B 38TE B RERBRG, Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Company Limited (“CR
HEHEOER Jiangzhong”), an associated corporation of the Company:

EERROBE HEEZEIHO

HEIKE Number of Approximate
i Long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares interest
HBHF e 51,700 0.00821
Guo Shiging Long position

Hfet - Notes:

(1) EBEHEFTS RO R KA B (1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
RZBZZF+A=+—RAEEHILEE shares and underlying shares of CR Jiangzhong to the total issued
TRMNBENEDLL © shares of CR Jiangzhong as at 31 December 2022.

() BEBLEAWRAEAEHEMS 51,7008 K& (2)  Mr. Guo Shiging was deemed to be interested in 51,700 shares
Pz - through interest of his spouse.

T By A Y K HE ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO

SUBSCRIBE FOR SHARES OR DEBENTURES

BENTZERZHESER] —fIPFTEEI - "2 Save as disclosed above in the section “Director’s Interests in

RIS ETMHBERAG - ARMEBARR - skEFZA  Securities”, the Company or any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries

BNEANMELX BRI FEESUEE A orits parent company was not a party to any arrangement which

AR E S E AR B 2 f 17 s (& #E 8 T B ERF %% o enables the Directors to benefit from a purchase of the shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate during the
year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2022.

DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors had any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual independence confirmation from
all independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, and considers the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
connection with business of the Company, to which the Company, its
parent company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries were a party and
in which any Director of the Company or his connected entity had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director of the Company should be entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him or her as a Director, in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favor, or in
which he is acquitted.

The Company maintains a directors’ liability insurance policy against
potential legal liabilities and related expenses that may be incurred by
the Directors in the event of any litigation.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions”,
the “Continuing Connected Transactions” and “Equity-Linked
Agreement” as set out in this report, there were no other contracts of
significance between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, or any contracts of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE

INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons (not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Division 2 and 3

\1|ﬂ§|]>>’;‘ﬁ3361\$ﬁﬁ1ﬁﬁﬁ’ji{<nﬂ{ﬁ}s’j$§ e of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register
T maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

20225

12B318 %

RANFEAR

BEARBET

ROWED

Percentage of

the aggregate

long position

in shares to

EERRGEE the issued

HEI%E Number of shares of

RREH &t ERME Long position/ ordinary the Company

Name of Shareholders Capacity Nature of interest  short position shares  as at 31/12/2022

EREE(EM)FRAR(EERE(E)]) BRRAA Enftn e 4,243,788,418 59.51%
CRH (Land) Limited (“CRHL") Beneficial owner Beneficial owner Long position

£ (&) ARAR(EEEE])Y RERARRS NAlER R 4,46,618,418 59.55%
China Resources (Holdings) Company Controlled company's interest  Corporation interest  Long position

Limited ("CRH")"

CRC Bluesky Limited (*Bluesky” )" ZEH AR NSl 5 4,246,618,418 59.55%
Controlled company's interest  Corporation interest  Long position

BRGARAR (TERRA )Y RIERIA RS NG I 35 4,246,618,418 59.55%
Chma Resources Inc. (“CRC")" Controlled company'sinterest  Corporation interest  Long position

PEEBARAR ([PEEE])" eI NG NGIL 3 8 4,246,618,418 59.55%

China Resources Company Limited (“CRCL")"

Controlled company's interest

Corporation interest

Long position
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Note:

(@)

CRHL and Commotra Company Limited directly held 4,243,788,418 shares
and 2,830,000 shares of the Company, respectively. CRH is the sole
shareholder of CRHL and Commotra Company Limited. Moreover, CRH is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRC.
CRC is wholly-owned by CRCL. Thus, CRH, Bluesky, CRC and CRCL are
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 4,246,618,418 shares in the

Company.
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Save as aforesaid, as at 31 December 2022, no other person had any
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES

Particulars regarding principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are set out in note 49 on pages 291 to 300 of the
consolidated financial statements.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Certain loan agreements and bond terms of the Group include a
condition that imposes one or more of the following specific
performance obligations on the Company’s controlling Shareholder:

(i)  CRH remains the single largest Shareholder of the Company
which has an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly or
indirectly) of not less than 35% or 50% (as the case may be);

(i) CRH maintains the direct or indirect ownership of at least 35%
of the shares of the Company;

(i) CRH remains the single largest Shareholder (whether directly or
indirectly through its subsidiaries) of the Company;

(iv)  CRH remains to be beneficially owned as to more than 50%
shareholding by the central government of the PRC;

(v)  CRH retains the ability from a practical perspective to control
the appointment by the Company’s Shareholders of Directors to
the Board.

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate reserved facility subject to
the above conditions were HK$61,246,603,009 (equivalent to
RMB54,709,867,982). Such reserved facility will expire on no later
than 28 October 2029.
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AGREEMENT IN RELATION TO THE
ESTABLISHMENT OF THE NEW FUND

On 25 February 2022 (after trading hours), China Resources Land
(Zhuhai) Company Limited (“CR Land (Zhuhai)"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, China Resources SZITIC Trust Co.,
Ltd. (“CR Trust”), Shenzhen Juzhen Investment Consulting
Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (“Shenzhen Juzhen Investment”),
China Resources SZITIC Investment Co., Ltd. (“CR SZITIC") and
Zhuhai Henggin Runhong No.7 Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (“Zhuhai Henggin Runhong”), entered into a new
cooperation agreement (“New Cooperation Agreement”), in
respect of, among other things, the establishment of a new fund
("New Fund”). The New Fund shall utilize its funding to subscribe
for Class A limited partnership (“LP") LP shares of the existing
fund for the purpose of financing the ongoing development of
the target project in Henggin New District, Zhuhai.

The New Fund will be initially funded with a capital contribution
of RMB100,000 from Zhuhai Henggin Runhong as its general
partner. The total initial funding of the LP interests (limited
partner interests in the New Fund divided into Class A and Class
B) is expected to be RMB1,200 million, of which (i) Shenzhen
Juzhen Investment will contribute RMB500 million for
subscription of Class A LP interests; (ii) CR SZITIC will contribute
RMB100 million for subscription of Class A LP interests; (iii) CR
Land (Zhuhai) will contribute RMB360 million for subscription of
Class B LP interests; and (iv) CR Trust will contribute RMB240
million for subscription of Class B LP interests. The limited
partners shall pay the capital contribution in full in one lump
sum within the period as specified on the payment notice to be
issued by the general partner of the New Fund regarding the
capital contribution payment. Pursuant to the New Cooperation
Agreement, the New Fund will utilize its funding to subscribe
for Class A LP shares in the fund at the amount of RMB1,200
million.

The additional financing was required to satisfy the capital
needs of the target project for the repayment of its external
loan facilities, which was then due in February 2022, and its
subsequent development. With a view to minimize the changes
to the existing structure of the fund, the parties have agreed to
establish the New Fund for the purpose of financing the
ongoing development of the target project.
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The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the New Cooperation Agreement were entered into in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company, on
normal commercial terms or better, and that the terms of which
are fair and reasonable, and in the interests of the Group and
the Shareholders as a whole. At the Board meeting held on 23
February 2022 for approving, among others, matters
contemplated under the New Cooperation Agreement, no
Directors have any material interest in matters as contemplated
under the New Cooperation Agreement and are required to be
abstained from voting on the resolutions at the Board meeting.

As (i) CRH is the controlling shareholder of the Company and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC; and (ii) CRC controls over
30% of the interests in each of CR Trust, CR SZITIC, Shenzhen
Juzhen Investment and Zhuhai Henggin Runhong, each of CR
Trust, CR SZITIC, Shenzhen Juzhen Investment and Zhuhai
Henggin Runhong is an associate of CRH and therefore a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the transaction
in respect of establishment of the New Fund constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company and is subject to the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the aforesaid transactions are set out in the connected
transaction announcements of the Company dated 25 February
2022 and 8 March 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION — FORMATION OF
JOINT VENTURE WITH BEUJING XIULING RUNHONG
INFORMATION CONSULTING CENTER (LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP) FOR THE SHOUGANG 824 PROJECT

On 22 June 2022, CR Land Development (Beijing) Co., Ltd. ("CR
Land Development”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), Beijing Xiuling Runhong Information Consulting
Centre (Limited Partnership) (“Beijing Xiuling Runhong”) and
Beijing Runshi Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Runshi”) entered
into a cooperation agreement, pursuant to which the parties
agreed to the following: (a) if Beijing Xiuling Runhong is
selected as the ultimate investor of Beijing Runshi, it shall
increase the registered capital of Beijing Runshi, pursuant to
which, CR Land Development and Beijing Xiuling Runhong will
hold Beijing Runshi at the equity interest ratio of 51% and
49%, respectively, for the purpose of investing into Shougang
824 Project; and (b) the cooperation agreement shall regulate
their respective rights and obligations in Beijing Runshi.

109

FEHEMAMR AR  China Resources Land Limited



HRFHRE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

110

ERBECHMER KB ARB1ET(L
HERIN7EEITIEE AR 24 6BT(H
HHER28.775BB L) ° BEINE AR B EHE
BRI RFEBARESARIERE
BRI AIHENT : (1) EBSHMEE
AREE11.546 B L (#4E & M 13.506 1878
7o) RQR)IERFEREL : AR 12.05418
T(KEER141EET) -

Bif824EE ANRFEILRAMASLER
FEMEER - Bie4BAMSE R 2%t
4 A16,392 F 75K - Bl 8241H B 4 R
EEBEEAE - &aile24BEMIEET
BRAZZ_NFALA mMRANERA=-Z
“OE+—F-

ARBRBAR HEAEEEARALETEH
BN BB ER B # R R
B S ASEER - MEHS2418 8 MEA
AREEFEEBHTEF  BERARERS
B EEEIRHENEE -

EX(BREIFNTER)RAR  ZA1EH
A MRET BB B IR NE TR RF
HEERREAKEAE R —REBHBIETIZIE
EREBRARL  ZXINEHBRFE
2 ARNEARRREBREEMNE - 18
EERNZRFTEREA D - RULMEE
ERPHERRHGNEETERBRMERR

ERFEEAREBERNOMBELR - MEE
TR Rl A AR BRI R - Bt b3
FEBALRARANBEAL - RIELETR
AIF14AE - RERXHBR AR B FEER
5

EXF R B EERARRTNR T - —F

NAZ+ZHM-ZE-_—_FA=-+N\BF
BHRERSRNE -

— T~ —FEHE  ANNUAL REPORT 2022

The registered share capital of Beijing Runshi shall be increased
from RMB100 million (equivalent to approximately HKD117.0
million) to RMB2,460 million (equivalent to approximately
HKD2,877.5 million). The additional capital shall be contributed
by CR Land Development and Beijing Xiuling Runhong in
proportion to its respective equity interest in Beijing Runshi as
follows: CR Land Development: (1) RMB1,154.6 million
(equivalent to approximately HKD1,350.6 million); and
(2) Beijing Xiuling Runhong: RMB1,205.4 million (equivalent to
approximately HKD1,410.0 million)

The Shougang 824 Project is a new real estate project located in
Shijingshan District, Beijing, the PRC. The land involved with the
Shougang 824 Project is approximately 16,392 square meters.
The Shougang 824 Project involves the construction of high-rise
residential buildings. The estimated timeline for completion of
the Shougang 824 Project is September 2024 and for delivery is
November 2024.

The Company believes that this transaction will benefit the
Group by minimizing the burden of capital commitment on the
Group and the risks associated with real estate projects in the
PRC. The Shougang 824 Project will also allow the Group and
CR Trust to jointly cooperate and expand the asset management
reach and reputation of the Company in the PRC.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) consider that the proposed transaction contemplated
under the cooperation agreement is in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, on normal commercial terms
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties, and the
terms of the transaction are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. None
of the Directors has a material interest in the transaction and no
Director is required to abstain from voting on the Board
resolution(s) approving the transaction.

Beijing Xiuling Runhong is a subsidiary of CRC, which in turn is
a controlling shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, Beijing
Xiuling Runhong is a connected person of the Company and the
proposed transaction constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the aforesaid transactions are set out in the connected
transaction announcements of the Company dated 22 June
2022 and 28 June 2022.
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(1) CONNECTED TRANSACTION — FORMATION OF

JOINT VENTURE FOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT IN
KUNSHAN

On 2 September 2022, China Resources Land (Changzhou) Co.
Ltd. ("CR Land (Changzhou)”), Shenzhen Hukun Investment
Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (“Shenzhen Hukun”) and
Kunshan Runxi Real Estate Company Limited (“Kunshan Runxi”)
have entered into the cooperation agreement for the joint
venture formation and for CR Land (Changzhou) to develop a
land parcel in Kunshan, Suzhou City, Jiangsu Province, PRC.
Pursuant to the terms of the cooperation agreement, the parties
have agreed to enter into the capital increase agreement(s) to
form a joint venture by way of the equity subscription following
which Kunshan Runxi will be directly held as to, (i) 70% by CR
Land (Changzhou) and (ii) 30% by Shenzhen Hukun. Kunshan
Runxi will continue to be a subsidiary of the Company pursuant
to the transaction.

The registered capital of Kunshan Runxi is initially set at RMB500
million (being approximately HK$570 million), which would be
increased to RMB1,500 million (being approximately HK$1,710
million) pursuant to the cooperation agreement. The total
capital commitment to be made by CR Land (Changzhou) and
Shenzhen Hukun into Kunshan Runxi is expected to be
RMB1,500 million (being approximately HK$1,710 million).
Pursuant to the terms of the cooperation agreement, the total
amount to be contributed by CR Land (Changzhou) is estimated
to be RMB1,050 million (being approximately HK$1,197
million).

The joint venture formation will result in Shenzhen Hukun
sharing the development cost of the project, thereby sharing
both the risks and financing thereof. The Group’s cash flow
position will benefit from a lower capital requirement to develop
the land.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that the cooperation agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. As none of the Directors has any
material interest in the cooperation agreement, no Directors
were required to abstain from voting on the relevant board
resolutions passed.
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(v)

Shenzhen Hukun is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC,
which in turn is a controlling Shareholder of the Company.
Accordingly, Shenzhen Hukun is a connected person of the
Company, and the proposed transaction constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Details of the aforesaid transaction are set out in the connected
transaction announcement of the Company dated 2 September
2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION — THE UNDERTAKING
AND THE COUNTER UNDERTAKING OF A PUBLICLY
TRADED INFRASTRUCTURE SECURITIES
INVESTMENT FUND

On 22 September 2022, China Asset Management Co., Ltd.
("CAMC") and CITIC Securities Co., Ltd. (“CITIC") submitted
the application materials on the registration and listing of the
Public Fund (defined as below) to the China Securities
Regulatory Commission (“CSRC") and the Shanghai Stock
Exchange. Prior to the application for the proposed listing, the
Company has submitted the practice note (“PN") 15 application
and a waiver application from strict compliance with paragraph
3(f) of PN15 regarding the assured entitlement requirement to
the Stock Exchange, and the Stock Exchange has granted such
waiver and confirmed that the Company may proceed with the
proposed spin-off (“Spin-off”).

The proposed Spin-off constitutes (i) a disposal of 100% equity
interests in the corresponding project companies to the REIT for
Infrastructure assets established under the pilot scheme initiated
by the CSRC and the National Development and Reform
Commission, and (ii) a subscription of 34% of the units in the
corresponding public fund (the “Public Fund”) by the Group.
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Pursuant to the relevant requirements of the CSRC and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, CRCL provided the undertaking to
the CSRC that if there is serious breach of the laws and
regulations, including the information provided by Youchao
House Leasing (Shenzhen) Company Limited (“Youchao
Shenzhen") conceals material facts or fabricates material false
information, and the Company, China Resources Land Holdings
Company Limited (“CRLHL") and Youchao Shenzhen fail to
repurchase all the units in the Public Fund or all the equity
interests in the projects in accordance with their respective
undertakings to CSRC, CRCL undertook to repurchase or
procure a designated entity to repurchase all the units in the
Public Funds or all the equity interests in the projects which have
not been repurchased by the Company, CRLHL or Youchao
Shenzhen. On 22 September 2022, upon request from CRCL,
the Company provided certain counter undertaking to CRCL,
pursuant to which the Company guaranteed to repurchase or
procure a designated entity to repurchase all the units in the
Public Fund or all the equity interests in the projects if CRCL was
requested by any governing authorities to do so pursuant to the
undertaking.

The Board (including the independent non-executive Directors)
is of the view that the above-mentioned undertaking and the
counter undertaking are on normal commercial terms and in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, and the
terms of the above-mentioned undertaking and the counter
undertaking are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

CRCL holds approximately 59.55% equity interests in the
Company and is therefore a controlling Shareholder and a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the above-mentioned
undertaking and the counter undertaking constitute connected
transactions of the Company.

Details of the aforesaid transaction are set out in the connected

transaction announcement of the Company dated 22
September 2022.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

INTRA-GROUP LENDING BETWEEN MEMBERS OF THE
CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

On 9 December 2019, the Company and CRH entered into offshore
framework loan agreement and guarantee for three years ending 31
December 2022 (“Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019").
Pursuant to Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019, the
Company and any of its subsidiaries which has become a party to
Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019 by acceding to its terms,
but excluding any entity which is established in the PRC could make
loans denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars,
whereas, Borrowers were:

(@) CRH; and
(b) any China Resources Group listed company as defined in the
continuing connected transactions announcement of the
Company dated 9 December 2019 (the “CCT Announcement”)
and any of their subsidiaries, which has become a party to the
Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019 by acceding to its

terms, but excluding any entity which is established in the PRC
and any member of the Group.

On the same date, the Company and CRC also entered into an
onshore framework loan agreement for the three years ending 31
December 2022 (“Onshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019")
(Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019 and Onshore Framework
Loan Agreement 2019 shall collectively be referred to as the
“Framework Loan Agreements 2019"). Pursuant to the Onshore
Framework Loan Agreement 2019, any subsidiary of the Group
established in the PRC which has become a party to Onshore
Framework Loan Agreement 2019 by acceding to its terms can make
loans denominated in Renminbi. Borrowers were CRC, and any PRC
established subsidiary of CRC or a China Resources Group listed
company, which has become a party to the Onshore Framework Loan
Agreement 2019 by acceding to its terms, but excluding Zhuhai China
Resources Bank Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank"), CR Trust and any subsidiary of
the Company.

The Company has been provided with higher flexibility through the
entering of the Framework Loan Agreements 2019, with respect to its
management of surplus cash resources and it was permitted to lend
its own surplus cash resources and part of its subsidiaries’ to other
members of China Resources Group (including CRC and CRH).
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By virtue of CRC being the controlling shareholder of CRH which in
turn holds the controlling interest of the Company, CRC and CRH are
the connected persons of the Company within the meaning of the
Listing Rules. As such, Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Framework
Loan Agreements 2019 and the transactions contemplated there
under constituted continuing connected transactions.

Details of the Framework Loan Agreements 2019 are set out in the
CCT Announcement.

The proposed annual lending caps for the Group for the term of the
Framework Loan Agreements 2019 are as follows:

BE+-A=T-HLFENSFESHERLR
Daily lending cap for the year ended 31 December

2020 2021 2022
AREBER AREEER ARBEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million
4,000 4,000 4,000

BE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—"BLEFER &%
BE T - NFELXERBGHE FTEEBMRAK
B(RE)BRARRE—ZEARK20ETENR -

RZBEZ_F+-A=+H  AQrRHEHEE
AV pEE_E_AFt+t-_A=1+—HL=M
FEMBIMERE R B ERER - UEESET -
ARERETER - RIB  KARQRAIREFEBIRG
HAVEE—Z_AF+_A=t—RIL=EAEE
R AERER HERER - LB ARKE
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group provided a loan
of RMB2.0 billion to China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited
pursuant to the Framework Loan Agreements 2019.

On 30 December 2022, the Company and CRH entered into a new
offshore framework loan agreement for three years ending 31
December 2025 and guarantee for advances in Hong Kong Dollar,
Renminbi and United States Dollar. On the same date, the Company
and CRC also entered into a new onshore framework loan agreement
for three years ending 31 December 2025 and guarantee for advances
in Renminbi (such agreements shall collectively be referred to as the
“Framework Loan Agreements 2022").
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The proposed annual lending caps for the Group for the term of the
Framework Loan Agreements 2022 are as follows:

BET-A=T-HLFENZFESHERLR

Daily lending cap for the year ending 31 December

2023 2024 2025
AREEETT AREEET ARBHEET
RMB million RMB million RMB million
5,500 5,500 5,500
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Under the Listing Rules, the Framework Loan Agreements 2022
constituted continuing connected transactions. Details of the
Framework Loan Agreements 2022 are set out in the continuing
connected transactions announcement dated 30 December 2022.

STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS BETWEEN
MEMBERS OF THE CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

On 9 December 2019, the Company and CR Bank entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement for the three years ending 31
December 2022 (“CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019"),
pursuant to which, any deposit made with CR Bank under these
arrangements will bear the same interest and be on the same terms
and conditions as would apply to a similar deposit made by any other
customer of the bank, which rates are determined with reference to
such other more preferential rates. Pursuant to CR Bank Strategic
Cooperation Agreement 2019, other than deposit services, from time
to time, the Group may use the commercial banking services of CR
Bank including, but not limited to, letter of credit, letter of guarantee,
granting of loans with collaterals, bill acceptance and discount
services, account receivable factoring services, RMB and foreign
currency settlements, provision of loans and security, wealth and cash
management services, financial consulting service and other financial
services as agreed by the parties. These services will be provided on
normal commercial terms which apply to other customers of CR Bank.
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On the same day, the Company and CR Trust entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2022
("CR Trust Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019"”, together with
CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019 referred to as
“Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019"), pursuant to which, from
time to time, the Group may use services provided by CR Trust
including, but not limited to, cash management, asset management,
custodian trust loan services, equity cooperation, shares nominee
services, account receivable factoring services, buying and resale
services consulting services and other trust services. These services will
be provided on normal commercial terms and will be charged at a
rate no less favorable as would apply to similar services provided to
any of CR Trust's other clients.

The proposed annual caps for financial services under both of the
Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019 have been determined after
taking into account of the Group’s liquidity, business needs and the
expected level of services to be received from CR Bank and CR Trust
under the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019.

The Group is permitted to use the deposit services and other financial
services of CR Bank and CR Trust as a result of the entering of the
Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019, which, under normal
commercial terms, supported the internal development of CRH in a
scale not causing resource exposure to the Group and not
jeopardizing the relationship between Group and other financial
institutions.

By virtue of CRC being the controlling shareholder of CRH which in
turn holds the controlling interest of the Company, CRC and CRH are
connected persons of the Company within the meaning of the Listing
Rules. CRC holds 70.28% and 51% of the registered capital in CR
Bank and CR Trust respectively. As such, CR Bank and CR Trust are
connected persons of the Company and the above arrangements
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company,
details of which were set out in the CCT Announcement.
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BIRE A (B HAPR  The proposed maximum daily deposit amount, inclusive of interest

payable, placed by the Group with CR Bank for the term of CR Bank

Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019 is set out as follows:

BET-A=+T-HLEENSHERSHELR
Maximum daily deposit amount
for the year ended 31 December

2020 2021 2022

AREHERT AR®EERT AREEER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

ZERRTT CR Bank 3,500 3,500 3,500

REBEE_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HLEFER " K

EEFFIREBRRTHEHR
3,457,356,0007T © B %S

F R U BN 48 ) B

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the highest daily deposit

SHSEA AR amount by the Group with CR Bank was RMB3,457,356,000, total

interest income received from the deposit amounted to

ABANRE 88,497,000 7T °

Z BRROTLREREER T -NFEHBE
{’EWJ ZHRARNARERESBRE MERME
ESHSBLERIOT

RMB88,497,000.

Besides, the proposed maximum daily amount of financial services
and products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust to the Group for the
term of Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019:

BE+T-A=+—-HLFEZSHSHELR
Maximum daily amount
for the year ended 31 December

2020 2021 2022

AREBEERL AR®BEERT AR¥EER
RMB million RMB million RMB million

=HIRIT RERETR Financial services and products 5,000 5,000 5,000
AEEIR M B ARTS provided to the Group by CR Bank
M E G and CR Trust

REE-_ZTZ-_—F+-_A=+—HIFER 1B
BT —NFEBEEIERE 2GR TRRTR
EHEARASERHeREFEREREAGES
& E A AR 132,700,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the maximum daily amount of
financial services and products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust to
the Group was RMB132,700,000 under the terms of the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2019.
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On 25 October 2022, the Company and CR Bank entered into a new
strategic cooperation agreement for three year ending 31 December
2025 (the “CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2022"); and
the Company and CR Trust entered into the a new strategic
cooperation agreement for three year ending 31 December 2025 (“CR
Trust Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2022") on the even date (CR
Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2022 and the CR Trust
Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2022 collectively called “Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2022"). The proposed annual caps for the
Group for the term of the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2022
are as follows:

BE+-AZ=+-HLFENSHERESELR
Maximum daily deposit amount
for the year ending 31 December

2023 2024 2025

AREBEERL AR¥EERT AR¥EER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

= HIRTT CR Bank 4,700 4,700 4,700

BE+-A=+-HLFEZSRERLR
Maximum daily amount
for the year ending 31 December

2023 2024 2025

ARBBERT ARBEER AR®EER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

FEHIRIT NEBEFEM Financial services and products 5,000 5,000 5,000

AEE RIS RIRS

MEm and CR Trust

provided to the Group by CR Bank

RIEEMARR T FEEAERRERE
BHERD - T2 _FHBAERENFER
RARBAR-ZF-__F+A-THENFERE
RHRE(ZTE__FRHEMEXIFHRE]D) °

Under the Listing Rules, the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2022
constituted continuing connected transactions. Details of the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2022 are set out in the continuing
connected transactions announcement of the Company dated 25
October 2022 (the “2022 CCT Announcement”).
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PROVISION OF CONSTRUCTION, DECORATION AND
FURNITURE SERVICES AND SALES OF CONSTRUCTION
MATERIAL FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

The Group has been, during the normal course of its businesses,
providing construction and decoration services and selling furniture
and construction material to members of the CRH Group and
associates of CRH. Construction services provided by the Group
include building construction, mechanical and electrical engineering
and installation as well as urban utilities. Decoration services provided
by the Group include interior design, decoration and furnishing of
offices, commercial and residential properties. Furniture services
provided by the Group include furniture manufacturing and sale.

On 9 December 2019, the Company and CRH, entered into the
Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services and Furniture
Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework Agreement
2019 (“Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services and
Furniture Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework
Agreement 2019") to govern the principal terms of the provision of
construction and decoration services and furniture manufacturing and
sale services as well as the sales of construction material in the PRC by
the Group to the members of the CRH Group (namely CRH and its
subsidiaries, excluding the Group) and associates of CRH for the three
financial years ended 31 December 2022.

Each contract of construction, decoration or furniture services or sales
of construction material will be entered into on normal commercial
terms and the prices will be either at market prices or at prices no less
favorable to the Group than those available from independent third
parties.

The annual caps are determined taking into account the business
needs of members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH and the
expected level of services to be provided by the Group under the
Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services and Furniture
Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework Agreement
2019.
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The proposed annual caps for the Provision of Construction Services,
Decoration Services and Furniture Services and Sales of Construction
Material Framework Agreement 2019 for the three years ended 31
December 2022 are as follows:

BE+-A=+—HLEFE

For the year ended 31 December

2020 2021 2022

ARBEERT AR¥EEBRT AR®EBEER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

R The Construction Caps 1,800 1,800 1,800
& FR The Decoration Caps 650 650 650
BEEMPHEE LR The Sales of Construction Material Caps 1,000 1,000 1,000

EHEEREARR 2D REBRER
RERBIREBEREREARRNARZEAEAL
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As CRH is the controlling shareholder of the Company, the members
of the CRH Group and associates of CRH are the connected persons
of the Company as defined under the Listing Rules. Such transactions
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company and
details of which are set out in the CCT Announcement.

The caps and the actual amount of the above continuing connected
transactions in 2022 are shown as follows:

20225 E LR 20225 BERX5 L5

IH5R Annual caps  Actual transaction
No. ¥ E5| Business Type in 2022 amounts in 2022
AREBEER AREBHER

RMB million RMB million

1 iR Construction 1,800 355
#HiE Decoration 650 86
EEMEHEE Sales of Construction Material 1,000 0.2
EHFHAR QA China Resources Land Limited 121
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On 25 October 2022, the Company and CRH, entered into the
Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services and Furniture
Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework Agreement
2022 ("Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services, and
Furniture Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework
Agreement 2022") whereby the annual caps under the existing
provision of construction services, decoration services and furniture
services arrangements are renewed and the annual caps in respect of
the sales of construction material are determined. Each contract of
construction, decoration or furniture services or sales of construction
material will be entered into on normal commercial terms and the
prices will be either at market prices or at prices no less favourable to
the Group than those available from independent third parties. The
proposed annual caps for the Provision of Construction Services,
Decoration Services and Furniture Services and Sales of Construction
Material Framework Agreement 2022 for the three years ending 31
December 2025 are as follows:

BE+-A=1T—-HLEE

For the year ending 31 December

2023 2024 2025

ARMEERT ARWEEBRT ARBEER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

L LR The Construction Caps 1,800 1,800 1,800

E LR The Decoration Caps 650 650 650

FEEMEHEEE) LR The Construction Material 200 200 200

(Sales) Caps

FEEERRHEREE) EIR The Construction Material 800 800 800

(Procurement) Caps
W FTHEE . — T - - FEERK - 28R Under the Listing Rules, the Provision of Construction Services,

Ko R B AR TS (A I s 5641 L S B AR 2R 1 iR 1B A
SERERS  ARARBREN T __FERE

X%A\m ©
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Decoration Services and Furniture Services and Sales of Construction
Material Framework Agreement 2022 constituted continuing
connected transactions and details of which are set out in the 2022
CCT Announcement.
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PROPERTY LEASING AND CONCESSIONAIRE
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

The Group has been, during the normal course of its businesses,
entering into leasing and concessionaire arrangements regarding its
property portfolio where members of the Group lease premises to
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH. On 9 December
2019, the Company and CRH entered into the Leasing and
Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2019 (“the Leasing and
Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2019”) to govern the principal
terms of the leasing and concessionaire arrangements.

Subject to further definitive written agreements, from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive), the Group will enter into
new leasing agreements or new concessionaire agreements with
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH in the ordinary
and usual course of business on the following terms:

(@) each of the leasing or concessionaire arrangements to be
entered into by a member of the Group with a member of the
CRH Group or an associate of CRH will be documented in a
separate written agreement; and

(b) each leasing or concessionaire arrangement will be entered into
on normal commercial terms with the rents, management fees
and other charges received by the Group from any members of
the CRH Group or associates of CRH being either at market
prices or at prices no less favorable to the Group than those
available from independent third parties.

As the usage of the leasing and concessionaire arrangements by
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH is anticipated to
exceed the original projection, the original annual caps for the leasing
and concessionaire arrangements for the financial years ending 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2022 are expected to be
insufficient. Accordingly, on 25 August 2021, the Board resolved to
revise the annual caps for the leasing and concessionaire
arrangements for the financial years ending 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2022 and to re-comply with the requirements of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save for the revision of the annual
caps for the leasing and concessionaire arrangements with members
of the CRH Group and associates of CRH, all terms and conditions of
the Leasing and Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2019 remain
unchanged.
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BE-T-NERERTAELEWHE 82 —-F The proposed annual caps for the Leasing and Concessionaire
“HF+ZA=Z+—BHULH=ZEAFEZEZFEL Framework Agreement 2019 for the three years ended 31 December
REZIMAT - 2022 are as follows:

BE+=-RA=1+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December

2020 2021 2022

AREEETT AREEETT ARKBETR
RMB million RMB million RMB million

MERTALR The Leasing and Concessionaire Caps 650 850 850

LB ERER SN S - —FEF FRREM4  The annual cap and actual transaction amount in 2022 of the above
EER N continuing connected transaction are set out below:

2022FE LR 20225 BHERZ €8
Annual caps  Actual transaction

=R Business Type in 2022 amounts in 2022
AR¥BEER AR¥BEER
RMB million RMB million
HERFTH LR The Leasing and Concessionaire Caps 850 490
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CRH owns the controlling interest of the Company. Therefore,
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH are the connected
persons of the Company, as defined in the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the above arrangements constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company.

On 25 October 2022, the Company and CRH entered into the Leasing
and Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2022 (“Leasing and
Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2022") whereby the annual
caps under the existing leasing and concessionaire arrangements are
renewed taking into account of the business needs of members of the
CRH Group and associates of CRH and the expected level of services
to be provided by the Group from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2025. The proposed annual caps for the Leasing and Concessionaire
Framework Agreement 2022 for the three years ending 31 December
2025 are as follows:

BE+-A=+—HLEFE

For the year ending 31 December

2023 2024 2025

ARBBEERT ARBEER AR®EER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

HENFFA LR The Leasing and Concessionaire Caps 1,000 1,200 1,400
ZEHEMAPR AR China Resources Land Limited 125
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THE FACTORING SERVICES FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
AND THE LEASE FINANCING FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT

On 27 August 2021, the Company entered into (i) the Factoring
Services Framework Agreement (“Factoring Services Framework
Agreement”) with RUNXIN Commercial Factoring Co. Ltd. (“the
Factoring Company”), pursuant to which the Factoring Company has
agreed to provide the Group with general commercial factoring and
related consultation services, for a term effective from 27 August
2021 to 31 December 2022 and (ii) the Lease Financing Framework
Agreement (“Lease Financing Framework Agreement”) with China
Resources Leasing Co., Ltd. (“the Lease Financing Company”),
pursuant to which the Lease Financing Company has agreed to
provide the Group with general financial leasing and related
consultation services, for a term effective from 27 August 2021 to 31
December 2022.

Each of the Factoring Company and the Lease Financing Company are
members of the CRH Group. As CRH is a controlling Shareholder of
the Company, members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH are
connected persons of the Company and the New Connected
Transaction Agreements with members of the CRH Group and
associates of CRH constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company.

(1) The Factoring Services Framework Agreement

Under the Factoring Services Framework Agreement, the scope

of services and principle of the provision of services are as
follows:

Scope of services: The Factoring Company will provide general
commercial factoring and related consultation services to the
Group in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Factoring Services Framework Agreement, including factoring
financing, sales (sub-account) management, collection of
accounts receivables, non-commercial bad debt guarantees,
customer credit investigations and evaluations, and consultation
services related to commercial factoring. For the specific terms
(including types of services, interest rates, service fees, payment
terms, rights and obligations of the parties) with respect to each
specific commercial factoring service under the Factoring
Services Framework Agreement, the Factoring Company and
the Group will enter into separate agreements in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Factoring Services
Framework Agreement.
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Principle of the provision of services: Under the Factoring
Services Framework Agreement, the Factoring Company has
undertaken to: (i) provide quality and effective financial services
and products to the Group and promptly take into consideration
the opinions of the Group in relation to such services and
products; and (i) actively support the operations of the Group,
prioritize the approval of the financing applications of the
Group, and based on the business circumstances, enable the
green channel for important customers (if applicable).

According to the Factoring Services Framework Agreement, the
proposed annual caps for the two years ended 31 December
2022 are as follows:

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2022

ARBBEER ARBEER

RMB million RMB million

RERER Z w5 Factoring services transaction amount 3,000 3,000

EIZSEYNSIF-ENEE PR Interest and service fees paid by the 200 200
ER%E Group to the Factoring Company

TBERES SN S —EFE FREE
BREREWMT «

The annual cap and actual transaction amount in 2022 of the
above continuing connected transaction are set out below:

2022FE LR 20225 BERRZEHE
Annual caps  Actual transaction

ES SVl Business Type in 2022 amounts in 2022
ARBEHET ARBEHET
RMB million RMB million
REBERER Z w58 Factoring services transaction 3,000 0
amount
MRER B SRS Interest and service fees 200 0
KRR & paid by the Group to the

Factoring Company
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(2)

The Lease Financing Framework Agreement

Under the Lease Financing Framework Agreement, the scope of
services and the principle of the provision of services are as
follows:

Scope of services: The Lease Financing Company will provide
general financial leasing and related consultation services to the
Group in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Lease
Financing Framework Agreement, including operating lease
financing and financial leasing. For the specific terms (including
lease principal, interest rates, service fees, payment terms, rights
and obligations of the parties) with respect to each specific
financial leasing service under the Lease Financing Framework
Agreement, the Lease Financing Company and the Group will
enter into separate agreements in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Lease Financing Framework Agreement.

Principle of the provision of services: Under the Lease Financing
Framework Agreement, the Lease Financing Company has
undertaken to: (i) provide quality and effective financial services
and products to the Group and promptly take into consideration
the opinions of the Group in relation to such services and
products; and (ii) actively support the operations of the Group,
prioritize the approval of the financing applications of the
Group, and based on the business circumstances, enable the
green channel for important customers (if applicable).

The execution of the Factoring Services Framework Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder would help the
Group to optimise its asset structure, accelerate the efficiency of
asset turnover, save costs, improve the efficiency of capital
utilisation, broaden its financing channels and reduce its
financing costs. The transactions are in line with the Company’s
overall development strategy and in the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

The execution of the Lease Financing Framework Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder would enable
the Group to expand its financing channels and optimize its
financial structure. The transactions are in line with the
Company'’s overall development strategy and in the interests of
the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.



BREHEREERGRE BE_T__F According to the Lease Financing Framework Agreement, the
+ - A=+ BHMEFEZEZZFELRH proposed annual caps for the two years ended 31 December
T 2022 are as follows:

BE+=-RA=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2022
ARBEET ARBEER
RMB million RMB million
AEERE AR XA Amount of lease principal payments 1,000 1,000
HERE S to be made by the Group to
the Lease Financing Company
M ERE A FZTH Interest, fees and commissions paid 70 70
FE - BRARAS by the Group to the Lease
Financing Company
BRSNS FERREE The annual cap and actual transaction amount in 2022 of the
BREFENT - above continuing connected transaction are set out below:

2022FE LR 20225 BHXZLHE
Annual caps  Actual transaction

R Business Type in 2022 amounts in 2022

ARBEER ARBEER

RMB million RMB million

M ERE AR H Amount of lease principal payments 1,000 0
HEXESR to be made by the Group

to the Lease Financing Company

MEERE AR TH Interest, fees and commissions paid 70 0

ME - BRRAR by the Group to the Lease

Financing Company
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On 25 October 2022, the Company and Lease Financing
Company entered into a lease financing and factoring services
framework agreement (“Lease Financing and Factoring Services
Framework Agreement 2022") for the three years ending 31
December 2025. The proposed annual caps for the Group for
the terms of Lease Financing and Factoring Services Framework
Agreement 2022 are as follow:

2023FFE LR 2024FFE LR 2025FFE LR

The annual The annual The annual

ES %Yol Business Type cap in 2023 cap in 2024 cap in 2025
ARBEERT AR¥EBEER AR¥EBEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million
AREFBEFEMHEEEE  Transaction amount between 2,000 2,000 2,000
RE/FANRS the Group and CR Leasing
SRR AEER Group during the period/year
H,/ & A [ 2E and interest and service fees
HESESNM paid by the Group to CR
MEKREE Leasing Group during the

period/year

TR IR AR

R-ZT-—F+A-+HH  AArEFEHHYE

R (

BN BERAR([ERMBE DAL FERE

HRSIER G AEERE M ERASUEIRMEE
R MEAKERERAAEERHEEHEZT
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THE PLATFORM AND MARKETING SERVICES
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

On 25 October 2022, the Company entered into a platform and
marketing services framework agreement with Huawang Data
Technology (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Huawang Data”), pursuant to
which the Group has agreed to provide Huawang Data with
marketing services and Huawang Data has agreed to provide the
Group with platform services in relation to the platform, for a term
effective from 1 November 2022 to 31 December 2022.
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On the same date the Company and Huawang Data entered into
another platform and marketing services framework agreement
(collectively called “Platform and Marketing Services Framework
Agreement 2022") for three years ending 31 December 2025. The
proposed annual caps for the Group for the terms of Platform and
Marketing Services Framework Agreement 2022 are as follow:

2023FFE LR 2024FFE LR 2025FFE LR

The annual The annual The annual

¥ ER Business Type cap in 2023 cap in 2024 cap in 2025
ARBEBEERL AR¥EERT AR¥EER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

= EH AR 7S Marketing Services 200 400 600
E & RS Platform Services 400 600 900

RRER(RE) SRR RRERBCR - ERH(%E)
ERBRBINER(KE)NBEADELR QR H
BAL  WERER(RE) ZKE QR MER(KE)
BB AR LM EER B R B R AR BRI

PRFEERERSNBE_T_—_F+ A
=t RALMEALRRERRZESEMT :

As CRH is a controlling Shareholder of the Company, members of the
CRH Group and associates of CRH are connected persons of the
Company and the New Connected Transaction Agreements with
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company.

The cap and the actual transaction amounts of the above continuing
connected transactions for 2 months ending 31 December 2022 are
set out below:

BE-—ZE—-_—
BT +=A=+—H
+=A=+—AH ERfE A
WFRE A EBR ERRZEHE
The actual
transaction
The cap for amounts for
2 months ending 2 months ending
¥R Business Type 31 December 2022 31 December 2022
ARBEER ARBEER
RMB million RMB million
2 H AR 7S Marketing Services 50 18
&R Platform Services 100 43
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IT SERVICES AND PRODUCTS PROCUREMENT
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

On 25 October 2022 the Company and China Resources Digital
Technology Co., Ltd (“CR Digital”) entered into an IT services and
products procurement framework agreement (“IT Services and
Products Procurement Framework Agreement 2022") for three years
ending 31 December 2025. Pursuant to IT Services and Products
Procurement Framework Agreement 2022, the Group may from time
to time procure the information technology, digitalization and
intelligentization services supplied by CR Digital and its subsidiaries,
which mainly include (i) maintenance services for generic applications
and operating systems, including daily maintenance, procurement of
software, and licensing of software; (ii) specific implementation
services, including development and implementation of unified
application systems; (iii) IT infrastructure, including cloud platforms
and hardware and software, and technical support services for the
informatisation of traditional resource pool; and (iv) other services,
including general contracting projects such as data security, smart
manufacturing and smart parks, industrial internet of things (lloT), and
collection of externally applicable software licensing fees relating to
localization of software. The proposed annual caps for the Group for
the terms of IT Services and Products Procurement Framework
Agreement 2022 are as follow:

2023FFE LR 2024FFE LR 2025F FE LR

The annual The annual The annual
ES 3Vl Business Type cap in 2023 cap in 2024 cap in 2025
AREHET ARBEERT AREEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million
AR R RS RES Procurement of IT Services 300 350 400
and Products
132 —=——4®E®H% ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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THE PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT

On 25 October 2022, CR Mixc Lifestyle and CRH entered into a
property management services framework agreement (collectively
called “The Property Management Services Framework Agreement
2022") for three years ending 31 December 2025. Pursuant to
Property Management Services Framework Agreement 2022, CR Mixc
Lifestyle Group may, from time to time, provide property
management services to the CRH Connected Persons for the

- - —FYEERREIERFEPRAEZSE  residential and/or commercial properties and other properties
BEELFRIOT : developed and/or owned by them. The proposed annual caps for the
Group for the terms of Property Management Services Framework
Agreement 2022 are as follow:
2023FFE LR 2024FFE LR 2025FFE LR
The annual The annual The annual
=R Business Type cap in 2023 cap in 2024 cap in 2025
AR¥BEER ARBBEER ARBEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million
EHERATEEWEANYE  Property management fees 295 395 495
BEE (EEWENS) received by the CR Mixc Lifestyle
Group (for commercial
properties)
EHERATEEWEANYE  Property management fees 570 1,000 1,250

EEE (MEEYENEM
FEEREMS)

received by the CR Mixc Lifestyle
Group (for residential properties

and other non-commercial

facilities)

RN (RE) AR RMZERERR - FH(%E)
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As CRH is a controlling Shareholder of the Company, members of the
CRH Group and associates of CRH are connected persons of the
Company and the New Connected Transaction Agreements with
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the above-mentioned continuing
connected transactions, and confirmed that:

1. these transactions have been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group;

2. these transactions have been entered into on normal
commercial terms or better; and

3. these transactions have been entered into according to the
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interest of the Company’s shareholders as
a whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued his letter containing his findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group on pages 114 to 133 (the "Disclosed CCTs")
in accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56:

a.  nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to
believe that the Disclosed CCTs have not been approved by the
Board.

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that
causes him to believe that the transactions were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Group.

¢.  nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions.

d.  nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to
believe that the Disclosed CCTs have exceeded the annual caps
as set by the Company.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
Stock Exchange.

The related party transactions except those with joint ventures and
associates as disclosed in paragraph (A) in note 47 to the consolidated
financial statements also fall under the definition of connected
transaction or continuing connected transactions within the meaning
of the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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MODEL CODE REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY THE DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in the Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors and relevant employees of the Company.
Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code during the year under review.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there are sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the Group'’s five largest suppliers and
five largest customers together accounted for less than 30% of the
Groups purchases and sales respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements have
been entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

CHARITABLE DONATION

In 2022, the Group's charitable donation amounted to approximately
RMB6.48 million.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 336 of this annual
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws in the Cayman Islands.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the audit committee comprises Mr. Wan
Kam To, Peter (Committee Chairman), Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Zhong
Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, all members of the audit committee are
independent non-executive Directors of the Company. The audit
committee has reviewed, together with the management and the
Company’s auditor, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed auditing, risk management, internal
control and financial reporting matters including the consolidated
financial statements for the year.

AUDITORS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 1 June 2018,
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the auditor of the
Company and Messrs. At the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 15 June 2022, Messrs. Ernst & Young was reappointed as the
auditor of the Company.

According to the relevant regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance
of the PRC and the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council in China, the
Company has the following arrangements:

Messrs. Ernst & Young, the current auditor, will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and will not be
reappointed.

The Board has resolved to recommend the appointment of
KPMG as the new auditor of the Company following the
retirement of Messrs. Ernst & Young and such proposed
appointment is subject to the approval of the shareholders of
the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Li Xin
Chairman

China, 29 March 2023
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To the shareholders of China Resources Land Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 148 to 320, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

HRESEHE Bz ERNEEBRELSIR
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
REYFEI1E1E

Valuation of investment properties

RIGRE DR EERE ARRBREE - DORESE
HEAMBRE 2 BEREEAURERATEAELEA
18 -

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter due to the significance of the balance to
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined
with the significant judgements associated with determining
the fair value.
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the investment
properties included:

o Assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent and professionally qualified valuers
(“Valuers”); as well as obtained an understanding of
the Valuers’ scope of work;
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RRELEE

Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EfzEanAEERERERER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REYRAE1E (&)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

BEEEZEEMEHURPEAMN FERER  R=F
——F+=-—A=+—HiEAAREK2378HETT &
FEEEXRIREMEARE177,948E BT EEEREME
AR 131 BEBLREAREEARK 7,806 B&E T -
HER BEER-_Z-_—_F+-A=+—BHEBEHN
22.0% - IHEYENFEEFH W EARE6,978BELE
REBE—E-_—F+-A=+—HULEFEZEEKERE

=7
s ©

The investment properties of the Group were located in the
Mainland China, Hong Kong and the United Kingdom (the
“UK") and carried at RMB237,885 million as at 31
December 2022, including completed investment properties
of RMB177,948 million, investment properties under
construction of RMB52,131 million and right-of-use assets
of RMB7,806 million, which represented approximately
22.0% of the Group's total assets as at 31 December 2022.
Gain on changes in fair value of investment properties of
RMB6,978 million was recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2022.

o RMMABGERERZE LB IFAFEEETTEN
K BESEEEENMMVEMARAERTEBEREGA
BB 2 QM R BB 2 EREN - AR ER
ERBEBELEAROAS  HETELBMEZ A
BRARRMEEETE 2 ANH &

o Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the significant unobservable inputs
and the accuracy of the source data adopted by
management of the Group and the Valuers by
comparing them, on a sample basis, to existing tenancy
profiles, publicly available information of similar
comparable properties and our knowledge of the real
estate industry; and
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BH s A% IH (4) KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
BREZSEE BMzEZNRERAREREE
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REYRAEE (&)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

EEEMNENREVERBOEMETHEERRIFEE o FEFAUERRAREDEHEZHRBEERRER
T8k - CERRBREMENBERTFETEZTNIEER R °

ABBME - BREMAELFENRTHEES - &

BEEREMENHEIORREMMENE - FEMBRITH S

ERMEFHERNMEEX - EREHREVELATEZF

HHEZMEBEN RRASBAHEAESHELRERHGR

CE

ERRBEENGEMBRRMES X 2S5 HI6 LEF
KfEE16[REWZE] -

All of the Group's investment properties were stated at fair Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures of the
value based on valuations carried out by Valuers. The valuations of investment properties in the consolidated
valuations of the completed investment properties were financial statements.

dependent on certain significant unobservable inputs,

including the capitalisation rate and assessed prevailing

market rents. The valuations of investment properties under

construction were dependent on the capitalisation rate,

assessed prevailing market rents and estimated developer’s

profit margin. Management'’s assessment on the fair value

of investment properties was significant to the audit

because this process requires significant judgements and

estimates.

Related disclosures are included in note 5 “Significant
accounting judgements and estimates” and note 16
“Investment properties” to the consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

HAREXRSE BHzERNARERRERER
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
T HIBE B A E 2 SR

Accuracy of land appreciation tax calculations

mpRfEEt ERESEMEZRBR M ZHEARK
B (TR ) BB ([ LB (ER ) £ BFEEL
EAHE - RS LR EN A B 2 R SRR E
®EIE o

EMEXNERRMERWAREE P E T IBER - NE
ECTCHFTA=T—HILFE  REERaRER
THIRERARKI322EE T &t EXEMEEEK -
AR NHETE $H B WD R PS5 R M AT FR A 2 M A i
BESEERTHEERRERAELERHE - it
BESB2EHEMENREFRBMGFTIIRAX (2
BIERERARAERBENERRNFAS)ERE

BERRBEENGEMBHRRMEES T 2 S5 HI6 L&
K PRE 11 [P SRERAST ] o

We identified the accuracy of land appreciation tax (“LAT")
calculations in the People’s Republic of China (“the PRC")
as a key audit matter since significant judgement was
required in estimating the amount of LAT to be paid by the
Group for each of the property development projects.

LAT arises in the PRC when properties are delivered to the
buyers and revenue is recognised. LAT recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
December 2022 was RMB9,322 million, which was material
to the Group. Significant judgement was required in
estimating the amounts of land appreciation and the
applicable LAT rate due to the uncertainty of proceeds of
sales of properties and deductible expenditures. The
amount of the land appreciation was determined with
reference to proceeds of the sales of properties less the
estimated deductible expenditures, including the cost of
land use rights and all relevant property development
expenditures.

Related disclosures are included in note 5 “Significant
accounting judgements and estimates” and note 11
“Income tax expenses” to the consolidated financial
statements.

BB LB ENAE BB ZIRFEEE

s ®&2E AEREEUMERADENMRBEKAR
R IR ERETE T AR 2 [E5T 8 S WA KRR A0
W BN

o  BMRXNTENAMREERS BT A EER
HEZ HRES R R 2 ERE BRI R
KR EPEERHEGER DM 2 L IRET T EET
& SHEMEERABMAZ I HIZERKTERZS
B R

o FBESEEENBEFEMEMGFRERGRURLAN
FEZAFTETHER  FHEEEENEF LR ES
BNt R E N R I AT A 2 FI T -

Our procedures in relation to the accuracy of LAT calculations
included:

o Evaluated the reasonableness of the estimated sales
revenue and the related deductible amounts used in
the LAT calculation with reference to the market prices
and development costs of similar properties of the
Group;

o Involved our internal tax specialists in the PRC to assess
the accuracy of the land appreciation amount
calculations for development projects, on a sample
basis, and to assess the appropriateness of the LAT rate
used for property development projects, on a sample
basis, by comparing it to the LAT rate announced by
the State Administration of Taxation in the PRC; and

o Evaluated the judgements applied by the management
in estimating the land appreciation amount and LAT
rate by comparing their past estimates made in
previous years to the actual results as well as the
current year’s estimates.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BREZSEE BMzEZNRERAREREE
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
HEYREER YA

Revenue recognised from sales of properties

BHE_Z-_—"F#+-_A=+—HIFE RE—FHEHX
—BREEERNYEEERADIAARE1395118E
TR ARE 36,651 B&ETT °

WARYEZGIREREREPRER - RFAOGERRE
RAREMNZBRERE  MFREHIAIRN —BRERIRE
BMHER - BERERORAEY SEEAEEAH
ENEE T BEEEARHINTERERESCEOED
MBE - AR GIER —BREREE - BRIMEEHIRE
RE R EEEE -

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue recognised
from sales of properties at a point in time and over time
were RMB139,511 million and RMB36,651 million,
respectively.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the
properties is transferred to customers. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the relevant laws that apply to
the contract, control of the properties may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the properties is
transferred over time if the Group’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date, otherwise, control of the
properties is transferred at a point in time.
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from sales
of properties included:

. Obtained and reviewed the terms of sales contracts,
relevant local laws and supporting legal cases, internal
policies of the Group, etc. to assess the enforceability
of the right to payment for each type of sales contracts;

o Reviewed legal advices and evaluated the basis used to
support legal opinion;

o Checked whether the sales contracts were properly
classified and whether the Group applied appropriate
revenue recognition policy;
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HRESEE
Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EfzEanAEERERERER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HEYRERZUA (&)

Revenue recognised from sales of properties (continued)
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The properties have generally no alternative use due to
contractual restrictions. However, to assess the
enforceability of right to payment which depends on the
terms of the sales contract and the interpretation of the
laws applicable to the contract, a significant judgement is
required. The Group has reviewed the terms of the
contracts, the relevant local laws, the local regulators’ view
and obtained legal advice, to classify sales contracts into
those with an enforceable right to payment and those
without, and therefore has applied different revenue
recognition policy.

For revenue from sales of properties recognised over time,
the Group recognised revenue by measuring the progress
towards satisfaction of the performance obligation at the
reporting date, which was measured by the percentage of
the contract costs incurred to the total estimated cost.

Related disclosures are included in note 5 “Significant
accounting judgements and estimates” and note 6
“Segment information” to the consolidated financial
statements.

s RBEHEEINEANES  FHEEBEENRE
B B &Y SERE R P 2 (BT A0 AR 2 P R AR A S B AR
LR ]

o ENRAUBHERAZMERMBE -

. For revenue recognised over time, assessed the
estimates used by management to determine the
progress towards completion at the reporting date and
checked the accuracy of revenue and costs recognised;
and

. Reviewed the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

145

FEBHEMARAA  China Resources Land Limited



385 37 A% BBl e o

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

A S Bl R 7 A% Bk 1 S S R SRR B Y
HAL (4)

o  HAESMERASHBERMEER A RIEL
SEHER AR EN S

o HERRABBLLITERMNEEHED
i WARBFERNERERE  BERS
FHEESRYBABANEATHEEE %
MmAlseEEY BEEENKELERNESE
BERERE - WRMARRFEERNTHEEMLE
AE L EEZHERETIRFEAEIELR
EUBHRRTORBRE - REEMNEE
T BEETRMNER - ZfINERIIE
REEZHERE A IEARSENEREE -
A - REFBESBERAATEESR EXET

o HERAEMBHmROBRINGIA - BER
AR (BREBE)ARSRAMBREREFTE
RERIERAR P R FEHE -

o ¥ EREARERIEFADHNYEERE
B  EENERRE  AHGRAMBR
REXRBR -HBMAEE EXEFERNS
M EERBT - RAIRBRERAEEE
BfE-

BREMEESN  RMAEBZREBBEXN
HBELNREARBEABZERES  HPEER
I BRI A EREFI A EA TR ZE

BT AEZZESRIEN  KBUAMEFTE
BRBEIEMAEARBEERE R YEREER
AREAERRARETERMBILENMERERR
HoAth IR A K (38 A3 ) BLHRR BUE SREVAIHE hE 3
£ e EHEHE

146  —=——‘=®E  ANNUAL REPORT 2022

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Law Kwok Kee.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

BET-A=+—AIL5E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2022 2021

B & AR® T ARETIT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
Weas Revenue 6 207,061,119 212,108,358
HER A Cost of sales (152,770,509) (154,908,702)
EF Gross profit 54,290,610 57,199,656
WEYEZ N EEEHIRES Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties 16 6,977,861 7,794,642
BRAFEFAEZRZZERIEA  Netgain on changes in fair value of
Z A EEBN TR financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL") 6,400 42,710
Hipg A - Hbess %818 Other income, other gains and losses 7 3,112,873 4,394,285
HE NS HEES S Selling and marketing expenses (5,894,694) (6,093,808)
— M RITE General and administrative expenses (5,385,588) (5,871,565)
FEERE S REIRE 2 F)E Share of profits of investments in
joint ventures 3,484,705 2,808,150
eI N EHEE 2 FE Share of profits of investments
in associates 616,706 1,488,915
I E R Finance costs 10 (1,699,518) (1,397,227)
BRA B4 A Profit before taxation 55,509,355 60,365,758
e Income tax expenses 11 (23,139,594) (22,970,370)
FRHH Profit for the year 12 32,369,761 37,395,388
LA AT BIEFEREF] Profit for the year attributable to:
ViN/NEIE ¥ =N Owners of the Company 28,091,865 32,401,239
B T Non-controlling interests 4,277,896 4,994,149
32,369,761 37,395,388
RABEBERTAA EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
eGSR EF ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF AR®T ARETT
THE COMPANY RMB RMB
EHK Basic
— FAZm A — For profit for the year 14 3.94 4.54
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BEt-A=+—HLHFE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2022 2021

ARBTR ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
F R F Profit for the year 32,369,761 37,395,388
Hih 2w Other comprehensive income
Hig gt E S EE 1B EH Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
N EEF RIRE R Fair value hedges and cash flow hedges:
FRNEENEFTARTE Changes in fair value of hedging
BERRIAE D KB RE S instruments due to forward elements
and effective portion arising
during the year (333,152) (75,756)
MEGINETSFIEE Y Exchange differences on translation of
M =R foreign operations 663,343 (231,532)
REBEEFHAIEESEEEREN Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that may
Hiz2mas, (BER)F5 be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent years 330,191 (307,288)
Hig T eE HEEnAEE Item that will not be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
ETFEASBEMEEAKZFIZAFE  Loss on changes in fair value of equity
IR Z AT B 7 AFE instruments designated at fair value
2HBIE through other comprehensive income
("FvOCI”) (19,801) (11,775)
RBEEEBIALESEEBZA Other comprehensive loss that will not
Hib2HEEE be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent years (19,801) (11,775)
FREMEEUE(EE) Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 310,390 (319,063)
FREERELLE Total comprehensive income for the year 32,680,151 37,076,325
AT ATREEZE AT Total comprehensive income attributable to:
RATHBA Owners of the Company 28,161,565 32,153,983
eI i e Non-controlling interests 4,518,586 4,922,342
32,680,151 37,076,325
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0 B IR Dl A
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

—E-= —E—F
+=-—B=+—8 +=—A=+—H
31 December 31 December
2022 AOVA
B aE AR®T T AREFT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS

ME - B NERE Property, plant and equipment 15 16,011,713 15,427,154
FREEE Right-of-use assets 17 5,773,760 6,239,461
KEWE Investment properties 16 237,885,277 217,530,118
B EE Intangible assets 18 1,425,515 76,356
e Goodwill 19 1,816,263 11,544
MNEBREIRE Investments in joint ventures 20 50,824,202 40,940,180
REtE N T ZIE Investments in associates 21 24,893,083 21,059,848

EERSEBREMEERE Equity instruments designated at FVOCI

BATHESIBRZBRATIA 22 1,074,060 1,100,462
BAFERFABRZ Financial assets at FVPL

TEREE 23 150,000 152,374
EHER Time deposits 24 2,558,608 2,474,608
ERENEE 2B FIE Prepayments for non-current assets 26 1,401,467 1,525,343
BEEFIEE E Deferred taxation assets 27 11,591,017 11,214,154
JE UG Ba s 5 SR IE Amounts due from related parties 31 10,168,102 11,992,508
FEU IR AR i 2R I8 Amounts due from non-controlling

interests 31 2,474,207 4,787,416
368,047,274 334,531,526
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
HIyE 7y Properties for sale 28 495,498,250 402,563,432
EMFE Other inventories 462,830 463,065
FEUBRSR « Efth FE UL BRTE - Trade receivables, other receivables,

AR RENE S prepayments and deposits 29 45,010,794 48,461,358
BHBEERABHKA Contract assets and contract costs 30 2,046,081 1,547,444
A ERTABZRZ Financial assets at FVPL

TREE 23 1,066,801 1,237,439
JE Lk B RS 75 SRR Amounts due from related parties 31 30,899,781 25,921,325
FEM AT AR i 2 RUIE Amounts due from non-controlling

interests 31 26,858,943 14,801,388
TER 1A Prepaid taxation 13,973,575 11,529,164
ZIRH|ERITFIR Restricted bank deposits 32 1,922,996 1,975,335
W e RRITETF Cash and bank balances 32 95,544,576 106,772,788
713,284,627 615,272,738
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—E-= —E—F
+t=A=+—-R t=A=1—H
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
B 5T AR¥T T AREEFIT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
REAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
FETBR N N L fh FE (T BR1E Trade and other payables 33 140,858,316 131,692,790
HEAE Lease liabilities 17 998,721 1,044,306
AHBE Contract liabilities 34 247,765,203 212,719,073
BRATEFABRZ Financial liability at FVPL
EHBE 23 - 3,510
FEfHRAEE 5 I8 Amounts due to related parties 35 39,185,729 25,928,254
FERT IR AR I 2R RIE Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 35 10,563,199 9,187,825
FERTFLIE Taxation payable 26,641,869 29,507,461
RITRAMBEET — Bank and other borrowings — due
—FREIH within one year 36 52,336,890 49,321,902
FRERERE — —FNE|H Medium-term notes — due within
one year 38 8,906,126 5,222,066
527,256,053 464,627,187
MEEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 186,028,574 150,645,551
EERERRBERE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 554,075,848 485,177,077
= EQUITY
J AR Share capital 39 673,829 673,829
B4 Reserves 243,373,240 225,855,441
AT E AR Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 244,047,069 226,529,270
FEPEAL R R Non-controlling interests 97,659,981 65,546,704
341,707,050 292,075,974
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0 B IR Dl A
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

—E-= —E—F

t=A=+—-8 +=A=+—"H

31 December 31 December
2022 2021

B aE AR®T T AREFT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
RITREMBEE — Bank and other borrowings — due
—F 1% ZI|H after one year 36 97,924,016 90,746,848
BAEEE — —F1E5H Senior notes — due after one year 37 13,744,457 12,575,147
FHARIR — — &2 H Medium-term notes — due after
one year 38 44,191,898 22,108,888
HEBAE Lease liabilities 17 6,116,805 4,757,826
BN ERABE Financial liabilities at FVPL
TREE 23 390,860 -
FET RS 5 7kE Amounts due to related parties 35 14,211,080 21,694,690
e FEFE AR i 2 5 E Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 35 3,654,950 11,686,927
RHEBE RE Long-term payables 101,635 126,278
TESmIA Derivative financial instruments 25 212,742 251,575
REFRIEAE Deferred taxation liabilities 27 31,820,355 29,152,924
212,368,798 193,101,103
ERBEENERBERS TOTAL OF EQUITY AND
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 554,075,848 485,177,077

HRE148E 30 A ZGEUBERRENR ==
FZAZt+NEHRESSHERKETIE - Wh

ATATREKEE : March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:
EJiV REH
LI XIN WU BINGQI
BE BE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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The consolidated financial statements on pages 148 to 320 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29



i AN B2 B
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BHE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

ARARE N

Attributable to owners of the Company

Eiffe  AftRE  RERN KEEAIR
Perpetual
Share Share Hedging  Translation Other Retained capital controling
capital premium feserve reserve Teserves profits instrument nterests
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Bzka) (Ht3Eb)
(note 3) (note b)
RZZ-Z5+-A=+-H At 31 December 2020 673829 58,529,724 225,864 (821321) 5185964 132,282,632 7381436 203458128 52,784,050 256,242,178
ERgd] Profit for the year - - - - - 32401239 - 3240139 4994149 37395388
EREENEAIA Changes in fair vlue of hedging
ATEEDHERTH instruments due to forward
RERSA elements and effective portion arising
during the year - - (75,756) - - - - (75,756) - (75,756)
BEBINFHAELL Exchange differences on translation
ExZE of foreign operations - - - (159,725) - - - (159,725) (71,807) (231532)
REABALMRENR Loss on changes in fair value of equity
RATEIR 2 RA instruments designated at FVOCI
TEZATERSER - - - - (11,775) - - (11,775) - (11,77
FREENEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - (75,756) (159,725) (11,775) 32,401,239 - 32,153,983 4922342 37,076,325
REEH &R Appropriation of retained profits - - - - 2831001 (2,831,001) - - - -
EE-HHBLRAES Acquisition of additional nterest in
a subsidiary - - - - 68,403 - - 68403 (1622555  (1,554,152)
HE-HHBATRHER Partial disposal of a subsiciary without
Ml &% Em5E loss of control - - - - 5,750 - - 5,750 (5,750) -
SHERERLE Capital contrioution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 113839% 11,383,956
MKEEFTEARA Distrbution to the owners of
{rEiZ Ak perpetual capitel instrument - - - - - (8 - 518 - (518
EffERERRS Dividend paid to
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - (1915339 (1,915339)
“E--FhERE Interim dividend for 2021 - - - - - (122401) - (1.2401) - (1,22421)
“ECEERERE Final dividend for 2020 - - - - - (7,680,929 - (7,680,929 - (7,680,929
R-E--%+-A=1-H At 31 December 2021 673829 58529724 150,108 (981,046) 8,079,343 152,695,876 7381436 226529270 65,546,704 292,075,974
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0 I AS S B 2
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FLRERAEL

Attributable to owners of the Company

iz R EE AR EiRfE AfilE  REER KEEAIR FERES
Perpetual Non-
Share Share Hedging  Translation Other  Retained capital controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserves profits  instrument interests
AR¥TR AR®TR ARETR ARETn ARETn ARRTn ARMTn ARMTn ARMTn AR¥TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
(ita) (&Eb)
(note a) (note b)
R-B--%+-F=1-H At 31 December 2021 673829 58,529,724 150,108 (981,046) 8,079,343 152,695,876 7381436 226529270 65,546,704 292,075,974
ERgd| Profit for the year - - - - - 28,091,865 - 28,091,865 4277,8% 32,369,761
FRELHIHBIE Changes in fair value of hedging
ATEEDNHERDH instruments due to forward
REHSH elements and effective portion arising
during the year - - (333,152) - - - - (333,152) = (333,152)
BEBINFHAELL Exchange differences on translation
ExzE of foreign operations - - - 422,653 - - - 422,653 240,690 663,343
RERBRLMREYE Loss on changes in far value of equity
RATESR 2 RA instruments designated at FVOCI
TEZATERSER - - - - (19.801) - - (19.801) - (19,801)
FREENGEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - (333,152) 422,653 (19.801) 28,091,865 - 28,161,565 4518586 32,680,151
BiTER Appropriation of retained profits - - - - 358885 (3,588,856) - - - -
WEEMB AR (Ma) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 44) - - - - - - = - 6909852 6,909,852
EE-HNEL RS Acquisition of additional interest in
a subsidiary - - - - 4,929 - - 4,929 (221,318) (222,389)
LENEAR SRS Partal disposal of subsidiaries
L% E5E without loss of control - - - - - - - - 9170861 9,170,661
HEMBAR () Disposal of subsiiaries (Note 43) - - - - - - - - (2070643 (2,070,643)
SRR Capital contribution from
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - 157323%  15732,39%
RMKEERTIARBA Distribution to the owners of
etz 2k perpetual capital instrument - - - - (269,366) - (269,366) - (269,366)
BiiskiRERRS Dividend paid to
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - (1920257) (1,920,257
“EC-CERERES Interim dividend for 2022 - - - - - (1,346,582) - (1346,582) - (1346,582)
FRERE Final dividend for 2021 = = = = - (9,032,747) - (9,032,747) - (9,032,747)
R-E--5+-fA=+-H At 31 December 2022 673829 58529724 (183,044) (558,393) 11,653,327 166,550,190 7381436 244,047,069 97,659,981 341,707,050
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Hit#FEI R RREARKE  —REH  FHIRE
BOHFEE WX BEAREEREREMERZE
e RIEE BB B E 2 E WS IE A FETRZ R
ATARAFEZE -

RIBHEARLFE ([0 B ) BRED ROER PR
E o ARKEZ R ENEARARBERTZEN10%
ER—RREE  EE—REAFBEERINE 2 B2 T
BAR50% Bk - ZEEENRRETEMERARZ
BEEgRAMERIAER - AR EESIE N

5 1 7 i W e ) 65 P B8 % ) Sk S B 2R SR
BELZ £ - HEENHERREENBEREA
Rl Z SRR 2 AR I EHE

WKEEATARAABMIEARRNBLRRET -
BRKEEAT A ZFBWBENHEE40 -

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Other reserves mainly comprise capital reserve, general reserve, special
reserve, merger reserve, revaluation gain of property, plant and equipment
when transferred to investment properties and changes in fair value of equity
instruments designated at FVOCI.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC shall set aside 10%
of their profit after taxation for the general reserve until the general reserve
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the respective subsidiaries. The
reserve can only be used, upon approval by the board of directors of the PRC
subsidiaries and by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or
increase capital.

The special reserve represents amounts arising from the acquisition or
disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries without loss of control. It
represented the difference between the consideration paid or received and
the adjustment to the non-controlling interests of the relevant subsidiaries.

This perpetual capital instrument was issued by the Company other than
subsidiaries of the Company. Detailed information of perpetual capital
instrument is disclosed in note 40.
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maBemak
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE+-A=+—HLFE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2022 2021

B & ARET R ARETTT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
HERYMEEREFE Net cash generated from operating
activities
EEEBMERe Cash generated from operating
activities 42 26,145,728 27,606,051
B TET Income tax paid (24,915,938) (20,577,788)
1,229,790 7,028,263
WEEBAMARE F5 Net cash used in investing activities
ME - BB REREBRK Payment for property, plant
and equipment (1,896,770) (2,187,394)
HEWE - BB KRB Proceeds from disposal of property,

FTiS 508 plant and equipment 217,673 220,353
B EERNR Payment for intangible assets - (45,126)
HEELEEMSIE Proceeds from disposal of

intangible assets - 5,400
BN Payment for investment properties (21,953,833) (27,399,738)
HEREYERGHRIE Proceeds from disposal of
investment properties 1,224 92,062
MEERFEIE Capital injection to joint ventures (7,020,490) (2,836,974)
MEtENAEE Capital injection to associates (3,743,659) (3,207,042)
D E LS DERS Dividend received from joint ventures 631,179 363,212
SN =) Dividend received from associates 683,919 1,485,063
(B3 F) BEEBES (Advances to)/repayment from
related parties (5,579,867) 7,033,619
IR T IEE AR R Advances to non-controlling interests (9,491,827) (4,272,262)
[SAL NS Interest received 2,200,216 1,818,692
HESRIELERB AT Net cash and bank balances arising on
EA e RIRITHER disposal or deemed disposal
pe | of subsidiaries 43 6,392,010 9,067
U RERTE A AR TS A Net cash and bank balances acquired

Re RIRITHEMRTE upon acquisition of subsidiaries 44 799 -
BEIRATERFABEN Purchase of financial assets at FVPL

TREE (6,640,630) (18,176,000)
BRI AT ERFABRZ Proceeds from redemption of financial

TREEMSIA assets at FVPL 6,799,500 21,753,291
BB T HER Acquisition of time deposits - (2,400,000)
R (EA) SR Withdrawal/(placement) of restricted

SRITTER bank deposits 63,747 (58,965)

(39,336,809) (27,802,742)
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BE+t-A=+—HLFE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2022 2021

AR® T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BEEBASIREIFE Net cash generated from financing activities
IRITREAMEEMEIRIE Proceeds from bank and other borrowings 109,697,267 74,793,383
ERIBITREMES Repayments of bank and other borrowings (103,024,811) (62,071,677)
BITHHARB SRR Proceeds from issuance of medium-term
notes 31,000,000 13,000,000
BiEhEIEE Repayments of medium-term notes (5,200,000) (9,500,000)
EoKEBARTABER A Distribution to the owners of perpetual
e 2 DK capital instrument (269,366) (251,854)
XNEEREREED Payment for principal portion of
lease liabilities (938,840) (533,186)
BB ER Finance costs paid (8,525,279) (8,150,541)
SR BER Advances from related parties 5,468,051 19,608,704
(BET) B3 EFTH (Repayments to)/advances from
= non-controlling interests (7,117,053) 12,740,112
R & Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests 15,732,396 11,383,956
BEAARRFHEA ARE Dividends paid to owners of the Company (10,379,329) (8,905,140)
EAT IR AR A S R B Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (722,189) (1,915,339)
M A RS M Net proceeds from partial disposal of
W R AT HIREATS subsidiaries without loss of control
FIEFE 414,661 -
26,135,508 40,198,418
BekREeEECRD) Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
BhnFEE (11,971,511) 19,423,939
FzReMAEHEE Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year 106,772,788 87,534,176
NS TR R B R Effect of change of foreign exchange rates 743,299 (185,327)
FRZEENBEEEE Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the year 95,544,576 106,772,788
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HIHFE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). As
at 31 December 2022, the ultimate holding company of the
Company is China Resources Company Limited (“CRCL"), a
company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). The intermediate holding company of the Company is
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH"). The
immediate holding company of the Company is CRH (Land)
Limited, a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. The address of the registered office of the Company is
disclosed in the corporate information of the annual report and
the principal place of business of the Company is the same as its
address of the head office disclosed in the corporate information
of the annual report. The principal activities of the Group are
the development of properties for sale, property investments
and management, hotel operations and the provision of
construction, decoration services and other property
development related services in the PRC.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments which have been measured at fair value.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB"), and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
unless otherwise stated.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(©)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same year as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the

first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual
Framework"”) issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that
would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a
business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should
refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead
of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify
for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to business
combinations that occurred on or after 1 January 2022.
As there were no contingent assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities within the scope of the amendments
arising in the business combination that occurred during
the year, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of
those items as determined by HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit
or loss. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment
made available for use on or after 1 January 2021. Since
there was no sale of items produced prior to the property,
plant and equipment being available for use, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(0 Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
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assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
that contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used
in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative costs
do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled
all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are applicable to the Group are as
follows:

J HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group
has applied the amendment prospectively from 1
January 2022. As there was no modification or
exchange of the Group’s financial liabilities during
the year, the amendment did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
Insurance Contracts'
Insurance Contracts'®

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)%*

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'

l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the

2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020
Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was
revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in

conclusion

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for
annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

¢ An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial

application of HKFRS 17
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by
the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16
(i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, in particular the determination over
whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Classification
of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect
the classification of that liability as current or non-current. In
addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures
by an entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when it has a right to defer
settlement of those liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based
on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments
to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to
ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group'’s financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that
date. In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively
to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
(continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group'’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
(continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESSES UNDER
COMMON CONTROL

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements item of the combining businesses in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had been
combined from the date when the combining businesses first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are consolidated
using the existing book values from the controlling party’s
perspective. The assets and liabilities of the acquired business
should be recorded at the book values as stated in the
consolidated financial statements of the controlling party (i.e., it
will require recording of the fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the acquired business at the date of original
acquisition from third parties by the controlling party, any
remaining goodwill arising on the previous acquisition and
minority interests recorded in the consolidated financial
statements of the controlling party). No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or gain on bargain purchase at the time of
common control combination. The adjustments to eliminate
share/registered capital of the combining businesses against the
related investment costs have been made to other reserves in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.



4. FEEGHHBOR (4)

BRELAFEZEFEBHEBEHZE
preEst (&)

FAakmR e 2HRaERBESREH
EBERFEINANERERFAHELTE
REHKEES B (ABRBEE SE) N

A M MR L R BER TR % B X
R SE AT R & B R SR A7) 46 52 FL R 128 ) B (AR
RERE)AHFNTAZT -

WAE 3 FE R R SRS 2 B 2

EAKEWBET BRI —HEEREA
1B - NS BR85! e T R P A 8 2 {8 1) mT
BRI BERMAE s BER - BLBBEE
PEEZERREATFEEAGFEZREYE
kEEBATEMEZEZREEREREA
& RAEBEESREHZNBEERRRSZ
BRAFESEEEMER A HENEERE
& - Bl S T EHmENHERE W -

REBEATREEEECIRE

BEAREARENTHEELSATENE
B EAFERZ2ERRERANIBRE
ERREIES - T IFER G R I BRI
REVKES -

BECER—HAERY  BUEATHR
RIEHIENT NI ERZFERELHNEE
FE - AFREGIEERRAOBEY —HL
PEFT BRI - EERBE B AR
HRZFHEHENETT —BABTTBERER
7 -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESSES UNDER
COMMON CONTROL (continued)

The consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income include the results of each
of the combining businesses from the earliest date presented or
since the date when the combining businesses first came under
the common control, where this is a shorter period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the businesses had been
combined at the end of the previous reporting period or when
they first came under common control, whichever is shorter.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY NOT
CONSTITUTING A BUSINESS

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that
do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to the investment
properties which are subsequently measured under the fair
value model and financial assets and financial liabilities at the
respective fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase
price is then allocated to the other individual identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
gain on bargain purchase.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate or joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group'’s share
of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (continued)

The requirements of HKFRS 9 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition in accordance with HKFRS 9. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued,
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposal of the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint
venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related
to the Group.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group a
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Revenue from development properties for sale in the ordinary
course of business is recognised over time when the Group’s
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date, otherwise, revenue is
recognised at the point in time when customers obtain the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed properties.
For revenue from sales of properties recognised over time, the
Group recognised revenue by measuring the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation using in
input method, which recognises revenue based on the
proportion of actual costs incurred relative to the estimated
total costs for satisfaction of the performance obligation.

Revenue from construction and decoration services is recognised
over time, using an input method to measure progress towards
complete satisfaction of the services. The input method
recognises revenue based on the proportion of actual costs
incurred relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of
the construction services.

Revenue from management and hotel services is recognised
over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis.

Revenue from sales of goods (including furniture and other
inventories) is recognised at the point in time when control of
the goods is transferred to the customer, generally on the
acceptance of the goods by the customer.

Revenue from other sources
Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an

index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

CONTRACT ASSETS

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a
contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
CONTRACT COSTS

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an
asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(©)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
consolidated income statement on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset
related is recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.

LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a
lease component, the Group adopted the practical expedient
not to separate non-lease components and to account for the
lease component and the associated non-lease components
(e.g., property management services for leases of properties) as
a single lease component.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
LEASES (continued)
The Group as lessee (continued)

(@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost, and subsequently measured at fair
value, in accordance with the Group's policy for
“Investment properties”. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Land use rights 40 years
Buildings 3 to 20 years
Machinery 2 to 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

LEASES (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

®)

©

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the
in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option, elected by class of underlying asset). It also applies
the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets
(elected on a lease-by-lease basis). Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

LEASES (continued)

The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the consolidated income statement due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with reference to
the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head
lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the on-
balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies the
sublease as an operating lease.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currencies of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised in
the respective functional currency at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for:

3 exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings;

3 exchange differences on transactions entered into in order
to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

o exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only if
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions relevant to the group entity. The group entity applies
the translation procedures applicable to the new functional
currency prospectively from the date of the change. At the date
of the change, the group entity translates all items into the new
functional currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that
date and the resulting translated amounts for non-monetary
items are treated as their historical cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e., RMB), using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated
at the exchange rates that approximate to prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e., a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.,
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
BORROWING COSTS (continued)

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS AND TERMINATION
BENEFITS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred taxation.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation” as reported in
the consolidated income statement because of income or
expense that is taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred taxation is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
taxation liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred taxation assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred taxation assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
TAXATION (continued)

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred taxation liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation liabilities or
deferred taxation assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred taxation arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction as described below) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than construction in progress less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Buildings under development for future owner-occupied
purposes

When buildings are in the course of development for production
or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of land use
rights provided during the construction period is included as
part of costs of buildings under construction. Buildings under
construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment
losses. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e., when they are in the location and
condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including leasehold properties held as
right-of-use assets and properties under construction for such
purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

Investment properties under construction are transferred to
properties for sale when and only when there is a change in use
evidenced by the commencement of development with a view
to sale. The property’s cost for subsequent accounting shall be
its fair value at the date of change.

The Group transfers a property for sale to investment property
when there is a change of intention to hold the property to earn
rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the
ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
commencement of an operating lease to another party. Any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of
transfer and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit
or loss.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment” up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation gain or loss in other comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets with
finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Customer relationships acquired in business combinations

Customer relationships acquired in business combinations are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and are
amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 15 years. The Group estimates the useful life of the
customer relationships and determines the amortisation periods
with reference to its industry experience and taking into account
the customer turnover history and expectation of the renewal
pattern of property management contracts.

Trademark

Trademark is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 4 years.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS OTHER
THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN RESPECT OF GOODWILL ABOVE)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it
can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.
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(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS OTHER
THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN RESPECT OF GOODWILL ABOVE) (continued)

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Properties for sale include properties under development and
properties held for sale which are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

The carrying value of properties for sale comprises the costs of
land use rights together with development expenditure, which
includes construction costs and borrowing costs capitalised.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

OTHER INVENTORIES

Other inventories represent trading merchandises that are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories
are determined on a weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, FVOCI, and FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not SPPI are classified and measured at FVPL,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
FVOCI are held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at FVPL.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated
income statement when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

For debt investments at FVOCI, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in the consolidated income statement and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive
income is recycled to the consolidated income statement.

Financial assets designated at FVOCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity instruments as equity instruments
designated at FVOCI when they meet the definition of equity
under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the consolidated income statement. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the consolidated income statement when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as
a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity instruments designated at FVOCI are not subject to
impairment assessment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the statement with net
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
instruments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at FVOCI. Dividends on equity instruments classified as
financial assets at FVPL are also recognised as other income in
the consolidated income statement when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at FVPL. Embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in the consolidated income statement. Reassessment only occurs
if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the FVPL
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at FVPL.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at FVPL. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (@ 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 45 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at FVOCI and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
General approach (continued)

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Financial liabilities at FVPL

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for
trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at FVPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category also includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the consolidated income statement. The net fair
value gain or loss recognised in the consolidated income
statement does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVPL (continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL
are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the
criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities
designated at FVPL are recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except for the gains or losses arising from the
Group's own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to
the consolidated income statement. The net fair value gain or
loss recognised in the consolidated income statement does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount
due to the ultimate holding company, amounts due to
intermediate holding companies, amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries, amounts due to joint ventures, amounts due to
associates and amounts due to non-controlling interests, bank
borrowings, lease liabilities, senior notes and medium-term
notes are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge its foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the
fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated income
statement, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit
or loss.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

3 fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes
in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an
unrecognised firm commitment; or

o cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability
in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly
probable forecast transaction, or a foreign currency risk in
an unrecognised firm commitment; or

o hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(continued)

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally
designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the
Group wishes to apply hedge accounting, the risk management
objective and its strategy for undertaking the hedge.

The documentation includes identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how the Group will assess whether the hedging
relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements
(including the analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and
how the hedge ratio is determined). A hedging relationship
qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following
effectiveness requirements:

o There is “an economic relationship” between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument.

o The effect of credit risk does not “dominate the value
changes” that result from that economic relationship.

o The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge
that quantity of hedged item.

Hedges which meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge
accounting are accounted for as follows:

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument is recognised directly in other comprehensive income
in the cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The
cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the
cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Cash flow hedges (continued)

The amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income are
accounted for, depending on the nature of the underlying
hedged transaction. If the hedged transaction subsequently
results in the recognition of a non-financial item, the amount
accumulated in equity is removed from the separate component
of equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying
amount of the hedged asset or liability. This is not a
reclassification adjustment and will not be recognised in other
comprehensive income for the period. This also applies where
the hedged forecast transaction of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability subsequently becomes a firm commitment to
which fair value hedge accounting is applied.

For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to the consolidated
income statement as a reclassification adjustment in the same
period or periods during which the hedged cash flows affect the
consolidated income statement.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that
has been accumulated in other comprehensive income must
remain in accumulated other comprehensive income if the
hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise,
the amount will be immediately reclassified to the consolidated
income statement as a reclassification adjustment. After the
discontinuation, once the hedged cash flow occurs, any amount
remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income is
accounted for depending on the nature of the underlying
transaction as described above.

Fair value hedges

The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is
recognised in the consolidated income statement as other
expenses. The change in the fair value of the hedged item
attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as a part of the
carrying amount of the hedged item and is also recognised in
the consolidated income statement as other expenses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Fair value hedges (continued)

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost,
the adjustment to carrying value is amortised through the
consolidated income statement over the remaining term of the
hedge using the effective interest rate method. Effective interest
rate amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists
and shall begin no later than when the hedged item ceases to
be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk
being hedged. If the hedged item is derecognised, the
unamortised fair value is recognised immediately in the
consolidated income statement.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a
hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in the fair
value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is
recognised as an asset or liability with a corresponding gain or
loss recognised in the consolidated income statement. The
changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are also
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current or
separated into current and non-current portions based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying
contracted cash flows).

o Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an
economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting)
for a period beyond 12 months after the end of the
reporting period, the derivative is classified as non-current
(or separated into current and non-current portions)
consistently with the classification of the underlying item.

o Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the
host contract are classified consistently with the cash
flows of the host contract.



4. FEEGHHBOR (4)

fTEEm T AR HET (&)
REBEFREDE(E)

s HKERKRAMHMTIANITATA
TR PEEN DB —BOE -
TETAERAMER AT EDERFD
S RRE B RIEREE S -

ReRBREEE

WEERERERME r B MREFEER
BFBRSMERFR - URAIBERERE
EMERRS  HAREXEEEPEAR KL
—RRBAKR=EA ARSI RNERE SRS
H&RE  HBAREREEABRAEER
SERERNBOZRITES

REEMBHIREME BHekReFER
EFBERES RRITER(BEEHFH) R
BRI M AANERRSEUNEE -

3=\

B RER B AR A S LR IR ¢« B
RRAAE - BEAHREEAM B REM
HRE -

PR R EEFEHEKNERER - ARAAF
M ARMABSERKAE AR TESTIRT
HARR SRR o Bt - PHIRE R EEIK T
REIRE AR SAIE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Current versus non-current classification (continued)

° Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently
with the classification of the underlying hedged item. The
derivative instruments are separated into current portions
and non-current portions only if a reliable allocation can
be made.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition from sales of properties

The Group has recognised revenue from sales of properties.
Revenue is recognised over time when the Group’s performance
does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date, otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the buyer obtains control of
the completed property. Whether there is an enforceable right
to payment depends on the terms of contracts and relevant
laws that apply to the contracts. To assess the enforceability of
right to payment, the Group has reviewed the terms of the
contracts, the relevant local laws, the local regulators’ view and
obtained legal advice, and a significant judgement is required.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred
taxation on investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying amount
of investment properties measured using the fair value model is
recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the
Group has recognised the deferred taxation on changes in fair
value of investment properties on the basis that the Group is
subject to enterprise income tax. The carrying amount of
deferred taxation on investment properties at 31 December
2022 was RMB24,359 million (2021: RMB23,089 million).

Classification of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

The classification of an investment as a subsidiary, a joint
venture or an associate is based on whether the Group is
determined to have control, joint control or significant influence
over the investee, which involves judgements through the
analysis of various factors, including the Group’s representation
on the chief decision-making authorities of an investee, such as
board of directors’ meetings and shareholders’ meetings, as
well as other facts and circumstances.

Subsidiaries are consolidated, which means each of their assets,
liabilities and transactions are included line by line in the
Group's consolidated financial statements, whereas the interests
in joint ventures and associates are equity accounted for as
investments in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables and other
receivables

The Group estimates loss allowance for expected credit losses
for trade receivables and other receivables resulting from the
expected cash shortfalls. The Group bases the estimates on the
information about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. If the
above conditions were to deteriorate, actual provisions would
be higher than estimated. The information about the ECLs on
the Group's trade receivables and other receivables is disclosed
in note 29 to the financial statements.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties, including those completed investment
properties, investment properties under construction and right-
of-use assets, are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at their fair value, details of which are
disclosed in note 16. The fair value of the investment properties
was determined by reference to valuations conducted on these
properties by independent and professionally qualified valuers
using property valuation techniques which involve certain
assumptions of prevailing market conditions. Favourable or
unfavourable changes to these assumptions may result in
changes in the fair value of the Group'’s investment properties
included in the consolidated statement of financial position and
the corresponding adjustments to the changes in fair value
reported in the consolidated income statement. Details of the
fair value of investment properties are disclosed in note 16 to
the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale are
stated at the lower of the cost and net realisable value. Based
on the experience of the directors of the Company and the
nature of the subject properties, the directors of the Company
determine the net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale by reference to the
estimated market prices of the properties under development
and properties held for sale, which takes into account a number
of factors including the recent prices of similar property types in
the same project or by similar properties, and the prevailing real
estate market conditions in the PRC. The directors of the
Company estimate the future cost to completion of the
properties under development by reference to the actual
development cost of other similar completed projects of the
Group, adjusted by certain current market data. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, a write-down of RMB4,393,979,000
(2021: RMB3,848,018,000) has been made in the consolidated
income statement. Further details of the Group's properties
under development and properties held for sale are set out in
note 28 to the financial statements.

PRC Land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The PRC LAT is levied at
progressive rates on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds of the sales of properties less the estimated deductible
expenditures, the cost of land use rights and all relevant
property development expenditures.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the amounts of
land appreciation and the applicable land appreciation tax rate
due to the uncertainty of proceeds of sales of properties and
deductible expenditures.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

PRC Land appreciation tax (“LAT") (continued)

However, the implementation and settlement of the tax varies
amongst different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC
and certain projects of the Group have not finalised their LAT
calculations and payments with any local tax authorities in the
PRC. The amount of land appreciation is determined with
reference to proceeds of the sales of properties less the
estimated deductible expenditures, including the cost of land
use rights and all relevant property development expenditures.
The Group recognised the LAT based on management’s best
estimates. The final tax outcome could be different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences will
impact the income tax expense and the related income tax
provisions in the periods in which such tax is finalised with local
tax authorities. The Group recognised the LAT of
RMB9,322,150,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: RMB9,198,673,000).

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in
a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate
("IBR™) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The
Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain
entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone
credit rating).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2022 was
RMB1,816,263,000 (2021: RMB11,544,000). Further details are
given in note 19 to the financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision makers (“CODM") of the
Group, was specifically focused on business units based on their
types of activities for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment. The Group’s operating segments
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are identified as four main
operations:

Development properties for sale: this segment represents the
income generated from development and sales of residential
properties, office and commercial premises.

Property investments and management: this segment represents
the lease of investment properties, which are self-developed or
under subleases by the group to generate rental income and to
gain from the appreciation in the properties’ values in the long
term, together with income generated from property
management and related services for investment properties.

FEBHEMARAA  China Resources Land Limited 209



f 3 WUA B5 le o B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

210

o FE B (4

BERE - o BREEREEEBRER
ARFEHIUTA ©

B REREREM D BEELEE
ENEERY EEMENYEEIE RIEH
R WERRNIESE  REAE  FE-
FRREMEAUA -

DEEBEIR S D LBATERRER 2 B R0 = F sk E
EZER EVE BT EEREE
DEBEANRENEASE 2K ERTBER 2
WA BRI » FIanE AU A « E AUk as K &5
B BREMELNFEEHWE  BRATFER
ANEmrzemMT Az AT EZ S = F5E
BETHRRARMISER - 2BEREREE
BRERDERFREF A MR EBEERE
EEHRNAR - HEREERETZENE
REITR S °

—ZT - —FEHRE  ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Hotel operations: this segment represents the income generated
from hotel accommodation and catering services.

Construction, decoration services and others: this segment
represents the income generated from construction and
decoration services, property management and related services
for residential properties , urban development and operation,
leasing apartment, senior housing, cinema and others.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss incurred
before taxation by each segment without allocation of income
or expenses which are not recurring in nature or unrelated to
the CODM'’s assessment of the Group’s operating performance,
e.g. other income, other gains and losses, gain on changes in
fair value of investment properties, net gain on changes in fair
value of financial instruments at FVPL, central administration
costs, and finance costs. Segment revenues and results are the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment. Inter-segment sales are
transacted at mutually agreed prices.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(A) SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

results by operating and reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HES MERE BE - £18
BEME REE B PSR H fth
Property Construction,
Development  investments decoration
properties and Hotel services
forsale management operations and others Consolidated
ARETR ARET T ARET T ARET R ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Yeza Revenue
REEPE DR Revenue from contracts
with customers
RE—RETR Recognised at a point
in time 139,510,927 - - 6,406,022 145,916,949
R—BREHEARER Recognised over time 36,651,408 4,234,351 1,393,972 22,817,070 65,096,801
Hn R A e Revenue from other sources
BelA Rental income - 12,283,776 - - 12,283,776
e Segment revenue 176,162,335 16,518,127 1,393,972 29,223,092 223,297,526
kAl Inter-segment revenue - (890,753) (436)  (15,345,218)  (16,236,407)
REINDE P B e Revenue from external
customers 176,162,335 15,627,374 1,393,536 13,877,874 207,061,119
E Results
BEREERER Share of profits of
B NEIRE 2 7 investments in joint
ventures and associates 3,822,711 334,464 (3,881) (51,883) 4,101,411
R (BIERG Segment results (including
REELERBE share of profits of
NAREZFE) investments in joint
ventures and associates) 39,073,801 8,529,065 (332,156) 998,011 48,268,721
HiUA ~ EblezE  Other income, other gains
B8 and losses 3,112,873
BEMEZ N FEE Gain on changes in fair value
Wz of investment properties 6,977,861
BRRFEFABRZ Net gain on changes in fair
SRIEZAFEZS  value of financial
Wi FeE instruments at FVPL 6,400
APEZI Unallocated expenses (1,156,982)
BIHE A Finance costs (1,699,518)
R A& A Profit before taxation 55,509,355
=B AR /AR China Resources Land Limited 211
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(A) SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS
(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

MERE B KE
BEME REE G PR K E At
Property Construction,
Development investments decoration
properties and Hotel services
forsale  management operations and others  Consolidated
AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wiz Revenue
REBFANRKE Revenue from contracts
with customers
RE—FFETER Recognised at a point
in time 151,581,756 36,552 - 2,252,393 153,870,701
R—BER AR Recognised over time 32,279,568 4,977,787 1,567,246 21,093,811 59,918,412
H i JOR B ez Revenue from other sources
BelA Rental income - 13,012,606 - - 13,012,606
S Segment revenue 183,861,324 18,026,945 1,567,246 23,346,204 226,801,719
DB Inter-segment revenue - (2,159,527) (87)  (12,533,747)  (14,693,361)
RENBEFHKE Revenue from external
customers 183,861,324 15,867,418 1,567,159 10,812,457 212,108,358
ES Results
EIEREERER Share of profits of
B NEIRE 2 investments in joint
ventures and associates 3,503,858 801,059 (186) (7,666) 4,297,065
/%E%F (@ﬁﬂa Segment results (including
REELERBE share of profits of
NAREZFE) investments in joint
ventures and associates) 40,697,686 9,707,465 (290,684) 242,765 50,357,232
HiWA ~ EfplgzE % Other income, other gains
BB and losses 4,394,285
BEME NTEE Gain on changes in fair value
Uras of investment properties 7,794,642
AEEFABRZ Net gain on changes in fair
SRIEZAFEZE  value of financial
Wz F 58 instruments at FVPL
APBEZH Unallocated expenses (825,884)
B%ER Finance costs (1,397,227)
BRI A5 A Profit before taxation 60,365,758
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(A) SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS
(continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

2022 2021

ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000

EEFAREHYE L AESN Revenue recognised that was included in

BRI contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period:
HEME Sale of properties 154,344,152 157,786,327
B N RERGE Construction and decoration services 2,678,956 4,127,728
157,023,108 161,914,055
BHEE Performance obligations

BERASERNOEENERRANT

HEYRE

BHRERE-—KRHAR —BREH
AZEX RFROGRIRBERRA N
ZBBEGIME - BEAKEREAYL E
BEFEMBENEERAREE R
TR E S ST AR B 4 WHR R
HE - BORERN —BREREAZEMX -
BRANEFPREEEZNMENERE
BRIVEEMEBRALASERA G
B HEBRASA 3% B m] M [B] B Y B ]

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
or over time, depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract. It is satisfied over time
when the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date,
otherwise, it is satisfied at the point in time when
customers obtain the physical possession or the legal title
of the completed properties and the Group has right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable.

213
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(A) SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS

(continued)
Performance obligations (continued)
Construction and decoration services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due within
30 days from the date of billing. A certain percentage of
payment is retained by customers until the end of the
retention period as the Group’s entitlement to the final
payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the service
quality by the customers over a certain period as stipulated
in the contracts.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) of sales of properties as at 31 December
2022 amounted to RMB249,261,000,000 (2021:
RMB217,092,000,000) are expected to be recognised
within three years. The amounts do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(B) The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by
operating and reportable segments:

As at 31 December 2022

HEE MERE BE - 1

BRYE REE BERE REREM

Property Construction,

Development  investments decoration

properties and Hotel services

for sale management operations and others
ARBT T ARBT AR%TR AR®T AR¥TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
HEEAE Segment assets 588,226,219 244,092,697 13,878,949 26,499,730 872,697,595

NeehER Investments in joint ventures

BENmNRE and associates 60,990,310 13,125,484 - 1,601,491 75,717,285
649,216,529 257,218,181 13,878,949 28,101,221 948,414,880
AHE Unallocated 132,917,021
BEE Total assets 1,081,331,901

R-B-—-%+-A=+—H

As at 31 December 2021

HEE WERE BEE - K&

E{EES KER BEGE  REBREM

Property Construction,

Development investments decoration

properties and Hotel services

forsale  management operations and others
AREFTT ARETT AREFT ARETFTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
NEEE Segment assets 489,717,545 227,894,405 12,472,569 14,751,731 744,836,250

REERER Investments in joint ventures
B NAIE and associates 49,588,069 10,644,032 - 1,767,927 62,000,028
539,305,614 238,538,437 12,472,569 16,519,658 806,836,278
ADE Unallocated 142,967,986
BEE Total assets 949,804,264
FEHEMARAE  China Resources Land Limited 215
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6. SrHEER () 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(O HEttoEEH (©) OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION
BE-E_—F+=-HA=1+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2022

HEL MERE BE £
EELES REE BELE  REREM

Property Construction,

Development  investments decoration
properties and Hotel services
for sale management operations and others

ARBTRT ARMTRT ARETRT ARMTT ARET:R

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
REBE RN EER Addition of interests in
associates 3,538,891 - - 435,830 3,974,721
RESERFER Addition of interests in
joint ventures 4,349,515 3,678,187 - (250,030) 1,777,672
BAFY (K Capital expenditures (Note) 245,090 24,807,058 1,539,996 122,982 26,715,126
E LB Depreciation and amortisation 267,156 542,928 390,942 132,197 1,333,223
BE-—Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2021
HER MERA BE - EB
BRI RER BER Hlﬁﬂ‘xﬁﬁf
Property Construction,
Development investments decoration
properties and Hotel services
forsale  management operations and others
AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEHE R AR Addition of interests in
associates 2,929,806 184,000 - 93,236 3,207,042
REREREER Addition of interests in
joint ventures 2,899,653 - - 9,240 2,908,893
BAF (K Capital expenditures (Note) 206,849 29,520,703 1,850,762 199,955 31,778,269
WE L EH Depreciation and amortisation 299,689 481,504 427,834 96,737 1,305,764
Hiat : BRAEXEBHEIEDE  BERK Note: The capital expenditures mainly represent additions to property, plant
B ARBEWEE AEREVERAR and equipment, additions to intangible assets, additions to investment
EFAREE - properties and additions to right-of-use assets.
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(D) No geographical segment analysis is prepared as more

(E)

than 90% of the Group's revenue is derived from activities
in and from customers located in the PRC and more than
90% of the carrying values of the Group’s non-current
assets, excluding deferred taxation assets, amounts due
from related parties, amounts due from non-controlling
interests, intangible assets, financial assets at FVPL, time
deposits and equity instruments designated at FVOCI,
amounting to RMB338,605,765,000 (2021:
RMB302,733,648,000), are situated in the PRC.

There is no single customer contributes more than 10%
of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil).

7. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND
LOSSES

2022 2021

ARET R AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FEMA Interest income 2,284,378 2,602,279
HEMRBATZWE(B1E)  Net gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries
FHE (71 43) (Note 43) 1,053,113 (13,644)
EHFEENREERER Gain on re-measurement of the previously
—MHEE AR R 2 held interests in joint ventures and an
Wezs (ff5E44) associate (Note 44) 828,637 -
IR e A Government grants 164,606 267,893
HEREYEES 7 (F18),/  (Loss)gain arising on disposal of
e investment properties (15,380) 30,475
P& 5, (E518) W5 35 Exchange (loss)/gain, net (2,186,407) 788,499
Hh Others 983,926 718,783
3,112,873 4,394,285

EHEMER AR
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8. HHME 8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
BEffsEMTFTREE(CE_—F: +1%) The emoluments paid or payable to each of the fifteen (2021:
EEZMEWT nineteen) directors were as follows:
BE—_ZE-_—_&£+-_A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2022

Fees Other emoluments

B Rt
UTES  FUNES  FUGEE HARRM b (125 R BREDHEY

Contribution

Independent to the Strategic

Non- non- defined incentive

Executive executive executive  Salariesand  contribution  Discretionary award
directors directors directors  allowances scheme bonus scheme

ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTT  ARWTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  AR%TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

2 Li Xin - - - 1994 176 1297 4033 7,500
25 W Bingo = = = 1725 168 1128 4,086 7,107
FRA Zhang Dawei - - - 1,969 168 1331 3410 6,878
HE Xie Ji - - - 1577 176 749 3,851 6,353
Bl Guo Shiging - - - 1,012 168 607 4,681 6,468
g2 Liu Xiaoyong - 137 - - - = o 137
i Dou Jian - 137 - - = - - 137
4 Cheng Hong - 137 - - = > 5 137
THAR-Z--% Wang Xiangming (resigned on

RATRET) 05 May 2022) = - - - - - - -
KE(R-F-=F Zhang Liang (resigned on

TZAZTZREHR) 22 December 2022) = 137 = - - - - 137
(G2 Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco - = 08 - - . - 08
i Andrew Y. Yan - - 48 - - - = 08
FRE Wan Kam To, Peter = = 428 = - - - 128
EE Zhong Wei = - 08 - - - - 08
4 Sun Zhe - - 48 - - - = 08

- 548 2,140 8217 856 5112 20,061 36,99
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8. WHME (M) 8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

BE-ZE-—H+-B=+—HIEE For the year ended 31 December 2021
e e
Fees Other emoluments

HTEE  FWAEF  FNOES A Bigrea
Contribution

Independent tothe Strategic

Non- non- defined incentive

Executive executive executive Salaries and contribution ~ Discretionary award
directors directors directors allowances scheme bonus scheme

ARBTE  ARETE  ARETZ  ARETRE  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR
RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000. RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000.

THEA Wang Xiangming - - - - - - - _
ABE(MW-F-—E+A/\B L Xiaoyong (appointed on 08 October 2021)

RZHE) - - - - - - - -
FEM-Z-—E+A/\B  ZhangLiang (appointed on 08 October 2021)

BZH) - - - - - - - -
BR(R-Z-—%+F/\B  Doulian (appointed on 08 October 2021)

BZA) - - - - - - R -
BA(M=Z-—#+ANE  ChengHong (appointed on 08 October 2021)

EZfE) - 33 - - - - - 33
BH(R-T-—F+A\E  YanBiao (resigned on 08 October 2021)

B) - - - - - - - -
BERZF-—E+A\E  ChenYing (resigned on 08 October 2021)

#E) - - - - - - _ -
TER-B-—E+ANE  Wang Yan (resigned on 08 October 2021)

BE) - - - - - - - -
B (R=F-—E+8/\E  Chen Rong (resigned on 08 October 2021)

B) - - - - - - - -
= Li Xin - - - 1,969 180 2,795 5203 10,147
FAE Zhang Dawei - - - 1,969 176 1,745 4893 8783
HE Xie Ji - - - 1577 180 1674 4816 8,247
REH Wu Binggi - - - 1577 176 1,674 4816 8243
HE Guo Shiging - - - 1,012 176 1,604 5,506 8,298
BB Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco - - 332 - - - - 33
i3 Andrew Y. Yan - - 332 - - - - 33
FHRE Wan Kam To, Peter - - 33 - - - - EEY)
o1 Zhong Wei - - 332 - - - - 33
BE SunZhe - - 33 - - - - EE))

- 33 1,660 8,104 888 9492 25,234 4541
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Discretionary bonus was determined with reference to the
Group's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The strategic incentive award scheme was determined based on
a specific rate of the Group’s operating results in each financial
year. The specific rate adopted in each financial year was
assessed and determined by management'’s best estimation.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

EMPLOYEES” EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, five (2021: four) were directors of the Company, whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 8 above. The
emolument of the remaining one individual in 2021 was as
follows:

2021

AREETIT

RMB’000

e RoERL Salaries and allowances 1,576
FEHETEME R Contributions to defined contribution schemes 159
EIEIEAL Discretionary bonus 1,690
RS ENET & Strategic incentive award scheme 5,000
8,425
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10.

{& B 4 (%) 9. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

ZRANT_E-—FE7ENFTIEE - The emolument of this individual in 2021 was within the
following band:

AE

Number of individuals

2021

710,000,001 7 & /8% 10,500,0007T HK$10,000,001 to HK$10,500,000 1

WMEsEH 10. FINANCE COSTS

2022 2021

ARBTT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000
RITNEMEE « BAEE - Total interest including bank and other
PEIZEE R EM 2§ S 4858 borrowings, senior notes, medium-term
notes and others 9,202,050 8,075,236
HEBBEZF B85 Total interest on lease liabilities 295,034 267,677
IR1TW BB Total bank charges 158,960 166,766
B BERZEEEEE - Less: Amounts capitalised in properties under
EEREYENERZIR development for sale, investment
BRBEAR & properties under construction and
construction in progress (7,956,526) (7,112,452)
1,699,518 1,397,227
B ERNERKANEENREER—RE Borrowing costs capitalised arose on the general borrowing
HEE BE-ZE-—_—_F+=-_A=+—HI1t pool of the Group and were calculated by applying a
FEREERBERNSFEREEEAN LR capitalisation rate of 3.81% (2021: 4.09%) per annum for the
381% (=T =—% :4.09%)stH o year ended 31 December 2022, to expenditure on the qualifying
assets.
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11. i3 Bib X 11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2022 2021

222

ARET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FiSTimA 81 - The income tax expenses comprise of:
&2 HARIE Current taxation
REMEMER([EMEF]) PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) and
LIEHIFTIEEL withholding income tax 10,688,929 9,997,111
T i EF LAT 9,322,150 9,198,673
ErliEERNHEY H Tax charge in other jurisdiction 13,106 13,848
20,024,185 19,209,632
BT FEEEEE Less: Over provision in prior years (58,980) (54,343)
IEFEFL TR Deferred taxation 3,174,389 3,815,081
23,139,594 22,970,370

(A) TRFFEH

(B)

REPEARIMEERAETA( E
ERBBA] REERBHAE G
- B-EEN\F-A-HEAREE
R P EKMEARNRER25% °

B TR0 AT S B

RPBERZOARREESIMNEEES
KB -_ZZN\F— A BREERNZA
BB B B I 10% HOBY R B b B 78
MAEN - APENBRRREERE
A7 B AR &I 17 & P B A R E B
RSB IR L BER E B R IER
RAME - AIERA 5% HEEFRHRH

)__f'@o
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(A) EIT

(B)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of most of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

PRC WITHHOLDING INCOME TAX

PRC withholding income tax of 10% shall be levied on the
dividends declared by the companies established in the
PRC to their foreign investors out of their profits earned
after 1 January 2008. A lower 5% withholding tax rate
may be applied when the immediate holding companies
of the PRC subsidiaries are incorporated or operated in
Hong Kong and fulfil the requirements to the tax treaty
arrangements between the Chinese Mainland and Hong
Kong.



11. P BEE 2 (4)

(@)

(D)

(E)

(F)

+ IR EBL

TR ERBEE D RIBEEETBTE
RAGDI Pl 2 SR IE T - L IR EHR
EREER RERTBEREG B
BETHHBER °

EENEH

& B NS TR 14 5t FE SR B A B BA

165%(—F — —4F : 16.5%) By X
BINRIEH

ARBRFASEESREBEFASEHEAE
FENRERAVEEMAILABEREER
nE > E BReSmHEE RS
(CR I RIENNCINNE Y )R og 3 Fa 1999
M Z KR EIRIERE R XA S BR
BERRDAEMAR - it - E&#H%
BARBRZESMEN

Htt R ZEBEMNBES K

HMA A EEEMHEESHEEHER
B A BN EARR B S o IRIR B X -
EEREE B RARIZHEEA19%
(ZZ——F :19%) °

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

@

(D)

(E)

(F)

LAT

The provision for LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of
progressive rates of the appreciation value, with certain
allowable deductions.

HONG KONG PROFITS TAX

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2021:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits.

OVERSEAS INCOME TAX

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands and
accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.
The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands were incorporated under the International
Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands and,
accordingly, are exempted from British Virgin Islands
income tax.

TAX CHARGE IN OTHER JURISDICTION

Tax charge in other jurisdiction mainly represents the
current tax charge in the United Kingdom (the “UK").
Under the United Kingdom Tax Law, the tax rate of the
subsidiary operating in the UK is 19% (2021:19%).

223
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11. P BEB 32 (%)

(G) FRFAEHAXELE
AR A 2 SERM T

U o 2 P Bk

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

(G) The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to

the profit before taxation per the consolidated income

statement as follows:

2022 2021

AR® T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
R A5 AT 52 ) Profit before taxation 55,509,355 60,365,758

B EIERAEERE Less: share of profit of investments in
ZFHE joint ventures (3,484,705) (2,808,150)

W EIEREEE R EIRE Less: share of profit of investments in
Z K associates (616,706) (1,488,915)
51,407,944 56,068,693

ZEMRE25% (ZE-_—4F : Tax charge at effective rate of 25%

25%) st E 2 IBERY (2021: 25%) (12,851,986) (14,017,173)
IENGIENEE s -2 Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries (328,060) 215,663
TR R 2 B s 2 Effect of expenses not deductible for

tax purpose (1,342,437) (629,886)
HERHBAZ RIGTE Effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 304,421 195,258
REERRIBE 1B M AT 0 F Effect of tax losses and deductible temporary
TEERm o difference not recognised (867,708) (964,403)
BEFEBREERE Over provision in prior years 58,980 54,343
T HbIEER LAT (9,322,150) (9,198,673)
THIEET 2 R E Tax effect of LAT 2,250,891 2,261,245
AR ERFEFTIS L PRC withholding income tax (1,041,545) (886,744)
REEEHAX Income tax expenses for the year (23,139,594) (22,970,370)
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12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2022 2021

ARET R ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
FRHEMNEHNBRTIEIE Profit for the year has been arrived at after
charging the following items:
ETRAN(BEEEHE) Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments 12,196,281 11,506,591
REMFEE 2 BER A Costs related to defined contribution scheme 1,039,769 873,250
BT AN/R%E Total staff costs 13,236,050 12,379,841
WRARL ZHEEZWER  Cost of properties for sale and other
HEMEFERAR inventories recognised as expenses 136,022,234 140,005,523
[l Auditor’s remuneration 5,100 5,100
WARETAGT=EH Lease payments not included in the
R (MEEE17(C)) measurement of lease liabilities (Note 17(C)) 122,419 16,862
Y - BE N REITE (M35 15) Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 15) 813,660 884,768
FREEENE (M:E17(0) Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 17(C)) 444,422 416,659
mIEESE (HE18) Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) 75,141 4,337
WORL s E 2 WEE ] #I8%E  Write-down of properties for sale to net
realisable value 4,393,979 3,848,018
KREWEHRSWA Rental income from investment properties 12,100,476 12,766,694
B EAHSWARERFS  Less: Direct expenses that generated
rental income (4,213,589) (3,172,297)
7,866,887 9,594,397

=B AR /AR China Resources Land Limited
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13. k&

2022 2021

13. DIVIDENDS

ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ZE-FFRERE 2022 interim dividend, RMBO0.182
BT EIRARE0.1827T (2021: RMBO0.173) per ordinary share
(Z=2=—%: AR¥0.1737) 1,346,582 1,224,211
—E - CFERARERE 2022 final dividend, proposed, of
BRERRARE1.2197T RMB1.219 (2021: RMB1.207) per
—EZ—F: AR¥1.2077t) ordinary share (Note)
(B 5E) 8,692,615 9,032,747
10,039,197 10,256,958

M R—B_=F=A_TAHSRTZEZTESH

226

t EFega kB E-_SE-_—_F+=A8
=+— AL FERRD BRI ST TR
ARB1219T (& E¥E1.3947T) « BETHH
AR %8,692,615,0007C ' Itk HER AR Al &
FEHITERRER 7,130,939,579 BREHE -
FORAL B R AL F 4R A B Rk P AR EE
e BRRARRHE—ZT=_=41+=A
=+ —RAIFEZELEEVERER R R
;r§§ °

HE_Z-—Ht+-A=1+—BItFENKREH
B EFREBBRARKI207T(ITEBE
1.4847T) * HEFT#I AR ¥9,032,747,000 7T -
ERZZ_—_FANAT+RBZARARBRERSF
e L - WRAFE AR -
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Note: At a meeting held by the Board on 29 March 2023, the Board

proposed a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2022 of RMB1.219 (equivalent to HK$1.394) per ordinary share of
the Company, totalling approximately RMB8,692,615,000 based on
the latest number of ordinary shares of 7,130,939,579 shares of the
Company in issue. This proposed dividend is not reflected as a
dividend payable in these consolidated financial statements, but will
be reflected as a profit appropriation in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ending 31 December 2023.

A final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 of RMB1.207
(equivalent to HK$1.484) per ordinary share, totalling approximately
RMB9,032,747,000, had been approved in the Company’s Annual
General Meeting on 15 June 2022 and paid during the year.



14. BBEA 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

RN EEERER NEEFRERETFIR The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to
AT SR E - ordinary equity holders of the Company is based on the

following data:

2022 2021

ARBT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
B Earnings
BIEstEGREARRTZZF  Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings
(RARIEBERIFTAA per share (profit for the year attributable
FEAEF AR F]) to ordinary equity holders of the Company) 28,091,865 32,401,239
2022 2021
RHEER Number of shares
RESTEERETRAEF 2 Weighted average number of ordinary
ke E Rk E R shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 7,130,939,579 7,130,939,579
HAREE_E KT -_—F+=8 No diluted earnings per share is presented for the years ended
=+ —HIEFEWEEABITEINBE LS 31 December 2022 and 2021 as there were no potential
B - A 25 BAREEE R ordinary shares outstanding.

=B AR /AR China Resources Land Limited 227



f 3 WUA B5 le o B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. W3k ~ B br Bt 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
HEMERE -
BRI BF HRRRE
Leasehold
improvements,
Hotel furniture and Motor Construction
properties Buildings equipment vehicles in progress
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2% cost
RZE-_—%—F—H At 1 January 2022 8,251,665 4,886,494 3,905,915 160,626 3,429,188 20,633,888
[E 3 Exchange realignment 27,7122 15,844 24,072 3,871 9,640 81,149
NE Additions 2,320 39,631 373,231 41,625 1,512,372 1,969,179
WEHEARRES Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries
(W35 44) (Note 44) 56,240 20,986 456 2,404 80,086
HEMBATBES (Mi5T43)  Disposed upon disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 43) - (967) (85,014) (1,671) (6,500) (94,152)
R fHEyE Transfer to properties for sale - (702,507) (41,825) - - (744,332)
B Transfer 781,620 (165,978) 166,375 - (782,017) -
HeE Disposals (29,291) (117,212) (121,130) (21,722) - (289,355)
RZE-Z#+-A=+—H  At31December 2022 9,034,036 4,011,545 4,242,610 183,185 4,165,087 21,636,463
RHHE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
RZE-—%F—F—H At 1 January 2022 1,838,601 1,085,881 2,159,932 122,320 - 5,206,734
B3 Exchange realignment 28,098 1,889 13,475 1,915 - 45,377
HEMBATBEE (Mi5T43)  Disposed upon disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 43) - (586) (57,112) (1,400) - (59,098)
REERR Provided for the year 317,001 81,308 408,444 6,727 = 813,660
HERfHEyE Transfer to properties for sale (263,219) (39,980) - - (303,199)
HERHE Eliminated on disposals (10,117) (43,983) (15,353) (9,271) - (78,724)
WZZ--%F+-FA=+—H  At31December 2022 2,173,673 861,380 2,469,406 120,291 - 5,624,750
REE CARRYING VALUES
WZZE--%F+-A=+—H  At31December 2022 6,860,363 3,150,165 1,773,204 62,894 4,165,087 16,011,713
RZE-—%F+-FA=1+—H  At31December 2021 6,413,064 3,800,613 1,745,983 38,306 3,429,188 15,427,154
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15. W3k ~ BB Rk i (48) 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

EENR ‘ &

Leasehold
improvements,
Hotel furniture and Motor Construction
properties Buildings equipment vehicles in progress
ARBTT ARBTFT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTFT ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A cosT
R-E-—-F—-f—H At 1 January 2021 7,712,007 4,582,519 3,632,289 162,078 2,375,805 18,464,698
B Exchange realignment (9,532) (36,130) (8,970) (328) (35,353) (90,313)
RE Additions 74,702 197,008 351,227 14,004 1,675,614 2,312,555
HEMBATBEE (Mz£43)  Disposed upon disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 43) - - (380) - - (380)
R ftEy R Transfer from properties for sale - 79,831 - - 32,945 112,776
ERERENE (i 16) Transfer from investment properties
(Note 16) - 112,442 - - - 112,442
R Transfer 474,488 (9,354) 128,400 - (593,534) -
HE Disposals - (39,822) (196,651) (15,128) (26,289) (277,890)
R-ZE-—%+-A=+—H  At31December 2021 8,251,605 4,886,494 3,905,915 160,626 3,429,188 20,633,888
2EHE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
RZE-—-%-A-AH At 1 January 2021 1,552,274 879,400 1,814,786 122,916 - 4,369,376
[ Exchange realignment (8,636) (5,092) (10,375) 611) - (24,714)
HEMBRRBRE (M:43)  Disposed upon disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 43) - - (283) - - (283)
REERG Provided for the year 294,963 218,334 371,300 171 - 884,768
HERY Eliminated on disposals - (6,761) (15,496) (156) - (22,413
R-Z-—%+-F=+—H  At31December 2021 1,838,601 1,085,881 2,159,932 122,320 - 5,206,734
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZZE-—%+-F=+—H  At31December 2021 6,413,064 3,800,613 1,745,983 38,306 3,429,188 15,427,154
R-Z-TF+-A=+—H  At31December 2020 6,159,733 3,703,119 1,817,503 39,162 2,375,805 14,095,322
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15. 93k ~ W Kot fis (7)) 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
RZBE-_—_FR_F-_—F+=-_A=+—H Construction in progress as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
CERIBFERNTBENEREEDE mainly represented the hotel properties which are under

construction in the PRC.

it BMERZEEE (EEITERIN) The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
DERESENEMETrRIERFE - Wit & construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated
HETRIREBEETERE - BT useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual

values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

BIEENEF 208404 Hotel properties and buildings 20 to 40 years

HEWHEEE XAk HEHNSF Leasehold improvements, Over the shorter of lease
B (ARG & B%E) furniture and equipment terms or 5 years

part 54F Motor vehicles 5 years
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

%R 'R REME —
R Investment
Completed properties properties —
investment under right-of-use
properties construction assets
ARBT R ARET T ARET T ARBT T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
WZZE-—4%-f-H At 1 January 2021 142,007,478 39,826,707 5,545,240 187,379,425
[ i R Exchange realignment (110,717) - - (110,717)
nE Additions 2,016,206 25,823,556 591,273 28,431,035
SREHHE I DR Transfer from properties for sale 98,100 - - 98,100
BRCHEE T NE Transfer to properties for sale (5,790,000) - - (5,790,000)
REERENEERE Transfer from investment properties
SRR ENE under construction to completed
investment properties 13,483,170 (13,483,170 - -
RENE  BERE Transfer to property, plant and equipment
(Fir3E15) (Note 15) (112,442) - - (112,442)
SREBRELE(E17(0)  Transfer from right-of-use asset (Note 17(A)) - 132,886 - 132,886
NEREANRENELTE Net change in fair value of investment
2FEE properties recognised in profit or loss 8,781,950 (901,555) (85,753) 7,794,642
LE-HNBARREE Disposed upon disposal of a subsidiary
(MizE43) (Note 43) (231,24) - (231,24)
HE Disposals (61,587) - - (61,587)
RZZE-—-%+-fA=1-H At 31 December 2021 160,312,158 51,167,200 6,050,760 217,530,118
B 5 R Exchange realignment 1,029 - - 1,029
HE Additions 984,123 21,845,385 1,869,378 24,698,886
BREMHEEINE Transfer from properties for sale - 1,814,610 = 1,814,610
BROHEE T E Transfer to properties for sale (2,713,925) - - (2,713,925)
REERENEEBRS Transfer from investment properties
ERRENE under construction to completed
investment properties 24,576,396 (24,576,396) - -
BREBRELE(E17(0)  Transfer from right-of-use asset (Note 17(A)) - 52,842 - 52,842
REZRANRENEATE Net change in fair value of investment
s properties recognised in profit or loss 5,886,183 1,205,739 (114,061) 6,977,861
LENBARREE (f:43) Disposed upon disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 43) (11,215,198) (856,000) - (12,071,198)
WEEINB L AR B (it 44) Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 44) 134,224 1,477,432 - 1,611,656
HE Disposals (16,602) - - (16,602)
ZZ-F+ZAZ1+-H At 31 December 2022 177,948,388 52,130,812 7,806,077 237,885,277
= HEMAR AT China Resources Land Limited 231
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16. &M (4)
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value. The fair
value of the Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2022
has been determined on the basis of valuation carried out by CBRE
Limited and Knight Frank LLP (2021: CBRE Limited and Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited) , all are independent and
professionally qualified valuers.

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between
management and valuers at least once every six months, in line with
the timing of Group's interim and annual reporting.

Valuation techniques

The valuation methodologies adopted in valuations include income
approach and/or direct comparison approach for completed properties
and residual approach, direct comparison approach and/or cost
approach for the properties under construction and income approach
for the right-of-use assets.

The income approach operates by taking into account the rental
income of the property derived from the existing tenancies with due
allowance for the potential reversionary income of the tenanted and
vacant portions, which are then capitalised at an appropriate
capitalisation rate.

The direct comparison approach involves the analysis of recent market
evidence of similar properties and comparing them with the premises
under valuation. Comparable properties with similar sizes, characters
and locations are analysed, and carefully weighed against all
respective advantage and disadvantages of each property in order to
arrive at a fair comparison of value.

The residual approach takes into account the residual value of the
gross development value (“GDV") after deduction of the outstanding
construction costs and expenses as well as profit element. It involves
firstly the assessment of the aggregate GDV of the proposed
development, as if completed, as at the valuation date. Estimated
costs of the proposed development include construction costs,
marketing expense, professional fee, finance charges and associated
costs, plus an allowance for the developer’s risk and profit. The
outstanding development costs are then deducted from the GDV and
the resultant figure is the residual value of the subject property.

The cost approach is a method of using gross replacement costs to
arrive at the value of the subject property in its existing state as at the
valuation date. The cost approach requires estimates of the current
value of the land plus the estimated replacement cost of the land
improvement works. The replacement cost of the improvement works
includes the cost of the building work, site works, finance charges
and relevant associated costs.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use.
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

FENHEBEFR

Notes: (continued)

(o]

Information about fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs

R-TE-—
TFEE == fhat RS
ZAVE ERE HREmERS BERFE
Fair value as at Assessed Estimated
31 December Capitalisation prevailing developer’'s
2022 rate  marketrents profit margins
BABERRK
AR®T T AR®T
RMB per sqm
RMB’000 % per month %
B Completed:
— WA= — Offices 24,990,592 4.0 toZ 7.0 61toZ 336 TERAN/A
—TERHEAM — Retail and others 152,957,796 3.0t0% 7.8 27 toZE 939 FTERN/A
177,948,388 / / /
e Under construction:
—ZTE - PAERHEM  — Retail, offices and others 52,130,812 5.5to% 7.5 63 to= 479 5toZE 25
EREERE Right-of-use assets
—ZE PLEREM  — Retail, Office and Others 7,806,077 5.0t0Z 7.5 23 toZ 350 FEFN/A
237,885,277 / / /
g —%
+=A=+—H
ZATE fRErEmEES
Fair value as at Assessed Estimated
31 December Capitalisation prevailing developer’s
2021 rate market rents profit margins
BABTEAXK
ARETTT ARETT
RMB per sgm
RMB’000 % per month %
B : Completed:
—WRE — Offices 27,108,739 40t0% 7.0 50 to% 344 ANEANA
— TERHEAM — Retail and others 133,203,419 3.0t0%E 7.8 27 to% 907 TEANA
160,312,158 / / /
EE Under construction:
—ZE  PWAERHEM  — Retail, offices and others 51,167,200 3.8t0& 7.5 59 toZ 525 3toE 25
RAEEE Right-of-use assets
—ZTE  PWAZERHEM  — Retail, Office and Others 6,050,760 5.0to& 7.5 16 toZ 350 TERANA
217,530,118 / / /
EHFHARAAF  China Resources Land Limited 233
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16. & WME (H) 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

et - (&) Notes: (continued)

(0 HRASKFAUESEEEAERATENHBEN @)
(#8)

FERBRBABRERFENER :

. AXERS  AFEE

I

. BHEEEES  AFERS

. B EREEENBERS  AFER

K -
d) BEVECRTENG  FERER - (d)
(@ AEEMBZMERENERATFEERES3 (e)

EBFtE - A FEERDBRBEXFEFE8HAR
BRBEREEE - FA RFEFAENRS
EBRF2E ML EEY  E3IETEEMNE
AZEH -
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Information about fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (continued)

Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value:
. The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value;

3 The higher the prevailing market rents, the higher the fair
value;

3 The higher the estimated developer’s profit margin, the lower
the fair value.

The investment properties are situated in the Mainland China, Hong
Kong and the UK.

All the investment properties held by the Group are measured at level
3 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy is determined
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable. During the year, there were no transfer
of fair value measurement between level 1 and level 2 and no
transfers into or out of level 3.
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REBEEREEA

AEBEERREEBRLEN L F AR - &
FBENEMREZEBENREESLD -
DIRATMER — RN FAmEETRERE S
# - FHEARA0F - EFMHEHBAENT3IF
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FERRENEERE  AEEREE=-F
T+ A=+ BULFERRALAFER
EE ERHE I A AR 396,503,000 7T(=
T——4&F: AR#¥371,220,0007T) °

(A) EREEE

RAFE  AEEERAREEEZR@

17.

LEASE
The Group as lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land use
rights, buildings, machinery and other equipment used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 40 years.
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms generally between
3 and 20 years, while machinery generally has lease terms
between 2 and 10 years. Other equipment generally has lease
terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low value.
The Group recognised rental income of subleasing right-of-use
assets of RMB396,503,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: RMB371,220,000).

(A) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets

ERABBHNT

and the movements during the year are as follows:

T fEAE EF B
Land use
rights Buildings Machinery
ARETR AR¥ETT ARETRT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
W-_E-—F—H—H At 1 January 2021 4,539,406 1,173,986 103,543 5,816,935
NE Additions 377,141 512,320 100,092 989,553
FELH Depreciation charge (132,160) (273,527) (10,972) (416,659)
ERTEEE ME Transfer to properties for sale (17,482) - - (17.482)
BRESERRENE Transfer to investment properties
(35 16) under construction (Note 16) (132,886) - - (132,886)
RZE-—&+=f At 31 December 2021
=t-H 4,634,019 1,412,779 192,663 6,239,461
NE Additions 1,905 43,642 1,513 47,060
BENBLAEES Acquired on acquisition of
(WisE44) subsidiaries (Note 44) - 19,575 - 19,575
FELH Depreciation charge (132,512) (293,332) (18,578) (444,822)
BROMEE ME Transfer from properties for sale 56,355 - - 56,355
EREHEE Y% Transfer to properties for sale (91,427) - - (91,427)
BRESERRANE Transfer to investment properties
(Bizx16) under construction (Note 16) (52,842) = - (52,842)
RZB-—&+-A At 31 December 2022
=ft-H 4,415,498 1,182,664 175,598 5,773,760
FEHEMAPR A China Resources Land Limited 235
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17. flE (%) 17. LEASE (continued)
AEBEHEBEA (E) The Group as lessee (continued)
(B) HE&E (B) Lease liabilities
RAFE HEAG EEEREE The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
g : during the year are as follows:

2022 2021

AR®T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000
R—A—BHEREEE Carrying amount at 1 January 5,802,132 5,444,307
HHEE New leases 1,941,479 623,334
IR B N R ER Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries
(B3t 44) (Note 44) 15,721 -
PN [ HERR A A1 B3 N Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 295,034 267,677
INEN Payments (938,840) (533,186)
W+Z—A=+—HMEREME  Carrying amount at 31 December 7,115,526 5,802,132
DA Analysed into:
mENE D Current portion 998,721 1,044,306
FERB LD Non-current portion 6,116,805 4,757,826
HEBEMEEB ST EER YW The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
FMIzES2 © 52 to the financial statements.
(0 RiE=RREHAERE - SBNT (C) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

leases are as follows:

2022 2021

AR®T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
HEAENE Interest on lease liabilities 295,034 267,677
FREEETE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 444,422 416,659
EISHIFAE MIKEBEEEME  Expense relating to short-term leases
BREAMREL and leases of low-value assets 122,419 16,862
R R AR Total amount recognised in profit
or loss 861,875 701,198
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17. flE5 (4) 17. LEASE (continued)

AEBEREBEA (&) The Group as lessee (continued)
(D) HERSARHLAZE (D) Total cash outflow for leases
FAARSRERANES R HBREOT The total cash outflow included in the statement of cash

flows is as follows:

2022 2021

AR® TR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
REEEEEN Within operating activities (122,419) (16,862)
REVEEEN Within financing activities (938,840) (533,186)
rEEERBEHEA The Group as lessor
R AR - AREE AT A DTS Al At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
SHAETAZ) - BhUA BRI HAR R R AR BLIR with lessees for the following future undiscounted lease
HERZFOT : payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due
as follows:

2022 2021

AR® TR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
—FR Within one year 9,037,901 7,629,843
F_EFERF (BEEEMS) In the second to fifth year, inclusive 11,710,326 12,492,135
HFEUE After five years 2,128,311 3,155,566

22,876,538 23,277,544
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18. EIEEE 18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2022 2021

ARBTT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
R—A—HZRAK Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated
Rk RET#E amortisation 76,356 40,913
NE Additions - 45,126
W B BT /B BRI AS (FT 32 44) Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 44) 1,424,300 -
AF T ER AR Amortisation provided for the year (75,141) (4,337)
HE Disposals = (5,346)
R+ZA=+—HB2KAK Cost at 31 December, net of accumulated
IRk RET#E amortisation 1,425,515 76,356
R+=ZA=+—H At 31 December
PR Cost 1,504,993 80,693
RETEE Accumulated amortisation (79,478) (4,337)
REVFE Net carrying amount 1,425,515 76,356
EREEFZEREAEBRERBARES The intangible assets mainly represent the Group's customer
WEPHAER URFBENREER 2 BRLE relationships from acquisition of subsidiaries, exclusive operating
ERLBERRE(ZE—F - URFE rights for senior housing services located in the PRC and hotel
REFGZBARKEERBIEER) - & trademark (2021: exclusive operating rights for senior housing
BERBHNHANNE G EEE - services located in the PRC and hotel trademark). The intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the contractual
period.
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19. W2

19. GOODWILL

2022 2021

AR®TR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
WZZEZZF—HA—H  BRE@E At1January 2022, carrying amount 11,544 11,544
WEEM B A A (M5 44) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 44) 1,804,719 -
RZZFE_—_F+=-A=+—H" At 31 December 2022, carrying amount
AREE 1,816,263 11,544
AR E RS Impairment testing of goodwill

BEEBECHNEEIZOE TEWEHEB

RAWERRTEEBMAETRENR

o BMDERBARIF(ERMD)

o MINNANTHDERBERRE (T
NI

o IHTEMERBARAQE(NIEHT
R

PRTERELEMUNHEREESIN
T

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is mainly
allocated to each acquired subsidiary as the cash-generating
units (“CGUs") for impairment testing:

Yuzhou Property Services Company Limited (“Yuzhou")

o Sichuan Jiuzhou Qiancheng Property Services Co., Ltd.
("Sichuan Jiuzhou")

° Jiangsu Zhongnan Property Services Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu
Zhongnan")

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the CGUs
is as follows:

AR¥ET T

RMB’000

M Yuzhou 630,763
el sl Sichuan Jiuzhou 20,682
TERF Jiangsu Zhongnan 1,153,274
1,804,719
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19.

240

i (4)
AR E R ()

BeELBUMRRESRNREBEEREE
AEEE RS EERAERSREEEL
ENTFRRSELBUNBRENR SR
EFRA - BBAFHMNRSREEM25%
BREIETHEE - ERXTERRESELE
R EAAERBITRNRITHERE - ]
EREFAMRANTARREZ112%E
15.2% @ WRER KRR T EHMEEITE LR S
ELBNAFHNBERR -

AEEREFRYWELEITRERE > A
WElEHEEBRESE  FHUEAETHRRER
BE - EREFHARHNFEE  AEER
RRARSENSEALEHTSEIRTE
ABEUNRASFESE AN IS -
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved
by senior management. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.5%. The growth rates
do not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the
related industry in which the CGUs operate. The pre-tax
discount rates applied to the cash flow projections was 11.2%
to 15.2%, which reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
industry and the CGUs themselves.

The Group assessed the impairment on goodwill at the end of
each year and the recoverable amounts exceeded carrying
amounts, and hence the goodwill was not regarded as impaired.
Considering that there was sufficient headroom based on the
assessment, the Group believed that a reasonably possible
change in key parameters would not cause the carrying
amounts of the CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.



20. REBREEZRE 20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2022 2021

AR®TR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000
FEEHIRERA Cost of investments, unlisted 41,212,588 33,379,948
FEMRUREER R - FOBRAREUA  Share of post-acquisition profits,
net of dividend income 9,611,614 7,560,232
50,824,202 40,940,180
N_E-_—F+-_A=1+—H AEELE Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures as at 31 December
¥ 7 FFIBEHFMIEE49(C) ° 2022 are set out in note 49(C).
—BEAXRELECMBERBE SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A
MATERIAL JOINT VENTURE
AEBEAGECE LBRREFXARAT The summarised financial information in respect of -/&@25 &
(I EEdem]) AR ZESIFH AT - ¥5R AR ([ E&8@3]), the Group’'s material joint venture,
is set out below.
e EEENGEMBRKREREREA This joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in
iR - these consolidated financial statements:

2022 2021

AR®TR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

TMENVE B Current assets 4,344,452 5,057,439
EMBEE Non-current assets 6,567,651 6,301,363
MBAE Current liabilities (544,453) (522,392)
ERBBE Non-current liabilities (5,934,182) (5,959,552)
L BEERBESBEENT The above amounts of assets and liabilities

&I include the following:
RekBeEE Cash and cash equivalents 15,201 165,448
RBERES(TEEEMER  Current financial liabilities (excluding trade

N E M BRI R B ) and other payables and provisions) (118,000) (96,000)
nEemaE (TeIEEMIEFZK  Non-current financial liabilities (excluding

R E b FERTBRTE R ) trade and other payables and provisions) (4,735,000) (4,853,000)
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20.

242

REBESEZHRE () 20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(continued)
—BHEREGELECHEERNUE SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A
(4B) MATERIAL JOINT VENTURE (continued)

2022 2021

AR®TR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
L6 Revenue 387,564 489,016
F R Profit for the year (38,108) 481,168
FMERNENBEATEIE The above profit for the year includes
the following:
Yree K ss Depreciation and amortisation (351) (334)
UBSUION Interest income 2,902 10,099
MR Interest expense (195,516) (133,890)
Fris®iEe, (B) Income tax credit/(expense) 12,607 (173,998)
BT RS B R B AR S B TS Rk N FERR Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
RZa e 2w 2 BREE .2 8K the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2022 2021

AR¥TR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’'000
gmn s REE Net assets of -/8@% 4,433,468 5,076,858
REERN HERFE 2B AR Proportion of the Group’s ownership
Al interest in /8@ 50% 50%
2,216,734 2,538,429
EE Goodwill 284,869 284,869
REBN HEBmER 2REE  Carrying amount of the Group's interest
in i@ 2,501,603 2,823,298
RERGECEFENFHEREERLZE The material joint venture is principally engaged in similar
% HAKEMEERRREEKARKE activities as the Group and is strategic to the Group's activities
B EEBFELEMBRPE - as property development and investment. Its principal place of

business is the PRC.
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20. REBEEIHE (M) 20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)
WHFEAEAZEELEZEAER AGGREGATE INFORMATION OF JOINT VENTURES
THAT ARE NOT INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL

2022 2021
AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
REEEGEFERNET The Group's share of profits for the year 3,503,759 2,567,566
REBRNZESEPE I ER Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
ZEREE interests in these joint ventures 48,322,599 38,116,882
M Py »
21. RBRE AR ZRE 21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
2022 2021
ARMT T ARETFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
JEEMIREKAK Cost of investments, unlisted 21,390,763 17,416,920
FEMRUREE S5 F) - FOBRATBUL A Share of post-acquisition profits,
net of dividend income 3,502,320 3,642,928
24,893,083 21,059,848
R-ZBE-—F+-_F=+—8 AEEHD Particulars of the Group’s associates as at 31 December 2022
NEZFFIBERME49(D) ° are set out in note 49(D).
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21, WAl 2 B () 21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
—BERBERT U BERBE SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A
MATERIAL ASSOCIATE
2N EE (B B KB 8 B EE AL 1R R PR Hb EE ) The summarised financial information in respect of _E /&2
BER AR ([ EBZELREE ] 2 B EREE EERMERZARAG( LB ZEREE], the Group's
EIIEMT o material associate, is set out below.
IR N BIRNAR B B TS S haRAE M2 A AR © This associate is accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

2022 2021

AR®TR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

MEE E Current assets 6,480,774 7,947,683

FERBEE Non-current assets 21,351 104,172

mEaE Current liabilities (432,660) (1,849,543)

IEREEE Non-current liabilities (43,319) -
FTMEERABESERRE The above amounts of assets and
AR5 - liabilities include the following:

RERBREEE Cash and cash equivalents 44,048 358,658

nEEmaE (TEIEEMEEZ  Current financial liabilities (excluding trade
K H A TR TE R 1) and other payables and provisions) - -

FnEermas (TeERMIEZ  Non-current financial liabilities (excluding
R H A FETRRTE R ) trade and other payables and provisions) - -

2022 2021

AR®TR ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
Li6as Revenue 304,114 1,784,933
F s Profit for the year 148,064 466,262
FERNENBEATEIE The above profit for the year includes
the following:
UBSUION Interest income 170,430 187,368
i fifS Income tax expense (56,079) (253,331)
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21. RBEARZHE (4)
—HEABE AT ZHBEERNBE
(48)

it B E R B B NAR A B A R R M ERR
REZB 2 R R 2 s 2 BREEZ H8k

21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A
MATERIAL ASSOCIATE (continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised
in the consolidated financial statements:

2022 2021

ARMT T AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
bPEELRREZFEE Net assets of /&3 3AwFE 6,026,146 6,202,312
REER LGERLEE 2 Proportion of the Group’s ownership
B RERE R L B interest in /G EE LM [E 50% 50%
REER EBERLSERER 2 Carrying amount of the Group's interest
BREE in _EIgEERA R 3,013,073 3,101,156

WHBHER2BEQT 2ERER

AGGREGATE INFORMATION OF ASSOCIATES THAT
ARE NOT INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL

2022 2021

AR¥ET T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

AN &R B PR (R A s T The Group'’s share of profits for the year 542,674 1,255,784
REBRZEWE AR 2R Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's

ZEEmBE interests in these associates 21,880,010 17,958,692
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20§55 1B M8 3L Ml % e 25 45 0 T
i B 2 e A T 1L

22. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED AT

FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2022 2021

ARET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JELEMRARE - AT E Unlisted equity investments, at fair value 1,074,060 1,100,462

BB AR T AT AN Al B4 TE A B H At
EHKERAFEIE  TRANSERSZ
EREBRBEMLEE -

2. A PG AHBZ EME
BB

23.

The above equity instruments were irrevocably designated at
FVOCI as the Group considers these investments to be strategic
in nature.

FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2022
EE =t
Assets Liabilities
ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BAVEFABGSREE Financial assets at FVPL
—EyES — Wealth management funds 1,216,801 =
BAVEFABG I SRERE Financial liabilities at FVPL
— ERSARE (HEE51) — Contingent consideration payables
(Note 51) - 390,860
2021
BE =t
Assets Liabilities
AREFT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEemAaE Derivative financial liability
— M= — Interest rate swap - 3,510
BAVEFABGZSRERE Financial assets at FVPL
—EyES — Wealth management funds 1,389,813 -
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23.

24,

Pt AHSEZ EME
B (4])

AEBFVRZZE_—_F A=+ HEH
ROF RIBE - B BAS — T LL B0 18 A B
RUEZ B RGP E R - N ERAE
B ((HE]) ZEEBRZHERR - FIR
HHIN R IEEES R AR IR AT EFT AR
AT & o TR HiRA AR F B R o

BEMESTERTHEBRETNERESR
& - BPESHNANERNEERBELN
RenBYFEREAS NABEREFE
AR - Btk - B ES S B A ATER
ANBHZEREE -

AEEHR —_FE-—F+_HA=+—HZA
FEDERZEFIRITHRM -

SE WA K

ZAERR IRV B AN —REE R FHRT
BENABRERE BEFMNES35%
RETHIR R36ME A - KEFRERFER
B={E AR AED o EHRFRE R GHRK
RERBERMELNRESREEASNAS
RREERESNENNK  XIRAFELFE
LRERERRERENEBRAFE -
It ERERARINER B AEN S

23.

24.

FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

The Group entered into an interest rate swap which matures on
29 September 2022 to manage the exposure to the interest rate
risk on the Group’s Great Britain Pound (“GBP") floating-rate
borrowing by swapping a portion of the interest payment on
borrowing from floating rate to fixed rate. The interest rate
swap is not designated for hedge purposes and is measured at
FVPL. The interest rate swap was matured during the year.

Wealth management funds are mainly investments in financial
funds issued by financial institutions. The contractual terms of
the wealth management funds give rise on specified dates to
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding. Accordingly, the wealth
management funds are classified as financial assets at FVPL.

The fair value of interest rate swap at 31 December 2021 is
provided by the counterparty bank.

TIME DEPOSITS

The balance represents deposit certificates purchased from a
creditworthy bank in Mainland China earning interest at a fixed
rate of 3.5% per annum with original maturity period of 36
months. The deposits certificates are redeemable upon holding
for longer than three months. The contractual terms of the time
deposits give rise on specified dates to cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding and are held within a business model with the
objective to hold in order to collect contractual cash flows.
Accordingly, the time deposits are classified as financial assets at
amortised cost.
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25.
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i Em T H 25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
2022 2021
as =V
Liabilities Liabilities
AR%T T ARETF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
PTESRTA Derivative financial instruments
(¥ &EIET) (under hedge accounting)
WemEEH Cash flow hedges
— XX EH¥H — Cross currency swaps 108,407 128,070
NEEE A Fair value hedges
— R X E#17 8f — Cross currency swaps 104,335 123,505
212,742 251,575

BERh — SNERE

R-ZTE-—F+-A=+—08 AEEEFH
R B R H) % % £ %8300,000,000%% 7T 2
RN EBE A o IR ARE REE
/5300,000,0003753.75% [E E A RELE
B INER R o

RN X B 8 Ris B 6 4 2 (SRR B TR
SR BEETRRAR S R BEZERNER(ANE
FTHENBHNZRA )BT - S
HE SR TAZ MEELERR - AR
NE e B H S 4 2 18 R R B B e R
BRESDAER - AR E LR RRE 1
REDREE R - BEtESHRZ AR - AEH
EARRITETLE  LBEHRTAZAF
BEESHELTRARBANKEIFIER 2T
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CASH FLOW HEDGE — FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cross currency swap
agreements in place with notional amounts of US$300,000,000
with no exchange of interest. The swaps are being used to
hedge the foreign currency exposure of a 3.75% fixed rate
senior note with a face value of US$300,000,000.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items
and the hedging instruments as the terms of the cross currency
swaps and swap contracts match the terms of the expected
highly probable forecast transactions and the senior note (i.e.,
notional amount and expected payment date). The Group has
established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationships as
the underlying risks of the cross currency swaps and swap
contracts are identical to the hedged risk components. To
measure the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the
hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes in
the fair value of the hedging instruments against the changes in
fair value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risks.



25.

54 Sk T A (8)
BEREH — SNERR (&)

B R

s RHEEEHNTAZHEESRERE
=8

o ERTRAF EHRIIBEHIEE
K HmT A

s XZUFHZEERRARNMFTEY
HTARKE AR 2 A FHEES

o WHMEBERHMTAZEHMRESR
ESHEH

DN EH I — SMNE =B

RZEBE-_—F+=-A=+—8 KX&EEFAH
7 B 2R % & € 58300,000,000 K 7T 2
RN EWE A% - IR AR AEE
/500,000,000 70 4.13% & FE FI KB L E
BRAFEZZHRK

BN X G 2 R B BT RIE Z IR
(BIE&E2R  MRRETAH) AR - &
WP IR B B T 2 BfFERERE -
A X 1 B 2 4R A R i B e L g R
DR MAREREPEERRE 18
b o BRI M2 BRIE - ARERE
RARJZOTETRE  LBEHTAZAFE
S ELNERBRANKERIRR 2 A FE

25.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
CASH FLOW HEDGE — FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
(continued)

Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:

3 Differences in the timing of the cash flows of the
forecasted sales and purchases and the hedging
instruments

3 Different interest rate curves applied to discount the
hedged items and hedging instruments

3 The counterparties’ credit risks differently impacting the
fair value movements of the hedging instruments and
hedged items

o Changes to the forecasted amounts of cash flows of
hedged items and hedging instruments

FAIR VALUE HEDGE — FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

At 31 December 2022, the Group had cross currency
swap agreements in place with a notional amount of
US$300,000,000 with no exchange of interest. The swaps are
used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a
4.13% fixed rate senior note with a face value of
US$500,000,000.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and
the hedging instrument as the terms of the cross currency
swaps match the terms of the senior note (i.e., notional amount,
payment and reset dates). The Group has established a hedge
ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationships as the underlying risk
of the cross currency swaps is identical to that of the hedged
risk component. To test the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses
the hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes
in the fair value of the hedging instrument against the changes
in fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.
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26.
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54 Sk TR (8)
DN EHF — HNERRE (F

i EMNEERIRE -
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25.

26.

27.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
FAIR VALUE HEDGE — FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
(continued)

The hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:

3 differences in the timing of cash flows of the hedged item
and the hedging instrument

o the counterparties’ credit risks differently impacting the
fair value movements of the hedging instrument and the
hedged item

PREPAYMENTS FOR NON-CURRENT
ASSETS

The amounts mainly represent the prepayments made by the
Group for the acquisitions of land use rights in the PRC for the
development of investment properties and properties held for
own use. The land use right certificates have not yet been
obtained by the Group as at 31 December 2022.

DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred taxation assets and
liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the
deferred taxation balances at the end of the reporting period:

2022 2021

ARET T ARETFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

R TEEE Deferred taxation assets 11,591,017 11,214,154
FEIERIAEE Deferred taxation liabilities (31,820,355) (29,152,924)
(20,229,338) (17,938,770)
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27. WEHAERIE (4)

NTRAFEZZERERBEE (A
&) - HERFT RRABRDH FLAE &R K iH

27. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

The following are the major deferred taxation assets/(liabilities)
during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting

R of balances within the same tax jurisdiction:
AAHRE THEEHR PENEAT
REME WARRUE B 2A2KER
Unrealised
gain from Undistributed
inter- profits
Investment company LAT of PRC
properties  transaction  Taxlosses  provisions subsidiaries Others
ARBTR  ARBTRT ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
WZEZ-F—-F—-8  At1January 2021 (20,395,252) 97,849 1646402 6990003  (1,053,710)  (1,445329) (14,160,037)
fEH A Exchange realignment (50,473) (7,546) 1,515 (8,506) 28,190 57,825 21,005
HEMBAR(fit5£43)  Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 43) 12,050 - (243) 5,191 - (5,580) 11418
(nE)/HABR (Charge)/credit to profit or loss (2654866 166,772 11225  (450,170) 171417 (1,160490)  (3,815,081)
AR R ENE Credit to other comprehensive
income - - - - - 3,925 3,925
RZZ--E+Zf At 31 December 2021
=t- (23,088,541) 257075 1759930 6,536,518 (854,103)  (2,549,649)  (17,938,770)
L Exchange realignment (330,318) 53,716 (8,799) (2,418) (76,051) 240,252 (123,618)
WENBAGIBES  Acquired on acquisition of
(it ad) subsidiaries (Note 44) (144,654) - 165,848 20,360 - (485,238)  (443,684)
HEWBATEEE  Disposed upon disposal of
(firzk43) subsidiaries (Note 43) 1,516,961 - (63698) (7.470) - (1270) 1444523
(nE)/HABR (Charge)/credit to profit or loss (2312105 222,168 375656 (1,510,194) 41,964 812 (3,174,389
AL R ENE Credit to other comprehensive
income - - - - - 6,600 6,600
A S At 31 December 2022
=t+-f (24,358,657) 532959  2,228937 5,036,796 (888,190)  (2,781,183) (20,229,338)
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27.

28.

252

B SiE B IH (48)

(@ RIZ-_—F+-A=+—8 AEBEXRD
B 75 B 18 A R % 15,373,427,000 T ( = &
——%: AR¥13,720,591,000 7T ) 7] { A 1E
HEARAERBE N HFARK
8,915,748,000L( — T — — &F: AR ¥
7,039,721,000 7T) KB 75 518 B FERR BIEE R
BEE - AR AR EERAEHATEZEH
BARBEEFR - ML ERAS T HRISEE
AR#6,457,679,000 (=T =—F : AR¥
6,680,870,000 7T ) FERBEEFI TR E = » FA5ES
BRZALEAE -

(b) RZZTZ—F+-A=+—H AEELEHK
TENBARMNAELRRENARE

28,447,178,000t( —Z T = —F: AR %
21,590,503,000 7T ) st H iR RE R TH I B AR %
1,422,359,0007t( = T = — F: AR ¥

1,079,525,0007t) - RERASE W& E A
FEDIREZSEF

Notes:

(a)

27. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB15,373,427,000 (2021: RMB13,720,591,000) available for offset
against future taxable profits, of which RMB8,915,748,000 (2021:
RMB7,039,721,000) tax losses have been recognised as deferred
taxation assets. No deferred taxation asset has been recognised
on the remaining tax losses of RMB6,457,679,000 (2021:
RMB6,680,870,000), as in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the future profit streams of these subsidiaries are
uncertain. The tax losses could be carried forward for a maximum of
five years.

At 31 December 2022, the Group has not made provision of deferred
taxation of RMB1,422,359,000 (2021: RMB1,079,525,000) for the
unremitted earnings of the PRC subsidiaries of RMB28,447,178,000
(2021: RMB21,590,503,000) as the Group does not have a plan to
distribute these earnings out of the PRC.

e 2 ¥ 28. PROPERTIES FOR SALE
2022 PAYA
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EERPYE Properties under development 438,611,309 359,488,054
e 2 Properties held for sale 56,886,941 43,075,378
495,498,250 402,563,432

BRI E 2 M ERBM AR RE R+ (@

Properties for sale which are expected to be recovered in more

B&kE BASEERZEENI NS
R BIIRRBEE -

than twelve months after the end of the reporting period are
classified under current assets as it is expected to be realised in
the Group’s normal operating cycle.

RZEBE-__F+-_A=+—8 ERTYE
M HEMEMREAIERFEZBELA
R#7,705,000,000C (= =—%F : AR¥
5,017,000,0007%) °

As at 31 December 2022, the provision for write-down of
properties under development and properties held for sale to
net realizable value amounted to RMB7,705 million (2021:
RMB5,017 million).
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29. MEWCHES - H b EWHEIE - #fF 29. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
X IH AT & RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS

2022 2021

AR®TR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000
FEUCBR TR N FE IR (M5t a) Trade and bills receivables (Note a) 3,323,815 2,425,042
B OREEE (HsEa) Less: provision for impairment (Note a) (99,176) (91,371)
3,224,639 2,333,671
REUCEE (P FAME Z FERTZRIE  Prepayments for acquisition of land use
(FizED) rights (Note b) 4,886,826 4,851,777
o fE U BRTE (BT o) Other receivables (Note ¢) 15,594,747 17,058,068
o OREEHE (B o) Less: provision for impairment (Note ¢) (304,928) (292,088)
15,289,819 16,765,980
TafTRRIE RET € (MHEEd) Prepayments and deposits (Note d) 21,609,510 24,509,930
45,010,794 48,461,358
Hiat - Notes:
(@ EREREFREREE (@)  Trade and bills receivables
HEWE 7 EIATEZRIAIZRE B3 Proceeds receivable in respect of the sale of properties are settled in
R - HEYENASWANZESLFT accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase
BRIE— AR RIS FE R 1 s A IR SR U ER © agreements. Rental income from leases of properties and proceeds

from construction contracts are generally receivable in accordance
with the terms of the relevant agreements.

BHEMEZREIIE  HEMERSKVAR Except for the proceeds from sales of properties, rental income from
BREAN Y B EIENAERIE S B S EHk leases of properties and proceeds from construction contracts which
AN REB—REBTEETHBBE30245 are receivable in accordance with the terms of the relevant
ANEEH  ETef TFTEEFEMEE agreements, the Group generally allows a credit period of not
HA o exceeding 30 to 45 days to its customers or does not grant its

customers with any credit period.
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29.
Ak JH S il < (48)

fia - (&)
@ EUEFRERER(E

VAR A3 B R e AR 7 % B I R i (B HIRR
BB Z BRE DT

JE W 2k ~ Hof BEUR R IH ~ #HAT 29, TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

Trade and bills receivables (continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills receivables (net of
provision for impairment) at the end of the reporting period:

2022 2021

AR¥T T ARKETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

0-30% 0-30 days 1,028,939 738,688
31-60K 31-60 days 426,852 235,526
61-90 X 61-90 days 219,301 108,269
91-180 X 91-180 days 598,322 297,431
181-365X 181-365 days 740,220 485,830
HBiE1F Over 1 year 211,005 467,927
3,224,639 2,333,671

RIBE-—F+-F=+—8 - REHKAT
ENERERRELNZEROAREASARE
3,323,815000t( — T = —F: AR ¥
2,425,042,0007) M- BE-_—ERFR T~ —
F+ZA=1+—8 ' AEEHHERERRE
WEERRN B E BB RERY -

REES WU FHEHITEEMERR - AT
REYORIRZRERERNEE

As at 31 December 2022, the gross carrying amount of trade and bills
receivables measured at amortised cost was RMB3,323,815,000
(2021: RMB2,425,042,000). As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group estimated that the expected credit loss rate for trade and bills
receivables were minimal.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
Movements in the provision for impairment for trade receivables are
as follows:

2022 2021

AR¥T T AREBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FYE Balance at the beginning of the year 91,371 90,061
B E R Impairment losses, net 9,818 5,406
F R 8 Written off during the year (2,043) (3,866)
HE 5 S B Exchange realignment 30 (230)
FIREERR Balance at the end of the year 99,176 91,371

(b) BB LR AR TR IR

ZECERRASBETRABRHEMEN
Ui 1 3t 52 FR A T S AN 2 TR FR0R » SRS
R AKEEARIG L E AR o
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(b)

Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights

The amount represents the prepayments made by the Group for the
acquisition of land use rights in the PRC for property development for
sale. The land use right certificates have not yet been obtained by the
Group at the end of the reporting period.



29.

VWSO sk ~ L A R WS MR JE - LA
SV HEAL )

i - (&)
(0  HtEERAE

ZECHFERRERECWERRERIEL RER
RS S Z R IE - ATRFEIER R
RRERIE -

H A 8 YRR IR D B B E SR SR - T AR EIRAR
% PR SR A] i S A HI AR R — F B E SR

ye=

=K

LATREMERKEER-_ZS-__F+=-A4
=+ —AZE&RII (BINRRERE)  %Z
AR IBS AR BERIE

29. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(0 Other receivables

The amount mainly includes temporary payments paid for potential
property development projects and project-related deposits which
would be refundable upon completion of the development projects.

There is no fixed repayment term for other receivables and the Group
considers that they are repayable on demand and will be recovered in
one year from the date of advance.

The following is an aging analysis of other receivables (net of
provision for impairment) as at 31 December 2022 which are
considered not impaired:

2022 2021

AR®TR AEREBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FER Within one year 8,037,630 11,210,735
HiR—F Over one year 7,252,189 5,555,245
15,289,819 16,765,980

R-EB-—F+=-—A=+—0 ' AL
ENHEMERKEEREDAEARARE
15,594,747,000t( — B = —F: AR K
17,058,068,0007T)c RZT_—_F R _F
——&+-A=+—8  AEEGEFEGER
RIEMTEREEBIEREMN -

AR B kUL F AR A A E R o AT
AR YRR RER BN EE

As at 31 December 2022, the gross carrying amount of other
receivables measured at amortised cost was RMB15,594,747,000
(2021: RMB17,058,068,000). As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group estimated that the expected credit loss rate for other
receivables were minimal.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
Movements in the provision for impairment for other receivables are
as follows:

2022 pAPA

AR¥T T AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

FY R Balance at the beginning of the year 292,088 470,817
REEE, (BRIREEE) FE Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment

losses), net 14,314 (60,970)

F PR 8 Written off during the year (2,002) (115,288)

MR ER Exchange realignment 528 (2,471)

FRER Balance at the end of the year 304,928 292,088

d) FENFERFES

ZEBETRBEARREAN 2RES RIEN
AT K E A EEETEA -

(d) Prepayments and deposits

The amount mainly includes deposits paid for bidding projects and
prepayments of value added tax and other sales related taxes.

255

=B AR /AR China Resources Land Limited



f 3 WUA B5 le o B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. & XIEE KA R 30. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
COSTS

2022 2021

ARBTT ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB'000
BEE 42 KA Costs to obtain contracts 1,654,008 867,161
B MR ERD Contract assets arising from construction
ZEHEE and decoration services 392,073 680,283
2,046,081 1,547,444
RE Impairment - _
2,046,081 1,547,444
RZTB-_—_F+-_A=+—"H AHNEEK As at 31 December 2022, the contract assets and contract costs
BRNATARAIR @SN 3FAEE - are expected to be recovered or settled within 3 years.

31. WEWCRBHWE 5 Ik e I i 55 K JH 31. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES/
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

2022 2021

ARBT ARBETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
B NON-CURRENT
BULE ZBER Amounts due from joint ventures 8,642,691 7,328,399
JE Wi B 2 R ] IE Amounts due from associates 1,525,411 4,664,109
10,168,102 11,992,508
FEWSEVE IR #E 25 5K 1B Amounts due from non-controlling interests 2,474,207 4,787,416
12,642,309 16,779,924
RE CURRENT
FEW B 4R PR IR A RIRIE Amount due from the ultimate holding
company 402 1,925
JE A el iR KIB Amounts due from intermediate holding
companies 63,115 42,906
FERREEHBA ,TA Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 3,155,608 1,135,083
BUE S ER Amounts due from joint ventures 18,634,785 17,611,464
N IE Amounts due from associates 9,045,871 7,129,947
30,899,781 25,921,325
B U FEIE A% #E 25 N TE Amounts due from non-controlling interests 26,858,943 14,801,388
57,758,724 40,722,713
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32.

%ﬁ%%ﬁ/#%%%ﬁ%@
i

—_

R_E-_—FR-_ZT-_—F+_-_F=+—
B BREERHE  BEQRMEERERS
RIAZ IEME D AEEARIEHAN —F1&
T o BragEE AR 4,080,548,000 7T (=
——F: AR#10,622,473,0007T) &% 8
G - BRERIRIRIT IS A EET B o

RZEZ—FR-_ZTE-_—F+-_/F=+—
H ZERKSEEIZERAR . PEERA
7 ARMBAR &% BEQARR
IR S R TE 2 B SR A IR A R
TREFERTAHR —FARNLEN - BRBEEAR
#532,343,409,000 (=T =—4F : ARK
17,090,415,0007T) &% BN + BRREIZIRAT
MHSFEETE ©

RIERLIERR AT~ FEEZERAT - BRIE
DA RELE  BERATRIEERER
ERSBvEIREREHELEH - R=ZF
T ZFERZFE—F+ZA=+—H " B
BENTIEATER -

%mﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
}

ERBIRTEFRAARKEE - TERETE
ARREASEETHEMERBARE i
MIREERNES - UREBERTRITERR
BEPRMHEMERNOER

31.

32.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES/
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the non-current portion of
the amounts due from joint ventures, associates and non-
controlling interests is unsecured and expected to be settled
after one year. Except for the aggregate amount of
RMB4,080,548,000 (2021: RMB10,622,473,000) which is
interest-free, the remaining amounts bear interest at prevailing
market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the current portion of the
amounts due from the ultimate holding company, intermediate
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates
and non-controlling interests is unsecured and repayable on
demand or expected to be settled within one year. Except for
the aggregate amount of RMB32,343,409,000 (2021:
RMB17,090,415,000) which is interest-free, the remaining
amounts bear interest at prevailing market interest rates.

There was no recent history of default and past due amounts
for loans to the ultimate holding company, intermediate holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and
non-controlling interests. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the loss allowance was assessed to be insignificant.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND
BANK BALANCES

Restricted bank deposits are denominated in RMB which mainly
represent funds designated for relocating existing residents on
the land of the Group’s certain property development projects
and deposits pledged to banks to secure the mortgage
guarantees provided to customers.
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32. ZWRHISRAT AR AR B B SRAT &
17 (#8)

R-TE-_—_F+-_A=+—H BHLRET
EEBBRRBITERFENENF001%E
477% (ZF=—%F :0.03% £3.27%) 5t &
ZREERITIE K ©

RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 BHELRIET
EERRIAENYEBENMSRBEARE
17,638,269,000 ( Z—FE = —F: AR#
15,242,698,0007T ) ° FTUREX MY ¥ £ TE & AT
SRBEIEAEZMBYENERIEZS - 1R
BEARNRITERTAG - R ErEH T R
TERBHERBN T HEYEEE HE
REA - ZEERZSBREEBDENT
T F&ERBRER o

FRIRTEHARR S RBTRRAT
SEHEHE

32. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND
BANK BALANCES (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, cash and bank balances comprised
short-term bank deposits which carry interest at prevailing
deposit rates ranging from 0.01% to 4.77% (2021: 0.03% to
3.27%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2022, cash and bank balances included the
regulated pre-sales proceeds of properties RMB17,638,269,000
(2021: RMB15,242,698,000). The pre-sales proceeds of
properties received as the guarantee deposits for the
constructions of related properties. In accordance with the
applicable prevailing government regulation, the deposits can
only be used for payments of construction costs of related
property projects upon the approval of the local State-Owned
Land and Resource Bureau. Such guarantee deposits will be
released according to the completion stage of the related
properties.

The restricted bank deposits and cash and bank balances are
denominated in the following currencies:

2022 2021

ARET T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

B HK$ 3,816,980 3,352,317
AR RMB 93,381,345 105,122,516
Eiv United States dollar (“US$") 72,799 54,897
HgE GBP 196,341 218,387
EHh Others 107 6
97,467,572 108,748,123

ARBHEEBRIL IR BINE RAINEEHER
R MRTHAFELTE - AETHhEBA
A 1 ) B INE TR Il AR Al B ORAR
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The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated cash and bank balances out of the PRC are subject
to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.



33. MEAT MK B i JE £ B JE 33. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021

AR®TR ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
FER R BN 2 (M5 a) Trade and bills payables (Note a) 99,908,865 91,622,135
E b S ARIE (FI5EDb) Other payables (Note b) 40,949,451 40,070,655

140,858,316 131,692,790

Bt - Notes:

(@ ENERFREMNZE (@  Trade and bills payables
A B 2 T 2R 4 > T = B R A B 2T The average credit period of the trade and bills payables is determined
é:]fl%%(ﬁéif IE’%“?%?\\¥30;E/§1 o according to the terms stipulated in the contract, normally ranging

from 30 days to 1 year.

AT AIREERE B B 2 MERRE AR E The following i : sis of trade and bill bl h
i B AT e following is an aging analysis of trade and bills payables at the

end of the reporting period based on the invoice date:

2022 2021

AR¥T ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

0-30K 0-30 days 21,161,893 13,775,960

31-60K 31-60 days 11,723,707 9,880,454

61-90 K 61-90 days 4,762,964 5,364,314

91-180K 91-180 days 16,903,527 19,167,599

181-365K 181-365 days 26,208,838 26,116,162

i1 F Over 1 year 19,147,936 17,317,646

99,908,865 91,622,135

(b)  EHAbFERPRIA (b)  Other payables
ZELCBTIEAFEMEMNTR - TRHLTE The amounts mainly include other taxes payable, temporary receipts
RIAE and accrued salaries.
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34. FHIAME 34. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

BB EFHBET : Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

2022 2021

ARETR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
MR P UE 2 1 58 : Advances received from customers:
HEME Sale of properties 243,934,132 210,040,117
EE - RERBMHEM Construction, decoration services
and others 3,831,071 2,678,956
247,765,203 212,719,073
T - —EEEY AR ER ([1E The value added taxes (“VAT") relating to pre-sale of properties
1) 45 A R%21,976,000,0007T( = & for year 2022 amounting to approximately RMB21,976,000,000
——F: AR¥18,923,000,0007T) o fEfF (2021: RMB18,923,000,000). VAT payable is recognised when
BERNYE 2 T HEER AT P R iERI the control of the properties is transferred to customers and
HRERES o revenue is recognised.

260 —=-——4%=#H%  ANNUAL REPORT 2022



35. WEAT B T Ik e e 5% K JH 35. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES/
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

2022 2021

ARBTT ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
FERE NON-CURRENT

JEAT A R AR A B RRIE Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies 11,433,880 17,632,641
e —FE H?Bﬁ% AIFE Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 58,500 40,000
EREEER Amounts due to joint ventures 2,181,980 3,214,649
JE - B 2 A IE Amounts due to associates 536,720 807,400
14,211,080 21,694,690
P SEIE R R 2R 3R Amounts due to non-controlling interests 3,654,950 11,686,927
17,866,030 33,381,617

B CURRENT
JEAT B AR IEAR A RIKIE Amount due to the ultimate holding

company 92 277

FEAT A 5 FRIE Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies 159,238 23,814
e R %ﬁﬁ%“* WA Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 2,797,572 428,499
EREEER Amounts due to joint ventures 25,463,737 17,743,515
JE S H & A E] ,TAIE Amounts due to associates 10,765,090 7,732,149
39,185,729 25,928,254
JEAS FEIE AR A 2R TR Amounts due to non-controlling interests 10,563,199 9,187,825
49,748,928 35,116,079
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35.

262

%ﬁ?%ﬁﬁéﬁﬁ/#ﬁ?ﬂ;’i%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ
i

R-_E-——Fp-—T—-——F+—-HF=+—
B« EA&RQERAR - REERAR - [
ABAR - AEDE - BE AR RIEER
WSR2 RBE D AEEIE R AR ERKE
EIAR " FRAEE - BRABABARE
28,085,304,000t( Z T = —F: AR
20,199,971,0007T) AR BN » 8REEILIRTT
MHF LTS ©

RZEZ—_FR=_F-_—F+=_A=4—
B EMNPEEZERAR  BREMNBAR &
B B A E RIFERER B Z IR
D AEERRERN —FEREE - BRE
BARE 922,482,000 L(ZTE=—F: AR
#5527,344,000 7T) AR EIN - SREEIRIRITH
LSS
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35. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES/

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the current portion of the
amounts due to the ultimate holding company, intermediate
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates
and non-controlling interests are unsecured and repayable on
demand or within one year. Except for the aggregate amount of
RMB28,085,304,000 (2021: RMB20,199,971,000) which is
interest-free, the remaining amounts are interest bearing at
prevailing market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the non-current portion of
the amounts due to intermediate holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and non-controlling
interests are unsecured and expected to be settled after one
year. Except for the aggregate amount of RMB922,482,000
(2021: RMB527,344,000) which is interest free. The remaining
amounts are interest bearing at prevailing market interest rates.



36. AT R A £ 36. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

2022 2021

AR®TR ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
RITIEE Bank borrowings 113,874,050 115,314,258
HEmEE Other borrowings 36,386,856 24,754,492

150,260,906 140,068,750

A IF Secured 35,469,478 27,568,676
E Unsecured 114,791,428 112,500,074

150,260,906 140,068,750

IRITREMEE 2B HBER The maturity of the bank and other

DT borrowings is analysed as follows:
—FR Within 1 year 52,336,890 49,321,902
—E=F Between 1 and 2 years 14,113,255 41,116,384
—ERF Between 2 and 5 years 48,518,956 30,834,738
AFLAE Over 5 years 35,291,805 18,795,726

150,260,906 140,068,750

B REBBER—FEREIE  Less: Amounts due within 1 year shown

Z IR under current liabilities (52,336,890)  (49,321,902)
ERBBEMR TR Amounts due after 1 year shown under
ZFE non-current liabilities 97,924,016 90,746,848
NEEZRITREMEEA TS EEAE : The Group'’s bank and other borrowings are denominated in the

following currencies:

2022 2021

AR®TR ARBEFTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
et HK$ 36,476,499 33,271,872
AR RMB 111,252,161 101,465,638
5 GBP 2,532,246 2,596,059
ETT us$ = 2,735,181

150,260,906 140,068,750
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36. S4B H-fib A B (48) 36. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

REERITREMEE N IRREFIBH I 0
T

(continued)

Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
as set out below:

BRER =R

Effective interest

rate per annum

ARET T ARETF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEFEEE Fixed-rate borrowings

ok HK$ 3,773,815 3,454,129
AR RMB 52,822,401 39,433,062
ETT us$ - 637,571
EEFEEELE Total fixed-rate borrowings 3.93% (2021: 4.12%) 56,596,216 43,524,762

FEFIREE Variable-rate borrowings
i HK$ 32,702,684 29,817,743
AR RMB 58,429,760 62,032,576
e GBP 2,532,246 2,596,059
e us$ - 2,097,610
FERREEREE Total variable-rate borrowings 4.50% (2021: 3.36%) 93,664,690 96,543,988
EEEEE Total borrowings 150,260,906 140,068,750

R-ZF-ZFE+H  AREEBERE TR
EMERRKISFRBRMEKIZEIE
BNEN(EZ18%F)  BT2BAARE
BELHEMEARAERFEL(HE
WEEMERFESR])  ARESERE
HTHHES3IFREO AT HNELE
7o MEH380% REBIFEE  NEAE
FEXM -

R-B_—F=F AKEEBERETR
BYMERARKNRERERADFEWRR 2 EE
ENEN(ZZ12F) BTEBE/ARE
BVETAREMERRERIFES - ARE
AERBZRTEHES=FEBO 2 R2H
MEBEES - MER3.90% MEF3FEE -
M EBGFEN
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As at October 2020, the Group issued a commercial mortgage
backed securities (“CMBS") amounting to RMB2.5 billion by
pledging certain investment properties and the right of receiving
management fees for the future 18 years from the
corresponding properties for a maximum period of 18 years.
The Group is eligible to redeem all the undue priority securities
every 3 years from the date of issue. Interest rate is 3.80% and
is fixed each 3 years, interest is payable semiannually.

As at March 2021, the Group issued a CMBS amounting to
RMB3 billion by pledging certain investment properties and the
right of receiving management fees for the future 12 years from
the corresponding properties for a maximum period of 12 years.
The Group is eligible to redeem all the undue priority securities
every 3 years from the date of issue. Interest rate is 3.90% and
is fixed each 3 years, interest is payable semiannually.



36. SRAT B oAt A5 B (48)

R-ZF-_—F1+A AEEEEEFETR
BYMERARKISER AR E W 2 &R
ENEN(Z2Z18F)  BITERA/ARE
A5 BILAFRMERRE TSRS - A5E
BERBETAHEEIFERE AR
BBEES - FER3.58% MF3FETE -
MEABFENT -

R-Z-_FMA  AEEFBERETR
EMENRKRKISFRBEBMERIR 2 ERE
ENEN(2Z218F)  BTEBARARK
21 ETARMERANERXFES - A5E
BERBETAHES3IFEE 2 A
BEERE S - FEB330% LEFIFETE
MEBEFFEN

R-ZF-_—_FNA AEEEEEFETR
BYMERAKNRERERYEWR 2 EE
ENEN(Z2Z12F) BTERA/ARE
VELEHEMEEARERIFTES - AKE
EERBETAHEEIFERE AR
BBEES - FER2.98% MF3FETE -
MEABFENT -

RZBZZF+ A AEBEFEBREHE T
BEMERARRISFREBYERE 2 B
BN (ZE218F)  BI2BABARK
0BT EMERIFERTFHES - ALE
ABMBEITHEEI0FZRER 2R
HINELEE SR E 184F - H10FF=X
#4.00% * FBAEGFFELMT -

36. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

As at October 2021, the Group issued a CMBS amounting to
RMB4.5 billion by pledging certain investment properties and
the right of receiving management fees for the future 18 years
from the corresponding properties for a maximum period of 18
years. The Group is eligible to redeem all the undue priority
securities every 3 years from the date of issue. Interest rate is
3.58% and is fixed each 3 years, interest is payable
semiannually.

As at April 2022, the Group issued a CMBS amounting to
RMB2.1 billion by pledging certain investment properties and
the right of receiving management fees for the future 18 years
from the corresponding properties for a maximum period of 18
years. The Group is eligible to redeem all the undue priority
securities every 3 years from the date of issue. Interest rate is
3.30% and is fixed each 3 years, interest is payable
semiannually.

As at September 2022, the Group issued a CMBS amounting to
RMB3.0 billion by pledging certain investment properties and
the right of receiving management fees for the future 12 years
from the corresponding properties for a maximum period of 12
years. The Group is eligible to redeem all the undue priority
securities every 3 years from the date of issue. Interest rate is
2.98% and is fixed each 3 years, interest is payable
semiannually.

As at October 2022, the Group issued a CMBS amounting to
RMB3.0 billion by pledging certain investment properties and
the right of receiving management fees for the future 18 years
from the corresponding properties for a maximum period of 18
years. The Group is eligible to redeem all the undue priority
securities after 10 years since the date of issue or extend the
terms to 18 years. Interest rate is 4.00% during the first
10 years, interest is payable semiannually.
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36. S4B H-fib A B (48) 36. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

R-E-_—F+-_A=+—08 #AEESE
A AR 40,965,411,000 T(ZE=—4 -
AR #49,177,584,00070) 2 RITIEE » 1%
BB ERGE 2GR ERREANZSE
EFRBAEAREEFE R RS BEITRATN
DPR3BR(ZFE=——F: FPR35%) : H
FRAEEZHBARYERITER(Z
T — —4F : AR¥801,249,0007T) @ AR
BAER R IR+ ARRIERZEE RS
NERREEEEEREZMNBARE %
TTRATDR51% - REBZRITEBEAR
#511,932,704,900 L (=T = —F : AR¥
27,992,560,000 7T) AR IR HELR o

(continued)

As at 31 December 2022, in respect of bank borrowings of the
Group amounting to RMB40,965,411,000 (2021:
RMB49,177,584,000), CRH is required to hold not less than
35% (2021: not less than 35%) of the issued share capital of
the Company at any time during the period of the loans in
accordance with the terms of the respective loan agreements,
among which, in respect of bank borrowings of a Group'’s
subsidiary amounting to nil (2021: RMB801,249,000), the
Company is required to hold, directly or indirectly, not less than
51% of the issued share capital of the subsidiary at any time
during the period of the loans in accordance with the terms of
the respective loan agreements. Bank borrowings of the Group
amounting to RMB11,932,704,900 (2021: RMB27,992,560,000)
are guaranteed by the Company.

37. ERERE 37. SENIOR NOTES

BEREEW rEEH REA=R BBRAIR

Effective

BITEN AHFH

Maturity

Principal Coupon

Name of senior notes Amount

Rate Interest Rate Issue Year Year

% % Year
“ENEFEAEE 35005 &ET 6.100 6.106 2014 2029 15
2029 Senior Notes HK$3,500 million
“ECNFEAER 500 &%t 4.125 4.286 2019 2029 10
2029 Senior Notes US$500 million
“EONFEEERE 700ESET 6.000 6.032 2014 2024 10
2024 Senior Notes US$700 million
“ToMERERARR 3008 &% 3.750 3.885 2019 2024 5
2024 Senior Notes US$300 million

BR-E—MEBRTHN_ZE-_NFELERE
G BB EEEENE BB R L o

PRERERB REEN -
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Except for the 2029 Senior Notes issued in 2014, other senior
notes are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

All senior notes are unsecured.



37. B EIE () 37. SENIOR NOTES (continued)

BEEENEBERSFTOT The maturity of the senior notes is analysed as follows:

2022 2021

ARETT ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB'000
—F A Within 1 year - _
—EMWF Between 1 and 2 years 7.083,453 -
MERF Between 2 and 5 years - 6,482,149
HFEUF Over 5 years 6,661,004 6,092,998
13,744,457 12,575,147
W ORBEGERMR—EANEE  Less: Amounts due within 1 year shown
ZFA under current liabilities - -
EMBBEMMR—FEIEH Amounts due after 1 year shown under
P non-current liabilities 13,744,457 12,575,147
RZEBE-_—F+-_A=+—H BEAZEZ The fair value of the senior notes as at 31 December 2022 was
NFEEL A AR 12,833,000,000(=F approximately RMB12,833 million (2021: RMB13,489 million),
——%F: AR#¥13,489,000,0007T) © Jii% which was determined based on the closing market price as at
- —F+-_A=t+—HzWmEET " 31 December 2022, except for the HK$3,500 million senior
fE 75 & 3,500,000,000 LB St R IER A F A notes whose fair value was determined based on valuation
BRIBE—2BIREFESEBLEMETOM carried out by an independent and professionally qualified
BEEE - valuer.
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38. R 38. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES
HHEEATRE rEEHE ZEFIE BERFIE BITHER BHF
Name of Principal Coupon Effective Maturity
medium-term notes Amount Rate Interest Rate Issue Year Year
ARBF T 3
RMB’000 % % Year
2023F R HREE IR 3,500,000 5.23 5.30 2018 2023 5
2023 Medium-term Notes
2025 FHHAZR IR 1,200,000 3.20 3.27 2020 2025 5
2025 Medium-term Notes
20235 EIEE 800,000 2.65 2.76 2020 2023 3
2023 Medium-term Notes
2025F FR BREE IR 500,000 2.95 3.02 2020 2025 5
2025 Medium-term Notes
2023 FHHARE 1,500,000 2.42 2.53 2020 2023 3
2023 Medium-term Notes
2023 FHHIRE 1,500,000 3.20 3.22 2020 2023 3
2023 Medium-term Notes
2024 F R HAZE IR 1,000,000 3.30 3.32 2021 2024 3
2024 Medium-term Notes
2026 FHHASR IR 1,500,000 3.84 3.88 2021 2026 5
2026 Medium-term Notes
2024 FHEARE 3,000,000 3.50 357 2021 2024 3
2024 Medium-term Notes
2023 FHHAZ K 1,500,000 3.29 3.40 2021 2023 2
2023 Medium-term Notes
2026 FHHASR IR 1,500,000 3.70 3.74 2021 2026 5
2026 Medium-term Notes
2024 FHEARE 2,000,000 3.38 3.45 2021 2024 3
2024 Medium-term Notes
2024 FHhHAZE IR 2,500,000 3.05 3.06 2021 2024 3
2024 Medium-term Notes
2027 FHHEARE 1,000,000 3.54 3.59 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
2027 FHHEARE 5,000,000 3.63 3.65 2022 2027 5

2027 Medium-term Notes
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38. W YE () 38. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (continued)

HHEE AT rEEHE ZEFIE ERFIE BITF4R BHF 15
Name of Principal Coupon Effective Maturity
medium-term notes Amount Rate Interest Rate Issue Year Year
ARBF T F
RMB’000 % % Year
2025 F R HAZE IR 2,000,000 3.10 3.17 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
2025 F R HASR IR 2,000,000 3.05 3.12 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
2027 FHEARE 1,000,000 3.30 332 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
2025 F R HAZE K 1,000,000 2.79 2.81 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
2025 F R HAZR IR 1,000,000 2.60 2.62 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
2027 FHEARE 2,000,000 337 3.39 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
2027 FHHAZEE 1,200,000 3.20 3.22 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
2025 FHHASR IR 1,800,000 2.80 2.83 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
2027 FHEARE 1,000,000 3.25 3.27 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
2025 F R HAZE IR 1,000,000 2.88 2.91 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
2027 FHHASEE 1,200,000 3.35 3.40 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
2025 FHEARE 1,800,000 2.90 2.97 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
2027 FHHAZEE 3,000,000 2.84 2.88 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
2027 FHHEARE 3,000,000 2.90 2.91 2022 2027 5
2027 Medium-term Notes
2025 FHEARE 2,000,000 2.40 2.43 2022 2025 3
2025 Medium-term Notes
ZEZBENPBERITET S ZABESR The notes are either issued in the National Association of
NEHRZ BT ° Financial Market Institutional Investors or Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.
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38. ISR (M)

PHRENFHERIFAT

38. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (continued)

The maturity of the medium-term notes is analysed as follows:

2022 2021

AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
—F R Within 1 year 8,906,126 5,222,066
—EMF Between 1 and 2 years 8,496,394 8,926,252
I Between 2 and 5 years 35,695,504 13,182,636
53,098,024 27,330,954
B RENBER R —EREIE  Less: Amounts due within 1 year shown
pa | under current liabilities (8,906,126) (5,222,066)
FEMBEGEMHR—FREH Amounts due after 1 year shown under
pa | non-current liabilities 44,191,898 22,108,888

NR-BE-—F+-_A=+—H0  PHEEHN
NFEL A AR 53,062,000,0007T (==
——%F: AR#27,463,000,0007T) © Jh1iR
BT+ A=1+—H8KHEETE -

39. AR

The fair value of the medium-term notes as at 31 December
2022 was approximately RMB53,062 million (2021: RMB27,463
million), which was determined based on the closing market
price as at 31 December 2022.

39. SHARE CAPITAL

RBEE K| &8
Number of
shares Amount Amount
BT ARBT T
HK$'000 RMB'000
FIEEBE0.107T2 L&A Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
HEE Authorised:
WZE-_—F—HF—H- At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021
TEC-ERIE-CF and 2022
+-F=+—H 8,000,000,000 800,000
BRTRAR Issued and fully paid:
W-_ZE-_—%—Ff—H8- At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021
ZEIFRZFTCF and 2022
+=—B=+—H 7,130,939,579 713,094 673,829
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40. KEEARTH

41.

RZZE—NF  ZRR([BITABEIT—E
7K 4 %8 /4 1,050,000,000 3E T 2 IR Rk B E
ARTITE -

BT AT RIEIEES (IS - TR FIEEX
{5718, 40 2 3 B AE (RTIR 36 » T BL AT gl
1T NE IR -

ARSI EEHETAENBEN RIS
EAETBERTZNEMNSIRSEENEHNE
T EERERFETABESEREHE
HEREENEITEOE TR EGHRER -
At - BT ET EFMSRIBFES B AR
ATHE  WRAEEERTES o BIBEHER
ZEHMEIBRENEER AR EKEEAR
TEHEBAELDIREE ©

MBHER G R

REEFYEBERMEZRBERRRITIED
R EReREAARE79,737,606,000 7T
—T——F: AR¥65,231,699,0007T) °
ZERRBRMEEEFERH TFTERRIEBIZ
BYESLTKFESRITHRE - ARF=E
ERE UBERANZAFELTERK -

40.

41.

PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENTS

In 2019, the Company (the “Issuer”) issued a subordinated
perpetual capital instrument with a principal amount of
US$1,050,000,000.

The Issuer may elect to defer interest payment, which is not
subject to any limit as to the number of times of interest
payment can be deferred. The instruments may be redeemed at
the option of the Issuer.

As the instruments only impose contractual obligations on the
Issuer to repay principal or to pay any distribution under certain
circumstances, which are at the Issuer’s discretion, they have in
substance offered the Issuer an unconditional right to avoid
delivering cash or other financial assets to settle contractual
obligation. Therefore, the net proceeds from issuance of the
instruments are classified as an equity instrument presented in
the equity of the Group. The payment of the respective nominal
interests according to the terms are treated as distribution to
the owners of the perpetual capital instruments.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Guarantees amounting to RMB79,737,606,000 (2021:
RMB65,231,699,000) are given to banks with respect to
mortgaged loans procured by the purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Such guarantees will be released by banks upon the
issuance of the real estate ownership certificates to the
purchasers and completion of the relevant mortgage properties
registration. In the opinion of directors of the Company, the fair
value of the financial guarantee contracts is not significant.
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42. BEIGEAHES 42. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES
AR%T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BR TR 4 A Profit before taxation 55,509,355 60,365,758
HE Adjustments for:
B E A Finance costs 1,699,518 1,397,227
PE W &1, (Ukes) 358 Exchange loss/(gain), net 2,186,407 (788,499)
WOR M SHE 2 MEZ AR Write-down of properties for sale to net
FE realisable value 4,393,979 3,848,018
BEYEZ ATFEEFIR Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties (6,977,861) (7,794,642)
E%ﬁ;ﬁrg%ﬁ ReE&atER Gain on re-measurement of the previously
—ABENRMEAEDR held interest in joint ventures and
2 Wes an associate (828,637) -
PEWNBARZ (W), EiE Net (gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries
HRE (1,053,113) 13,644
AT EFABEZZERT A Net gain on changes in fair value of
2N EEEN T FRE financial instruments at FVPL (6,400) (42,710)
HEREYEMEE 2 Loss/(gain) arising on disposal of
B8 () investment properties 15,380 (30,475)
MEWA Interest income (2,284,378) (2,602,279)
EHREERERE ZFIE Share of profits of investments in
joint ventures (3,484,705) (2,808,150)
(R RN EIRE 2 5 Share of profits of investments in associates (616,706) (1,488,915)
mE - BEREHEIFTE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 813,660 884,768
FRAEEEZINE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 444,422 416,659
A B Amortisation of intangible asset 75,141 4,337
Hh Others 17,090 (20,494)
49,903,152 51,354,247
LEESEY Changes in working capital:
HEYE 7 v Increase in properties for sale (50,601,766) (15,731,962)
HibF &R Decrease in other inventories 235 465,689
JEUERFR « b EURERIE « T8 Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables,
SEOE TR, () other receivables, prepayments and
deposits 4,952,805 (4,926,299)
REIEA KB CR L) /LM (Decrease)/Increase in long-term payables (24,643) 14,899
BHAVEERE DAL Increase in contract assets and
contract costs (498,637) (159,217)
AHBEELENCHRD) Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 16,528,920 (19,865,894)
JE A< AR R N EL At PR AN BRIBAE A1 Increase in trade and other payables 5,885,662 16,454,588
LEEEMEHEE Cash generated from operating activities 26,145,728 27,606,051
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43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2022

43. HEME AW
BE-_Z_—_F+-A=+—HILFE

REE—ZE-_—F+-_A=+—RHIFE
AEBHESBIEHEATHEAR °

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed
or deemed disposal of following subsidiaries.

ZEERHESR ARERHER
ReEHER REHER
HHNRE FENKRE
Equity Equity
interest held  interest held
by the Group by the Group
before disposal  after disposal
or deemed or deemed
Month of disposal disposal disposal  Consideration
ARBTR
RMB'000
EREM (M) BRERAH %A 100% - 2,080,000
Hangzhou Development China Resources Land Co., Ltd. June 2022
HRERRHEREERAR —E--#-f 50% 50% -
Nanjing Huasong Real Estate Co., Ltd January 2022
LBRRREREEEARAR —T--%1+-A 100% - 423,809
Shanghai Youchao Youxia House Leasing Company Limited November 2022
FEEERE (L8) ARAF —“Z--f+-A 100% - 303,911
Youchao House Leasing (Shanghai) Company Limited November 2022
ZHEW (@) BRAA el 100% - 1,236,000
China Resources Land (Nantong) Development Co., Ltd. November 2022
EREFEERARALAR —Z-=F+-A 100% - 3,393,000
Beijing China Resources Xinzhen Real Estate Co., Ltd. November 2022
ERENREEE (BM) BRAR —“Z--F+ZAH 51% 50% -
China Resources Land Senma Industry (Wenzhou) Co., Ltd. December 2022
7,436,720
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43, R E ] (4) 43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BE-—E—_—F+=-BA=1+—HIEE(H) For the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
REAEZEWNB R IEHIEE B R IEERY Assets and liabilities derecognised at the dates in loss of control
BENMBESENOT : of subsidiaries are as follows:

REERH
RIERRNE

Amounts
de-recognised at the
dates of disposal

ARET T
RMB’000
EHERH#REEFE Net identifiable assets disposed of:
ME - BB KR (s 15) Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 35,054
RIEFRIBE B Deferred taxation assets 74,869
& E (HsF16) Investment properties (Note 16) 12,071,198
FEURBE SR - HifEURBRIE BT 2kI8  Trade receivables, other receivables
and prepayments 322,039
HIHE 2= Properties for sale 1,369,323
FE I8 Prepaid taxation 30,945
i Uk A B 5 SR IE Amounts due from related parties 825,608
JRE Ui I 4R A A 2 TR IR Amounts due from non-controlling interests 730,176
Re RRTTHER Cash and bank balances 1,044,710
JE A BR 0 S EL At JE S AR TE Trade and other payables (1,887,420)
FER R I8 Taxation payable (47,448)
RITEE Bank borrowings (1,127,820)
JE 1< B BSe 77 SR 1B Amounts due to related parties (1,013,704)
FE AT FE 2 B M 2 SR IR Amounts due to non-controlling interests (213,309)
EIERRIAEAE Deferred taxation liabilities (1,519,392)
10,694,829
TR Non-controlling interests (2,070,643)
8,624,186
B (E Consideration received 7,436,720
REEMFREBRE L AFE— Fair value of retained equity interest held by
DEARNEEREIIRE the Group — classified as investment in
joint ventures 2,240,579
9,677,299
HEMB AR 2 W F58 (ME7) Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 7) 1,053,113
PE RIEHEEEZRER Net cash inflow arising on disposal/deemed
HEE disposal:
BURE Consideration received 7,436,720
EHEZRESRBITHET Cash and bank balances disposed of (1,044,710)
6,392,010
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43, AR E A (4)
BE-—ZE-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

REE—ZE-_—F+-_A=+—RHILFE

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group disposed

AEBEEMEMBAT -

two subsidiaries.

FEEREESR FEEREE
BEHE HRELER
BFENRE BFENRE
Equity Equity
interest interest
held by the held by the
Group before Group after
disposal disposal
Month of or deemed or deemed
disposal disposal disposal Consideration
ARSF 7
RMB'000
EFEMEEREBR AR —T-—%=R 100% 49% -
Xiamen Runyun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. March 2021
PR EEEE AR AR —T=—F+=A 100% 49% 53,539
Chengdu Jinxing China Resources Land Co., Ltd. December 2021
53,539
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43, BB A E (4)
BE-E-—F+-A=1t—HILEFEE (&)

MREZSEME R RIEHEE B & IR
BENABESENOT

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Continued)

Assets and liabilities derecognised at the dates in loss of control
of subsidiaries are as follows:

K& R

o E

RILFERTE

Amounts
de-recognised at the
dates of disposal
ARBETT
RMB’000

EHERHERIEEFE -
W - BE MR (HRE15)

Net identifiable assets disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 97

EERIEE E Deferred taxation assets 6,939
"EYE (5T 16) Investment property (Note 16) 231,224
JEBEFR « HAh fEURBRIE I Trade receivables, other receivables
B RIE and prepayments 218,595
HEEZME Properties for sale 2,833,529
Re MRITETF Cash and bank balances 44,472
FET BRI N AL JE S BRTE Trade and other payables (3,177,396)
EERIEEE Deferred taxation liabilities (18,357)
139,103
B (E Consideration received 53,539
AREBFTIFRBIE 2 N FE Fair value of retained equity interest held by
— DEAN—HALDEZIEER the Group - classified as investment in a joint
R—REEgE RG] ZHE venture and investment in an associate 71,920
125,459
HEMRB AR ZEEFEME7) Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 7) (13,644)
HEEEZRERAFHE : Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
SR E Consideration received 53,539
BEHECZIRE RIRTTET Cash and bank balances disposed of (44,472)
9,067
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44. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

BE-E-_—_F+-HA=1+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2022

RNEBE-_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—RILEE
AEEBBKETINBAREREERE

& :

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group acquired
assets and liabilities through acquisition of following
subsidiaries:

KA K&
r5EEE B 3 ]
Wi A& HkRE KR E
Equity interest  Equity interest
held by the held by the
Month of Group before Group after
acquisition acquisition acquisition  Consideration
ARBTT
RMB'000
BHEEBERAAREMBAR —T-=f5-A - 60% 144,369
Zhengzhou Kanglong Property Management Co., Ltd. and January 2022
its subsidiary
REBRRREEERAR () “E--%-R 30% 30% -
Jiaxing Runsheng Construction Development Co., Ltd. (Note i) February 2022
RILBHERERAA “E--%KA - 51% 739,500
Kunshan Bokai Real Estate Co., Ltd. June 2022
Wt REREREAR AR (i) R FRA - 16% 63,014
Hubei Lianchen Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (Note i) June 2022
AmEEERERERRAR (Faii) “E-F+R 50% 50% -
Henan Runzheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (Note iii) July 2022
MNAMZEREBR R A RERBF AR (FTiv) —T-—%+tR 51% 51% -
Hangzhou Land Airlines Investment Co., Ltd. July 2022
and its subsidiary (Note iv)
lmEREREREER AT (M) —E-ZFNA 35% 36% 12,754
Foshan Runsui Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (Note v) September 2022
EfkAREHEREERAR —Z--F+R - 51% -
Xiamen Zhaogisheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. October 2022
IRABREREXRARAR —E-—%+A - 51% 1,844,602
Beijing Hesheng Runjing Real Estate Co., Ltd. October 2022
IRBFRERMHTRERAR “TZZF1A - 51% 105
Beijing Ruiging Architectural Decoration Engineering Co., Ltd. October 2022
AL RMEHEREERAF] - Sk - 70% 304,879
Xi ‘an Feihe Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. November 2022
TEEEERARAA “T-=F+=A - 90% 669,258
Shanghai Deze Real Estate Co., Ltd. December 2022
3,778,481
FEHEMARAE  China Resources Land Limited 277
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ZRWBENBRrAERNEERER

(&)

BE-E-_—_S+-A=+—HLFE (&)

e -

278

@i

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

R-ZT-——F-f =EHFEIABERD
A(EEBAEDNRRERZBBERARE
BREZ-BITIRE  BASENRERESR
FRIA50.5% M BB ER60% ° Bt + A&
SEEMNEFZEER  REEIERBASE
En—MAaatESAHNBAR -

BEAEEERZMERREA 16% HRHE -
BZMBRRIREAAEENINEBIR - &M
BRAAMNESSH-RERANK - AEEEH#
RARZEZMBERRSHEEHH3IHAZ
M A RIBAEREE BT 50% SkIA EE 4L
I REBEEES1%KERE  MHERF
HERHFTHEELHRERBR - BEFR
5 AREARANT R RERERRE
& Bt ANEEEZME AR EAEE -

BEAREE R XM E R A A 50% HORHE -
BZMBRRIREAAEENIEBRR « &M
BRAAMNESSHIRERANK - AEEEH#
REARZEZMBERRZRESETH 22 A%
M A RIRAEREE B 50% SkIA EE 4L
I REBEEES1%KRERE  MHERF
HERHFTHEELHRERBR - BEFR
5 AREARANT MR RERERRE
& - Bt ANEEEZME AR EAEE -

RZZEZZF+ A NKHEMEREFRA
Al (MM ETEARER  BEME
BB\ B TS e B RSR MZB FR B BUA ERIR
BB MM AHEIS1% BEHAEBRZE R
HzEREGIEGE  BESBAREEMNH
BAF] -

BEREEENZME R RS 36% HAE
BZMBRRBERASENNERR - %M
BRAMNESSHsRERMENX - AEEAE
REREZEZMBRASHEREHHIEAZ
M A BRIERE A B H 50% SIA_ EE S
BN REBEH70% KR ERE - MEA A
HREDTHEEZHREERB EER
7 AREEARAOX IR ERE
& it - AEEHZHE R REGEE
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44. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(v)

In February 2022, Jiaxing Runsheng Construction Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Jiaxing Runsheng”)’s shareholders agreed to increase the voting
rights of the Group, from the previous 50.5% to the current 60% by
revising the Articles of Association and entering into an acting in
concert agreement. As a result, the Group is able to control Jiaxing
Runsheng, which has changed from a joint venture to a subsidiary of
the Group since then.

The subsidiary is classified as a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group only attributed to 16% equity interest in the subsidiary. The
board of directors of the subsidiary comprises 5 directors. The Group
has the right to nominate and appoint 3 out of the 5 directors in the
subsidiary and the relevant activities of the subsidiary require 50% or
more of directors’ approval. Moreover, the Group has 51% voting
right and the relevant activities of the subsidiary are required to be
approved with simple majority of voting rights. The directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently a dominant voting interest
to direct the relevant activities, and therefore, the Group has control
over the subsidiary.

The subsidiary is classified as a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group only attributed to 50% equity interest in the subsidiary. The
board of directors of the subsidiary comprises 3 directors. The Group
has the right to nominate and appoint 2 out of the 3 directors in the
subsidiary and the relevant activities of the subsidiary require 50% or
more of directors’ approval. Moreover, the Group has 51% voting
right and the relevant activities of the subsidiary are required to be
approved with simple majority of voting rights. The directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently a dominant voting interest
to direct the relevant activities, and therefore, the Group has control
over the subsidiary.

In July 2022, Hangzhou Land Airlines Investment Co. LTD. (“Hangzhou
Land”) revised its articles of association that all of the strategic
financial and operating decisions must be made by simple majority of
voting rights. 51% equity interests of Hangzhou Land were held by
the Group and has control over the entity, classified it as a subsidiary
of the Group.

The subsidiary is classified as a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group only attributed to 36% equity interest in the subsidiary. The
board of directors of the subsidiary comprises 5 directors. The Group
has the right to nominate and appoint 3 out of the 5 directors in the
subsidiary and the relevant activities of the subsidiary require 50% or
more of directors’ approval. Moreover, the Group has 70% voting
right and the relevant activities of the subsidiary are required to be
approved with simple majority of voting rights. The directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently a dominant voting interest
to direct the relevant activities, and therefore, the Group has control
over the subsidiary.



44, W b e o v (48) 44. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
ERWEBHBATENMEERAR ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(&) THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

BE-S-_—F#+-A=+—HILEFE(#) For the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

RIRE B
BRNEHE

Amounts

recognised at
the dates of

acquisition
AREF T
RMB'000
EUWEEIE AR A A EEFE Net identifiable assets of the subsidiaries acquired:
Y% - BEMEE (HFE15) Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 56,240
LEYE (MsF16) Investment properties (Note 16) 1,611,656
EIERIAE B Deferred taxation assets 187,040
FAEEE (MF17) Right-of-use-assets (Note 17) 7,450
SEmENEE 2 AR Prepayments for non-current assets 2,774
HEsE 7 Properties for sale 37,276,609
FEURBR S ~ EfbFEUCBRIE - B FIBRK  Trade receivables, other receivables, prepayments
i and deposits 1,370,070
JFE Ui BE B 5 BB Amounts due from related parties 1,895,226
JE U S E T2 S A 2 5K TE Amounts due from non-controlling interests 2,129,435
TE IR Prepaid taxation 558,217
RE RIRTTER Cash and bank balances 4,822,645
JE AT BR 5% I ELAth FE A< BR TE Trade and other payables (6,943,732)
HEBE Lease liabilities (7,124)
BHEE Contract liabilities (18,015,212)
e R IE Taxation payable (210,074)
JiE 1<F BBt 75 SRR Amounts due to related parties (4,037,048)
JEST AR M 25 SR IR Amounts due to non-controlling interests (5,621,197)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (1,321,045)
FEEFIAAE Deferred taxation liabilities (298,248)
13,463,682
AR Non-controlling interests (6,891,436)
6,572,246
BEEARE B THHAI Consideration transferred, satisfied by:
Be MR1THEE Cash and bank balances 3,558,344
—EFEMNZERTE Capital contribution paid in 2021 144,369
EBEIZE R Debt-to-equity swap 75,614
JERRAB Consideration payable 154
Wi BB B A IRE FREE Carrying amount of previously held equity interests
at the dates of acquisition 1,965,128
BT EANNEGERER —HE Gain on re-measurement of the previously held
NEIFTE ARz W (FisE7) interests in joint ventures and an associate (Note 7) 828,637
6,572,246

FEBHEMARAA  China Resources Land Limited
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W B R I 2> ] (4E)
BE-Z-_—_F+-HA=+—HLFE

R-FB-_—_F=f AEERE=TKESR
MEY100% i - KEBRBRENRE - B
EEREREEARERIMERNHAR
B - BMNEEMEEEET -

RZE_—FWA AEENUREBEARE
33,439,000 JT M55 = FF W EE U LM AT 51%
ARHE o TN B EBIRETR - A&E
I IEE AR S R (G T || UM AT R B & 2=
SFEZ L BIETER I UM A FEFE A AE RS -

R-Z-—_FH A AEERE=TTKER
BREMEZARNR ([FRRE]) RTHT
MH)100% Bt KERFEREKE  EF
AEMENEEEREERIMNERNIAR
B - mBRRESTHTENENEEEES -

WEERAAEEETEEREAMEEEE
BBES ) — & D ©
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44. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS
For the year ended 31 December 2022

In March 2022, the Group acquired a 100% interest in Yuzhou
from third parties at a consideration including cash
consideration, debt assumption and contingent consideration
based on the actual delivery progress of the managed areas.
Yuzhou is engaged in the property management business.

In April 2022, the Group acquired a 51% interest in Sichuan
Jiuzhou from third parties at a consideration of R\MB33,439,000.
Sichuan Jiuzhou is engaged in the property management
business. The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling
interest in Sichuan Jiuzhou at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of Sichuan Jiuzhou's identifiable net assets.

In May 2022, the Group acquired a 100% interest in Nantong
Changle Property Co., Ltd (“Nantong Changle”) and Jiangsu
Zhongnan from third parties at a consideration including cash
consideration, debt assumption and contingent consideration
based on the actual delivery progress of the managed areas.
Nantong Changle and Jiangsu Zhongnan are engaged in the
property management business.

The acquisitions were made as part of the Group's strategy to
expand its property management operation in the PRC.
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ERUWE (E)
BE-ZE-_—F+-A=t+—HLFE(#)

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities at the

AHAEERBENKERBNQFER

1S acquisition dates are as follows:

1A Uk 8 By

BANAFE

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition

AREFIT

RMB’000

Y - BB K& (M1EE15) Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 23,846
EREEE (MiE17) Right-of-use assets (Note 17) 12,125
EmREE (M:E18) Intangible assets (Note 18) 1,424,300
R—HEE AR 2"E Investment in an associate 370
IRIETRIBE B Deferred taxation assets 21,959
HEmirE Other inventories 1,328
FEURBR TR Trade receivables 399,041
B FROE  Hfb U ERIE R E A E Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 767,856
SRR HISRITIF 5K Restricted bank deposits 11,408
e MIRTTET Cash and bank balances 170,628
FETBR RN M PR P 2 B Trade and bills payables (322,431)
E b e ERIE M BT E A Other payables and accruals (643,796)
HEAE Lease liabilities (8,597)
EH8E Contract liabilities (501,998)
FERTRRIE Taxation payable (5,376)
FIERIAEE Deferred taxation liabilities (354,435)
996,228
AR A Non-controlling interests (18,416)
I E A 2 B (F15E19) Goodwill on acquisition (Note 19) 1,804,719
2,782,531

BEERE  ETH AN Consideration transferred, satisfied by:

He MRTTET Cash and bank balances 1,434,130
H T ERTE Other payables 395,761
HARE —IBRATEF ABRZ 2R A E Contingent consideration — financial liabilities at FVPL 952,640
2,782,531

FEBHEMARAA  China Resources Land Limited
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W B R I 2> ] (4E)
ERWEE (&)
BE-ZE_—F+-A=t+—HLLFE(#)

AREE E YR B HIRISREE N R IRERT
ERUBHERR ERBEERSKEE
BEMNESRERE  WETHBURRBHR
M S RRE F R HEE R

ERBEMZN—#D  AXNIAKRE
ZRERTURBEBRBN - EBRELTEHT
MNEEEE(REREER & HNEE
BR)NERIMNEE - VIEEIEE/A
K ¥ 952,641,000 ' ZRAREREMRR
T BRE-MRITVEFE RKEKR
BEEEHETONFERRSEA N —
R e REAF MR EAERD - BAHETS
BEE—PNEAED -

EERHELIERARBYREENEER
XGRS REAKRENEEREB RS EHE
2 B R ke R B A A aR o FRRIE RER
EEFAAEHRM S N A HA

WEER - &M EIAN - BB RS RIIER
FEARKREBRE—_T__Ft_A=1—
A+ Az Wt KR & m ' BA
R #1,474,588,000 7T I A K % 57,036,000
T o

MAHNEBE—_E-——&F+=-A=+—H1
+TEAYIEEE  AEBEE_T—_—
+=—B=+—HB1+ @A 2 Uz KMoE A
o Rl A AR 207,537,179,000 7T K& A R ¥
32,292,255,000 7T, °

44. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities using the
present value of the remaining lease payments at the date of
acquisition. The right-of-use assets were measured at an
amount equal to the lease liabilities and adjusted to reflect the
favourable terms of the leases relative to market terms.

As part of the purchase agreement, contingent consideration is
payable, which is dependent on the actual delivery progress of
the managed areas (as converted from secured areas and/or
contracted areas) of Yuzhou, Nantong Changle and Jiangsu
Zhongnan subsequent to the acquisition. The initial amount
recognised was RMB952,641,000 which was determined using
the discounted cash flow model and is within Level 3 fair value
measurement. The consideration will be settled every six months
in accordance with the payment schedule in the purchase
agreement. At the date of approval of these financial
statements, no further significant changes to the consideration
are expected.

The goodwill recognised is primarily attributed to the expected
synergies and other benefits from combining the assets and
activities of property management with those of the Group.
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible
for income tax purposes.

After the acquisition, Yuzhou, Sichuan Jiuzhou, Nantong
Changle and Jiangsu Zhongnan contributed RMB1,474,588,000
to the Group’s consolidated revenue and RMB57,036,000 to
the consolidated profit for the twelve months ended 31
December 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the twelve
months ended 31 December 2022, the revenue from the Group
and the profit of the Group for the twelve months ended 31
December 2022 would have been RMB207,537,179,000 and
RMB32,292,255,000, respectively.

ARETTT
RMB’'000

FFAREEEWIRSMAFE Net cash inflow included in investing activities:
EfRERE Cash consideration paid (4,992,474)
BEESHIRS MRTTER Cash and bank balances acquired 4,993,273
799
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AREBHWAIATERARE - HEFTHMEL R
RERE M RR AR -

45. COMMITMENTS

The Group has the following material commitments, which are
contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements as follows:

2022 2021

AR¥T T AREEFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
EMLTEE CEARMY : Capital expenditure in respect of:

— R HIEEME — Properties under development for sale 76,512,126 71,763,088

— IR EME — Investment properties
under construction 16,378,163 17,658,920
92,890,289 89,422,008

& e 46. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

RBEHR - NREBART R M RME
ERTUTEE  FRASEER —RIRTT
REMEE 2 ER

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had pledged the
following assets to banks and other financial institution as
securities against general banking and other facilities granted to
the Group:

2022 2021

AR® T AREFIT

RMB'000 RMB'000

KEYE Investment properties 84,208,000 78,235,059
e 2 Properties for sale 11,354,534 16,924,302
M BE NERE Property, plant and equipment 2,186,025 1,619,869
FREEE Right-of-use assets 732,655 2,130,872
98,481,214 98,910,102

283
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47. K HRME B 2 Az BHIK 47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
TRAFMINSAEEBRERMETHZEBEZ The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
SE)(DEHESNIIERSES) - KERMEE from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
G ABEAERESRERRAKRESRES changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
RAEEZGERERERND B ARMEE which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
FSRERE ° the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows

from financing activities.

EfffE

BRAYE (BHIAER
itARE B EAEER RS
ZERRE  BEARE RiiE : iR

Interest

Amounts due payable

Financial ~ Amounts due tonon- (included in
liabilities at torelated controlling Bank and other Medium-term ~ trade and other Dividend
FVPL parties interests  Lease liabilities borrowings  Senior notes notes payables) payable

AREFR  AR%TR ARBTT ARBTR  ARMTR  ARBTR ARBTT  ARMTR  ARETR  ARWTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000

R-E--%-F-H At 1 January 2022 3510 47,622,944 20,874,752 5,802,132 140,068,750 12,575,147 21,330,954 334,071 - 254,612,260
—SBEEMETESL  — Proceeds from or repayment
&3 of financial liabilities - 5,468,051 (7,117,0%3) (938,840) 6,672,456 - 25,800,000 - - 29,884,614
—CAEBRA — Finance costs paid - (982,153) (644,722) - - (665,862) (985,000 (5,247,542) - (8ssam9)
—EfRE — Dividend paid - - (122,189) = 8 = = - (1031939)  (1110158)
HERENE Financing cash flows - 4,485,898 (8,483,964) (938,840) 6,672,456 (665,862) 24,815,000 (5,247,542) (10,379,329) 10,257,817
BERKE Dividend declared - - 722,189 - - - - - 10,379,329 11,101,518
filg New Leases - - - 1,941,479 - - - - - 1,941,479
SNEER Foreign exchange translation (256) 982,957 16173 = 3,326,475 1,148,381 = 191,237 - 5,724,967
BBER Finance charge 1,454,628 644,122 295,034 - 686,791 952,070 5,622,199 - 9,656,044
WENBRARES Arsing from acquisition
of subsidiaries 952,641 (1,895,226) 5,621,197 15721 1,321,045 = = = = 6,015,378
HENBARREH Arising from disposal
of subsidiaries - 825,608 (213,309) - (1,127,820) - - - - (515,521)
EE-HHEAT Acquisition of additional interest in
s asubsidiary - - 22,389 - - - - - - 22,389
HAtE—THBAR  Partal disposal of a subsidiary
BiEE&RLE without loss of control - - (5,246,000) - - - - - - (5,246,000)
NTERR Fair value adjustments (3,254) - - - - - - - - (3.254)
EhERSEY Other non-cash movements (561,781) (80,000) - - - - - - - (641,781)
RZBZZF+-B=+-H At31 December 2022 390,860 53,396,809 14,218,149 7,115,526 150,260,906 13,744,457 53,098,024 900,565 - 293,125,296
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47. REMETH 2 ABZHE(4) 47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(continued)

3
BEEE Effs BARE EfRE

Interest

Amounts due payable

financial  Amounts due tonon- (included in
ligbilties at to related controlling Bank and other Medium-term trade and other Dividend
FVPL parties interests ~ Lease liabilities borrowings ~ Senior notes notes payables) payable

ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RVBO00  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RVBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBO0O0

W-B--F-f-H At 1 January 2021 15,789 28,193,641 8,134,640 5444307 127,954,3% 12,878,137 24,152,442 333497 - 207,106,849
—SBABMETESL  — Proceeds from or repayment

X of financial liabilities - 19,608,704 12,740,112 (533,186) 12,721,706 - 3,500,000 - - 48,037,336
— BB — Finance costs paid - (1,316,690) (536,746) - - (656,791) (695,150) (4,945,164) - (8,150,541)
—BfRE — Dividend paid - - (1,915,339) - - - - - (8,905,140)  (10,820,479)
HERERE Financing cash flows - 18,292,014 10,288,027 (533,186) 12,721,706 (656,791) 2,804,850 (4,945,164) (8,905,140) 29,066,316
BERRE Dividend declared - - 1,915,339 - - - - - 8905140 10,820479
HEE New Leases - - - 623334 - - - - - 623334
SRS Foreign exchange translation (459) (304,250) - - (607,352) (305,558) - (284,959) - (1,502,578)
BRER Finance charge o153 536,746 267671 - 639,359 WK 520697 - 809680
NFERE Fair value adjustments (11,820) - - - - - - - - (11,820)
AZB-—E+ZA=—H At31 December 2021 3510 47,622,944 20,874,752 5802132 140,068,750 12,575,147 27,330,954 334,07 - 254,612,260
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(A) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH CRCL
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (THE “CRCL GROUP")

48. BN
(A) BREREFREWEAR(HE
EHEENEARS
LATF@EIBAEW Tz ERME

The following is a summary of the significant related party

TEHME - transactions entered into by the Group during the year:
2022 2021
AR®TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000

() REULTALHHEESR

BEEBWA income from:
EE PN Fellow subsidiaries 478,601 509,633
FRREEAR A R Intermediate holding companies 1,991 41
EMTIH“’“ 7 Ultimate holding company 9,820 10,070
EERIEE QT Joint ventures and associates 248,641 143,292
739,053 663,036
(i) KREUTALHEE. Construction, decoration services and
NSRRGSR B A A other income from:
EE =N T Fellow subsidiaries 602,940 949,200
HRREER A Intermediate holding companies 64,804 85,986
SRR 7 Ultimate holding company 3,089 11,705
A Joint ventures 1,560,598 940,546
VNS Associates 531,638 527,653
2,763,069 2,515,090
(i) RERZEMEATL Marketing service income from
SR UA fellow subsidiaries 57,091 -
(iv) SfIEZMEA R Platform services expenses to
FalRBER fellow subsidiaries 115,322 -
V) MmMRRMBAR Purchase of construction materials
PREEEM from fellow subsidiaries 66,911 53,048
(vi) ZFNRERMEATE IT services and products expenses to
=Rt MRERER fellow subsidiaries 176,519 132,687

Rental and management fee
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48. BRI AL 5 (4])

BHhREFREWE AR (HE
FHEE)NEAXRS (H)

(A)

(vii) BERBEBRTROBRAF
(TE#EEERT ) REBRARET
BFRAFA(EBERD (F&H
ERMEBAR) 2EBESFEHR

RZEZZF+=-A=+—8"
R MIRTT4 ﬁ&ﬁ$$@ﬁ$
B ITHTRARE
266208400071:(_T_ ¢
AR #2,803,967,000 7T ) °
TFRIRIRITTF 31 =& |‘n’u¢ﬂ”
030% %£3.20%(=Z&F = — £ :
0.30% £3.00%) 5t B - REE
T —F+-_A=t+—HItF
B ZEGE FEZ%IJQM&M@
%A N RH88,497,000L( =&
——% : AR#25,982,0007T) °
RZEZ—FR-_FT-_—F+=
A=1+—8 x&EHEEER
§+/F3"~j{:|u{°
(viii) FEZEHEERABESIFE
HE-_Z_—_F#+-_A=+—
BIEFE ANEERFEHZEE
£ B &5 A AR ¥ 28,008,129,000
T(ZZEZ—F: ARK
38,601,388,0007T) @ 4F F &
51.00%E592% (=& = —
F:0.86%%3.92%) c HE
—T-_—_F+=-A=+—H1
FEREBFPHEDEBRNER
EENFEERREAARE
341,962,000 7T (_E:—E :
A R #503,818,0007T) °
T __—_F+=-_A=+— ElFEH
FEEBEEMNSCEAARE
12,933,880,000 70 (=T = —4:
ANE#17,465,297,0007T) °

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(A) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH CRCL
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (THE “CRCL GROUP")
(continued)

(vii)

(viii)

FEBHEMARAA  China Resources Land Limited

Strategic cooperation agreement with Zhuhai
China Resources Bank Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”) and
China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR
Trust”), fellow subsidiaries of the Group

As at 31 December 2022, cash and bank balances
include deposits of RMB2,662,084,000 (2021:
RMB2,803,967,000), made by the Group to CR
Bank. The said deposits carry interest at prevailing
deposit rates which range from 0.30% to 3.20%
(2021: 0.30% to 3.00%) per annum. The aggregate
interest income arising from such deposits
amounted to RMB88,497,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB25,982,000).

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, no borrowings
of the Group had been raised from CR Trust.

Intra-group lending with CRCL Group

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group borrowed RMB28,008,129,000 (2021:
RMB38,601,388,000) from CRCL Group with
interest rates ranging from 1.00% to 5.92% per
annum (2021: 0.86% to 3.92%). The aggregate
interest expenses arising from these borrowings
from the CRCL Group were RMB341,962,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB503,818,000). The amount due to the CRCL
Group as at 31 December 2022 was
RMB12,933,880,000 (2021: RMB17,465,297,000).
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48. BN L2 5 (#)
(A) EFEEERAHEAR(HEHE

288

(B)

FHEE|)NEAXRS (F)

(ix) RFEBRRERERIT(FER
MR EEFTLHRAERER

REBEE_TE_—_F+_-_A=+—
HIELFE  AEEREBRRSE
B & & A K #2,000,000,0007C
ZEZ—F:F) FMEKA
310% (=T =—4F : T) - P&
EE-__F+-RA=+—H1
FE - RAEBRIEBRNFE
WS #a%E A AR ¥ 689,000 T(—
T —F:F) o RZE ==
+-A=+—8  BREERE
SEFIE A AR 2,000,000,000
T(ZF=—F:F)-

METAECEREE QDR
ARHEEZER

R-ZBE-_—_F+-_A=+—0 K&
EoRmAEEE TAECERBE
RRZEERFSREER  ERE
2 Bl A AR 16,737,000,000 7T (=&
——%: AR¥13,355,000,0007T) &
AR #53,664,000,000 T(=—F = —4F :
A R #2,477,000,0007T ) * Ty iR i AR
SERNEECERBE QR ZIREL
BlfmED -

MHERANRBRESHERER
MAERCEHRDERRARS SR
MERDEFE - AEBEFHHBEE
RZNRFER R FENARFAEHIE
EBERBBEBRALTERX -
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(A) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH CRCL

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (THE “CRCL GROUP")
(continued)

(ixX) Onshore framework loan with China Resources
Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”) Group

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group lent RMB2,000,000,000 (2021: Nil) to CR
Gas Group with interest rates 3.10% (2021: Nil).
The aggregate interest revenue from the CR Gas
Group were RMB689,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil). The amount due from
the CR Gas Group as at 31 December 2022 was
RMB2,000,000,000 (2021: Nil).

(B) PROVISION OF GUARANTEES TO CERTAIN

JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES RELATED
TO THEIR BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided guarantees
of RMB16,737 million (2021: RMB13,355 million) and
RMB3,664 million (2021: RMB2,477 million) to certain
joint ventures and associates of the Group related to their
borrowings, respectively, based on the Group’s proportion
of equity interests in the joint ventures and associates.

Financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher
of the ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised
less the cumulative amount of income recognised. The
Group assessed that the fair value at initial recognition of
the financial guarantees and the ECL allowance during the
year were not significant.



48. BRI AL 5 (4])

(@

(D)

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

FTEEBAEZEHE (C) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT

ARBAITEFRAKEEMBEESE
BABRFERZFHFMMT

PERSONNEL

The remuneration of executive directors of the Company
and other members of the key management of the Group
during the year is as follows:

2022 2021

ARET T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HHR BRER Short-term employee benefits 44,989 65,628
BEE 2R Post-employment benefits 1,195 1,388
46,184 67,016

ERREMBFEBER ZEXR

R5

AEERTERFERXEREGT L
2HIER ((BFEBEER D X8
BRI E T2 & o o - AEE
AENATEBITAAESZHEER
T —ERARRREB AR 2 &5 -

BR EXX(A) & (B)EIEES - ALK TR
BT B ETT AT X -
ARPEERREZTHTEMRER
ETRS BREFAFRZE LR
BB IRSETT - AREITFE HIER
HEBHEEK - MRFHRRL AR
FHTFITREBFIEHEELR -

(D) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER

GOVERNMENT-RELATED ENTITIES IN THE PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment currently
predominated by entities directly or indirectly owned or
controlled by the PRC government (“government-related
entities”). In addition, the Group itself is part of a larger
group of companies under CRCL which is controlled by
the PRC government.

Apart from the disclosures in (A) and (B) above, the Group
also conducts the following business with other
government-related entities. The directors of the Company
consider that the transactions with these government-
related entities are within normal business operations and
are carried out on market terms. The Group has developed
transaction pricing policies and these policies do not
depend on whether or not the counterparties are
government-related entities.
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48. BRI L2 5 (4])
(D) HHEEMBFHERERZEX

X5 (&)

()  ARBBBRIRAZFRAM
S (BRETERER) WE
THERRE

(i) AEBEERTREHERE(BR
BFEEER) D ETRETR
MEERS &

i) AEBMBESRHUEELETER
25 MARAEERAEHR
RHUFHZHG - BTRRZ

27 B BT AR 8 (T
WRAAT ©

B 32 () R () Ef T R EE & N » AN A
EERR ERFTRAERERET
MEMRXSHAREBMSLAEK -
B 1 3 {56 PR 5 48 BT B P i
BERGIRABIEAREERS
THERRITREBMBBRY - EREIZ
ERXFGZEE  ARBEERRAE
BEZEFRFEBERBIRIZHREL
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(D) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER

GOVERNMENT-RELATED ENTITIES IN THE PRC
(continued)

(i)  The Group has acquired land use rights through
tendering to those government departments or
agencies, which are government-related entities;

(i) The Group has entered into various deposits and
lending transactions with banks and financial
institutions, which are government-related entities;
and

(iii)  The Group has sale and purchase transactions with
customers and suppliers, in which the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that it is
impracticable to ascertain the identity of the
counterparties and, accordingly, whether the
transactions are with government-related entities.

Other than those disclosed in section (i) and (ii) above, the
directors of the Company consider that the other
transactions with those government-related entities are
not material to the Group. Majority of the land use rights
were tendered through government departments or
agencies and majority of the deposits and lending
transactions were entered with banks and financial
institutions. In view of the nature of these transactions,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that
guantitative information on the extent of transactions
between the Group and the government related entities
would not be meaningful.
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F+=
KN

(A) UFAR-B-—FR-F——
A=+ —BOEEHEL DA
AAESRAZSHBATERY

KEHRE  BEXAE -
REEMHBATNFE
RITE o

GEYNSEA

Name of subsidiary

@ﬁ?ﬁléﬁﬂﬂ

49. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

ASSOCIATES

(A) The following are particulars of the principal subsidiaries
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 which, in the opinion of

$ the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results, assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of

other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

BEARE/
BlRAZEE
Nominal value of

issued share capital/
paid-up capital

W+ZA=+-H
AASEREZEETREAZ
EfEHS TEXK
Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital held by the

Group as at 31 December Principal activities

2022 2021

EREWORIDAERRA
(PfT5Eii) (Note i)

REBERENRTEHERRLA]

(MEED) (Note i)

EB(RI)BERDA
(FIzEii) (Note i)

BEWM(RZ)REERD
(MT i) (Note i)

EREH(HEMN)BERARLF
(HEED) (Note i)

BEHEN HEEEER
(W i) (Note i)

EHEERMEREER LT
(Fft3E1) (Note i)

75%3,000,000,0007C
HK$3,000,000,000

AK#1,380,000,0007T
RMB1,380,000,000

##500,000,0007T
HK$500,000,000

AFR2,889,000,0007T
RMB2,889,000,000

AR#40,816,3277C
RMB40,816,327

ARH1,776,386,3637C
RMB1,776,386,363

AK#450,000,0007T
RMB450,000,000

100% 100% WERERER
Property investment
and development

100% 100% MERERER
Property investment
and development

100% 100% WERERER
Property investment
and development

51% 51% WERERER
Property investment
and development

100% 100% #WEER
Property development
100% 100% #EER
Property development
89% 89% MERANER

Property investment
and development
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49. HE A - AEAZEBES AT 49. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
(%) ASSOCIATES (continued)
(A) (&) (A) (continued)
#+=A=+-A
BEARE/  BAEEREZBEIRAL
HBARETE BRRAZBE E{ELLD) TEE

Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital/ issued share capital held by the

Name of subsidiary paid-up capital Group as at 31 December Principal activities

2022 2021

292

EEEERHEREERAR AR#2,196,078,4317T 51% 51% YERELRER
(F3ED) (Note i) RMB2,196,078,431 Property investment
and development
WA EREHEREER AR AE#530,000,0007T 100% 100% HEERE
(P3E1) (Note i) RMB530,000,000 Property development
AEBERHERRLA AR#2,477,346,3607T 100% 100% WMERERER
(i3 i) (Note i) RMB2,477,346,360 Property investment
and development
MM EHEHEREERAR AR#2,900,000,0007T 100% 100% WERERERE
(FI7E1) (Note i) RMB2,900,000,000 Property investment
and development
AEBEEHEREERAR AR #730,000,0007T 100% 100% WERERER
(HEED) (Note i) RMB730,000,000 Property investment
and development
HREREHERERR AR AK#1,558,400,0007T 100% 100% HFERE
(F35Ei) (Note i) RMB1,558,400,000 Property development
HERERHEREERAR AR %600,000,0007T 100% 100% WERERER
(FIzE1) (Note i) RMB600,000,000 Property investment
and development
RETHARMEERAR AR#4,512,000,0007C 70% 0%  DREE
(FI5Ei) (Note i) RMB4,512,000,000 Property development
REBMEXERAF (M) (Note ) AR#500,000,0007 100% 100% WERERERE
RMB500,000,000 Property investment
and development
REHSEHERERRAA A& #1,200,000,0007T 100% 100% #MEER
(HEED) (Note i) RMB1,200,000,000 Property development
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49. HE AT - B AZEHEBE S AT 49. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
(%) ASSOCIATES (continued)
(A) (&) (A) (continued)
#+=A=+-A
BEARE/  BAEEREZBRTRAZ
HBARETRE BRRAZEE E{ELLD) TEER

Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital/ issued share capital held by the

Name of subsidiary paid-up capital Group as at 31 December Principal activities
2022 PAA
BT EREHEREERAF AE®646,700,0007T 66% 35% MEER
(HEED) (Note i) RMB646,700,000 Property development
EHREBRRA (M) (Note i) AK¥1,200,000,0007C 100% 100% 5%
RMB1,200,000,000 Construction
R85 ) ERRAA 169,000,003 7 100% 100% WEREREE
(HEED) (Note i) US$169,000,000 Property investment and
development
MMM EREBRAA A 1,500,000,000 70 51% 51% &K
(FIzEi) (Note i) RMB1,500,000,000 Investment holding
ERENRERHEREERAF AR 20,000,0007T 100% 100% MEEE
(HEED) (Note i) RMB20,000,000 Property development
REERRRFEHEREER AR AR#10,000,0007 100% 100% MEEE
(FiZEi) (Note i) RMB10,000,000 Property development
Bat Notes:
(i) ZWB AR —RKRPBIK Y REE 2 (i) The subsidiary is a domestic enterprise established and
NERE - operating in the PRC.
(i)  ZMBRR T —RAPBIR REE 2 (i) The subsidiary is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise established
HNEBE RS - and operating in the PRC.
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49, I(‘ﬁ;ﬁﬁié}ﬁl s BB RS A
(B) BEE AR IR 032 E M
B AT E

TRINTAREEBEA SR ER

49. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (continued)
(B) DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned

HIZER BB AR5 subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:
AR FERERREZERTER DR IR
B AER ITRERIE IR/ BIRRA 2 L REERA 2at R
Place of Proportion of ownership of
incorporation issued ordinary share capital/
and principal paid-up capital held by Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiaries place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
ARETRE ARETT ARETrn AR®TR
% % RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ESREBRAR(ES]) EEEXHS 45 45 275,687 502,076 3,500,939 3,743,259
Best Scene Investment Limited ~ BVI
("Best Scene”)
DEENEEFERE e 50 50 66,595 64,140 2,500,056 2,458,461
BRARN(EER]) PRC
frERRAR ([HE]) RERAHE 40 40 586,960 315222 3,582,438 3,201,017
Brilliant Palace Investment BVI
Limited ("Brilliant Palace")
R ERERN R EANE AR 3,348,654 4112711 88,076,548 56,143,967
Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests
4,277,896 4,994,149 97,659,981 65,546,704
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(#1)

49. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

ASSOCIATES (continued)
(B) BEEARFEZEREZNIZENW (B) DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
B AT (8) SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)
BREAANEEHAE AT AT Summarised financial information in respect of subsidiaries
BATNMBERBEENMT o LA of the Group that have material non-controlling interests
THBERBEAEERAR AFEH is set out below. The summarised financial information
AR 78 ° below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.
&5 R e
Best Scene Brilliant Palace
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
FREBAE Non-current assets 9,036,905 8,624,672 189,478 246,614 10,611,140 9,265,007
TEEE Current assets 1,797,656 2,271,186 5,091,566 5,682,915 1,941,635 1,213,905
THEE Current liabilities (1,677,182) (1,049,425) (280,932) (1,012,607) (1,493,271) (731,538)
FnEeE Non-current liabilities (1,377,515) (1,528,080) - - (2,103,410) (1,744,832
RARHENERER  Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 4,278,925 4,575,094 2,500,056 2,458,461 5,373,656 4,801,525
iR Non-controlling interests 3,500,939 3,743,259 2,500,056 2,458 461 3,582,438 3,201,017
ezs Revenue 938,580 830,195 30,664 115,668 1,497,919 1,343,282
ANEHEAEEER  Profit attributable to owners
of the Company 336,950 613,648 66,595 64,140 880,440 472,832
FIERERE (DR Profit attributable to
non-controlling interests 275,687 502,076 66,595 64,140 586,960 315,222
ERRF Profit for the year 612,637 1,115,724 133,190 128,280 1,467,400 788,054
ANEHEAEEZE  Total comprehensive income
Waia% attributable to owners
of the Company 377,491 613,114 66,595 64,140 1,030,603 468,400
JEmREREEZE  Total comprehensive income
[enrir attributable to
non-controlling interests 308,856 501,638 66,595 64,140 687,068 312,266
FREZERRLE Total comprehensive income
for the year 686,347 1,114,752 133,190 128,280 1,717,671 780,666
LETENE/(FE)  Net cash generated from/(used in)
BeFE operating activities 247,443 (614,329) (339,987) (192,290) 688,181 (96,478)
REZH(FA)/FE  Netcash (used in)/generated from
BeFE investing activities (110,191) 355,129 752,028 101,547 (785,100) (50,745)
BEEH(MA),/ME  Netcash (used in)/generated from
BeFa financing activities (236,820) (344,147) (422,000) 99,820 - -
Be(REL)/mAEE  Net cash (outflow)inflow (99,568) (603,347) (9,959) 9,077 (96,919) (147.223)
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w.ﬁﬁ&ﬂ‘ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁm%&ﬁ
(O TRIFAKEMAERE MAR
AEERARSAECEIEVES
REEREARBEEFENEAR
%o ARREERBREAMAEL

T HERERERBNTR -

RELEATE

Name of joint venture

49. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

ASSOCIATES (continued)

(C) The table below lists the joint ventures of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results of the year or form a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other joint ventures would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

R+—A=+—HBA%H
AR A EhER TEXRB
Attributable interest
indirectly held by the Group
as at 31 December Principal activities

2022 2021

bPammaEaR AR (KD (Note )

EHEMWRTEECRM) BRAF
(B 5Eii) (Note ii)

T EEEARAF (ML) (Note iii)

EEEBETHERRREERAT
(BiH5Eii % iv) (Notes i and iv)

LEEEEHERBEBR AR
(P =Eii) (Note ii)

FEESEHERBERR AT
B EE i) (Note ii)

ERHEBEEEWERAT
(Pt ii & iv) (Notes ii and iv)

50% 50% WERERER
Property investment
and development

50% 51% WERERER
Property investment
and development

50% 50% EZER
Investment holding

51% 51% WERERER
Property investment
and development

50% 50% WEKRERER
Property investment
and development

50% 50% WEER
Property development

51% 51% W¥EER
Property development

mREEREERZEGIR AR (KEEii) (Note i) 50% 50% EIERE

296 —= - —4E#H%  ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Property development
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49. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (continued)
(©) (continued)

BEMEATE

Name of joint venture

RT-ZA=+—B84%H
A E(h s
Attributable interest

B3

indirectly held by the Group

as at 31 December Principal activities

2022 2021

bFZEBEERAR AR (MIFEi) (Note ii)

R E ER AR AR (M) (Note i)

IEFBRMBEBRA G
(Ft3Eii & iv) (Note ii and iv)

BINGEE ER AR QA (i) (Note ii)

IEFUEEEEAR AR (M) (Note i)

YT RIEEREBR AR

(3% & iv) (Notes i and iv)

BB (AER) BEXRBER AR (FFEi) (Note ii)

AREIREHERZERR AR (M) (Note i)

50% 50% WEER

Property development
40% 40% MERERER

Property investment

and development

33% 33% WMEFRER

Property development
50% 50% WEERE

Property development
50% 50% WFEER

Property development
60% 60% WIEERE

Property development
49% 49% WMEBER

Property development
50% 50% WEERE

Property development

st -

() BABLED—IRPERIREEZ
PHRAABLE -

@iy  FZAERET—FERP BRI REE
NEDRE -

(i) FAELEDINEBEMARLREE -

vy AKEDZEARMNEDF ALHHE
H#E - NERREDHREFTED
NS —BEAERE - AIZARIES
REHEBARIME—RAERE -

(i) The joint venture is sino-foreign equity joint venture established
and operating in the PRC.

(ii) The joint venture is domestic enterprise established and
operating in the PRC.

(i)  The joint venture is incorporated and operates in Hong Kong.

(iv)  The company is accounted for as joint venture as at the year
end date as the Group has contractually agreed the sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.
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49ﬁ§&ﬂ‘ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁm%&ﬁ 49.
(D) TRITARBHBMEAR WAR
AEERARSHEANIEYES
REEREARBEEFENEAR
%o ADFEERBRPAMEE D
Az BEREHARBRTR -

o YNCIEY

Name of associate

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

ASSOCIATES (continued)

(D) The table below lists the associates of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results of the year or form a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other associates would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

R+=ZA=+—HA%F&H
AR A EhER FEEK
Attributable interest
indirectly held by the Group
as at 31 December Principal activities

2022 2021

FBELEEEEREER AT
(FF5ED) (Note i)

TN R E G R AR (M) (Note i)

BAREEBEZEAR AR (HsEi) (Note i)
MmN EREMEMREER AT
(FF5E1) (Note i)

MR BLE R ERZEER AR A
(3T K i) (Notes i and iii)

BN EERAE R E W EFRE B R A A
(FF5E1) (Note i)

ENTEEEMEREEREAA
(F¥3E1) (Note i)

B EREHEMBEAR LA (L) (Note i)

BT AEEEBR AR (HFE) (Note i)

BEEEREXREARAF (KD (Note i)

298 —= - —4E#H%  ANNUAL REPORT 2022

50% 50% WEER
Property development

45% 45% YERERERE
Property investment
and development

28% 28% WIFEERE
Property development

34% 34% MEER
Property development

18% 18% MR
Property development

50% 50% WEERE
Property development

50% 50% WEER
Property development

50% 50% WEIERE
Property development

33% 33% MERENERE
Property investment
and development

50% 50% WEER
Property development



49. B AT - A B AEEPEZ AR 49. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
(%) ASSOCIATES (continued)
(D) (#&) (D) (continued)

Rt-—A=+t—HA&H
YN BB R FEEK
Attributable interest
indirectly held by the Group

Name of associate as at 31 December Principal activities
2022 2021
N EEFSESBR AR (ML) (Note i) 50% 50% WIEEE

Property development

AYITHEIBREERBR AR (M) (Note i) 25% 25% MEERE
Property development

A mEEEHERZEER AR 49% 49% ERE
(P 5E 1) (Note i) Property development
b RERAEARAE () (Note i) 27% 27% MERERERE

Property investment
and management

BN IEE 2B R AR (M) (Note i) 50% 50% ¥IEERE
Property development

RINBEEXEBRAE (M) (Note i) 49% 49% MEERE
Property development

EEEHREEREREGRAA 34% 34% MEHRE
(FF5Ei) (Note i) Property development

PeEMEXERAF (KD (Note i) 30% 30% MEHRE
Property development

TN EHBR AR 49% - YEEE
(3£ Rii) (Notes i and i) Property development

IrReaNEREEXZRFRAA 49% - UEERERE
(BF&Ei Kii) (Notes i and ii) Property development

R EEEXERAA 42% - YEEE
(3£ Rii) (Notes i and ii) Property development
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49. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

ASSOCIATES (continued)
(D) (continued)

Notes:

(i) The associate is a domestic enterprise established and
operating in the PRC.

(i) The associate is established/acquired in the current financial
year.

(iii)  The company is accounted for as an associate as at year end
date as the Group has the right to appoint director(s) for the
board of the company and is able to exercise significant
influence over the company.

50. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
include the bank and other borrowings disclosed in note 36, the
senior notes disclosed in note 37 and medium-term notes
disclosed in note 38, net of cash and cash equivalents, amount
due to related parties, amounts due to non-controlling interests
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, and other reserves and perpetual capital
instrument.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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51. OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2022, pursuant to the equity transfer
agreement with the sellers of Yuzhou, Nantong Changle and
Jiangsu Zhongnan (the “Sellers”), The Group has a legally
enforceable right to offset the amounts due from the Sellers
and their related parties from the purchase consideration
payable to the sellers and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis.

The effect of the netting arrangements on the Group'’s financial
position is as below:

RA#T
FELE
URTFEEERENEH ZHNEE LEERERAE
Amounts not
subject to
enforceable

Amounts subject to enforceable netting Balance

netting arrangements arrangements sheet total

REESER

BeH EHEH 2HNRE
Net amounts

reported in

Gross Amounts the balance
amounts offset sheet

ARRTT  ARMTR  ARBTT  ARETRE  ARMTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

SREE Financial assets
EAEZ R ERERE Trade and bill receivables
SRER Financial liabilities

BRTEINERZERERE  Finandial liabilities at FVPL

544,183 544,183 - 18,514,458 18,514,458

935,043 544183 390,860 - 390,860

WRZB_—F+-A=+—0 FEELE
Al TR - ATITARF A E L R L
ENTHEERERARE -

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has no financial assets and
financial liabilities, which is subject to offsetting, enforceable
master netting arrangements and similar agreements.
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52. B b Bl 52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
EMIT R R CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
R-E-_—_%+—-H=+—H As at 31 December 2022

BRAVEFA ZHRSRATE
BEzeREE JIRZESREE

Financial assets

Financial designated
assets at FVPL at FVOCl
TR 8K PR AT R
BEFER BRATLR ZEMEE
Mandatorily Financial
measured Equity assets at
as such instruments  amortised cost
ARBTR ARBT ARBTT ARBTT
SREE Financial assets RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEABBEME2EMWE  Equity instruments designated
BATESIERZRATA at FvoCl - 1,074,060 = 1,074,060
TEHfFR Time deposits - - 2,558,608 2,558,608
JEMBRZ R fEUERTE  Trade and other receivables - - 18,514,458 18,514,458
JEMK B 77 IR Amounts due from related parties - - 41,067,883 41,067,883
FEM SRR i 2 TN TR Amounts due from
non-controlling interests - - 29,333,150 29,333,150
BAFEFAERZ Financial assets at FVPL
TREE 1,216,801 - - 1,216,801
We RFITHET Cash and bank balances - - 97,467,572 97,467,572
1,216,801 1,074,060 188,941,671 191,232,532
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TWMITRZEA (&)

52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

R-B-ZH+-A=1+—H(#)

As at 31 December 2022 (continued)

BOFETA
Bnvemas
Financial liabilities
at FVPL
RERTER R R A
pullig: = SRz e E
Designated as Financial
such upon initial liabilities at
recognition Held for trading  amortised cost
ARBT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR
SREE Financial liabilities RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FEfHBR N E b FERTBRTE  Trade and other payables - - 130,048,819 130,048,819
et BEEsE 7 7R Amounts due to related parties - - 53,396,809 53,396,809
FET IR AR R 2 7R Amounts due to
non-controlling interests - - 14,218,149 14,218,149
HEAR Lease liabilities - - 7,115,526 7,115,526
BITREMEE Bank and other borrowings - - 150,260,906 150,260,906
BEEE Senior notes - - 13,744,457 13,744,457
REIRIE Medium-term notes - - 53,098,024 53,098,024
BATERABRZ Financial liabilities at FVPL
TRARE — 390,860 - 390,860
TESRIEA Derivative financial instruments 212,742 - - 212,742
212,742 390,860 421,882,690 422,486,292
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52. B b PR (4) 52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
SRTEZHER (F) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

R-EBE-_—-F+=-HA=+—H As at 31 December 2021
BT
RATE  EBRHMRAE
E\/ == .Z\\\ 7

SRR & RAE

Financial assets

Financial designated
assets at FVPL at FvOClI
TRESER AN
BEFTER SRRz S REE
Mandatorily Financial
measured Equity assets at
as such instruments amortised cost
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT
SREE Financial assets RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BEASBEMEMWE  Equity instruments designated
BRATEIRZIRATA  at FvOCI - 1,100,462 - 1,100,462
TFEETFER Time deposits - - 2,474,608 2,474,608
JEUWBR A SR B b fEURBRIE  Trade and other receivables - - 19,099,651 19,099,651
FEUR FER T T Amounts due from related parties - - 37,913,833 37,913,833
FEM IEIE IR R 2 71 0E Amounts due from
non-controlling interests - - 19,588,804 19,588,804
BAFEFAERZZ Financial assets at FVPL
TREAE 1,389,813 - - 1,389,813
Re RRITETF Cash and bank balances - - 108,748,123 108,748,123
1,389,813 1,100,462 187,825,019 190,315,294
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52. B b A B (7)) 52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

SRTAEZER (&) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

R-B=-—H+=A=+—H (&) As at 31 December 2021 (continued)

RATERA
BazerafE
Financial liabilities
at FVPL
AR HER

Jalligisha FIfRz e R B S
Designated as Financial
such upon initial liabilities at

recognition  Held for trading amortised cost

AR®FT AREFT AREFT ARETT

SRAE Financial liabilities RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
JERBRZ R H A0 ETERIE  Trade and other payables - - 118,444,188 118,444,188
et BEEsE 7 7R Amounts due to related parties - - 47,622,944 47,622,944
FET IR AR R 2 7R Amounts due to
non-controlling interests - - 20,874,752 20,874,752
HEaE Lease liabilities - - 5,802,132 5,802,132
BITREMEE Bank and other borrowings - - 140,068,750 140,068,750
BEEE Senior notes - - 12,575,147 12,575,147
REIRIE Medium-term notes - - 27,330,954 27,330,954
BRAFEFABRZ Financial liability at FVPL
TRARE - 3,510 - 3,510
PESRIEA Derivative financial instruments 251,575 - - 251,575
251,575 3,510 372,718,867 372,973,952
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52.
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52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets
at FVPL, trade and other receivables, time deposits, amounts
due from related parties, amounts due from non-controlling
interests, equity instruments designated at FVOCI, derivative
financial instruments, cash and bank balances, trade and other
payables, amounts due to related parties, amounts due to non-
controlling interests, bank and other borrowings, financial
liabilities at FVPL, lease liabilities, senior notes and medium-term
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (including currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the Group's exposure to financial
risks or the manner in which it manages and measures.

Market risk
Currency risk

The Group’s businesses are principally conducted in RMB,
except for certain amounts due to non-controlling interests,
amounts due to related parties, amounts due from non-
controlling interests, bank borrowings (note 36), senior notes
(note 37) and cash and bank balances which are arranged in
Hong Kong or overseas and denominated in HK$, US$ and GBP
by the group entities operating in Hong Kong, of which the
functional currency is RMB. The Group manages its currency risk
by closely monitoring the movements of the currency exchange
rates. The Group entered into cross currency swap contracts
with certain financial institutions to reduce its exposure to
currency fluctuation risk.



52. BB R B as B (4) 52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
MERREEEERBE(E) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
ThiE Ak () Market risk (continued)
EEE R (&) Currency risk (continued)
NEREHIR - REBUINEH B2 EEE The Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and
EREEaEZERENT monetary liabilities at the end of the respective reporting period

and the carrying amounts are as follows:

2022 2021

ARBTR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
BE Assets
REBE LB ERE Group entities in Hong Kong
E us$ 1,137,910 912,322
K HK$ 9,022,748 7,888,231
S GBP 59,155 108,338
FA B B & 2 Group entities in the PRC
K HK$ 34,562 22,838
E us$ 951 13,057
b=F-{ Liabilities
REBHEE T Group entities in Hong Kong
e us$ 10,590,088 12,428,786
K HK$ 51,722,905 46,668,315
e GBP 2,532,246 1,119,958
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52. BABS R e A B (4) 52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

M EREE B ERBER (8)

HiEER ()
EEmE (E)
BREDT

AEBZINERBRETRARELAING 2
KE e

TERFLRAEEHARE L BBRBINE 2
5% (T = —F : 5%) IR GURE © A
RgREREEEEHINEER 2 AIBA LR
B 25 - MARB AL BREINETHES%
“E-—F:5%) TXZEEEFAK
B EAIEN - RAREHLBRAIEEE
5% (ZF=—%F :5%)M5  BHEHREE
NEERFMARTE M IXEHBRA
2 o

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group’s foreign currency risk is concentrated on the
fluctuation of RMB against foreign currencies.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2021: 5%) increase and decrease in the RMB against the
relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity rates used represent
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profit for the year where RMB strengthens
5% (2021: 5%) against the relevant currencies. For a 5% (2021:
5%) weakening of RMB against the relevant currencies, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit
and the balance below would be negative.

2022 2021

AR®TT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REBEmEE T Group entities in Hong Kong
F RS Profit for the year 2,280,612 2,329,064
FOFH B 2 [B B 2 Group entities in the PRC
FANBE Loss for the year (1,332) (1,346)
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52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amounts due from
related parties, amounts due from non-controlling interests,
senior notes, medium-term notes, amounts due to non-
controlling interests and amounts due to related parties.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances (see note 32 for details), amounts due
from non-controlling interests, amounts due from related
parties, variable-rate bank and other borrowings (see note 36
for details), amounts due to non-controlling interests and
amounts due to related parties. The Group’s cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR"), Benchmark Loan Rate of The
People’s Bank of China and Sterling Overnight Index Average
("SONIA™") arising from the Group’s HK$, RMB and GBP
denominated borrowings. To manage the Group'’s exposure to
fluctuations in interest rates on specific transactions, appropriate
derivative financial instruments may be used to hedge material
exposure.

As at 31 December 2022, if interest rates had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the
Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2022
would have been RMB27,074,000 lower/higher (2021:
RMB31,297,000).
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52.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and
financial guarantees provided by the Group arose from:

o the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position; and

o the financial guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed
in notes 41 and 48(B).

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amounts
of each individual trade and other receivable at the end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group'’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies or state-owned banks in the
PRC.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings and
amounts due from related parties and non-controlling interests,
the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, in
which exposure is spread over a number of counterparties and
customers.

With respect to the amounts due from related parties and non-
controlling interests, the directors of the Company consider the
credit risk is limited because they have strong financial positions.
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52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

For properties that are presold but development have not been
completed, the Group typically provides guarantees to banks in
connection with the customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to
finance their purchase of the properties for an amount up to
70% of the purchase price of the individual property. If a
purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage during the
period of guarantee, the bank holding the mortgage may
demand the Group to repay the outstanding loan and any
interest accrued thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group
is able to forfeit the sales deposit received and re-sell the
repossessed properties. Therefore, the directors of the Company
consider the Group would likely recover any loss incurred arising
from the guarantee by it. The directors of the Company consider
the credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided to
property purchasers is limited because the facilities are secured
by the properties and the market prices of the properties are
higher than the guaranteed amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank and other borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants. Details of the loan covenants
on the Group’s bank and other borrowings are set out in note
36.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on
the agreed repayment dates.
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52. B e b 48 BE (4 52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

BREREERERBEEK (E&) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

RENE S B (F) Liquidity risk (continued)

ZERBEFNERASE ML o WA S5 The table includes both interest and principal cash outflows. To

ZEIAIR - AIRALIR SRR E REFHNR the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted

LR ZIFEERBEZCHBRITRERE amount is derived from the weighted average interest rate by

ME  AEARRITARBEEREENEMN reference to the HIBOR, Benchmark Loan Rate of The People’s

W R eSS 2 ISR Rt Bank of China and SONIA of the Group's variable-rate financial

HEBH - liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

RERY
1£R 152F 2855 SEME ] SR

On demand
or less than Over Carrying
lyear 1to2years 2tob5years 5 years amount

ARBTR ARETR AR®TR ARBTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000

—ZE--F+-A=+—H 31December 2022

JENBEZ R EMEMEEE  Trade and other payables 130,048,819 - - - 130,048,819 130,048,819
JE S BBEE 5 5UE Amounts due to related parties 40,263,916 7,106,006 8,254,852 - 55,624,774 53,396,809
JER FER AR 2 S0E Amounts due to
non-controlling interests 11,003,323 3,653,935 38,303 - 14,695561 14,218,149
HEaE Lease liabilities 1,954,174 4,999,598 420,619 2,526,683 9,901,074 7,115,526
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 59,267,133 19,110,189 59,255,511 49,974,694 187,607,527 150,260,906
BEFE Senior notes 766,698 7,669,826 334358 6,943,105  15713,987 13,744,457
HHEE Medium-term notes 10,542,900 9,905,000 36,823,150 - 57,271,050 53,098,024
FBER Financial guarantee 79,737,606 = = - 79,737,606 =
BRAFEFABREZ Financial liabilities at FVPL
SREE - 131,776 347,027 10,920 489,723 390,860
fTESRIA Derivative financial instruments 35,996 35,996 = = 71,992 212,742

333,620,565 52,612,326 105,473,820 59,455,402 551,162,113 422,486,292

“Z--%+ZF=1+—-H 31 December 2021

FERBERRAMEMEE  Trade and other payables 118,444,188 - - - 118,444,188 118,444,188
JE 1 BB 5 5B Amounts due to related parties 33,138,417 14,966,968 148,415 - 48253800 47,622,944
JERT SRR 2 5B Amounts due to
non-controlling interests 9,944, 413 2,133,963 10,293,977 - 22,372,353 20,874,752
HERE Lease liabilities 1,053,964 2,996,342 1,027,159 2,851,857 7,929,322 5,802,132
RITREMES Bank and other borrowings 55,130,128 45293498 36,042,750 26,219,818 162,686,194 140,068,750
BEZE Senior notes 645,563 645,563 7,021,273 6,355,512 14,667,911 12,575,147
FHRE Medium-term notes 6,186,200 9,587,200 13,649,300 - 29422700 27,330,954
BITSER Financial guarantee 65,231,699 - - - 65,231,699 -
BATEFABSEZ Financial liability at FvPL
SRaE 4,429 - - - 4,429 3,510
TESHMTIA Derivative financial instruments 35,996 35,996 365,091 - 437,083 251,575

289,814,997 75,659,530 68,547,965 35,427,187 469,449,679 372,973,952
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52.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts have not included financial guarantee contracts,
which the Group make for its certain joint ventures and
associates’ borrowings (note 48(B)). Such guarantees will
terminate upon the repayment of the relevant borrowings.

In respect of financial guarantee contracts disclosed in note 41,
based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount
will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function
of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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52. W5 E ke g BE (4) 52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

BERMEEEERBER (&) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

AEEUKEEERNTFEITENESREE Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial

EE4REENAYEE liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

AREBETESRMEENSRHBENRNSRESH Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are

RN FERTE - TRIIE A BEIEE Z measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The

ELREEREREBENAFEENER (B following table gives information about how the fair values of

B R ERM R TR ASE) ° these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in

particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).

KW+=ZA=+—H
EWMEEBE B RFE NHER R HERIM &R e A BUR
Fair value as at Fair value
Financial assets/liabilities 31 December hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs

ARBTR ARETR
RMB’'000 RMB'000

1) oDEARATERAEE BE BE FE2/&% BBRIMER - RRBERIHERTISH]
ZERMEBEZIBYER 1,216,801 1,389,813 R (RBBEHROATBE QM LR) (4
it BRMASEEERBALL KA o
Wealth management Assets Assets  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows
products classified as 1,216,801 1,389,813 are estimated based on market interest
financial assets at FVPL rates (from observable yield curves at the

end of the reporting period), discounted
at a rate that reflects the credit risk of the

Group.
2) EEABBHMPEWER BE BE F3%& BRIRBE RN o RARIREMIHEREE K&
BRATAESIRZBRATIA 1,074,060 1,100,462 FENEIRA TR - RRAR T AR
BV R BEIR -
Equity instruments Assets Assets  Level 3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows
designated at FVOCI 1,074,060 1,100,462 are based on fixed and variable return

payments, discounted at a rate that
reflects the issuer’s cost of equity.
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BRREEBEREBEE (E) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

POLICIES (continued)

AREBUREHER NTEHIAENEREE Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
FEmaEn A TE (H)

TREEBE

Financial assets/liabilities

2022 2021

liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (continued)

W+=—RA=+—H
B AFE NHER R HER & AR e AR
Fair value as at Fair value
31 December hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs

ARETRE ARBTT
RMB’000  RMB'000

DERITESRIAN
XX B

Cross currency swaps
classified as derivative
financial instruments

DRBEAFER ARE
B & BB E R R R 5

Interest rate swap
classified as financial
liability at FVPL

i=Fi BE F28 BRIRIBE R c RRIME T HENRIE
212,742 251,575 R (RBERE RN AT BR LR LR) &

BRANEREOFEHERABR AT
RRMASEEERBRALL ERLE o

Liabilities Liabilities  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows

212,742 251,575 are estimated based on forward exchange

rates (from observable yield curves at the
end of the reporting period) and yield
curve of relevant interest rates and
contracted interest rates, discounted at a
rate that reflects the credit risk of the
Group.

BfE F24 BRIRIRE N o RIRIBRRIHERE AT

3,510 E(RBHREHARNATERREREER) &
BHFEMET  HRMEBERSEFH
K= EE R L AR o

Liabilities  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows

3,510 are estimated based on forward interest
rates (from observable yield curves at the
end of the reporting period) and
contracted interest rates, discounted at a
rate that reflects the credit risk of various
counterparties.
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52. AR BE A PR (%) 52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
BRAREEEZEREE(E) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
AEEUKEEERNTFEITENESREE Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
FEmaEn LA TE (H) liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis (continued)

W+=—A=+—H
EWMEEBE B RFE NHER R HERIM &R E A BUR
Fair value as at Fair value
Financial assets/liabilities 31 December hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs

ARBTR ARETRT
RMB’'000 RMB’000

5)  JERHARE =L - FE3H, BRI e - ARBERNENEER
390,860 o (R EA, 2 E H @i ER) 8

ERMEE - mRREEXZEHFH
EERRA LR -

AIREFFH+/- 1% ERAREBERDA
FR#21,824,0007T, AR BEENAR
27,757,000 7T °

Contingent consideration = Liabilities - Level 3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows

payables 390,860 are based on actual delivery progress of
the managed areas (as converted from
secured areas and/or contracted areas),
discounted at a rate that reflects the
credit risk of various counterparties.

A change in discount rate +/- 1% results
in a decrease in fair value by
RMB21,824,000/an increase in fair value
by RMB27,757,000.
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52.

53.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value of other financial instruments

The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities (excluding senior notes and
medium-term notes with fair value information set out in notes
37 and 38, respectively) recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair
values.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund scheme
("MPF Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution scheme in accordance with
the principle of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance. Under the rules of MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are required to contribute 5% of the employee’s
salaries, up to a maximum of HK$1,500 per employee per
month. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the group companies in an independently administered
fund.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the respective
local government in the PRC. The Group is required to
contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to these schemes is to make the specified
contributions.
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54. Anwl Z Bk Ot %

54. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021

AR® T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
IEMBEE Non-current assets
RB A RIMIRE Investments in subsidiaries 31,744,392 31,744,392
ME - R M ERE Property, plant and equipment 1,568 1,730
FREEE Right-of-use assets 4,027 11,780
J7E Lk e B 7 Z 08 Amounts due from related parties 8,791,369 2,238,324
40,541,356 33,996,226
mEEE Current assets
E fth FEUARIE  TARTRRIE K Other receivables, prepayments
Hkn and deposits 176,154 202,317
JE Wk B B 77 SR IR Amounts due from related parties 120,477,879 110,979,705
ReMIRTTHET Cash and bank balances 4,296,250 4,381,662
124,950,283 115,563,684
mENAaE Current liabilities
E e ARIA Other payables 1,136,165 947,781
HEBE Lease liabilities 4,415 9,109
S A 5 5108 Amounts due to related parties 41,233,321 27,410,861
WITEE — —FREE Bank borrowings — due within one year 26,535,851 27,445,340
FEIZEE — —FAEH Medium-term notes — due within
one year 3,635,220 1,224,041
72,544,972 57,037,132
MENE EFAE Net current assets 52,405,311 58,526,552
BELEBRLRHAER Total assets less current liabilities 92,946,667 92,522,778
B Equity
R& A Share capital 673,829 673,829
(M) Reserves (Note) 38,965,430 38,089,573
XEEAT A (FIE40) Perpetual capital instrument (Note 40) 7,381,436 7,381,436
47,020,695 46,144,838
FEnREEaE Non-current liabilities
RITEE — —FRIB Bank borrowings — due after one year 20,534,893 19,451,181
BEEE — —F&EH Senior notes — due after one year 13,744,457 12,575,147
FREREE — —F & F|H] Medium-term notes — due after one year - 3,631,372
PTESHMTA Derivative financial instruments 212,742 251,575
HEAE Lease liabilities - 3,368
A — B BE s 5 BB Amount due to a related party 11,433,880 10,465,297
45,925,972 46,377,940
EREENIERHAaE Total of equity and non-current liabilities 92,946,667 92,522,778
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54, RKAwZ MBI E () 54. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

RATZBITEEY AEER N IRER LS The bank borrowings of the Company are all unsecured and
FHIE398% (ZFE=_—F : 1.84%)5F B ° carry interest at an average effective interest rate at 3.98%
RIBREE R IGEPEIER - (EEED Hisk (2021: 1.84%) per annum. The borrowings are repayable by

KRB —FBEE -

instalments or in a lump sum upon maturity in accordance with
the terms set out in the respective loan agreements.

HieE - Note:
& Reserves
R E Hitnfd e =0
Share Other Accumulated
premium reserves losses
ARETT ARET T AREETTT AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
R-ZZE-_—F—H—H At 1 January 2021 58,529,724 961,514 (24,507,978) 34,983,260
FRE M Profit for the year - - 12,339,063 12,339,063
FREEMEFTERTFE  Changes in fair value of hedging
BHRERBLS R instruments due to forward
BRES elements and effective portion
arising during the year - (75,756) - (75,756)
FREEKZERE Total comprehensive income
for the year - (75,756) 12,339,063 12,263,307
MkEEARTEHB AVEH  Distribution to the owners of
2k perpetual capital instrument - - (251,854) (251,854)
- FRERE Interim dividend for 2021 - - (1,224,211) (1,224,211)
—E-RFRAKE Final dividend for 2020 - - (7,680,929) (7,680,929)
R -—4F At 31 December 2021 and
+ZA=+—Hk 1 January 2022
—E2-—%—H—H 58,529,724 885,758 (21,325,909) 38,089,573
FRmH Profit for the year - - 11,857,704 11,857,704
FRNELENERTEAFE  Changes in fair value of hedging
BHR RS K instruments due to forward
BRES elements and effective portion
arising during the year - (333,152) - (333,152)
FAZEEATE Total comprehensive income
for the year - (333,152) 11,857,704 11,524,552
BoKEE AT EHA AEL  Distribution to the owners of
2K perpetual capital instrument - - (269,366) (269,366)
TEZFHERE Interim dividend for 2022 - - (1,346,582) (1,346,582)
—E - —FREKRE Final dividend for 2021 - - (9,032,747) (9,032,747)
WZE-— At 31 December 2022
+=-—A=+—H 58,529,724 552,606 (20,116,900) 38,965,430

=B AR /AR China Resources Land Limited 319



f 3 WUA B5 le o B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

55.

56.
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55. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 28 December 2022, China Resources Land Holdings
Company Limited (the “China Resources Land Holdings”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
an equity interests and debt acquisition agreement (the
“Agreement”) with China Fortune Land Development Co., Ltd.,
Huaxia Xingfu (Wuhan) Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
("Huaxia Wuhan”), Hua Yu Ning (Nanjing) Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Huaxia Nanjing”) and Huaxia Xingfu
(Shenzhen) Operation Management Co., Ltd. (“Huaxia
Shenzhen”) (collectively, the “Sellers”), all being third parties
independent of the China Resources Land Holdings, pursuant to
which the China Resources Land Holdings has agreed to
acquire, and the Sellers have agreed to sell, the entire equity
interests in Huayujiang (Wuhan) Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. and Huayuhan (Wuhan) Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.,
both being wholly owned subsidiaries of Huaxia Wuhan,
Huayucheng (Shenzhen) Property Management Co., Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Huaxia Shenzhen, and 60% equity
interests in Huayuyuan (Nanjing) Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd., a subsidiary of Huaxia Nanjing (collectively, the “Target
Companies”), and all amounts of the debt (whether principal,
interest or otherwise) owed by the Target Companies to the
Sellers, which will not be less than approximately RMB14,200
million, at a consideration of RMB 12,400 million.

As at the date of this report, the acquisition under the
Agreement has been completed.

. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements set out on pages 148 to
320 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 29
March 2023.



ERYEBRE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EWBEHARARF
3G BRBREEE
Approximate
Attributable Beneficial Total Gross
Interest of China Floor Area
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited (sqm) Lease Term
7%%‘%%1}56 100% 352,532 epeiiyith=4
Shenzhen Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 173,460 C
FYIIZEHAJE Shenzhen CR Building 100% 41,311 o
{2835 Car Park 100% 137,761 f=cp
MM E SR 60% 406,914 hETRE
Hangzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
ESI The Mixc 60% 159,705 HC
27 Office 60% 58,292 #to
S835 Car Park 60% 188,917 f=cp
S e 8 100% 322,248 RERTRE
B[S E R
Shenyang Mixc Medium Term Lease
I The Mixc 100% 166,106 [Ele
JEF5%E A8 Shenyang CR Building 100% 59,583 o
{SE35 Car Park 100% 96,559 f=cp
BRERES S35, 100% 475,017 R E
Chengdu MiXC Medium Term Lease
R The Mixc 100% 278,154 [Ele
{285 Car Park 100% 196,863 f=Cp
HEBSW 55% 415,874 FHERE
-
Nanning Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRH The Mixc 55% 172,353 #&C
9% 4B AE Nanning CR Building 55% 174,263 #0
{285 Car Park 55% 69,258 f2CP
BN &SI 100% 193,093 R E
Zhengzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRH The Mixc 100% 119,175 #&C
2835 Car Park 100% 73,918 f=cp
EEESH 100% 374,973 PETRE
Chongqing Mixc Medium Term Lease
B The Mixc 100% 223,771 mC
B Car Park 100% 151,202 f®Cp
ﬂf%%%‘fdﬁt 60% 233,100 FEATEE
Wuxi Mixc Medium Term Lease
EEI The Mixc 60% 123,107 [5[e
SE35 Car Park 60% 109,993 f=cp
2 : 98% HHE
BB b 397,315 hHEHE
Qingdao Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 98% 282,948 HC
{85 Car Park 98% 114,367 f=Cp
= s 0 E
N EE 100% 301,933 hEITEE
Hefei Mixc Medium Term Lease
B S The Mixc 100% 181,000 [l
S 8835 Car Park 100% 120,933 fFCP
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ERYEBE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EHEHERAT
iR ERED BRRRSEEE HEFR
Approximate
Attributable Beneficial Total Gross
Interest of China Floor Area
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited (sqm) Lease Term
= N 55% 213,846 HhERTR
BMERH °
Ganzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 55% 139,913 HC
{85 Car Park 55% 73,933 f=cp
SE N B 5 50% 231,538 RS
SBME R RIS
Wenzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
B S The Mixc 50% 137,527 5[
{2835 Car Park 50% 94,011 f=cp
@Tz@ﬁi%%ﬁ 100% 219,940 FEATE
., .. . Medium Term L
Xi'an Xixian Mixc edum ferm tease
EZH The Mixc 100% 124,583 e
{2515 Car Park 100% 95,357 f=cp
o S 50% 411,845 hERE
EERH °
S Medium Term L
Shangha| M|XC edium lerm Lease
EEY The Mixc 50% 169,561 [Ee
{285 Car Park 50% 220,125 f=Cp
HEERHETIE Shanghai Mixc Office 50% 22,159 #o
e 100% 467,313 HHE
FYER K ° *
. Medium Term L
Shenzhen Mixc World edum ferm tease
B A Mixc World 100% 225,209 mC
{285 Car Park 100% 242,104 f2CP
R 9 =
e 100% 174,823 REARE
Taizhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
B R The Mixc 100% 99,723 C
S 835 Car Park 100% 75,100 f=CP
KRERH 100% 334,976 R
Taiyuan Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 209,987 mC
B Car Park 100% 124,989 f=CP
@ﬁ%%m 49% 284,410 AT E
Nantong Mixc Medium Term Lease
EEY The Mixc 49% 130,059 ;e
{285 Car Park 49% 154,351 f2CP
e N 9 =4
WINE S 55% 198,279 REARE
Liuzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
B R The Mixc 55% 122,779 HC
{85 Car Park 55% 75,500 f=Cp
R N 100% 11,82 bk
AFHERE % 311,826 PR
. Medium Term L
Shijiazhuang Mixc eclum Term tease
B S The Mixc 100% 182,072 C
B Car Park 100% 129,754 f=CP
. N 100% 207,727 REIE
EFERM
Xiamen Mixc Medium Term Lease
EZH The Mixc 100% 131,037 [:le
{2515 Car Park 100% 76,690 f=cp
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EREHRARAA
EiEERER BRBZEER

Approximate

Attributable Beneficial Total Gross
Interest of China Floor Area
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited (sqm) Lease Term

100% 258,969 hERTR &

Medium Term Lease

Shenzhen Bay Mixc

BRI The Mixc 100% 80,132 HC
B Car Park 100% 178,837 f=Cp
D, N 00 (E
J:;E%ﬁ)%i% 100% 93,879 hETRE
. Medium Term L
Shanghai Times Square ecium Term tease
% Commerdial 100% 47,930 mc
FFHE Office 100% 36,843 o
{85 Car Park 100% 9,106 f=Cp
= N 1009 173,781 HEE
ﬁ?ﬂ&%%‘iﬁ 0% 3,78 AR HATE
Guilin Mixc Medium Term Lease
B S The Mixc 100% 100,327 [l
S 835 Car Park 100% 73,454 fsCp
R o T N 55% 374,831 PHTEE
EEBE R =
. . Medium Term Lease
Jinan Mixc
BRI The Mixc 55% 212,544 mc
{2515 Car Park 55% 162,287 f=cp
= S 98% 144,484 R
1t BB : N
. Medium Term L
Beijing Galleria eclum Term tease
% Commercial 98% 50,784 C
F7HE Office 98% 79,019 ko
B Car Park 98% 14,681 f®CpP
i i 4t 49% 180,193 HiRE
5B AR ° "
. . Medium Term L
Beijing Qinghe Hi5 edum ferm tease
% Commercial 49% 105,900 mc
BT 12 Office 49% 11,425 o
{2835 Car Park 49% 62,868 f=cp
T4k 100% 66,141 HiRE
ARF LA ° o
. . Medium Term L
Hefei Shushan Hi5 edum ferm tease
&% Commercial 100% 48,660 mHC
{28 Car Park 100% 17,481 f2CP
PN b 4t 100% 136,858 hERTRE
R RYEA R °
. . Medium Term L
Ningbo Yuyao Hi5 ecium ferm Lease
% Commercial 100% 83,036 HC
{85 Car Park 100% 53,822 f=Cp
M S Y T T4 b 100% 35,984 hHTRE
LEEAR R
. . . Medium Term L
Shanghai Nanxiang Hi5 eclum ferm tease
1% Commerdial 100% 26,078 mc
{2835 Car Park 100% 9,906 fsCp
N e 100% 250,705 RHIE
KRR IE 5
ZIbO Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BERE Mixc One 100% 154,805 mc
{2515 Car Park 100% 95,900 f=cp
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ERYEBE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EHEHERAT
EEERER BRRRSEEE HEFR
Approximate
Attributable Beneficial Total Gross
Interest of China Floor Area
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited (sqm) Lease Term
B TERE 100% 255,728 HhERTR
Shenyang Tiexi Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RIE Mixc One 100% 143,481 HC
{85 Car Park 100% 112,247 f=cp
ROV ENERE 100% 71,126 BT
Changsha Xingsha Mixc One Medium Term Lease
ERE Mixc One 100% 50,260 5[
{85 Car Park 100% 20,866 f=Cp
ORESE 100% 134,914 FERE
Rizhao Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RE Mixc One 100% 91,571 [5[e
2835 Car Park 100% 43,343 2cp
It EmEEsE 98% 180,222 hEATR
71N =

Medium Term Lease

Beijing Miyun Mixc One

% Mixc One 98% 107,222 ]
£ 835 Car Park 98% 73,000 f=Cp
BN L B e 49% 184,330 hETRE
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE Mixc One 49% 92,389 cC
S 835 Car Park 49% 91,941 f=CP
EEBETOERE 100% 108,523 P
’ e M Term L
Chongging Danzishi Mixc One edium Term Lease
B RE Mixc One 100% 58,440 [E[e
{85 Car Park 100% 50,083 f=Cp
ggﬁd‘l‘lﬁ}l%%l& 50% 123,579 hEAEE
Suzhou Wujiang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RE Mixc One 50% 91,287 [E]e
{285 Car Park 50% 32,292 12CP
HNELBESE 51% 170,021 hETR &

Suzhou Kunshan Mixc One Medium Term Lease

B RIE Mixc One 51% 105,132 C
S E5 Car Park 51% 66,218 f=cp
KA BN E R E 100% 116,370 hETRE

Medium Term Lease

Harbin Songbei Mixc One

BERE Mixc One 100% 89,280 5[
{85 Car Park 100% 27,090 f2Cp
Eﬁ/ﬁ%%@ 100% 171,350 AT E
me Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BERE Mixc One 100% 105,132 [5]e
2835 Car Park 100% 66,218 f=cp
ARERESE 100% 99,080 hEATR &
i i Medium Term L
Hefei Luyang Mixc One eclum ferm Lease
H%[E Mixc One 100% 75,316 [Ele
{285 Car Park 100% 23,764 f=Cp
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ERENERAR

3G BRBREEE
Approximate
Attributable Beneficial Total Gross
Interest of China Floor Area
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited (sqm) Lease Term
EONLHT AR 100% 39,172 hERTR &
Haikou N Park Medium Term Lease
% Commercial 100% 20,876 HC
B Car Park 100% 18,296 f=Cp
ERENESE 100% 99,989 FHRE
-y &
Ningbo Qianhu Mixc One Medium Term Lease
E5[E Mixc One 100% 54,841 5[
S8 Car Park 100% 45,148 fsCp
EEE LB RE 100% 110,270 RIS
Shenyang Changbai Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RE Mixc One 100% 73,205 mc
{2515 Car Park 100% 37,065 f=cp
W E SR 33% 281,096 RETRE
Ningbo Mixc Medium Term Lease
50 The Mixc 33% 159,117 [Ele
{285 Car Park 33% 121,979 f=Cp
EEAEOSSE 100% 88,291 hETRE
Chongging Dadukou Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE Mixc One 100% 68,353 #&C
S 8835 Car Park 100% 19,938 fFCP
HEERE 51% 80,445 FHEE
Nanchang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE Mixc One 51% 33,747 mC
{2835 Car Park 51% 46,698 f=cp
FHRE & K H 100% 78,611 RHIE
Xian Mixc WOF'd Medium Term Lease
&5 K3 Mixc World 100% 78,611 #C
HERRBERE 51% 88,309 PETRE
i
Nanning Wuxiang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RE Mixc One 51% 57,437 [E[e
B Car Park 51% 30,872 f®Cp
WEEE S 51% 243,223 FHIAE
Shantou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 51% 168,074 mC
{2215 Car Park 51% 75,149 f=cp
&L B E 100% 189,448 hETRE
Yantai Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RIE Mixc One 100% 122,417 HC
{85 Car Park 100% 67,031 f=Cp
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ERYEBE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EHEHERAT
iR ERED BRRRSEEE HEFR
Approximate
Attributable Beneficial Total Gross
Interest of China Floor Area
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited (sqm) Lease Term
ST |y 2 9 R
EY B ATE 50% 226,243 R ERTE
Shenzhen Qianhai Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI Mixc 50% 75,475 HC
{85 Car Park 50% 150,768 f=cp
EEEEE 100% 155,966 hETRE
Guiyang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
ERE Mixc One 100% 99,282 5[
{85 Car Park 100% 56,684 f=Cp
P e B 50% 55,372 e
MET RS RE : R
Nanning Zhongshan Road Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RE Mixc One 50% 38,872 [5[e
{2835 Car Park 50% 16,500 f=cp
Ik REE S E 100% 84,897 hEATR
71N
Beijing Yaojiayuan Mixc One Medium Term Lease
HRE Mixc One 100% 47,494 [Ee
{285 Car Park 100% 37,403 f=Cp
SRS S e R 100% 137,705 hETRE
Shenyang Huanggu Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE Mixc One 100% 94,353 cC
S 835 Car Park 100% 43,352 f=CP
— . 51% 263,586 ki
L_tv%% %W % AR E
Wuhan Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI Mixc 51% 182,724 (e
{2835 Car Park 51% 80,862 =cp
71%9""1%%% 100% 160,903 hEAEE
FUZhOU Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI, Mixc 100% 89,753 [:e
{285 Car Park 100% 71,150 12CP
EOBSW 100% 204,996 hETR &
Haikou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI Mixc 100% 113,553 C
S E5 Car Park 100% 91,443 f=cp
%%m%m%—%lﬁ 55% 78,978 hEATRE
Qingdao Laoshan Mixc One Medium Term Lease
ERE Mixc One 55% 68,576 #C
{2835 Car Park 55% 10,402 f=cp
%%*ﬂu—l%ﬂ%%@ 100% 157,744 AT E
Dongguan Songshan Lake Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE Mixc One 100% 101,552 mC
{2835 Car Park 100% 56,192 f=cp
EY S HES AR 70% 123,725 hEATR &
Shenzhen Sungang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
ERE Mixc One 70% 78,788 Ee
{285 Car Park 70% 44,937 f=Cp
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ERENERAR

EEERER BRBREEE
Approximate
Attributable Beneficial Total Gross
Interest of China Floor Area
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited (sqm) Lease Term
- S 100% 131,518 hERTR &
Nanjing Mixc World Medium Term Lease
B R KM Mixc World 100% 83,589 HC
B Car Park 100% 47,929 f=Cp
HEESRH 100% 232,199 hETRE
Nanchang Mixc Medium Term Lease
5 Mixc 100% 155,445 [E[e
S8 Car Park 100% 76,754 fsCp
DEFTEE R 50% 227,217 I
Shanghai Suhewan Mixc World Medium Term Lease
B R KM Mixc World 50% 58,949 G
BFIE Office 50% 95,083 o
{2835 Car Park 50% 73,184 fsCp
K EEEERE 100% 156,967 FHRE
Dalian Huanan Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE Mixc One 100% 100,711 mc
2535 Car Park 100% 56,256 f=cp
b A 100% 54,072 o R E
Beljlng CR Bqulng Medium Term Lease
FEE M0, 55% 15,121 o PR E
Dalian Junshang Center Medium Term Lease
B PR AR 100% 59,598 o REREE
Xiamen CR Building Block A Medium Term Lease
Y||35 B A BBCD R 100% 204,311 #io REAEE
Shenzhen CR Land Building Block BCD Medium Term Lease
Y| ATE LTS 50% 29,159 e} REREE
Shenzhen CR Qianhai Center T5 Medium Term Lease
BIpE= === 100% 62,597 o REREE
Beijing CR Time Building Medium Term Lease
1L T FRALIL B iR e 4600 o s
Beijing Xiti Hongshan Office Medium Term Lease
Building
tj@ﬁu%%iqj N 51% 140,625 o PETRE
Shanghai Lujiazui Binjiang Center Medium Term Lease
t/%—%ﬁ%q] N 50% 44,880 o FHATEE
Shanghai Mixc Center Medium Term Lease
jlﬂj‘i5$|ﬂi5ﬁﬂzﬂ'¢iiﬁjﬁ 59% 32,395 o REAE

Medium Term Lease

Beijing Future City
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ERYEBE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EHEMERAT

B ERER BRBREER

Approximate

Attributable Beneficial Total Gross

Interest of China Floor Area
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited (sqm) Lease Term
AEm AR ERKIE R 100% 16,202 %0 B E
Hefei Binhu District Chengdu Road Medium Term Lease

Office

EEE20 Gresham Street® Fi& 100% 22,557 o PR E
London 20 Gresham Street Office Medium Term Lease
FINEVOBEIE 100% 67,506 SEH hEFE
Shenzhen Grand Hyatt Hotel Medium Term Lease
AigEN E0E 100% 42,000 SEH RS
Shimei Bay Le Meridien Hotel Medium Term Lease
ESE VOIS 100% 57,040 JEH REIRE
Shenyang Grand Hyatt Hotel Medium Term Lease
KEBEWBE 55% 77,179 H oI
Dalian Grand Hyatt Hotel Medium Term Lease
NS EY RS 65% 66,712 EH o
Xiaojing Bay Le Meridien Hotel Medium Term Lease
SEEREAE 100% 42,709 EH R
Zibo Sheraton Hotel Medium Term Lease
TR B S 60% 46,030 EH RERE
Hangzhou Park Hyatt Hotel Medium Term Lease
FYNEARIBIEE G 100% 33,500 EH R E
Shenzhen Bay Kapok Hotel Medium Term Lease
ZE R ARARTEEIE 100% 14,000 STEH FERE
Luohu Kapok Hotel Medium Term Lease
BIEEVUBEE 100% 48,584 STEH R E
Hefei Grand Hyatt Hotel Medium Term Lease
BEfZELCRE 100% 38,551 B S
Xiamen Andaz Hotel Medium Term Lease
b R EHIS ARAB T S 79% 57,185 T R
Beijing Daxing Airport Kapok Hotel Medium Term Lease
I E AR 100% 45,597 EH TR
Shenzhen Bay Andaz Hotel Medium Term Lease
FREBER AR IR TE B IS 100% 35,999 EH R
Chengdu East Lake Kapok Hotel Medium Term Lease
BRI BRDEE 55% 56,229 EH RERE

Nanning Shangri-la Hotel

Medium Term Lease
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BaEANE

TEEREE
W2E12831A
i (ER%)
AREES  EHBER ENTRBENETX
BENE 5 RS (FAK) DERE fhat e B 8
Attributable ~ Approximate
Beneficial [E] Approximate
Interest of Site Area  Unsold Gross Floor Estimated Date
Development Properties District the Group (sqm) Area (sqm) of Completion  State of Completion
BT il +EiE 100% 413352 848109 B/E/B/D 0%EFNA EEe
Lanzhou Future City Lanzhou Qilihe RICIO/A 30-Mar-36 Construction in progress
HERIAIER HE i 25% 382582 834,547 E/B/R  2009F8ANA  EEd
Yichang East Station Project Yichang Wujiagang RIC/A 30-Aug-29  Construction in progress
EERR 2 25 ARE 100% 391,199 825,787 B/E/D  08F8ANR  HEE%
Shenyang Shidai City Shenyang Dadong RIC/A 30-Aug-28  Construction in progress
IRES RN R HE 51% 374,589 08153 E/E/B/D 0NESAINE  EE
Shanwei Mixc World Shanwei Cheng RICIO/A 31-May-30 Construction in progress
EREERER g Bl 30% 21332 801,701 E/L O 035658 HER
Zhuhai Henggin Mixc World Zhuhai Xiangzhou A 05-Jun-32 Construction in progress
=it &Y RbE 100% 160,389 1056 B/E/8/D 6F8A19R EEd
Chansha Runfu Changsha Tianin RICIO/A 19-Aug-26  Construction in progress
AN 2 AEEE 65% 177740 713477 F/B/B  08F2887 i
Huizhou Xiaojing Bay Huizhou DaYa Bay RICH 28-Feb-28  Construction in progress
fimsmag i il 51% 443,540 630662  /@/B/L  265N1AE AR
Liuzhou finglan Project Liuzhou Chengzhong RICHIA 16-Nov-26  Construction in progress
EMEEE B RAR 100% 234436 667,775 E/B/8 030510887  Eie
Fuzhou Haiwan Runcheng Fuzhou Changle RICIO 28-0ct:30  Construction in progress
REREE K& lifiae" 100% 373,098 65804  E/B/B/R  N8FSANA  ERF
Dalian Dalian Bay Dalian Ganjingzi RICIO/A 30-May-28  Construction in progress
INEEsTEAR S AR 100% 273,750 66767 [/E/E/D 20858ANE  AES
Ezhou Gedian Complex Project Ezhou Huarong RICHIA 30-Aug-28  Construction in progress
DHERAERLE S 27k 50% 197935 610,399 NA  2009%8A16R  EEF
Ezhou Wutonghu International Ezhou Liangzhu VA 16-Aug-29 Construction in progress
Community
BMAR LS il R 60% 199,782 568,746 E/B  w07Ff6R B
Guangzhou Gongyuan Shangcheng  Guangzhou Zengcheng RIC 16-Mar-27  Construction in progress
ERARS ER ARERE 70% 203,054 548,09 ff/8  06F2A88  HE
Xi'an Gangyue City Xi'an Guoji guangwu RIC 28:Feb-26 Construction in progress
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

BARALE
TEAREE
W2E12831A
B (TAR)
AREEL  BHBER ENTRB0ETX
BENE & BB (FA%) NLER st R B
Attributable  Approximate
Beneficial Total Approximate
Interest of Site Area  Unsold Gross Floor Estimated Date
Development Properties District the Group (sqm) Area (sqm) of Completion  State of Completion
ERTERERRRAE i3 EREER 100% 212,391 536,055 /L WFSARE  EER
AEE
Hua'an Economic and Technological - Huaian Huai'an Economic R 28-May-27  Construction in progress
Development District Mingyuan and Technological
Road Commercial and Residential Development
Project
BHREENE g% AisEnERRR 100% 175,143 520,563 E/B/E  00FAUB BB
Hainan Shimei Bay Jiuli Wanning Shimei Bay Tourist RICH 14-Feb-30 Construction in progress
Resort
Bl g5 EHE 51% 4137 54883 B/E/B/E 0ENANE @ER
(R Fuyang Center Fuyang yingzhou RIC/IOH 30-Nov-25  Construction in progress
bt i HRE 60% 118918 503,598 f/8/h  07F5R08  EE%
Zhengzhou Kunlunfu Zhengzhou Zhongyuan RIC/A 20-May-27  Construction in progress
RREREMPD % e 100% 107,629 485451 f£/%/5/B/D  08FIAISE  ER
Dongguan China Resources Center  Dongguan Nancheng RIC/IOH/A 15-Sep-28  Construction in progress
BILEER Bl BB 20% 216,704 men  B/E/E/D 0 0NENANE  Eps
Tangshan Xihu Project Tanshan Lubei RICIO/A 30-Now-31 Construction in progress
SEIENNER HE IFE 70% 257,803 476,168 f/8/D  06F1MANA  EEE
Nanning Jiangnan Center Project  Nanning Jiangnan RIC/A 30-Nov-26  Construction i progress
RE- T RE REHE 100% 243197 465,69 /% B EER
Wuhan 24 City Wuhan Dongxihu RIC 02-Mar-24  Construction in progress
SHERFERTE S 2R 50% 252,349 461,65 £ 07%8R16A  HEH
Ezhou Wutonghu Interational Ezhou Liangzhu R 16-Aug-27  Construction in progress
Community
BRABER B BB 7% 81,347 450930 E/B/8  00F4ANA EE4
Nanjing Yuzuo Runfu Nanjing Jianye RIC/O 30-Apr-30 Construction in progress
RASTEME el i 50% 85,189 448,756 E/8/L  5F6ANA  EER
Shenzhen Xuehua Science and Shenzhen Baoan /oA 30-Jun-25  Construction in progress

Technology Innovation City

TR £ TR 100% 239499 441,030 f£/B 051808 EER
Jiangying Jiangwan City Wuxi Jiangyin RIC 30-Jan-27  Construction in progress
EREHAD BR WiEaE 55% 181,588 09987 B/B/8/B/%  07F5EN8 HER
Nanjing CR Center Nanjing Yuhuatai RICIOH/A 30-May-27  Construction in progress
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BaEANE

EEREE
W2E12831A
i (ER%)
AREES  EHBER ENTRBENETX
BENE 5 RS (FAK) DERE HitERAS
Attributable ~ Approximate
L Total Approximate
Interest of Site Area  Unsold Gross Floor Estimated Date
Development Properties District the Group (sqm) Area (sqm) Type of Completion  State of Completion
REARZH Rig SHE 100% 276,83 415,645 £/ 0057A30B  HES
Dalian Future City Dalian Jianzhou RIC 30-ul-30 Construction in progress
I BE132EER il *AE 51% 51793 349 B/E/B/R 0BFNANE EEA
Shenzhen Guangming District Line  Shenzhen Guangming RIC/IO/A 30-Nov-25  Construction in progress
13 project
RHRRZH g ERER 100% 380436 363,140 B/B/B  05F1R16R  EE%
Chengdu Future City Chengdu Longquanyi RICH 16-lan-25  Construction in progress
EBAlER g5 BERE 100% 87,916 357,990 i/ 05E5ANR EES
Guiyang Jiuyue Project Guiyang Nanming RIC 30-May-25  Construction in progress
BFNENE BF MIHE 100% 200112 /U9 E/E/B/R 0 0ESAE &R
Chongging Gongyuanjiul Chongging Liangjiang New RICIO/A 08-Aug-27  Construction in progress
BLIEEEESES il [BER 100% 226,174 354513 B/8F  06F0F1E  Eid
Foshan Shunde CRL Plaza Foshan Shunde RIC 11-0ct-26  Construction in progress
SENRINERFERRSR  AE SR 50% 181,19 354,163 i/ 08FIA0R  HE%
Jinpu New District Beijiuli Detai Project Dalian Jinpu New RIC 30-Jul-28  Construction in progress
WHENES i WEiE 60% 239,65 346,766 B/8/B  009%10A08 HE%
Liuzhou CR Plaza Liuzhou Liucong New RICH 30-0ct-29  Construction in progress
ESZris EE e 34% 119,430 026 B/E/B/E 0BEIANA EEe
Qingdao Yunshangguanhai Qingdao Shibei RIC/OM 30-Jul-25  Construction in progress
i 15 BHRE 50% 137617 343,405 fi/B  08F4ANA  EEt
Jieyang Poly Peninsula No. 1 Jieyang Yuhu RIC 30-Apr-28  Construction in progress
BIERRREE il JEEE 100% 90,266 342,594 fi/B  28E4ASA  HEER
Foshan Shunde Runfu Foshan Shunde RIC 05-Apr-28  Construction in progress
ERmTEERIER BB e 100% 550,039 341,682 B/8/8  006F1MANA  HER
Jinnan Shizhong District Xinglong ~~ Jinan Shizhong RIC/IO 30-Nov-26  Construction in progress
New Project
EHIINE £ hilE 3% 157,337 337,002 2006510308 @@
Wuxi Shanhejiuli Wuxi Xishan R 30-0ct-26 Construction in progress
KEERELRES e Bk 100% 146,010 6 f/BE/8/B/%  07F3R08  HEER
Zhuhai CRL Plaza Zhuhai High-tech RICIOMIA 30-Mar-27  Construction in progress
DHERIERTE Gl Z2TiHE 50% 83,276 326,360 B/D 0%6%9ANA  ERd
Ezhou Wutonghu International Ezhou Liangzhu A 30-Sep-36 Construction in progress
Community
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

BARALE
TEAREE
W2E12831A
B (TAR)
AREEL  BHBER ENTRB0ETX
BENE & BB (FA%) NLER st R B
Attributable  Approximate
Beneficial Total Approximate
Interest of Site Area  Unsold Gross Floor Estimated Date
Development Properties District the Group (sqm) Area (sqm) of Completion  State of Completion
gxrER B URHE 65% 127,131 ma E/E/E/B/D 06ENAA EE
Zhengdong Mixc Zhengzhou Zhengdong New RICIOH/A 01-Nov-26  Construction in progress
Al g5 = 100% 135,634 319,876 /% WoFIASE EEd
Guiyang Youshan Yuejing Guiyang Baiyun RIC 08-Jan-27  Construction in progress
BRI 155 B 50% 117,33 316,730 e/ 0857A%R  EE%
Jieyang Rongjiang Yuefu Jieyang Rongcheng RIC 30-Jul-28  Construction in progress
HEZER #E HiE 100% 116,752 313,685 f 207%5A308  Epd
Xuchang Ziyunfu Xuchang Weidy R 30-May-27  Construction in progress
AL el EER 51% 56,047 313,170 E/%/% 065108318 HEE
Shenzhen Chaohe Center Shenzhen Longhua RIC/O 31-0ct-26 Construction in progress
M=t il 5BRE 100% 255,367 312,059 E/B/h 0053808 R4
Lanzhou 24 City Lanzhou Chengguan RIC/A 30-Mar-30 Construction in progress
ERTMELERAEARALEE kX FILER 51% 102,565 302911 E/B/2 91848 EEE
Hual'an Qingjiangpu District Economic Huaian Qingjiangpu RICIO 04-Juk29  Construction in progress

and Trade Building commercial and
residential project

Ui i L5 60% 112,207 297,208 B/8/D W6ETANE  @EE
Zhengzhou New Times Zhengzhou Zhengdong New CIOA 30-Jul-26 Construction in progress
BHeR el i 51% 67,89 292915 E/B/8 0559838 EE4
WenzhousRuifu Wenzhou Lucheng RIC/IO 30-Sep-25  Construction in progress
LR el RIRHIAMER 100% 198,501 292,245 [£/B  08FIABA  HEEt
Shenshan Bandao Runfu Shenzhen Shenzhen-Shantou RIC 23-Apr-28 Construction in progress
Special
Cooperation Zone
RRENERE A BERE 50% 113,005 291,782 /% 006%6A30B HER
Harbin julifanghua Harbin Nangang RIC 30-Jun-26  Construction in progress
FNERIERILE s 2THE 50% 73,565 288,153 B/R O WF9ANE  EEs
Ezhou Wutonghu International Ezhou Liangzihu A 30-Sep-34 Construction in progress
Community
EREAL &5 ERE 100% 143,568 286,624 e/ 031ESAISA EER
Shenyang Runxishan Shenyang Hunnan RIC 15-May-31 Construction in progress
BREERL 0 ¥ZE 100% 61,13 man k/E/5/B/D 8EFNA ERe
Haikou CR City Haikou Longhua RIC/OMIA 29-Mar-28 Construction in progress
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BaEANE

TEEREZ
WRENANA
B4 (F73K)
AEEEE  AMEERE EITRBNETX
RENE i EREs (F7%) WEEH fhATRE A E
Attributable ~ Approximate
L Total Approximate
Interest of Site Area  Unsold Gross Floor Estimated Date
Development Properties District the Group (sqm) Area (sqm) Type of Completion  State of Completion
MBS il HER 100% 162,781 276,839 E/B/8  05FNFSR EES
Hangyao CR Land Center Hangzhou Gongshu RICIO 05-Dec-25  Construction in progress
FRE5 i BRI 100% 78918 271,646 E/5 6ENAIE EEE
Xi'an Wanxiang Yu Xi'an Peiclong New (o 10-Nov-26 Construction in progress
ERHTHECBIIGARER BR BiTHE 70% 154712 mu9 E/8/3/8/%  6F2188F  EET
Xi‘an CCBD 232 mu complex project  Xi'an Qujiang New RICIOHIA 28:Feb-26 Construction in progress
in Qujiang New Area
EEELEES 55 EE 0% 2444495 69562 E/E/B/D 0 A6F4ENR EET
Qingdao Linshanwan No.1 Qingdao Huangdao RICIO/A 30-Apr-26 Construction in progress
ReAL R RE g 80% 59,79 265,940 B 5F4ReR EaEed
EXFER
Dongguan Songhu Runfu Dongguan Songshan Lake R 06-Apr-25  Construction in progress
High-tech
Industrial
Development
BMRRSLIAER BN by 25% 133319 246,666 B/8  005F9A30E  Hid
Guangzhou Poly Zhonghai Jindi Guangzhou Zengcheng RIC 30-Sep-25  Construction in progress
Daguojing
PRRRB b R 58% 133652 204,261 f/8/8 06ENFNE Epd
Beijing Future City Beijing Changping RIC/O 31-Dec-26 Construction in progress
HERRRR w8 NER 100% 64,202 239,036 B 204F118308  Epd
Chengdu Zhonghuan Tianxu Chengdu Chenghua R 30-Nov-24  Construction in progress
e i HIE 50% 72,498 236,42 B 0F78308  EEed
Chengdu jingjiang Shangyuan Chengdu Jingjiang R 30-Jul25 Construction in progress
RERER K% B 100% 100,893 234,887 fi/B  2006%9A3R  Epd
Changchun Ronghuafu Changchun Kuancheng RIC 30-Sep-26 Construction in progress
BEZEE L ATER 51% 100,000 234,846 /B 206F4A1IR Epd
Huizhou runxihuayuan Huizhou DaYa Bay RIC 01-Apr-26 Construction in progress
AR i HIE 39% 190,387 20617 E/B/8 WSFOANE R
Hangcheng Future City Hangzhou Yuhang RIC/O 31-0ct-25  Construction in progress
el &l ailE 50% 89,780 205,607 (/B 200ENANR  ERE
Hefei Langshi Hefei Baohe RIC 30-Nov-24  Construction in progress
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

BAERNE
TEAREE
W2E12831A
B (FAX)
AREEL  BHBER ENTRB0ETX
LSS EREE (E5%) WA CHESEE:
Attributable  Approximate
Beneficial Total Approximate
Interest of Site Area  Unsold Gross Floor Estimated Date
Development Properties District the Group (sqm) Area (sqm) of Completion  State of Completion
REBEA g @i 100% 230623 204,801 /% 06F4A30B  EER
Chengdu Lixiangzhicheng Chengdu Pengzhou RIC 30-Apr-26 Construction in progress
BREENE ER ERHE 100% 76,755 23470 /% 200ENANE  EEd
Xi'an Peihua jiul Xi'an Xixian New RIC 30-Nov-27  Construction in progress
gL 4EE 58 AR LEE 100% 135,357 220,689 fb/B  04ENANA  EER
Tongxiang CR City Phase 2 Project ~ Jiaxing Tongxiang central RIC 30-Nov-24  Construction in progress
urban area
BMTEER_BGAREE BN EER 51% 91928 20560 E/E/8/B/D  6FIANA  EEE
Wenzhou Laogangqu Phase 2 Wenzhou Laogang RICIOH/A 30-Mar-26 Construction in progress
Complex Project
KBLER AR NER 50% 144,165 20307 E/B/8 55118308 Egd
Taiyuan Ziyunfu Taiyuan Xiaodian RIC/IO 30-Nov-25  Construction i progress
¥ 33 i 1% RHIRAE 60% 114,942 216411 F/B/8  0BF4AI6E  EEe
Wuhan Kunyufu Wuhan East Lake New RICIO 16-Apr-23 Construction in progress
Technology
Development
District
BlBAnamBELLEER AL %EE 50% 22593 M09 B/BE/E/D W3E9ANA  Epd
Tangshan Nanhu Center Business ~ Tangshan Lunan RICIO/A 30-Sep-31 Construction in progress
Center Project
BHER=S BH BER 60% 56,121 M9 B/B/8/D W6FANR  ERE
Kunming Runfu Phase 3 Kunming Guandu RICIO/A 30-Apr-26 Construction in progress
INERAERLE (24) B 2THE 50% 79,556 212,104 E/L 0 031F6ABA EER
Ezhou Wutonghu International Ezhou Liangzhu A 25-Jun-31 - Construction in progress
Community (Binhu)
BEI-HEE ] ek 90% 108,000 209,426 i3 2006F9A9R Mg
Haitanghe Phase 1 Redidence Sanya Haitang R 09-Sep-26 Construction in progress
BEREHH BE TFE 51% 102,213 208,678 fi/B 204512808 HEE%
Nanning Xiyuan Yuefu Nanning Jiangnan RIC 20-Dec-24 Construction in progress
EMETRR B iR 100% 118,830 207,468 /% 0BFNAIE EEE
Huizhou Xjiang Runfu Huizhou Huicheng RIC 01-Dec-23  Construction in progress
REEFRE 24 E8 EBE 4% 79,428 207,1% /&  0uFAuR  Epd
Qingdao Ocean Smart Town Phase 4 - Qingdao Huangdao RIC 24-Feb-24 Construction in progress
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BaEANE

EEREE
WRENANA
i (F73K)
AEEEE  AMEERE EITRBNETX
RENE EREs (FAK) NLEH HitERAS
Attributable ~ Approximate
L Total Approximate
Interest of Site Area  Unsold Gross Floor Estimated Date
Development Properties District the Group (sqm) Area (sqm) Type of Completion  State of Completion
RERn iy IEE 100% 53,771 205,964 fB/B  206%9A2R  Epk
Wuhan Ruifu Wuhan Jiangan RIC 02-Sep-26 Construction in progress
RESBRLEE R BOE 100% 51,666 W5865  [/E/E/N 08E6ANA EEd
Wuhan Jade Center Runxi Wuhan Qiaokou RICIO/A 30-Jun-28  Construction in progress
EHERRL £ BEE 60% 40,894 204,868 B/8/D 030F3FBE Hd
Kunming Huarun Center Kunming Guandu C/0/A 15-Mar-30 Construction in progress
RHXRFNE w8 PNGEE 100% 62,003 200,447 B 204F108118 Bk
Chengdu Tianfu Jiul Chengdu Tianfu New R 11-0ct-24 Construction in progress
BB &l AiE 50% 185,357 200,031 B/&  004F8E3NE  EEd
Hefei Runcheng Center Hefei Baohe RIC 31-Aug-24 Construction in progress

FEBHEMARAA  China Resources Land Limited
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A4 [ 35 4 GROUP’S RESULTS
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
AR¥TR ARETTL AREFTT AREFT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(fmE51) (& E51)
(Restated) (Restated)
gy Revenue 207,061,119 212,108,358 179,587,269 148,167,235 121,499,799
BRIEAT A Profit before taxation 55,509,355 60,365,758 60,172,049 61,144,975 51,911,108
PR Y Income tax (23,139,594) (22,970,370) (26,081,775) (26,681,970) (24,499,102)
FREF Profit for the year 32,369,761 37,395,388 34,090,274 34,463,005 27,412,006
PATR AL FEL - Attributable to:
ARTHEBA Owners of the Company 28,091,865 32,401,239 29,809,959 28,783,682 24,372,632
KEBATEBEA  Owners of perpetual capital
instruments - - 220,569 289,224 287,625
EEle Non-controlling interests 4,277,896 4,994,149 4,059,746 5,390,099 2,751,749
32,369,761 37,395,388 34,090,274 34,463,005 27,412,006
AL EE E R R GROUP’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
AR®T T ARETTL AREFT AREFT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(fmE=51) (& E5I)
(Restated) (Restated)
ME - BERRE Property, plant and equipment 16,011,713 15,427,154 14,095,322 11,130,699 11,048,462
EREEE Right-of-use assets 5,773,760 6,239,461 5,816,935 4,674,492 -
HEME Investment properties 237,885,277 217,530,118 187,379,425 161,214,781 128,761,308
B EE Intangible assets 1,425,515 76,356 40,913 424,977 407,579
+ i R Land use rights - - - - 3,233,200
S Goodwill 1,816,263 11,544 11,544 11,544 11,544
RHIRE Long-term investments 76,791,345 63,100,490 54,551,465 41,972,226 32,051,319
BATEHABZEY  Financial assets at FVPL
PREE 150,000 152,374 150,124 - 49,030
fTHESRMTA Derivative financial instruments - - - 12,220 -
TEHEN Time deposits 2,558,608 2,474,608 - - -
ERBEEENTUE  Prepayments for non-current assets 1,401,467 1,525,343 2,121,759 3,307,284 1,209,723
EERIBERE Deferred taxation assets 11,591,017 11,214,154 10,306,764 8,640,760 7,191,154
e AR 2B Amounts due from related parties 10,168,102 11,992,508 14,297,323 12,216,802 10,399,383
JEUGEEREZFIE  Amounts due from non-controlling
interests 2,474,207 4,787,416 6,216,637 3,199,816 1,659,818
MEBEE Current assets 713,284,627 615,272,738 574,053,189 523,092,954 463,825,183
HEE Total assets 1,081,331,901 949,804,264 869,041,400 769,898,555 659,847,703
MEARE Current liabilities 527,256,053 464,627,187 443,850,606 394,952,330 350,147,694
RHAE Long-term liabilities 180,548,443 163,948,179 144,481,815 119,311,557 111,847,872
EERIERE Deferred taxation liabilities 31,820,355 29,152,924 24,466,801 19,833,838 15,426,264
BaE Total liabilities 739,624,851 657,728,290 612,799,222 534,097,725 477,421,830
341,707,050 292,075,974 256,242,178 235,800,830 182,425,873
KOGER AR Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 244,047,069 226,529,270 203,458,128 175,892,392 140,096,939
KXEBEATE Perpetual capital instruments - - - 10,000,000 5,000,000
JEIR R SS Non-controlling interests 97,659,981 65,546,704 52,784,050 49,898,438 37,328,934
341,707,050 292,075,974 256,242,178 235,790,830 182,425,873
336 —Z——4E®RE  ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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